

DDFV method: applications to fluid mechanics and domain decomposition

Giulia Lissoni

▶ To cite this version:

Giulia Lissoni. DDFV method : applications to fluid mechanics and domain decomposition. Mathematics [math]. Université de Nice - Sophia Antipolis; UCA, LJAD, 2019. English. NNT : . tel-02633171v1

HAL Id: tel-02633171 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02633171v1

Submitted on 9 Oct 2019 (v1), last revised 27 May 2020 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

UNIVERSITÉ CÔTE D'AZUR - UFR SCIENCES École Doctorale de Sciences Fondamentales et Appliquées

Thèse de doctorat

pour obtenir le titre de

Docteur en Sciences

de l'Université Côte d'Azur

Discipline : Mathématiques Laboratoire de Mathématiques J.A. Dieudonné (LJAD)

présentée et soutenue par

Giulia LISSONI

Méthode DDFV : applications en mécanique des fluides et décomposition des domaines

DDFV METHOD : APPLICATIONS TO FLUID MECHANICS

AND DOMAIN DECOMPOSITION

Thèse dirigée par Thierry Goudon et Stella Krell

soutenue le 4 Octobre 2019

devant le jury composé de

Boris Andreianov Christophe Besse Marianne Bessemoulin Thierry Goudon Angelo Iollo Stella Krell Véronique Martin Professeur Professeur Chargée de recherche Directeur de recherche Professeur Maître de conférences Maître de conférences Université de Tours Université de Toulouse Université de Nantes INRIA Université de Bordeaux Université Côte d'Azur Université de Picardie, Amiens Rapporteur Rapporteur Examinatrice Directeur de thèse Examinateur Directrice de thèse Examinatrice

Remerciements

J'adresse mes premiers remerciements, bien évidemment, à mes deux directeurs de thèse, Stella et Thierry, sans qui je n'aurais jamais été là. Vous avez eu confiance en moi dès le début, vos encouragements ont été précieux et constants tout au long de ma thèse; je peux sans doute dire que j'étais la plus chanceuse des doctorants, travailler avec vous était un énorme plaisir et une forte inspiration.

Stella, quelques lignes écrites ne suffiront pas à tout dire; merci pour ta présence constante, pour tes conseils (scientifiques, mais pas seulement), pour ta confiance, pour ta patience, pour tes messages d'encouragement. Tu as été bien plus qu'une directrice de thèse; tu as été un modèle, une confidente et un soutien.

Thierry, tu as cru en moi quand j'étais encore une étudiante qui n'avait pas d'idées sur son futur; tu m'as ouvert au monde de la recherche et je t'en serai toujours reconnaissante. Tout au long de ma thèse tu as réussi à me pousser au-delà de mes limites et je t'en remercie; avec ton sourire, tu as toujours su me faire voir le coté positif des situations difficiles.

Je remercie Boris Andreianov et Christophe Besse d'avoir accepté d'être les rapporteurs de cet écrit; merci pour vos remarques constructives, qui m'ont permis d'améliorer mon manuscrit, et pour l'intérêt que vous avez porté à ma thèse. Je remercie également les autres membres de mon jury de thèse, Marianne Bessemoulin, Angelo Iollo et Véronique Martin; je suis très honorée que chacun de vous ait accepté de participer à l'évaluation de cette thèse.

Je tiens également à remercier Franck Boyer pour son aide pendant la redaction de mon premier papier, Florence Hubert et Laurence Halpern pour leurs conseils concernants la décomposition des domaines et Robert Eymard pour sa disponibilité à m'écouter.

Je garde un très bon souvenir de la collaboration au CEMRACS avec Théo Corot, Igor Chollet, Laurent Dumas, Philippe Hoch et Thomas Leroy. J'ai une pensée aussi pour ceux qui ont partagé cette expérience avec moi, en particulier Alessandro, Alexis, Antoine, Claire, Cristina, Giuliano, Marta, Paul, Samuel.

Un grand merci à la personne qui a décidé de m'assigner un bureau à Fizeau; l'atmosphère conviviale et familiale qui s'est créée a rendu ces années magnifiques. Je n'oublierai jamais les pauses mots-croisés, les thés de l'après-midi, et surtout les gâteaux qui apparaissent.

Merci à André, pour nos conversations, à Anna, pour les discours entre filles, à Cédric, pour ses blagues, à Elisabette, à François, pour sa gentillesse, à Gilles, pour tout l'aide et la patience, à Julie, à Karim, à Marjo, pour sa bonne humeur (et quand même pour son boulanger), à Martine, à Olivier, à Patricia, à Raphaël, à Rémi, à Roland D., pour ses bonjours et ses encouragements, à Séb, pour ses cours en anglais pendant le M2 et pour tout le soutien, à Thomas, pour le chantage rigolo et les discours sur Star Wars (je n'ai pas encore lu le livre), et à Yves. De même je tiens à remercier Didier, pour ses questions effrayantes et pour notre discussion de physique en salle Fizeau; merci également à Afeintou, Amandine, Claire, Francesca, Jacques, Konstantin, Laurent, Roland M., et Zhiyan. Merci à ceux qui m'ont accueillie et aidée dès mon arrivée au LJAD, Julia, Jean-Marc, Roland R. et Chiara, et merci aussi à Marie-Cécile pour l'aide à INRIA.

Ces trois ans n'auraient pas été les mêmes sans mon Sbryckyz : du premier au dernier jour de nos thèses, on a partagé non seulement le bureau 05-010, mais aussi toutes les joies, les difficultés, les moments drôles, les moments tristes, les journées de vitalité et celles pleines de fatigue. Ce fut un vrai plaisir de vivre cette expérience avec toi et le lien qu'on a créé est très précieux pour moi.

Merci à ma Madame préférée. Merci pour être devenue une vraie amie; merci pour nos dîners et nos apéros, pour la confiance réciproque, pour nos blagues, pour nos voyages, pour nos séances de shopping et bien d'autre. Je t'attends à Pupiville pour pouvoir poursuivre cette aventure ensemble.

Merci à mes Pasticcini d'amour. Marcellina, même si on est loin, merci d'être toujours là pour moi. Papino, merci pour toujours m'écouter, pour partager mon humour et bien sur pour les tacos.

Merci à Minime. Merci d'abord de ne pas m'en vouloir pour ce surnom. Merci d'avoir choisi Nice; merci pour les bières au Beer District et pour les pauses l'après-midi. Je suis heureuse de t'avoir connu et de l'amitié qu'on a créée.

Merci à Giulia, ma co-bureau, pour ton aide et ta présence à la fin de ce parcours difficile. Merci à Alexandre pour avoir fini tous mes plateaux au RU. Merci à Alexis G. et Mehdi pour les memes partagés. Merci à Yash pour les discussions engagées. Merci à Julie, ma grande sœur de thèse, pour tous les moments passés ensemble. Merci à mes petits frères de thèse, Léo et Kevin. Merci à mes autres collègues doctorants, en particulier Alexis L., Arthur, Charles, Diego, Eduard, Eliot, Hadrien, JB, Jonathan, Joubine, Ludo, Marco, Reine, Rinel, Samira, Valerio, pour les pauses cafés et les soirées que je garde en memoire.

Questi anni di dottorato non sarebbero stati così speciali senza di voi : grazie ai membri della F.I.C.A., per essere diventati la mia famiglia in questi anni.

Grazie Alby, per esserti legato a me nonostante la tua riservatezza. Grazie Aldo e Anne, per la vostra dolcezza e quella dei dolci della Domenica. Grazie Fely, per i pomeriggi in palestra e per le nostre chiacchierate. Grazie Giamby, per aver deciso di imbucarti alla mia festa di compleanno in quel lontano 2015 e per essere diventato un fratello per me. Grazie Gio, per avermi portato a vedere i Black Eyed Peas, per i risotti e per la tua sensibilità. Grazie Giulia, per la tua spontaneità e simpatia. Grazie Luca, o forse no, per tutte le risate e i momenti passati insieme : lo so che mi vuoi bene. Grazie Mathéo, per aver creduto in me già da Verona e per essermi ancora accanto. Grazie Matte, per essere stato una scoperta in questo ultimo anno e per l'amicizia che abbiamo instaurato. Grazie Marco, per il tuo spirito libero. Grazie Marika, per la tua gentilezza e disponibilità. Grazie Massi (o dovrei dire Bedy), per la vita in 11 rue de Dijon, per le spese al mercato, i pranzi con il pollo, i film insieme, le risate con la Zanzara, i pranzi dalla nonna e per tutto il resto. Grazie Vitto, per i cordon bleu alle 3 di mattina da Giando e per le foto da walk of shame. Ho imparato qualcosa da ognuno di voi che porterò sempre con me.

Grazie alla mia siora, Mary; per la nostra folle convivenza e la nostra ancor più folle amicizia. Grazie a Mathieu, il mio giramondo preferito, che in un modo o nell'altro riesce sempre a fare sentire la sua presenza. Merci à Sarah, pour avoir taquiné Bedello avec moi et d'avoir ri de Céline.

Un pensiero va anche ai miei Francesini, Emmi, Nando, Souky e Ste, con cui ho condiviso il mio primo anno a Nizza. Merci aussi à Antoni, Bruno et Logan pour les beaux moments passés ensemble. Non posso non ringraziare i miei compagni di viaggi, Fabri, Luca, Andrei e Vucasin, che mi hanno conosciuta dentro e fuori i muri dell'università. Grazie anche a Cri, per le nostre chiacchierate a distanza.

Nonostante abitassi a Nizza, una parte di me è rimasta a casa. Grazie alle mie migliori amiche, per l'amore incondizionato, il supporto, le risate, le chiamate, i weekend, le colazioni, i viaggi e tutto quello che abbiamo vissuto insieme finora: Frenzy, Futi, Tovi, vi voglio un bene dell'anima. Grazie alla mia Pau, che fin da quando lavoravamo al Caggiu's mi è rimasta vicina e trova sempre un momento da dedicarmi quando rientro. Grazie Carru, per la tua amicizia pura e per i Natali insieme. Un grazie anche a Conso, Franci, Loris e Nini.

Grazie al mio Lorenzino, che in questi ultimi e intensi mesi è entrato a fare parte della mia vita; sei stato di enorme sostegno, per la tesi e non solo.

Cari mamma e papà: non so da dove cominciare a ringraziarvi. Mi avete permesso di studiare e di scegliere la mia strada, sempre spronandomi e supportandomi; avete sempre creduto in me, anche quando io stessa non lo facevo. Questo dottorato è anche vostro, che avete mi siete stati accanto e mi avete dato tutti i mezzi per concluderlo. Un grazie al mio fratellino, la presenza più sicura e costante della mia vita. Un pensiero anche alla mia nonnina, e al suo affetto smisurato.

Table of contents

Introduction

Ι	DD	FV method	19
	I.1	DDFV meshes	21
	I.2	Approximation spaces and projections on DDFV meshes	24
	I.3	Discrete operators	26
	I.4	Scalar products and norms	28
	I.5	Green's formula	29
	I.6	Inf-sup stability	30
		I.6.1 Extension to inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions	34
	I.7	Stabilization of Brezzi-Pitkaranta	39
	I.8	Results on the strain rate tensor	40
		I.8.1 Bound for the strain rate tensor	40
		I.8.2 Korn inequality	41
		I.8.3 Study of the kernel of $D^{\mathfrak{D}}$	44
	I.9	Trace inequalities	47
	I.10	Properties of discrete operators	53
	I.11	Basic inequalities	54
тт	Stal	res problem with mixed Divisiblet Neumann boundary conditions	55
11	II 1	DDFV scheme	56
	11.1 11.9	Wellposedness of the scheme	57
	11.2 11.3	Error estimates for the DDEV scheme	50
	11.0	II 3.1 Bough error estimate	59
		II 3.2 Stability of the DDFV scheme	71
		II 3.3 Optimal error estimate	75
	II.4	Numerical results	78
	II.5	Extension to the Divergence form	80
		II.5.1 Well-posedness of the scheme	82
		II.5.2 Numerical results	84
	II.6	Unstabilized scheme: weak boundary conditions	87
		II.6.1 Well-posedness of the scheme	89
		II.6.2 Numerical results	90
TT	T NT -		0.0
11.		ter Stokes problem with outflow boundary conditions	93
		Approximation of the nonlinear convection term	95
	111.2 111.9	Well pegedpage	97
	111.3	Wein-posedness	100
		111.5.1 Existence and uniqueness	100

1

	III.4	Property of the convection term	102
	III.5	Discrete energy estimate	105
	III.6	Numerical results	108
		III.6.1 Convergence results	108
		III.6.2 Simulations of a flow in a pipe	110
IV	Non	n-overlapping DDFV Schwarz algorithm for Navier-Stokes problem	119
	IV.1	DDFV scheme for the Navier-Stokes problem on Ω	121
		IV.1.1 The scheme \mathcal{P}	121
		IV.1.2 Wellposedness of problem (\mathcal{P})	125
	IV.2	DDFV scheme for the subdomain problem on Ω_j	127
		IV.2.1 DDFV on composite meshes	127
		IV.2.2 DDFV Schwarz algorithm	130
	IV.3	Convergence analysis of the DDFV Schwarz algorithm	135
		IV.3.1 The limit problem $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$	135
	IV.4	Second DDFV Schwarz algorithm	151
	IV.5	Numerical results	154
		IV.5.1 Error on the interface	156
		IV.5.2 Study of the parameters	157
N 7	C		100
\mathbf{V}		ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows	163
v	Cur V.1	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163
v	Cur V.1 V.2	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction Interface reconstruction with DPIR V 2 1	163 163 165
V	Cur V.1 V.2	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction Interface reconstruction with DPIR V.2.1 First step: minimization of J with dynamic programming V.2.2 Second stars back competition of archive functions	163 163 165 165
V	Cur V.1 V.2	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163 165 165 165
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163 165 165 165 165
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163 165 165 165 166 168
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163 165 165 165 166 168 169
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169
v	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169 169
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169 169 171 171
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169 169 171 171 171
v	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169 169 171 171 171
V	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction	163 163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169 169 171 171 171 171 172 173
v	Cur V.1 V.2 V.3 V.4 V.5	ved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows Introduction Interface reconstruction with DPIR V.2.1 First step: minimization of J with dynamic programming V.2.2 Second step: local correction of volume fractions DPIR extension to curved interfaces reconstruction Robustness improvement of DPIR V.4.1 A new search direction for the control point V.4.2 A new discretization of the cell edges V.4.3 A new penalty term V.4.4 Numerical results DPIR extension to triple point reconstruction V.5.1 Classification of triple cells V.5.2 The new algorithm for interface reconstruction V.5.3 A example of DPIR reconstruction on a triple point configuration V.5.4 Perspectives on the filament issue Conclusion and perspectives	163 165 165 165 166 168 169 169 169 169 171 171 171 172 173 174

Introduction

The aim of this thesis is to study and develop the theory of Discrete Duality Finite Volume method ("DDFV" for short) for problems arising in fluid mechanics (namely Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem). In particular, my interests focus:

- on the study of different type of boundary conditions, such as mixed Dirichlet/Neumann or outflow boundary conditions;
- on the coupling between DDFV method and the algorithm of domain decomposition.

This dissertation will start with a brief *excursus* on what is the DDFV method and the reason why we choose it. I will then give an idea of the general results of the thesis, by describing the problems we treated, how they have been developed and the main difficulties related to them.

DDFV method

This method enters the class of finite volume methods, that are discretization methods in which volume integrals are converted to surface integrals, using the divergence theorem. An important feature of those methods is that they are locally conservative; in fact, surface integrals are evaluated as fluxes at the boundary of each finite volume and they are conserved from one discretization cell to its neighbor. This makes finite volume methods quite attractive when modeling problems arising from fluid mechanics, the derivation of which are precisely based on local balance principles.

Finite volume methods for Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem have been widely studied during the years. Concerning the Stokes flow, we refer to [EHL06] for a colocated and stabilized finite volume scheme, [BEH05] for a staggered finite volume scheme, [DE08] for a mixed finite volume/ finite element scheme, [Del07] for an alternative DDFV scheme with a different localization of the unknowns, [DO15] for a DDFV scheme for the vorticity-velocity-pressure formulation.

Concerning the Navier-Stokes flow, we refer to [BCH00] for a fractional step method combined with finite volume schemes, [EHL07] for a colocated finite volume scheme, [EH05] for a staggered finite volume scheme, [Del07] for an alternative DDFV scheme with a different localization of the unknowns, [DE08, LS17] for a combined finite volume/ finite element scheme, [GHL10] for a finite volume scheme with explicit time discretization, [CCML17] for a high order finite volume scheme based on polynomial reconstruction.

DDFV method has been developed since the early 2000's; the DDFV schemes have been first introduced and studied in [Her00] and [DO05] to approximate Laplace equation on a large class of 2D meshes including non-conformal and distorted meshes.

A way to consider general families of meshes is to add some unknowns to the problem: we require unknowns on vertices, centers and edges of control volumes; for this reason, DDFV method works on (three) staggered meshes. From an initial mesh, called the "primal mesh" (denoted with $\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}$), we construct the "dual mesh" (denoted with $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$), that is centered on the vertices of



the primal mesh, and the "diamond mesh" (denoted with \mathfrak{D}), which is centered on the edges of the primal mesh; see Fig. 1 for an illustration. The union of primal and dual mesh will be denoted by \mathfrak{T} .

Fig. 1 DDFV meshes on a non conformal mesh: primal mesh $\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}$ (blue), dual mesh $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ (red) and diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} (green).

DDFV method for Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem leads naturally to locate the unknowns of velocity and pressure in different points; the velocity unknowns are associated to each primal and dual volume, while the pressure unknowns are located on each diamond. So DDFV enters the class of staggered methods. This is an usual technique for incompressible flows: one of the best known schemes is the MAC (Marker and Cell) scheme (see [HW65]), which is built for cartesian meshes; we can mention also [CR73] for triangular meshes. MAC schemes, as unknowns, consider the normal components of the velocity (located on the mesh edges) and the pressure (located at the centers of the cells); with DDFV, we generalize this schemes by considering all the components of the velocity and extending it to more general meshes. Moreover, it has been shown in [Kre10] that a DDFV scheme on a cartesian mesh is equivalent to two decoupled MAC schemes written on two different staggered meshes (except for the boundary).

With this kind of construction, DDFV has two important advantages:

- 1. it applies to general meshes, such as non-conformal and distorted meshes. It is useful, for instance, in the domain decomposition setting, where the subdomains can be meshed separately and non-conformal edges appear on the interface, or simply if one wants to locally refine the mesh or consider complex geometries;
- 2. it can reconstruct and mimic at the discrete level the dual properties of the continuous differential operators. In fact, thanks to this choice of unknowns and meshes, it is possible to obtain a full approximation of the gradient operator and to maintain the structure of the continuous problem, such as symmetry, that helps when dealing with nonlinearities.

Another important point is that the implementation of the method has the same difficulties compared to the classical finite volume schemes: the structure is in fact similar. Just to remark, all the simulations presented in this dissertation are done in a Fortran90 code.

DDFV method in 2D has been widely developed during the years; in the case of anisotropic scalar diffusion [DO05, Her00, Her03, BHK10a], convection-diffusion problems [CM10], Div-Rot systems [DD007], Leray-Lions elliptic equations [ABH07, BH08], Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem [Del07, Kre11a, Kre11b, GKL17, GKL19], Maxwell [HL008], and Cahn-Hilliard/Stokes phase field model [BN17].

Some works have been done even in 3D: for anisotropic linear diffusion problems [ABHK12, CPRT08, ABK08, Her07], for Leray-Lions elliptic equations [CH11], for Stokes problem [KG12].

This motivated us to extend and develop the theory on DDFV methods and this thesis specifically addresses the following issues

- mixed Dirichlet/Neumann boundary conditions for the Stokes problem
- outflow boundary condition for the Navier Stokes problem
- domain decomposition method for the Navier Stokes problem

In all three cases we establish a complete well-posedness theory of the discrete equations, and we perform a convergence analysis. The discussion relies on stability properties of the scheme (expressed by means of Inf-sup condition), and new functional inequalities (Korn's lemma, trace lemma...). Everytime, numerical test follow the theoretical analysis.

Stokes problem

We started our work by first considering the Laplace form of the Stokes system in a connected open bounded polygonal domain Ω of \mathbb{R}^2 :

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{f} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\ + \operatorname{boundary \ conditions} & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where the unknowns are the velocity $\mathbf{u}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^2$ and the pressure $p: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$; the data $\mathbf{f} \in (L^2(\Omega))^2$. The Stokes system is a PDEs system which arises in fluid mechanics: it is linear and its resolution is the preliminary step to handle more intricate models, like the evolution problem for the Navier-Stokes system. In the DDFV setting, this problem was studied in [Del07, Kre11a, BKN15] in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions, i.e.:

$$\mathbf{u} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega.$$

Our first goal was to extend the theory known for this problem to the case of mixed Dirichlet/ Neumann boundary conditions, i.e. to study the system:

$$\begin{cases}
-\Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{f} & \text{in } \Omega, \\
\text{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\
\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g} & \text{on } \Gamma_D, \\
(\nabla \mathbf{u} - \text{pId}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}} = \Phi & \text{on } \Gamma_N,
\end{cases}$$
(1)

where the boundary of the domain Ω is split between $\partial \Omega = \Gamma_D \cup \Gamma_N$, $\Phi, \mathbf{g} \in (H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\partial \Omega))^2$ and $\vec{\mathbf{n}}$ is the unitary outer normal. We refer to [BF12] for the analysis of the continuous problem (1).

A first natural question is the well-posedness of (1): in the continuous case, this property is relied to the so-called Inf-sup stability inequality (or LBB). This will be a key point all along the dissertation; it is formulated as:

$$\inf_{\mathbf{p}\in L^{2}_{0}(\Omega)} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}\in (H^{1}_{0}(\Omega))^{2}} \frac{a(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{p})}{\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^{1}} \|\mathbf{p}\|_{L^{2}}} \right) > 0,$$
(2)

where $a(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{p}) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{p}(\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}))$ and $L_0^2(\Omega) = \{\mathbf{p} \in L^2(\Omega) : m(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{p} = 0\}$; it is equivalent to the existence of a continuous right-inverse of the divergence operator (see [GR11, BF12]).

This inequality is satisfied by the continuous operators, cf [BBF08]; the analysis of numerical methods relies on the fact that the underlying discrete operators still satisfy an inequality of the same type. Thus, with the intention of writing a DDFV scheme for (1), it is necessary to understand if property (2) holds even in the discrete setting.

In the DDFV framework, we refer to [BKN15]; Inf-sup stability has been proven to hold unconditionally for conforming acute triangle meshes, non-conforming triangle meshes and chechkerboard meshes. For some conforming or non-conforming Cartesian meshes, it holds up to a single unstable pressure mode. Moreover, it has been proven numerically for many other families of meshes (it has still not been found a mesh that does not satisfy it).

Our first goal was to extend those results to the case of non-homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions (i.e. to the corresponding case of $\mathbf{v} \in (H^1_{\Gamma_D}(\Omega))^2$).

In the following, we denote by $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ the velocity unknowns on the centers and vertices of the mesh and $p^{\mathfrak{D}}$ the pressure on the edges; $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}$ represents the discrete DDFV gradient operator and div^{\mathfrak{D}} the discrete DDFV divergence, both defined on the diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} , while $\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ stands for the divergence on the primal and dual mesh (we recall that $\mathfrak{T} = \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$). The space $\mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$ corresponds to homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition on Γ_D . By defining a scalar product on the primal and dual mesh, denoted by $[[\cdot, \cdot]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$, and one on the diamond mesh, $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathfrak{D}}$, we can deduce some discrete L^p norms, $\|\cdot\|_p$. We refer to Chap. I for all the detailed definitions.

The extension of the discrete Inf-sup condition to the non-homogeneous Dirichlet case reads:

Theorem 1 For a given DDFV mesh \mathfrak{T} that satisfies Inf-sup stability (see Def.I.6.1), there exists $\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that:

$$\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}} := \inf_{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}} \frac{a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\|_{2}} \right) > 0,$$
(3)

where $a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \text{ and } m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}.$

This theorem ensures that $\forall p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$:

$$\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}} \frac{(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}};$$
(4)

this inequality is a useful tool to prove the wellposedness of the DDFV scheme associated to (1).

One can object that supposing Inf-sup stability property on the mesh can be restrictive, since it has not been proven uniformly for all meshes; there is a way to avoid this hypothesis, that is to stabilize the mass conservation equation. It can be done either by adding a linear stabilization or a stabilization term $\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}$ inspired by the Brezzi-Pitkäranta method [BP84] in the finite element

framework. This latter strategy has been previously used in the finite volume framework by [EHL06, EHL07]; in particular, in the DDFV framework, it was proposed by the author of [Kre11a]. See Sec. I.7 for more details.

Motivated by the work in [Kre11a], we decided to adopt this approach when discretizing (1).

To obtain our scheme, we decided to integrate the momentum equation over all $\mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_N$. Thanks to the definition of the DDFV discrete operators, this is equivalent to replace the continuous with the corresponding discrete ones. We impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_D$ and Neumann boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N$. The mass conservation equation is directly approximated on the diamond mesh equation over \mathfrak{D} , and it is stabilized through two parameters $\beta \geq 0$, associated to the stabilization of Brezzi-Pitkäranta (see Sec. I.7) and $\mu \geq 0$, associated to a linear stabilization.

If \mathbf{g}_{σ} , Φ_{σ} denote the projection of the Dirichlet and Neumann data on the mesh, and h is the mesh size, the scheme we obtain is the following:

Find
$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_{D}}$$
 and $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbf{div}^{\kappa}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + p^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\kappa} & \forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M} \\
\mathbf{div}^{\kappa^{*}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + p^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\kappa^{*}} & \forall \kappa^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\
\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu h p^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta h^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\
(\nabla^{p}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - p^{p}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\kappa}} = \Phi_{\sigma} & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}.
\end{cases}$$
(5)

The scheme (5) is well-posed on general meshes if $\mu + \beta > 0$ (see Thm. II.2.2). Moreover, if $\mu > 0$, we obtain a first rough estimate (see Thm. II.3.1) of order 0.5 for the velocity only; in order to obtain order 1, it is necessary to use the Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization (i.e. if we suppose $\beta > 0$). We first need to prove the stability result of Thm. 2. We point out that the number reg(\mathfrak{T}), that will appear in the estimates, measures the regularity of the mesh and it is uniformly bounded as $h \to 0$.

Theorem 2 (Stability of the scheme) Suppose that $\beta > 0$. There exist two constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$, depending only on Ω, β and reg(\mathfrak{T}), such that for every pair $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ with

$$(-\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}Id)\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} \quad \forall \sigma \in \Gamma_{N},$$

there exist $\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and $\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \le C_{1}(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2}), \tag{6}$$

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C_{2} \left(B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) + \left| \sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \Phi_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\tau}) \right| + \|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2}^{2} \right), \quad (7)$$

where $\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ is a trace term and B is the bilinear form associated to (5):

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) := [[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}), \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + (\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu h \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta h^{2} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$
(8)

From this, we deduce the estimate of order 1 for the velocity, its gradient and the pressure:

Theorem 3 We suppose that the solution of (1) satisfies $(\mathbf{u}, p) \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2 \times W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$. Let $\beta > 0$ and $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ be the solution of (5). Then there exists a constant C > 0 that depends on $reg(\mathfrak{T}), \mu, \beta, \|\mathbf{u}\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$ and $\|p\|_{W^{1,\infty}}$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} &\leq Ch, \\ \|p - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} &\leq Ch. \end{aligned}$$

In the idea of moving to the discretization of the Navier Stokes problem, the second problem we considered is the Stokes problem in the divergence form:

$$\begin{cases}
-\operatorname{div}(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})) = \mathbf{f} & \text{in} & \Omega, \\
\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in} & \Omega, \\
\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g} & \text{on} & \Gamma_D, \\
\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})\mathbf{\vec{n}} = \Phi & \text{on} & \Gamma_N.
\end{cases}$$
(9)

The stress tensor is $\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) = \frac{2}{\text{Re}} \mathbf{D}\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{pId}$, with Re > 0. In particular, the strain rate tensor is defined by the symmetric part of the velocity gradient $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{u} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \mathbf{u} + t \nabla \mathbf{u})$.

The main difficulty when dealing with this kind of problem is the so-called Korn inequality (see [BS07]), that relates the gradient with the strain rate tensor; in the continuous case it is formulated as:

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{(H^1(\Omega))^2} \le C \|\mathbf{D}\mathbf{u}\|_{(L^2(\Omega))^{2\times 2}}.$$

In the DDFV setting, the equivalent discrete theorem was proved in [Kre10] in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions; in this case, the proof relies on the definition of the operators and thus the constant of the estimate can be explicitly computed.

If we add a part of the boundary with non-zero data, we introduce some difficulties: as in the continuous setting, we are able to prove the extension to inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition by contradiction. So we proved the following theorem:

Theorem 4 (Korn's inequality) Let \mathfrak{T} be a mesh that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Then there exists C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that :

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C \|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \qquad \forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}.$$

See Sec. I.8.2 for more details. It is important to mention that this theorem holds under the Inf-sup stability condition on the mesh; this is why it becomes superfluous to stabilize the mass conservation equation when working in the divergence form of Stokes problem (or Navier-Stokes problem).

The DDFV scheme corresponding to (9) then reads:

Find
$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_{D}}$$
 and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases}
-\mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}} \left(\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \right) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}} & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\
-\mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \left(\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \right) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\
\quad \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0 \\
\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} & \forall \mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N},
\end{cases}$$
(10)

with the discrete stress tensor defined by $\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \frac{2}{\text{Re}} D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \text{Id}$, and the discrete strain rate tensor by $D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + {}^{t} (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})}{2}$. This scheme is well-posed under the Inf-sup hypothesis on the mesh (see Thm. II.5.2). Moreover, all the results on the error estimates established for (5) can be extended to (10) thanks to Korn's inequality and the relation between the strain rate tensor and the gradient, illustrated in Sec. I.8.2.

At last, we extended (5) to the case of weak boundary conditions. In fact, if we decide not to stabilize the incompressibility constraint, problem (5) is well posed under the hypothesis that the mesh satisfies Inf-sup inequality; this inequality, in the simplest case of conformal square meshes, is valid up to an unstable mode for the pressure (see [BKN15]). A way of avoiding this inconvenient is thus to impose boundary conditions in "a weak sense"; the details can be found in Sec. II.6.

In Sec. II.4, II.5.2, II.6.2 we numerically tested (5), (10) and the formulation with weak boundary conditions on different meshes, by showing the convergence properties of the schemes and the influence of the stabilization parameters β , μ for (5).

Navier-Stokes problem

The step forward to our work was the study of the following 2D unsteady incompressible Navier-Stokes problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} - \operatorname{div}(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})) = 0 & \text{in} \quad \Omega_T = \Omega \times [0, T], \\ \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in} \quad \Omega_T, \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_{init} & \text{in} \quad \Omega, \\ \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g}_1 & \text{on} \quad \Gamma_1 \times (0, T), \\ \sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}})^- (\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_{ref}) = \sigma_{ref} \, \vec{\mathbf{n}} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_2 \times (0, T). \end{cases}$$
(11)

This problem arises when computing a flow whose velocity is prescribed at one part of the boundary and it flows freely on the other one. In this framework, we are often required to truncate the physical domain to obtain a reduced computational domain, either because we want to save computational ressources or because the physical domain is unbounded. We illustrate this setting in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Domain and notations.

This raises the question on what type of boundary conditions one should impose on the "artificial

frontier", denoted by Γ_2 ; we choose to adopt the ones proposed in [BF94] and then further studied in [BF94, BF12]. Other techniques where proposed in the literature, we can mention for instance [HS89]; here, an artificial boundary condition is proposed for the Navier-Stokes problem under the hypothesis of small viscosity. The method consists into the approximation of the transparent boundary conditions, since they are non local.

We remark that in order to build the outflow boundary condition on Γ_2 :

$$\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}})^{-}(\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_{ref}) = \sigma_{ref}\,\vec{\mathbf{n}},\tag{12}$$

we need to choose some reference flow \mathbf{u}_{ref} , which is any $\mathbf{u}_{ref} \in (H^1(\Omega))^2$ such that $\mathbf{u}_{ref} = \mathbf{g}_1$ on Γ_1 , chosen so as to be a reasonable approximation of the expected flow near Γ_2 , and a reference stress tensor σ_{ref} such that $\sigma_{ref} \mathbf{\vec{n}} \in (H^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\Omega))^2$. The choice of the reference flow is delicate and it will be widely discussed in Sec. III.6.

This nonlinear condition (12) is physically meaningful: if the flow is outward, we impose the constraint coming from the selected reference flow; if it is inward, we need to control the increase of energy, so we add a term that is quadratic with respect to velocity.

The analysis of the Navier-Stokes problem with the outflow boundary condition (12) is performed in [BF96] and [BF07] for the continuous equations and simulations are performed in [BF94] by the use of Finite Differences schemes in the case of Cartesian meshes. Within the framework of DDFV methods, we are able to reproduce those simulations by extending to the case of general meshes and we also offer a complete analysis of the discrete problem.

The first difficulty we faced when trying to write a DDFV scheme for (11) is the discretization of the nonlinear convection term: we will not detail the computations here, but we point out that it is necessary to construct the bilinear form $\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ and the numerical flux $F_{\sigma \mathfrak{K}}$.

The bilinear form is built in order that $[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$ discretizes $\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v}) \mathbf{w}$, which is the trilinear form that appears when considering the variational formulation of (11); in particular, $\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ approaches $\int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{\vec{n}}) \mathbf{v}$ while the flux $F_{\sigma^{\mathfrak{K}}}$ is an approximation of $\int_{\sigma} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{\vec{n}}$. See Sec. III.1 for more details. We just state the following bound of the nonlinear convection term that we obtained, useful in order to prove the discrete energy estimate:

Proposition 5 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . For all $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_{1}}^{\Gamma_{1}} \times \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_{1}}^{\Gamma_{1}} \times \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_{1}}^{\Gamma_{1}}$, there exists a constant C > 0 that depens only on Ω and $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ such that:

$$\begin{split} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \leq & C\left(\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{3}+\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{3,\partial\Omega}\right)\|\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{6}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \\ & + C\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{5},\partial\Omega}\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{5},\partial\Omega}\|\widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{4,\partial\Omega}. \end{split}$$

where $\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ are trace operators.

To write the DDFV scheme associated to (13), we choose to use an implicit Euler time discretization, except for the nonlinear term, which is linearized by using a semi-implicit approximation. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we note $\delta t = \frac{T}{N}$ and $t_n = n\delta t$ for $n \in \{0, \ldots, N\}$; we look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = (\mathbf{u}^n)_{n\in\{0,\ldots,N\}} \in (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_1}^{\Gamma_1})^{N+1}$ and $p^{\mathfrak{D},[0,T]} = (\mathbf{p}^n)_{n\in\{0,\ldots,N\}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}})^{N+1}$. To simplify the notations we will denote $(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{p}^{n+1})$ with $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ and $(\mathbf{u}^n, \mathbf{p}^n)$ with $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ that at each time step are known.

Then, our first guess for the scheme was to naively replace the continuous operators with the discrete ones (as done previously for Stokes). This would have given the following scheme:

Find
$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_{1}}^{\Gamma_{D}}$$
 and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases}
m_{\kappa} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} - \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa}}{\delta t} - m_{\kappa} \mathbf{div}^{\kappa} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})) + m_{\kappa} \mathbf{b}^{\kappa} (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0 \qquad \forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}, \\
m_{\kappa^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} - \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa^{*}}}{\delta t} - m_{\kappa^{*}} \mathbf{div}^{\kappa^{*}} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})) + m_{\kappa^{*}} \mathbf{b}^{\kappa^{*}} (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0 \qquad \forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*}, \\
m_{\sigma} \sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} (F_{\sigma \mathsf{L}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{-} (\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref})) = m_{\sigma} \sigma_{\mathrm{ref}}^{\mathfrak{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \kappa} \quad \forall \mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{2}, \\
\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0.
\end{cases}$$
(13)

Unfortunately, we were not able to prove the wellposedness of (13) with the classical techniques. We thus had to change our strategy, by going back to the continuous problem: in fact, as presented in [BF12], the velocity **u** satisfies:

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_t \mathbf{u} \cdot \Psi + \frac{2}{\text{Re}} \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{u}) : \mathcal{D}(\Psi) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \Psi - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \Psi \cdot \mathbf{u}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}})^+ (\mathbf{u} \cdot \Psi) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}})^- (\mathbf{u}_{ref} \cdot \Psi) + \int_{\Gamma_2} (\sigma_{ref} \vec{\mathbf{n}}) \cdot \Psi, \quad (14)$$

where Ψ is a test function in the space

$$V = \{ \Psi \in (H^1(\Omega))^2, \, \Psi|_{\Gamma_1} = 0, \, \operatorname{div}(\Psi) = 0 \}$$

If now we rewrite this weak formulation (14) in the DDFV framework we obtain:

$$\begin{split} [[\frac{\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}}{\delta t},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} &+ \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}}(\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}:\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} + \frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathsf{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{2}}(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathsf{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{2}}(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{-}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathsf{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{2}}m_{\sigma}(\sigma_{\mathrm{ref}}^{\mathsf{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}), \quad (15) \end{split}$$

where $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is a test function in the discrete space that satisfies similar properties compared to the continuous test function Ψ :

$$\begin{cases} \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}, \\ \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(16)

At this point, we can project (15) on the meshes to obtain the scheme; we look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_1}^{\Gamma_D}$ and $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

 \bullet For all $\kappa\in\mathfrak{M}$

$$m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} - m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})) + \frac{1}{2} m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathsf{K}} (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{int}} \left(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{+} (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - F_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}^{-} (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} \right) = 0, \quad (17)$$

• For all $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_2^*$:

$$m_{\mathbf{x}^*} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}^*} - \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{x}^*}}{\delta t} - m_{\mathbf{x}^*} \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{x}^*} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})) + \frac{1}{2} m_{\mathbf{x}^*} \mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{x}^*} (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{x}^*}} \left(F_{\sigma^* \mathbf{x}^*}^+ (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}^*} - F_{\sigma^* \mathbf{L}^*}^- (\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^*} \right) = 0, \quad (18)$$

• For all $D_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_2$:

$$m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2}(F_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{-}(\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref})) - \frac{1}{4}F_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}})(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) = m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}_{\mathrm{ref}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}, \quad (19)$$

• For all $D \in \mathfrak{D}$:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0, \tag{20}$$

of which we can prove that there exists a unique solution (see Thm III.3.1). Remark that in the scheme (17)-(20) the anti-symmetrization of the convection term is taken into account, and that in (19) there is an additional term with respect to the equation on $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_2$ in (13), due to the projection of the boundary terms in (15).

The open boundary condition (12) is derived from the weak formulation (14) which ensures an energy estimate, as presented in [BF96]; so we proved a discrete version of the energy estimate. In order to do so, it is necessary to consider the variational formulation (15) and select the solution as a test function. Since the solution $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}$ is not zero on the Dirichlet boundary Γ_1 , it does not satisfy the hypothesis (16). We decompose it as $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} + \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{ref}$ so that, thanks to the definition of $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{ref}$ (see (III.12)), $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}$ is a good candidate to be the test function.

Theorem 6 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}, p^{\mathfrak{D},[0,T]}) \in (\mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1})^{N+1} \times (\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}})^{N+1}$ be the solution of the DDFV scheme (17)-(20), where $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$.

For N > 1, there exists a constant C > 0, depending on $\Omega, reg(\mathfrak{T}), \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}_0, Re and T$ such that:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \|\mathbf{v}^{j+1} - \mathbf{v}^{j}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq C, \quad \|\mathbf{v}^{N}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C, \\ \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \delta t \frac{1}{Re} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{j+1}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C, \quad \delta t \frac{1}{Re} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{N}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C, \\ \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \delta t \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^{j} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{j+1})|^{2} \leq C. \end{split}$$

To prove this result, it is mandatory to prove the following trace inequality:

Theorem 7 (Trace inequality) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, depending only on p,q, $\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})$, $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ and Ω such that $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and for all $s \geq 1$, p > 1:

$$\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{s,\partial\Omega}^{s} \leq C \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{p(s-1)}{p-1}}^{s-1}$$

where $\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})$ is a measure of the flattening of the mesh diamonds.

We want to point out that all these results are proved, for simplicity, in the case of a constant viscosity; they could be extended to the case of variable viscosity, by starting from the works of

[Kre11b, BF07].

To give an idea of application of the DDFV scheme we built to approximate (11), we refer to the numerical simulation illustrated in Fig. 3; the goal is to show that by adding an artificial boundary, thanks to condition (12), we do not introduce any perturbation to the flow. For this purpose, we first consider an original domain that we cut into smaller subdomains and we draw the streamlines of the respective solution. We observe that the recirculations are well located and that there is no spurious vortices. For more details on this test case and for further simulations, we refer to Sec. III.6.



Fig. 3 Streamline of Test case 2 at T = 3.5, Re = 250. On the top: $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell= 12118. In the middle: $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=8636. On the bottom: $\Omega'' = [0, 1.5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=6534.

Domain decomposition method

Our next goal was to design a non-overlapping Schwarz algorithm for the Navier-Stokes problem. It is an iterative method that enters the class of domain decomposition methods, in which a domain is decomposed into smaller subdomains. The main advantage is that, contrary to direct methods, decomposition methods are naturally parallel; in fact, subdomains problems are related by some transmission conditions on the interface, but they are decoupled by the iterative procedure. This makes those methods interesting for high performance computing perspectives.

The main difficulty when dealing with the decomposition is that we introduce an "artificial" interface between the subdomains; it is important to understand what type of condition to impose in order to be able to recover the solution on the entire domain.

It was shown in 1990 by P.L.Lions [Lio90] that, with Fourier (i.e. Robin) transmission conditions, Schwarz algorithm for the Laplace operator converges even without overlap between subdomains. This method has been adapted to the discrete case for many problems of isotropic diffusion, [AJNM02, CHH04, GJMN05], for advection-diffusion-reaction problems, [GH07, HH14] and for anisotropic diffusion in a DDFV discretization, [BHK10b, GHHK18]. When moving to the Navier-Stokes problem, in the literature we can find many different approaches, in particular our focus is on the different design of the interface conditions. In the spirit of [HS89], [BCR16] derives optimal transparent boundary conditions for the Stokes equation, result of the discretization in time of the Navier-Stokes equation; these conditions are tested in the finite differences setting. In the finite element setting, [LMO01] proposes a non-overlapping domain decomposition algorithm of Robin–Robin type for the discretized Oseen equations (i.e. linearized Navier-Stokes); the transmission conditions they impose are equivalent to the ones that we finally chose, but in their case it was necessary to prove a modified Inf-sup condition whose stability constant depends on the Reynolds number: we will avoid this inconvenient by imposing a new condition for the pressure on the interface. In [XCL05], in the finite element setting, the authors build a Dirichlet-Neumann domain decomposition method for the nonlinear steady Navier-Stokes equations, under the hypothesis that the Reynolds number is sufficiently small and [GRW05] studies a family of discontinuous Galerkin finite element methods for Stokes and Navier-Stokes problems on triangular meshes and, as in [LMO01], they need to modify the Inf-sup condition in order to mantain the zero-divergence constraint in the decomposition .

Our objective was to write an algorithm for the complete incompressible Navier-Stokes system, with a local condition defined on the interface, without any condition on the Reynold's number. As a first guess, motivated by our previous work for the Navier-Stokes problem, we imagined that imposing a condition similar to outflow boundary condition of (12) would have worked: in fact, as a *reference flow*, we could have chosen the solution on the neighboring domain, computed at the previous iteration of the Schwarz algorithm. This is however not sufficient to prove the convergence, since it can be seen just as a "Neumann type" boundary condition; it is necessary to add a contribution that takes into account the velocity on the interface in order to recover a "Fourier-type" condition for this problem.

We further remarked that, in order to deal with the incompressibility constraint, another condition was required by the problem.

So, when decomposing the domain Ω into two (or more) smaller subdomains $\Omega = \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$, the Schwarz algorithm that we designed defines a sequence of solutions \mathbf{u}_j^l of the Navier-Stokes problem in Ω_j , where the transmission condition on the interface between the subdomains (denoted by Γ) for (j, i) = (1, 2) or (2, 1), is defined by:

$$\sigma(\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l},\mathbf{p}_{j}^{l})\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{j} - \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{j})(\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l}) + \lambda\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l} = \sigma(\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1},\mathbf{p}_{i}^{l-1})\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{i} - \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{i})(\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}) + \lambda\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}.$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l}) + \alpha\mathbf{p}_{j}^{l} = -\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}) + \alpha\mathbf{p}_{i}^{l-1},$$
(21)

where $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_i$ is the outer normal to Ω_i .

The first condition, which depends on λ , is inspired by the classical Fourier condition, which linearly combines the values of the unknown (in this case the velocity) and the values of its derivative; here, also the convection is included.

The second, which depends on α , combines the divergence of the velocity with the pressure; it will be useful to conserve the incompressibility constraint at the convergence of the algorithm. This is the first time, to our knowledge, that this kind of condition appears.

As a first step to write the non-overlapping Schwarz algorithm in the DDFV framework, we proposed a DDFV discretization for the Navier-Stokes problem on the entire domain Ω with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Indeed, we find convenient to consider a general discretization of the convection term, seen as a centered discretization plus a diffusive perturbation, expressed through a certain function *B*. This is inspired from the work of [HH14], which handles scalar advection-diffusion-reaction equations with a classic finite volume discretization.

To obtain this scheme, we integrate the momentum equation over all $\mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^*$ and we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$. The equation of conservation of mass is directly approximated on the diamond mesh equation over \mathfrak{D} , and it is stabilized through a parameter $\beta > 0$ with a Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization (see Section I.7). It gives:

Given $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$, satisfying div $^{\mathfrak{D}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{p}^{2} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$, we look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}} + m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \\ m_{\mathsf{K}^*} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*} = m_{\mathsf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}^*} + m_{\mathsf{K}^*} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \\ \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^*} = 0 \\ \\ \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\ \\ \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} = 0 \end{cases}$$
(\mathcal{P})

with $\beta > 0$ and $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ the solution computed at the previous time step $t_{n-1} = (n-1)\delta t$ for $n \in \{1, \ldots, N-1\}$. The total fluxes are thus approached by:

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}B\left(\frac{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma\kappa}\right)\left(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}\right),$$
$$m_{\sigma^{*}}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}} = -m_{\sigma^{*}}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}} + m_{\sigma^{*}}F_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}B\left(\frac{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}}F_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}\right)\left(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}\right),$$
$$(22)$$

where we denote the coefficients $B\left(\frac{2\text{Re}m_{\text{D}}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma^{\text{K}}}\right)$, $B\left(\frac{2\text{Re}m_{\text{D}}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}}F_{\sigma^{*}\text{K}^{*}}\right)$ by $B_{\sigma^{\text{K}}}$ and $B_{\sigma^{*}\text{K}^{*}}$; they can be scalars, for instance if we want to recover an upwind scheme (for which $B(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$), or even matrices. Problem (\mathcal{P}) is well-posed under the hypothesis (formulated here for the scalar case):

$$B_{\sigma\kappa} = B_{\sigma L}, \qquad B_{\sigma\kappa} \ge 0$$

$$B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = B_{\sigma^*L^*}, \quad B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} \ge 0$$
(23)

See Thm. IV.1.3 for more details.

The following step consists in defining the DDFV scheme for the Navier Stokes problem on the subdomain with transmission conditions (21). It is necessary to add some fluxes unknowns $\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}$ on each dual cell that intersects Γ , which approximate the dual fluxes $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ on the interface. The scheme reads: Find $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \times \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}$ such that $m_{\mathbb{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{K}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbb{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathbb{K}}} = m_{\mathbb{K}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbb{K}} + m_{\mathbb{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbb{K}}}{\delta t} \quad \forall_{\mathbb{K}} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}$ $m_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbb{K}^{*}} = m_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} + m_{\mathbb{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} \quad \forall_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}$ $m_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbb{K}^{*}} + m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathbb{K}^{*}} \Psi_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} = m_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} + m_{\mathbb{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} \quad \forall_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}$ $-\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbb{K}} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbb{K}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{L}} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{L}} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathbb{L}} \quad \forall_{\sigma} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$ $-\Psi_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \quad \forall_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}$ $\mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0$ $\mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}^{*}} = 0$ $m_{p} \operatorname{div}^{p}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{p} d_{p}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$ $m_{p} \operatorname{div}^{p}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{p} d_{p}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$ $\forall_{\mathbb{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\mathsf{T}}$ $\mathbf{M} \geq 0$ and $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \{\mathbf{D}}^{\mathfrak{D})$ the solution computed at the solution time term is the equation of the solution of the term is the equation of the solution of the term is the equation of term is the e

with $\lambda, \beta, \alpha > 0$ and $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ the solution computed at the previous time step $t_{n-1} = (n-1)\delta t$ for $n \in \{1, \ldots, N-1\}$. We show that (24) is wellposed. We will refer to the system (24) in the more compact form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}},\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}},\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},g_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}})=0.$$
(25)

We then propose the following parallel DDFV Schwarz algorithm:

at each time step t_n , for arbitrary initial guesses $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*}$ and $g_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$, the algorithm performs two steps on the iteration index $l = 1, 2, \ldots$ and $i, j, \in \{1, 2\}, j \neq i$:

1. Compute $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}}$ solution to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l},\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l-1},g_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l-1})=0.$$
(S1)

2. Compute the new values of $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{I}_J}^l$ and of $g_{\mathfrak{D}_i^{\Gamma}}^l$ by:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{L}_{j}}^{l} &= \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathrm{K}_{i}}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma_{\mathrm{K}_{i}}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}_{i}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}_{i}}^{l}, & \forall_{\mathrm{L}_{j}} = \mathrm{L}_{i} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}, \\ \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l} &= \Psi_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathrm{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l}, & \forall_{\mathrm{K}_{j}^{*}} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \text{ such that } x_{\mathrm{K}_{j}^{*}} = x_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{*}}, \\ g_{\mathrm{D}_{j}}^{l} &= -\left(m_{\mathrm{D}_{i}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathrm{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l}) - \beta m_{\mathrm{D}_{i}} d_{\mathrm{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathrm{D}_{i}} \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}^{l}\right) + \alpha m_{\mathrm{D}_{i}} \mathbf{p}_{\mathrm{D}_{i}}^{l}, & \forall_{\mathrm{D}_{j}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma} \text{ such that } x_{\mathrm{D}_{j}} = x_{\mathrm{D}_{i}}. \\ (\mathcal{S}_{2}) \end{array}$$

When proving the convergence as $l \to \infty$ of (S_1) - (S_2) , we realized that actually this algorithm converges to a modified version of (\mathcal{P}) , where the fluxes on the interface depend on some coefficients $\tilde{B}_{\sigma^{\kappa}}, \tilde{B}_{\sigma^{*\kappa^{*}}}$:

Theorem 8 Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ be a solution of $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$, where:

• On the primal mesh, the new discrete convective fluxes are defined by:

$$\begin{cases} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}Id & \text{if } \sigma \notin \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}, \\ \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} & \text{if } \sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}, \end{cases}$$

where we refer to (IV.28) for the definition of $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$.

• On the dual mesh,

$$\begin{cases} B_{\sigma^*{\tt K}^*}Id & \text{ if } \sigma^*\cap\Gamma=\emptyset,\\ \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*{\tt K}^*} & \text{ if } \sigma^*\cap\Gamma\neq\emptyset. \end{cases}$$

Under the hypothesis that $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_j^*} = 2m_{\sigma_i^*}$, for $j, i = 1, 2, j \neq i$, the iterates of the Schwarz algorithm (\mathcal{S}_1) - (\mathcal{S}_2) converge as l tends to infinity to the solution of $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$.

We refer to Sec. IV.3.1 and Thm. IV.3.9 for the details. So we asked ourselves if it was possible to recover, at the limit, the solution of (\mathcal{P}) . The answer is positive as long as we modify the fluxes on the interface \mathcal{E}_{Γ} of the Schwarz algorithm, as shown in the following theorem (Thm. IV.4.1):

Theorem 9 Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ be a solution of (\mathcal{P}) for convective fluxes defined by a constant upwind flux $B_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}}(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$ for all $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}$, and by the centered flux $B_{\sigma^*\mathfrak{K}^*}(s) = 0$ for all $\sigma^* \in \mathcal{E}^*$. Define (\overline{S}) the Schwarz algorithm where

• On the primal mesh, the new discrete convective fluxes are defined as:

$$\begin{cases} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s)Id & \text{if } \sigma \notin \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}, \\ \bar{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s) & \text{if } \sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}, \end{cases}$$

with:

$$\bar{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(s) = \frac{1}{2}Q \begin{pmatrix} |s| - 2 + 2\sqrt{1+|s|} & 0\\ 0 & |s| - 1 + \sqrt{1+2|s|} \end{pmatrix} Q^{-1},$$
(26)
and $Q = \begin{pmatrix} x & y\\ y & -x \end{pmatrix}$, where $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} = \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y \end{pmatrix}$ is the outer normal to the interface Γ .

• On the dual mesh, $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(s) = 0$.

Under the hypothesis that $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_j^*} = 2m_{\sigma_i^*}$, for $j, i = 1, 2, j \neq i$, (\mathcal{P}) is the limit of the Schwarz algorithm (\bar{S}) .

We numerically tested and compared the convergences proved in Thm. 8 and Thm. 9. We also showed the influence of the parameters λ, α of the transmission condition (21); tipically, we observe the presence of an optimal choice for both λ and α . Moreover, the mesh, the test case and even the stabilization parameter affect this optimal values. For further details, we refer to Sec. IV.5.

Curved interface reconstruction

The last topic addressed in this dissertation is a work done during the CEMRACS project of 2018, with Igor Chollet, Théo Corot, Laurent Dumas, Philippe Hoch and Tomas Leroy.

We proposed a curved interface reconstruction procedure in the case of a 2D compressible flow made of two or more materials. Interface reconstruction (IR) methods are encountered in numerical simulation of multi-material or multi-fluid flows. If we suppose to consider the case of two materials, the objective of IR methods is to define a geometric interface separating material 1 and material 2 with the following properties:

• P1: volume fractions conservation,

- P2: continuity of the interface,
- P3: robustness,
- P4: low or moderate computational cost.

The first IR method that has been introduced in 1982 is due to D.L. Youngs [You82]. There exists many variants to Youngs method, for instance an order 2 reconstruction ([RK98]) or an extension to more than two materials ([SGFL09]). Some correction terms for the normal computation have also been proposed to reduce undesirable effects and to smooth the interface ([GDSS05]). Even though this method is still largely used up to now because of its simplicity and robustness, it suffers from the non continuity of the interface.

Recently, in [DGJM17], a new reconstruction method which ensures continuity of the interface and preserves volume fractions have been introduced. This new interface reconstruction method, called DPIR (*Dynamic Programming Interface Reconstruction*) has been used as a starting point for the presented work. It consists of two main steps:

- 1. the minimization of a suitable energy functional, which gives a continuous linear interface;
- 2. the addition of a control point in each cell in order to find the correct volume fractions.

The last step in usually made by searching the point in the normal direction of the interface, in the line passing through the center of this one. We had three main goals during our project that we detail in the following.

First, we extended the DPIR method for curved interfaces (Sec. V.3). It is of interest in particular in the case of curved meshes, where an exact reconstruction of the interface is expected. In order to be a real candidate for being used in multi-material hydrodynamic simulation using ALE remap methods, the DPIR method must be able to deal with distored meshes.

In order to obtain a curved interface, we chose to introduce rational Bezier curves in the local correction phase of DPIR.

Second, we proposed several improvements in order to deal with strongly distorded cells and small volume fraction issues.

In particular, we suggested to change the direction for the control point (the center of the cell instead of the perpendicular bisector to the interface), to pass from a uniform discretization of the segments crossing the interface to a Chebyshev one in order to obtain a finer discretization around the corners and to add a new penalty term to the energy functional that has to be minimized in step 1.

Finally, this work ended with a generalization of the method to the three materials case (Sec. V.5). Interface reconstruction for multi-material simulations is a complicated issue, and a comparison of several existing methods can be found in [KGSS10]. The proposed method applies the DPIR method for all the materials without choosing any material ordering and a suitable average is applied to obtain the final interfaces. The method has been tested on two test cases with triple point configuration on cartesian meshes, giving encouraging results for future unstructured meshes cases. We illustrate an example in Fig. 4. For more simulations and more details, that has been obtained with a C++ code, we refer to Chap. V.



Fig. 4 Exemple of reconstruction of an interface between three materials, with two triple points configurations.

Publications

This thesis led to the following publications:

- [GKL17] Numerical analysis of the DDFV method for the Stokes problem with mixed Neumann/Dirichlet boundary conditions, Thierry Goudon, Stella Krell, Giulia Lissoni, FVCA8 2017 - International Conference on Finite Volumes for Complex Applications VIII, 2017, Lille, France.
- [GKL19] DDFV method for Navier-Stokes problem with outflow boundary conditions, Thierry Goudon, Stella Krell, Giulia Lissoni, Numerische Mathematik, 2019.
- Reconstruction of curves interfaces for 2D compressible multi-material flows (CEMRACS project), Igor Chollet, Théo Corot, Laurent Dumas, Philippe Hoch, Thomas Leroy, Giulia Lissoni, submitted to Esaim: proceedings and surveys.
- Non-overlapping Domain Decomposition method for Navier-Stokes equation with DDFV discretizations, Thierry Goudon, Stella Krell, Giulia Lissoni, in preparation.

Chapter I

DDFV method

Contents

I.1	DDFV meshes	21
I.2	Approximation spaces and projections on DDFV meshes $\ldots \ldots$	24
I.3	Discrete operators	26
I.4	Scalar products and norms	28
I.5	Green's formula	29
I.6	Inf-sup stability	30
	I.6.1 Extension to inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions	34
I.7	Stabilization of Brezzi-Pitkaranta	39
I.8	Results on the strain rate tensor	40
	I.8.1 Bound for the strain rate tensor	40
	I.8.2 Korn inequality	41
	I.8.3 Study of the kernel of $D^{\mathfrak{D}}$	44
I.9	Trace inequalities	47
I.10	Properties of discrete operators	53
I.11	Basic inequalities	54

The aim of this chapter is to introduce the DDFV method for Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem, the meshes and the notations that we will use along this dissertation; we adopt the main definitions introduced in [ABH07] and [Kre10].

This method enters the class of finite volume methods, that are discretization methods in which volume integrals are converted to surface integrals, using the divergence theorem. An important feature of those methods is that they are locally conservative; in fact, surface integrals are evaluated as fluxes at the boundary of each finite volume and they are conserved from one discretization cell to its neighbor. This makes finite volume methods quite attractive when modeling problems arising from fluid mechanics, the derivation of which are precisely based on local balance principles.

Finite volume methods for Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem have been widely studied during the years. Concerning the Stokes flow, we refer to [EHL06] for a colocated and stabilized finite volume scheme, [BEH05] for a staggered finite volume scheme, [DE08] for a mixed finite volume/ finite element scheme, [Del07] for an alternative DDFV scheme with a different localization of the unknowns, [DO15] for a DDFV scheme for the vorticity-velocity-pressure formulation.

Concerning the Navier-Stokes flow, we refer to [BCH00] for a fractional step method combined with finite volume schemes, [EHL07] for a colocated finite volume scheme, [EH05] for a staggered finite volume scheme, [Del07] for an alternative DDFV scheme with a different localization of the unknowns, [DE08, LS17] for a combined finite volume/ finite element scheme, [GHL10] for finite volume scheme with explicit time discretization, [CCML17] for a high order finite volume scheme based on polynomial reconstruction.

DDFV method has been developed since the early 2000's; the DDFV schemes have been first introduced and studied in [Her00] and [DO05] to approximate Laplace equation on a large class of 2D meshes including non-conformal and distorted meshes.

A way to consider general families of meshes is to add some unknowns to the problem: we require unknowns on vertices, centers and edges of control volumes; for this reason, DDFV method works on (three) staggered meshes. From an initial mesh, called the "primal mesh" (denoted with $\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}$), we construct the "dual mesh" (denoted with $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$), that is centered on the vertices of the primal mesh, and the "diamond mesh" (denoted with \mathfrak{D}), which is centered on the edges of the primal mesh; see Fig. I.1 for an illustration. The union of primal and dual mesh will be denoted by \mathfrak{T} .



Fig. I.1 DDFV meshes on a non conformal mesh: primal mesh $\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}$ (blue), dual mesh $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ (red) and diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} (green).

DDFV method for Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem leads naturally to locate the unknowns of velocity and pressure in different points; the velocity unknowns are associated to each primal and dual volume, while the pressure unknowns are located on each diamond. So DDFV enters the class of staggered methods. This is an usual technique for incompressible flows: one of the best known schemes is the MAC (Marker and Cell) scheme (see [HW65]), which is built for cartesian meshes; we can mention also [CR73] for triangular meshes. MAC schemes, as unknowns, consider the normal components of the velocity (located on the mesh edges) and the pressure (located at the centers of the cells); with DDFV, we generalize this schemes by considering all the components of the velocity and extending it to more general meshes. Moreover, it has been shown in [Kre10] that a DDFV scheme on a cartesian mesh is equivalent to two decoupled MAC schemes written on two different staggered meshes (made exception for the boundary).

With this kind of construction, DDFV has two important advantages:

- 1. it applies to general meshes, such as non-conformal and distorted meshes;
- 2. it can reconstruct and mimic at the discrete level the dual properties of the continuous differential operators.

The second point is what gives the terms "Discrete Duality" to the name of the method: the discrete gradient $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}$ (see Def. I.3.1) is proven to be in duality with the discrete divergence $\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ (see Def. I.3.5) which is naturally associated to the finite volume setting. In particular, the duality

consists into verifying a discrete Green's formula, see Thm. I.5.1.

Outline. This chapter is organized as follows. In Sec. I.1 we recall the description of the DDFV meshes, followed by the approximation spaces and projections in Sec. I.2. The discrete operators are introduced in Sec. I.3 and in Sec. I.4 we detail the definition of the associated scalar products and norms. In Sec. I.5 the duality property, i.e. the discrete Green's formula, is stated. A reader that is familiar with DDFV can easily skip those sections, which maintain the notations and the structure of the presentation of the method done for instance in [Kre10, GKL19]; our intention is to give continuity to the previous works on the subject.

In Sec. I.6 we recall the main results on Inf-sup stability for DDFV, property that will be crucial all along the dissertation; in this section, we extend the existing results to the case of inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. In Sec. I.7 we define the stabilization of Brezzi-Pitkäranta, a useful tool in order to deal with general meshes. In Sec. I.8 we study the relation between the discrete gradient and the discrete strain rate tensor; an important result of this section is the proof of Korn inequality in the case of inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. In Sec. I.9 we extend to general L^p norms some discrete trace inequalities; we conclude by recalling some properties of the discrete operators in Sec. I.10.

I.1 DDFV meshes

A DDFV mesh \mathfrak{T} is constituted by a primal mesh $\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}$ and a dual mesh $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$, see Fig. I.2.

Construction of the primal mesh

We consider a primal mesh \mathfrak{M} consisting of open disjoints polygons κ called primal cells, such that $\bigcup_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}\bar{\kappa}=\bar{\Omega}$. We denote $\partial\mathfrak{M}$ the set of edges of the primal mesh included in $\partial\Omega$, that are considered as degenerated primal cells. We associate to each $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial\mathfrak{M}$ a point $x_{\kappa} \in \kappa$, called center. For the volumes of the boundary, the point x_{κ} is situated at the mid point of the edge. When κ and ι are neighboring volumes, we suppose that $\partial \kappa \cap \partial \iota$ is a segment that we denote $\sigma = \kappa | \iota$, edge of the primal mesh \mathfrak{M} . When $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ and $\iota \in \partial\mathfrak{M}$, we denote σ the segment $\partial \kappa \cap \partial \iota$ that coincides with ι . We denote with \mathcal{E} the set of all edges and with $\mathcal{E}_{int} = \mathcal{E} \setminus \{\sigma \in \mathcal{E} \text{ such that } \sigma \subset \partial\Omega\}$.

The DDFV framework is free of further "admissibility constraint", in particular we do not need to assume the orthogonality of the segment x_{κ}, x_{L} with $\sigma = \kappa |L|$, that is the case for instance in TPFA schemes (see [EGH00, Dro14]). Here we suppose:

Hp I.1.1 All control volumes κ are star-shaped with respect to x_{κ} .

Construction of the dual mesh

From the primal mesh, we build the associated dual mesh. A dual cell κ^* is associated to a vertex x_{κ^*} of the primal mesh. The dual cells are obtained by joining the centers of the primal control volumes that have x_{κ^*} as vertex. Then, the point x_{κ^*} is called center of κ^* . We will distinguish interior dual mesh, for which x_{κ^*} does not belong to $\partial\Omega$, denoted by \mathfrak{M}^* and the boundary dual mesh, for which x_{κ^*} belongs to $\partial\Omega$, denoted by $\partial\mathfrak{M}^*$. We denote with $\sigma^* = \kappa^*|_{L^*}$ the edges of the dual mesh $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial\mathfrak{M}^*$ and \mathcal{E}^* the set of those edges. In what follows, we assume:

Hp I.1.2 All control volumes κ^* are star-shaped with respect to x_{κ^*} .



Fig. I.2 DDFV mesh \mathfrak{T} .

Construction of the diamond mesh

The diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} is made of quadrilaterals with disjoint interiors (thanks to Hp I.1.1), such that their principal diagonals are a primal edge $\sigma = \kappa | \mathbf{L} = [x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\mathbf{L}^*}]$ and the dual edge $\sigma^* = [x_{\kappa}, x_{\mathbf{L}}]$. Those quadrilaterals are called diamonds and they are denoted with \mathfrak{D} or $\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$. Thus a diamond is a quadrilateral with vertices $x_{\kappa}, x_{\mathbf{L}}, x_{\kappa^*}$ and $x_{\mathbf{L}^*}$ (see Fig. I.3).

We remark that diamonds are the union of two disjoints triangles $(x_{K}, x_{K^*}, x_{L^*})$ and $(x_{L}, x_{K^*}, x_{L^*})$ and that diamonds are not necessarily convex.

Moreover, if $\sigma \in \mathcal{E} \cap \partial \Omega$, the quadrilateral $\mathsf{p}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$ degenerates into a triangle.

The set of all diamonds is denoted with \mathfrak{D} and we have $\Omega = \bigcup_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \mathsf{D}$. We distinguish the diamonds on the interior and of the boundary:

$$\mathfrak{D}_{ext} = \{ \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}, \text{ such that } \sigma \subset \partial \Omega \}$$
$$\mathfrak{D}_{int} = \mathfrak{D} \backslash \mathfrak{D}_{ext}.$$

Remark I.1.3 We have a bijection between the diamonds $D \in \mathfrak{D}$ and the edges \mathcal{E} of the primal mesh; also between the diamonds $D \in \mathfrak{D}$ and the edges \mathcal{E}^* of the dual mesh.

For a volume $v \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ we define:

- m_{V} the measure of the cell V,
- \mathcal{E}_{V} the set of edges of $v \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}$ and the edge $\sigma = v$ for $v \in \partial \mathfrak{M}$,
- $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{V}} = \{ \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}, \sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{V}} \},\$
- $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{V}}^{int} = \{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{V}} \cap \mathfrak{D}_{int}\}, \, \mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{V}}^{ext} = \{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{V}} \cap \mathfrak{D}_{ext}\},$
- $d_{\tt V}$ the diameter of $\tt v$,
- $B_{\mathbf{V}} := B(x_{\mathbf{V}}, \rho_{\mathbf{V}}) \cap \partial \Omega \subset \mathbf{v}$ for $\mathbf{v} \in \partial \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$, $m_{B_{\mathbf{V}}}$ its length, $\rho_{\mathbf{V}}$ chosen to verify the inclusion.

For a diamond D_{σ,σ^*} whose vertices are $(x_{\mathbf{K}}, x_{\mathbf{K}^*}, x_{\mathbf{L}}, x_{\mathbf{L}^*})$, we denote:

- x_{D} the center of the diamond d: $x_{\text{D}} = \sigma \cap \sigma^*$,
- m_{σ} the length of the edge σ ,



Fig. I.3 A diamond $D = D_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$, on the interior (left) and on the boundary (right).

- m_{σ^*} the length of σ^* ,
- $m_{\rm D}$ the measure of the diamond D_{σ,σ^*} ,
- $d_{\rm D}$ the diameter of the diamond $\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$,
- $\alpha_{\rm D}$ the angle between σ and σ^* .

We introduce for every diamond two orthonormal basis $(\vec{\tau}_{K^*L^*}, \vec{n}_{\sigma K})$ and $(\vec{n}_{\sigma^*K^*}, \vec{\tau}_{KL})$, where:

- $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}}$ the unit normal to σ going out from \mathbf{K} ,
- $\vec{\tau}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}^*}$ the unit tangent vector to σ oriented from \mathbf{K}^* to \mathbf{L}^* ,
- $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}$ the unit normal vector to σ^{*} going out from \mathbf{K}^{*} ,
- $\vec{\tau}_{\text{kl}}$ the unit tangent vector to σ^* oriented from K to L.

We denote for each diamond:

- its sides \mathfrak{s} (for example $\mathfrak{s} = [x_{\kappa}, x_{\kappa^*}]$),
- $\mathcal{E}_{D} = \{\mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{s} \subset \partial_{D} \text{ and } \mathfrak{s} \nsubseteq \partial\Omega\}$ the set of all interior sides of the diamond,
- $m_{\mathfrak{s}}$ the length of \mathfrak{s} ,
- $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}}$ the unit normal to \mathfrak{s} going out from \mathtt{D} ,
- $\mathfrak{S} = {\mathfrak{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{D}, \forall D \in \mathfrak{D}}$ the set of interior edges of all diamond cells $D \in \mathfrak{D}$,
- $\mathfrak{S}_K = \{ \mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}, \text{ such that } \mathfrak{s} \subset \kappa \} \text{ and } \mathfrak{S}_{K^*} = \{ \mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}, \text{ such that } \mathfrak{s} \subset \kappa^* \}.$

Remark I.1.4 Every diamond is star-shaped with respect to x_D .

Remark I.1.5 It can happen that dual cells can overlap; to avoid this inconvenient, we can either suppose that the diamonds are convexes or consider the barycentric dual mesh, obtained by joining the centers x_{κ} of the primal control volumes to the middle point of the edges that have x_{κ^*} as a vertex. Thanks to Hyp. I.1.1, barycentryc dual cells have disjoint interiors.

Regularity of the mesh

Let $\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})$ be the maximum of the diameters of the diamonds cells in \mathfrak{D} .

To measure the flattening of the triangles we denote with $\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}}$ the only real in $]0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ such that $\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}}) := \min_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} |\sin(\alpha_{\mathsf{D}})|.$

We introduce a positive number $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ that measures the regularity of the mesh. It is defined as:

$$\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}) = \max\left(\frac{1}{\sin(\alpha_T)}, \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}^*, \max_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\max_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}\frac{d_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\mathfrak{s}}}, \max_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}\frac{d_{\mathsf{K}}}{\sqrt{m_{\mathsf{K}}}}, \max_{\mathsf{K}^*\in\mathfrak{M}^*\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^*}\left(\frac{d_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{\sqrt{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}}}\right), \\ \max_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}\max_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}\left(\frac{d_{\mathsf{K}}}{d_{\mathsf{D}}}\right), \max_{\mathsf{K}^*\in\mathfrak{M}^*\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^*}\max_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}\left(\frac{d_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{d_{\mathsf{D}}}\right)\right),$$
(I.1)

where \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}^* are the maximum number of edges of each primal cell and the maximum number of edges incident to any vertex. The number reg(\mathfrak{T}) should be uniformly bounded when size(\mathfrak{T}) $\rightarrow 0$ for the convergence to hold.

From the definition of reg(\mathfrak{T}), the following geometrical result holds: there exist two constants C_1 and C_2 depending on reg(\mathfrak{T}) such that $\forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}, \forall \kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ and $\forall \mathfrak{p} \in \mathfrak{D}$ such that $\mathfrak{p} \cap \kappa \neq 0$ and $\mathfrak{p} \cap \kappa^* \neq 0$ we have:

$$C_1 m_{\mathsf{K}} \le m_{\mathsf{D}} \le C_2 m_{\mathsf{K}}, \qquad C_1 m_{\mathsf{K}^*} \le m_{\mathsf{D}} \le C_2 m_{\mathsf{K}^*},$$

and

$$C_1 d_{\mathsf{K}} \le d_{\mathsf{D}} \le C_2 d_{\mathsf{K}}, \qquad C_1 d_{\mathsf{K}^*} \le d_{\mathsf{D}} \le C_2 d_{\mathsf{K}^*}.$$

I.2 Approximation spaces and projections on DDFV meshes

The DDFV method for Stokes and incompressible Navier-Stokes problem uses staggered unknowns; this is a classical approach, see for instance [HW65].

We associate to each primal volume $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}$ an unknown $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ for the velocity, to every dual volume $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ an unknown $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ for the velocity and to each diamond $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}$ an unknown $\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{p}} \in \mathbb{R}$ for the pressure. Those unknowns are collected in the families:

$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = ((\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}})_{\mathtt{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}}, (\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^*})_{\mathtt{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = ((\mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}})_{\mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

We approximatively have twice the number of velocity unknowns with respect to finite volume methods like TPFA (see [Dro14]), but we will show that this allows to build a complete approximation of the gradient (not only in the normal direction), which gives robustness to the method, since it does not demand any "admissibility constraint" on the mesh; this is not the case in TPFA methods, which require an orthogonality condition: this is a strong hypothesis since it excludes, for instance, non conformal meshes (such as locally refined meshes).

In all our works, we will deal with mixed boundary conditions; so we define two subsets of the boundary mesh, useful to take into account two different types of boundary conditions (see Fig. I.4):

$$\partial \mathfrak{M}_{i} = \{ \mathbf{k} \in \partial \mathfrak{M} : x_{\mathbf{k}} \in \Gamma_{i} \}, \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \\ \partial \mathfrak{M}_{1}^{*} = \{ \mathbf{k}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*} : x_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} \in \Gamma_{1} \}, \\ \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*} = \{ \mathbf{k}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*} : x_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} \in \Gamma_{2} \setminus \Gamma_{1} \}.$$

The conditions will change from a chapter to another, so Γ_1, Γ_2 will represent different types of boundaries: in Chap. II, we will impose Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions; in Chap. III, we will impose Dirichlet and open boundary conditions on the outflow. Finally, in Chap. IV, we will take into account transmission conditions on the interface between subdomains.



Fig. I.4 Domain with mixed boundary conditions

We define now two discrete average projections, for all functions \mathbf{v} in $(H^1(\Omega))^2$:

• one on the interior:

$$\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{M}}\mathbf{v} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}}\int_{\mathsf{K}}\mathbf{v}(x)\mathrm{d}x\right)_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}\right) \quad \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{M}^*}\mathbf{v} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}}\int_{\mathsf{K}^*}\mathbf{v}(x)\mathrm{d}x\right)_{\mathsf{K}^*\in\mathfrak{M}^*}\right),$$

• one on the boundary :

$$\mathbb{P}_m^{\partial\Omega}\mathbf{v} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{m_{B_{\mathsf{K}}}} \int_{B_{\mathsf{K}}} \mathbf{v}(x) \mathrm{d}x \right)_{\mathsf{K} \in \partial\mathfrak{M}}, \left(\frac{1}{m_{B_{\mathsf{K}^*}}} \int_{B_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \mathbf{v}(x) \mathrm{d}x \right)_{\mathsf{K}^* \in \partial\mathfrak{M}^*} \right).$$

We can collect them in a shortened notation:

$$\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v} = (\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{v}, \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{M}^*} \mathbf{v}, \mathbb{P}_m^{\partial \Omega} \mathbf{v}), \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^2).$$

We introduce also a centered projection on the mesh \mathfrak{T} :

$$\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{v} = ((\mathbf{v}(x_{\mathsf{K}}))_{\mathsf{K}\in(\mathfrak{M}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M})}, (\mathbf{v}(x_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}))_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in(\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*})}), \quad \forall \mathbf{v}\in(H^{2}(\Omega))^{2},$$
(I.2)

and an average projection on the diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} :

$$\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{q} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{q}(x) \mathrm{d}x \right)_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \right) \quad \forall \mathbf{q} \in H^1(\Omega)$$

We define two discrete subsets of $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$, useful to take in account Dirichlet boundary conditions. In the following, we will denote by Γ_D the Dirichlet boundary (instead of Γ_1), and consequently $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D, \partial \mathfrak{M}_D^*$ the corresponding primal and dual boundary mesh (instead of $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1, \partial \mathfrak{M}_1^*$).

$$\mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D} = \{ \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}, \text{s. t. } \forall \kappa \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_D, \, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa} = 0 \text{ and } \forall \kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_D^*, \, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} = 0 \}.$$

$$\mathbb{E}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_D} = \{ \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}, \text{s. t. } \forall \kappa \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_D, \, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa} = (\mathbb{P}_m^{\partial \Omega} \mathbf{g})_{\kappa} \text{ and } \forall \kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_D^*, \, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} = (\mathbb{P}_m^{\partial \Omega} \mathbf{g})_{\kappa^*} \}.$$

We define also the projection $\mathfrak{P}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^D$ on the space $\mathbb{E}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^D$:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{P}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_{D}} &: (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{E}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_{D}} \\ \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} &\longmapsto \left((\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}})_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}_{2}}, (\mathbb{P}_{m}^{\partial\Omega}\mathbf{g})_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}_{D}}, (\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}})_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*}}, (\mathbb{P}_{m}^{\partial\Omega}\mathbf{g})_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{D}^{*}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

I.3 Discrete operators

In this section we define the discrete operators that are necessary to write and to analyse the DDFV schemes that we will build. We start by defining a *discrete gradient* and a *discrete divergence*. Those two operators are in "discrete duality" (this is what gives the name to the scheme) since we can prove a discrete Green formula (see Thm. I.5.1 below) that links them. For the proof we refer to [CVV99, Her00, DO05] and [Kre11a]. Then, we will define some other operators that will be useful later, such as a *discrete strain rate tensor*, a *discrete curl* and a *discrete rotational*.

Definition I.3.1 (Discrete gradient on \mathfrak{D}) We define the discrete gradient of a vector field of $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ the operator

$$\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto (\nabla^{\mathtt{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}},$$

such that for $D\in\mathfrak{D}$:

$$\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{1}{\sin(\alpha_{\mathsf{D}})} \left[\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{L}} - \mathbf{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{K}}}{m_{\sigma^*}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} + \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{L}^*} - \mathbf{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{K}^*}}{m_{\sigma}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{K}^*}} \right],$$

where \otimes represents the tensor product.

We remark that the area of a diamond D is $m_{D} = \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma^*}\sin(\alpha_{D})$. So we can rewrite the discrete gradient as:

$$\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{1}{2m_{\mathtt{D}}} \left[m_{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}}) \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} + m_{\sigma^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}) \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathtt{K}^{*}} \right].$$

Remark I.3.2 The gradient $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}$, that is constant on each diamond $\mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}$, is the "composition" of two directional derivatives. In fact, the gradient in the direction $\overline{x_{\mathtt{K}}, x_{\mathtt{L}}}$ can be approximated by $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}})$, and the one in the direction $\overline{x_{\mathtt{K}^*}, x_{\mathtt{L}^*}}$ by $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}^*} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^*})$ (see Fig. I.3). Thanks to trigonometric formulas, we can combine those two and obtain a full approximation of the gradient on \mathtt{D} , given by Def. I.3.1.

Remark I.3.3 For all $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$, the property $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ implies the existence of two constants $\mathbf{c}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\mathbf{c}_1 \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} &= \boldsymbol{c}_{0} \quad \forall \mathbf{K} \in (\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}) \\ \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} &= \boldsymbol{c}_{1} \quad \forall \mathbf{K}^{*} \in (\mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}). \end{aligned}$$

If, moreover, $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$, we deduce $c_{0} = c_{1} = 0$ and finally $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$.

Definition I.3.4 (Discrete strain rate tensor on \mathfrak{D}) We define the discrete strain rate tensor of a vector field in $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ as the operator

$$D^{\mathfrak{D}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto (D^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

such that for $D \in \mathfrak{D}$:

$$D^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + {}^{t}(\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})}{2}.$$
 (I.3)

To define a discrete divergence, we remark that for a regular vectorial function ξ , by applying Green's Formula we can write:

$$\int_{\mathbf{K}} \operatorname{div}(\xi(x)) \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{\sigma \subset \partial \mathbf{K}} \int_{\sigma} \xi(s) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}} \mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall \mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}.$$
(I.4)

By means of the discrete counterpart of (I.4), we can define our operator of discrete divergence.

Definition I.3.5 (Discrete divergence on \mathfrak{T}) We define the discrete divergence of a discrete tensor field of $(\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}$ as the operator

$$div^{\mathfrak{T}}:\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}\in (\mathcal{M}_{2}(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}\mapsto div^{\mathfrak{T}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}\in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}.$$

Let $\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} = (\xi^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}$, we set:

$$div^{\mathfrak{T}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} = (div^{\mathfrak{M}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}, div^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}, div^{\mathfrak{M}^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}, div^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}),$$

where we define $div^{\mathfrak{M}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} = (\mathbf{div}^{\kappa}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\kappa\in\mathfrak{M}}, \ div^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0, \ div^{\mathfrak{M}^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} = (\mathbf{div}^{\kappa^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\kappa\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \ and \ div^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} = (\mathbf{div}^{\kappa^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\kappa\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \ with:$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{K}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma}\xi^{\mathbf{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} & \forall \mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}, \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}}\xi^{\mathbf{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*}, \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}}\xi^{\mathbf{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}\xi^{\mathbf{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \right) & \forall \mathbf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}. \end{aligned}$$

Definition I.3.6 (Discrete gradient on \mathfrak{T}) We define the discrete gradient of a scalar field of $\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ as the operator:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\mathfrak{T}}: \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mapsto \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \left(\mathbb{R}^{2}\right)^{\mathfrak{T}}$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}} (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} Id).$$

Similarly to the continuous setting, in which for a vectorial function $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, f_2)$ of two variables (x_1, x_2) the gradient and the divergence are defined by:

$$\nabla \mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_1} & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} \\ \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_1} & \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{f}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\nabla \mathbf{f}) = \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_2}, \tag{I.5}$$

and the curl and the rotational by:

$$\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} & -\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_1} \\ \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_2} & -\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \operatorname{rot}(\mathbf{f}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f}) = -\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_1}; \tag{I.6}$$
we can further define (on the diamond mesh \mathfrak{D}) a discrete divergence, a discrete curl and a discrete rotational.

Definition I.3.7 (Discrete divergence on \mathfrak{D}) We define the discrete divergence of a vector field of $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ as the operator

$$div^{\mathfrak{D}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto (div^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

with

$$div^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathtt{T}} = \mathit{Tr}(\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathtt{T}}), \quad \forall \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}.$$

Definition I.3.8 (Discrete curl on \mathfrak{D}) We define the discrete curl of a vector field of $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ as the operator

$$curl^{\mathfrak{D}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto curl^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

such that for $D \in \mathfrak{D}$:

$$curl^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{1}{2m_{\mathsf{D}}} \left[m_{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}) \otimes \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\mathsf{L}^{*}} - m_{\sigma^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}) \otimes \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathsf{KL}} \right]$$

Definition I.3.9 (Discrete rotational on \mathfrak{D}) We define the discrete rotational of a vector field of $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ as the operator

$$\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto \operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

with

$$\mathit{rot}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathtt{T}} = -\mathit{Tr}(\mathit{curl}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathtt{T}}), \quad \forall \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}.$$

I.4 Scalar products and norms

We define the *trace operators* on $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$; see Fig. I.5 for the notations.



Fig. I.5 A boundary diamond, $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}$.

Let $\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto \gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = (\gamma_{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\partial \mathfrak{M}}$, such that:

$$\gamma_{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*} + 2\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^*}}{4}, \qquad \forall \sigma = [x_{\mathsf{K}^*}, x_{\mathsf{L}^*}] \in \partial \mathfrak{M}.$$
(I.7)

We can also define $\widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}: \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mapsto \widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = (\widetilde{\gamma}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\partial \mathfrak{M}}$, such that:

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*} + 2\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^*}}{4}, \qquad \forall \sigma = [x_{\mathsf{K}^*}, x_{\mathsf{L}^*}] \in \partial \mathfrak{M}.$$
(I.8)

On the diamond mesh we define $\gamma^{\mathfrak{D}} : \Phi^{\mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \to (\Phi^{\mathsf{D}})_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{D}_{ext}}$, which is the operator of restriction to the boundary diamonds.

Now we define the scalar products on the approximation spaces:

$$\begin{split} \begin{split} & [[\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathsf{K}} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}} + \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}} m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \right) & \quad \forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}} \\ & (\Phi^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{v}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}})_{\partial\Omega} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \Phi^{\mathsf{D}} \cdot \mathbf{v}^{\sigma} & \quad \forall \Phi^{\mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{D}_{ext}}, \mathbf{v}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{D}_{m}} \\ & (\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}:\Phi^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} (\xi^{\mathsf{D}}:\Phi^{\mathsf{D}}) & \quad \forall \xi^{\mathfrak{D}}, \Phi^{\mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathcal{M}_{2}(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ & (\mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathsf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} & \quad \forall \mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathsf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \end{split}$$

where $(\xi : \tilde{\xi}) = \sum_{1 \le i,j \le 2} \xi_{i,j}, \tilde{\xi}_{i,j} = \operatorname{Tr}({}^t \xi \tilde{\xi})$ for all $\xi, \tilde{\xi} \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R})$. For all $n \ge 1$ we can define for any $n^{\frac{n}{2}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\frac{n}{2}}$ and $\xi^{\frac{n}{2}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))$.

For all
$$p \ge 1$$
 we can define for any $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}$ the norms:

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p} &= \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{p} + \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}} m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}|^{p}\right)\right]^{1/p} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{M}}\|_{p}^{p} + \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}\|_{p}^{p}\right)\right]^{1/p}, \\ \|\mathbf{v}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}\|_{p,\partial\Omega} &= \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{v}^{\sigma}|^{p}\right)^{1/p}, \\ \|\mathbf{\xi}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{p} &= \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} |\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\mathsf{D}}|^{p}\right)^{1/p}, \\ \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p} &= \left[\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p}^{p} + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p}^{p}\right]^{1/p}, \\ \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{p} &= \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} |\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}|^{p}\right)^{1/p}. \end{split}$$

Remark I.4.1 Remark that, if we denote by $\| \cdot \|_{\mathcal{F}}$ the Frobenius norm $\| \xi \|_{\mathcal{F}}^2 = (\xi : \xi)$ for all matrices $\xi \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R})$, the following holds:

$$\left\|\frac{\xi+^{t}\xi}{2}\right\|_{\mathcal{F}} \leq \||\xi\||_{\mathcal{F}}.$$

I.5 Green's formula

In [ABH07], [DO05] the discrete gradient and discrete divergence for a scalar-valued function are linked by a discrete Stokes formula. This is precisely the duality property that gives its name to the method.

Theorem I.5.1 Discrete Green's formula For all $\xi^{\mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{R}))^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$, we have:

$$[[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}\xi^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} = -(\xi^{\mathfrak{D}}:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} + (\gamma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\xi^{\mathfrak{D}})\vec{n},\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\partial\Omega},$$

where \overrightarrow{n} is the unitary outer normal.

The proof can be found in [Kre10, Thm IV.9].

I.6 Inf-sup stability

In this section, we first recall the Inf-sup stability property for the DDFV method: its definition and its main consequences. Then, since it has been proven to hold in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions, we will extend the result to the case of $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$. i.e. Dirichlet boundary conditions just on a fraction of the domain.

Inf-sup stability inequality (or LBB), in the continuous setting, is formulated as:

$$\inf_{\mathbf{p}\in L^2_0(\Omega)} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}\in (H^1_0(\Omega))^2} \frac{a(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{p})}{\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^1} \|\mathbf{p}\|_{L^2}} \right) > 0$$

where $a(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{p}) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{p}(\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}))$ and $L_0^2(\Omega) = \{\mathbf{p} \in L^2(\Omega) : m(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{p} = 0\}$. This inequality is equivalent to the existence of a continuous right-inverse of the divergence operator (see [GR11, BF12]).

This condition is related to the well-posedness of the Stokes problem coupled with homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. In the DDFV framework, Inf-sup stability has been proven to hold unconditionally for conforming acute triangle meshes, non-conforming triangle meshes and chechkerboard meshes. For some conforming or non-conforming Cartesian meshes, it holds up to a single unstable pressure mode. Moreover, it has been proven numerically for many other families of meshes and it has still not been found a mesh that does not satisfy it. For more details, see [BKN15]).

Definition I.6.1 A given DDFV mesh \mathfrak{T} is said to satisfy the Inf-sup stability if the following condition holds:

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{T}} := \inf_{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\|_{2}} \right) > 0, \tag{I.9}$$

where $a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}}) = (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \sum_{D \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{D} p^{D}$. For a given family of meshes such that $\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \to 0$, the scheme is stable if and only if

$$\liminf_{size(\mathfrak{T})\to 0}\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}>0.$$

We shall use the following two consequences of the Inf-sup condition (I.9):

• $\forall p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$:

$$\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\|_{2} \le \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}} \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}}, \tag{I.10}$$

• For every $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that $m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0$, there exists $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$ such that:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$
 (I.11)

The former is a direct consequence of the definition. The latter is more subtle, in particular when considering the constant arising in estimate (I.11). It is worth detailing this issue.

The Inf-sup property is a crucial property of the continuous gradient/divergence operators, which enters into the analysis of the Stokes problem. In particular it is equivalent to the possibility

to define a continuous right-inverse of the divergence operator defined from $H_0^1(\Omega)$ to $L^2(\Omega)$, as a consequence of the open mapping theorem [BF12, Sec. IV.3] and (I.11) is nothing but the discrete analog of this property.

For the numerical analysis, it is crucial to check whether or not the constants are uniform with respect to the mesh parameters; which is not completely clear when one uses such an abstract argument.

Therefore let us justify that the discrete divergence operator admits a right inverse, which, furthermore, satisfies a continuity estimate that depends only on the (possibly uniform) constant of the Inf-sup condition (I.9). To this end, we adapt the sketch of proof presented in [DPE12, Rem. 6.7].

Proposition I.6.2 Let \mathfrak{T} be a mesh that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Then, for every $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ with $m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0$, there exists $\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$ such that:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) =& p^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq & \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}, \end{split}$$

where $\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}$ is the Inf-sup constant defined in (I.9).

Proof As a warm-up we shall need a discrete analog of the Riesz isomorphism between H_0^1 and its dual space H^{-1} ; the analogous discrete spaces are \mathbb{E}_0 and its dual \mathbb{E}'_0 .

Let $l : \mathbb{E}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous linear form on \mathbb{E}_0 , equipped with the norm induced by the scalar product $(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \cdot : \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \cdot)_{\mathfrak{D}}$, i.e. $\forall \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$, $(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} : \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} (\nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} : \nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$. By continuity, the linear form l satisfies:

$$|\langle l, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_0, \mathbb{E}_0}| \leq C \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_2.$$

By Riesz representation theorem, there exists a unique $\mathcal{J}_l^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$ such that $\forall \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$:

$$\langle l, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}
angle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}, \mathbb{E}_{0}} = (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathcal{J}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{l} : \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

Moreover, by applying the previous relation, we have:

$$\|l\|_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}} = \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{|\langle l, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}, \mathbb{E}_{0}}|}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}} = \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{|(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathcal{J}_{l}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}|}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}}.$$

Since $\mathcal{J}_l^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$ and by Cauchy-Schwarz, it holds:

$$\|l\|_{\mathbb{E}'_0} = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathcal{J}_l^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2$$

We can then deduce that:

$$\langle l, \mathcal{J}_l^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_0, \mathbb{E}_0} = \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathcal{J}_l^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_2^2 = \| l \|_{\mathbb{E}'_0}^2.$$
(I.12)

Let $M^{\mathfrak{D}} = \{ \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} : m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0 \}$. We consider now $\forall \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in M^{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $\forall \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$:

$$a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

Let $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in M^{\mathfrak{D}}$. We define the linear form $\mathcal{B}_{p^{\mathfrak{D}}} : \mathbb{E}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ on \mathbb{E}_0 as:

$$\langle \mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}, \mathbb{E}_{0}} = a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$
 (I.13)

The linear form $\mathcal{B}_{p^{\mathfrak{D}}}$ on \mathbb{E}_0 is continuous, since it holds by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality:

$$|\langle \mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}, \mathbb{E}_{0}}| = |(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}| \le \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$
(I.14)

We can deduce the following properties on the norm of $\mathcal{B}_{p^{\mathfrak{D}}}$:

• by (I.14):

$$\|\mathcal{B}_{p^{\mathfrak{D}}}\|_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}} = \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{a^{\mathfrak{T}}(p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}} = \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{(p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}} \le \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$$
(I.15)

• by (I.10), since we suppose that the mesh \mathfrak{T} satisfies Inf-sup condition and that $m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0$:

$$\|\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}}\|_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}} = \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}} \ge \beta_{\mathfrak{T}} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$$
(I.16)

Consider now the following problem:

Find
$$q^{\mathfrak{D}} \in M^{\mathfrak{D}}$$
 such that $\forall r^{\mathfrak{D}} \in M^{\mathfrak{D}}$:

$$\underbrace{\langle \mathcal{B}_{r^{\mathfrak{D}}}, \mathcal{J}_{\mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0},\mathbb{E}_{0}}}_{=:\widetilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}(r^{\mathfrak{D}}, q^{\mathfrak{D}})} = (p^{\mathfrak{D}}, r^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$
(I.17)

If we define $\tilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}}) := \langle \mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}}, \mathcal{J}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{\mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0},\mathbb{E}_{0}}$, we can show that $\tilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is coercive. In fact, if we apply (I.12):

$$\widetilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}(q^{\mathfrak{D}},q^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \langle \mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}, \mathcal{J}_{\mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0},\mathbb{E}_{0}} = \|\mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}\|_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}}^{2},$$

and by (I.16):

$$\widetilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}(q^{\mathfrak{D}}, q^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \|\mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}\|_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}}^{2} \ge \beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2} \|q^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2}.$$
(I.18)

The coercivity of $\tilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ implies that problem (I.17) is well-posed. Let $q^{\mathfrak{D}} \in M^{\mathfrak{D}}$ be the unique solution of (I.17); then:

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^2 \| q^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2^2 \underbrace{\leq}_{\text{by (I.18)}} \widetilde{a}^{\mathfrak{T}}(q^{\mathfrak{D}}, q^{\mathfrak{D}}) \underbrace{=}_{\text{by (I.17)}} (p^{\mathfrak{D}}, q^{\mathfrak{D}}) \underbrace{\leq}_{\text{by Cauchy-Schwarz}} \| p^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2 \| q^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2,$$

which implies $\frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^2} \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_2 \ge \|q^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_2$. From (I.15) and (I.12), we deduce:

$$\frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^2} \| \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2 \ge \| \mathbf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2 \ge \| \mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}}} \|_{\mathbb{E}'_0} = \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathcal{J}_{\mathcal{B}_{\mathbf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}}}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_2.$$
(I.19)

If now we set $\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathcal{J}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{\mathcal{B}_{q^{\mathfrak{D}}}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}$, we obtain

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}}\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$$

that is the estimate we want to prove. It remains to show that $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = p^{\mathfrak{D}}$.

Let $\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in M^{\mathfrak{D}}$; we can write:

$$(r^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} \underbrace{=}_{\operatorname{by}(I.13)} \langle \mathcal{B}_{r^{\mathfrak{D}}}, \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathbb{E}'_{0}, \mathbb{E}_{0}} \underbrace{=}_{\operatorname{by}(I.17)} (p^{\mathfrak{D}}, r^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$$

that implies

$$(\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \quad \forall \mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, m(\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0.$$
 (I.20)

If now we consider $\tilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, we can decompose it in:

$$\widetilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \underbrace{\widetilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \frac{m(\widetilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{|\Omega|} \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}}_{:=r^{\mathfrak{D}}} + \frac{m(\widetilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{|\Omega|} \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}$$
$$= r^{\mathfrak{D}} + \frac{m(\widetilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{|\Omega|} \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

where $\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D} \in \mathfrak{D}}$ and $\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is the indicator function on \mathfrak{D} . Remark that $m(\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0$. Thus, if we compute:

$$(\tilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} = (\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} + \frac{m(\tilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{|\Omega|} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}$$
(I.21)

By (I.20), we deduce $(\mathbf{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$; remark that $(\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in DD} m_{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0$ and that by Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) $(\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} = [[\nabla^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{D}}), \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$. So (I.21) gives:

$$(\tilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \quad \forall \tilde{r}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

that implies $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$

The following result is an extension to Necas Lemma, [GR86, Corollary 2.4]. Instead of considering $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, with zero boundary data and $p \in L_0^2(\Omega)$ with zero mean, we take $(v, p) \in H_{\Gamma}^1(\Omega) \times L^2(\Omega)$, with $H_{\Gamma}^1 = \{v \in (H^1(\Omega))^2, v = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_D\}$, with $|\Gamma_D| > 0$.

Lemma I.6.3 Let $H^1_{\Gamma} = \{v \in (H^1(\Omega))^2, v = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_D\}$. Then, for every $p \in L^2(\Omega)$ there exists $v \in H^1_{\Gamma}$ and a constant C > 0 depending only on Ω , such that:

$$div(v) = p$$

$$||v||_{H^1} \le C ||p||_2.$$
(I.22)

Proof Consider $\omega \in H^1_{\Gamma}$ such that $\frac{1}{|\Omega|}m(\operatorname{div}(\omega)) = 1$, i.e. $\frac{1}{|\Omega|}\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\omega) = 1$. We can decompose any $p \in L^2(\Omega)$ into:

$$p = \underbrace{p - \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(p) \operatorname{div}(\omega)}_{:=\widetilde{p}} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(p) \operatorname{div}(\omega)$$
$$= \widetilde{p} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(p) \operatorname{div}(\omega).$$

Remark that $\tilde{p} \in L^2_0(\Omega)$. By Necas Lemma, [[GR86], Corollary 2.4], there exists $\tilde{v} \in (H^1_0(\Omega))^2$ such that

$$\operatorname{div}(\widetilde{v}) = \widetilde{p}$$
$$\|\widetilde{v}\|_{H^1} \le C \|\widetilde{p}\|_{L^2}$$

If we set $v = \tilde{v} + m(p)\omega$, we can observe that $v \in H^1_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$ and that

$$\operatorname{div}(v) = \operatorname{div}(\widetilde{v}) + \frac{1}{|\Omega|}m(p)\operatorname{div}(\omega)$$
$$= \widetilde{p} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|}m(p)\operatorname{div}(\omega) = p,$$

that is the first property of (I.22).

We now look at $||v||_{H^1}$. By Minkowski inequality:

$$\|v\|_{H^{1}} = \|\widetilde{v} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|}m(p)\omega\|_{H^{1}}$$
$$\leq \|\widetilde{v}\|_{H^{1}} + \frac{|m(p)|}{|\Omega|}\|\omega\|_{H^{1}}$$

We apply Necas Lemma to $\|\tilde{v}\|_{H^1}$ and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to $|m(p)| \|\omega\|_{H^1}$:

$$\|v\|_{H^1} \le C \|\widetilde{p}\|_{L^2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|p\|_{L^2} \|\omega\|_{H^1}.$$
 (I.23)

We now need to estimate $\|\tilde{p}\|_{L^2}$. By definition of \tilde{p} and Minkowsky inequality, we can write:

$$\|\widetilde{p}\|_{L^2} \le \|p\|_{L^2} + \frac{|m(p)|}{|\Omega|} \|\operatorname{div}(\omega)\|_{L^2}.$$

By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, the fact that $\|\operatorname{div}(\omega)\|_{L^2} \leq \|\omega\|_{H^1}$ and the bound of $|m(\mathbf{p})|$ we deduce:

$$\|\widetilde{p}\|_{L^2} \le \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\omega\|_{H^1}\right) \|p\|_{L^2}.$$

Injecting this estimate in (I.23), we obtain:

$$\|v\|_{H^{1}} \leq \left[C\left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\omega\|_{H^{1}}\right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\omega\|_{H^{1}}\right] \|p\|_{L^{2}}$$

that, if we define $\tilde{C} = C\left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\omega\|_{H^1}\right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\omega\|_{H^1}$, gives:

 $||v||_{H^1} \le \widetilde{C} ||p||_{L^2}.$

This proves (I.22) of Lemma I.6.3.

I.6.1 Extension to inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions

In this section we extend the results of [BKN15] to the case in which $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ instead of $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}$; this will come as a natural extension since $\mathbb{E}_{0} \subset \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$.

Theorem I.6.4 For a given DDFV mesh \mathfrak{T} that satisfies Inf-sup stability (see Def.I.6.1), there exists $\tilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that:

$$\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}} := \inf_{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}} \frac{a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\|_{2}} \right) > 0,$$
(I.24)

where $a^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}.$

Moreover, for a given family of meshes which are Inf-sup stable such that $size(\mathfrak{T}) \to 0$, we have:

$$\liminf_{\mathit{size}(\mathfrak{T})\to 0}\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}>0$$

Proof To prove this result, it is necessary to refer on how in [BKN15] the authors prove that Inf-sup condition (of Def. I.6.1) holds for a given mesh \mathfrak{T} . We show how it is possible to extend the results of this proof to the case of $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$. To do that, we do not detail the computations (that can be found in [BKN15]), but we give an idea of the key points of the proof and we show how to deduce (I.24).

The strategy used in [BKN15] is to relate the value of $\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}$ to the eigenvalues of a suitable matrix. The reformulation of (I.9) as an eigenvalue problem reads:

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{T}} = \inf_{\substack{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, 1 \rangle = 0}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{\langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle}{\langle R_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right),$$
(I.25)

where $R_{\mathfrak{T}}$ is the stiffness matrix, $B_{\mathfrak{T}}$ is the divergence matrix and $M_{\mathfrak{T}}$ the pressure mass matrix. Those matrices are built so that:

$$\langle R_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle = (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} : \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}, \langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle = a^{\mathfrak{T}} (\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}},$$
 (I.26)
 $\langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle = (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{q}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}},$

where we denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the Euclidian inner product on the spaces $\mathbb{R}^{2\mathcal{N}_{\mathfrak{T}}}$ and $\mathbb{R}^{\mathcal{N}_{\mathfrak{D}}}$, with $\mathcal{N}_{\mathfrak{T}} = \operatorname{Card}(\mathfrak{T}), \mathcal{N}_{\mathfrak{D}} = \operatorname{Card}(\mathfrak{D}).$

Our aim is to extend the reformulation (I.25) to the case of $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$, thus we need to build different stiffness and divergence matrices that take into account boundary terms and maintain the same properties of (I.26).

The new stiffness matrix $\widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{T}}$, modified only on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N$ and $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N^*$, is built as:

$$\widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \begin{pmatrix} \left(-\frac{m_{\mathtt{K}}}{2}\mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}}(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\right)_{\mathtt{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \\ (\mathbf{u}_{\sigma})_{\sigma\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{D}} \\ \left(\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}\nabla^{\mathtt{p}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}\right)_{\sigma\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{N}} \\ \left(-\frac{m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}}{2}\mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\right)_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \\ (\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}})_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{D}^{*}} \\ \left(-\frac{m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}}{2}\mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}^{ext}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{4}\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}\right)_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*}} \end{pmatrix},$$

so that, if we take the product with a vector $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}$, we have:

$$\langle \widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle = -[[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \left(\gamma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}), \gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\right)_{\partial\Omega}$$

that by Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) implies $\langle \widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle_{\mathfrak{T}} = (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} : \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$ so that:

$$\langle \widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle = \langle R_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle.$$
 (I.27)

For what concerns the divergence matrix, we remark that $B_{\mathfrak{T}}$ is identical, while its transposed is modified into ${}^{t}\widetilde{B}_{\mathfrak{T}}$ in order to take into account the boundary terms on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}$ and $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*}$:

$$B_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \left(-m_{\mathtt{p}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{p}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\right) \quad \mathrm{and} \quad {}^{t}\widetilde{B}_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \left(m_{\mathtt{K}}\nabla^{\mathtt{K}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\right)_{\mathtt{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \\ \left(0\right)_{\sigma\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{D}} \\ \left(-m_{\sigma}\mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{p}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}\right)_{\sigma\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{N}} \\ \left(m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}\nabla^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\right)_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \\ \begin{pmatrix} \left(0\right)_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{D}^{*}} \\ \left(0\right)_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{D}^{*}} \\ \left(m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}\nabla^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}-\sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{M}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}\mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} \end{pmatrix}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{N}} \end{pmatrix}$$

So, if we take the product with a vector $p^{\mathfrak{D}}$, we have:

$$\langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle = -(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \langle {}^{t} \widetilde{B}_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle = [[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \left(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}, \gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\right)_{\partial\Omega}$$

Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) gives $\langle {}^t \widetilde{B}_{\mathfrak{T}} p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle = -(p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$, so that:

$$\langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle = \langle {}^{t} \widetilde{B}_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle.$$
 (I.28)

So, if we define the DDFV for the Stokes scheme as:

Find
$$(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$$
 such that:

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{K}} & \forall \mathfrak{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\
\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{K}^{*}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathfrak{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\
\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0 \\
(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N},
\end{cases}$$
(I.29)

1 . 1 .

this is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{T}} & {}^{t}\widetilde{B}_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ B_{\mathfrak{T}} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \\ \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{M}} \\ 0 \\ \Phi_{\partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}} \\ \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \\ 0 \\ \mathbf{f}_{\partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

By (I.27)- (I.28) and the fact that $\mathbb{E}_0 \subset \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$, we can conclude:

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{T}} = \inf_{\substack{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, 1 \rangle = 0}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{\langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle}{\langle R_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right)$$
$$= \inf_{\substack{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, 1 \rangle = 0}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}} \frac{\langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right)$$
$$\leq \inf_{\substack{\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, 1 \rangle = 0}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}} \frac{\langle B_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle M_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right) = \widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}$$

so that every time that $\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}$ is proven (theoretically or numerically) to be positive, also $\tilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}} > 0$. This, in particular, implies that for a given family of meshes such that size(\mathfrak{T}) $\rightarrow 0$, by Def.I.6.1:

$$\liminf_{\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\to 0}\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}>\liminf_{\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\to 0}\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}>0.$$

From (I.24), as from Def. I.6.1, we deduce the analogous of properties (I.10) and (I.11). In fact, the following holds:

•
$$\forall \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$$
:
 $\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\widetilde{\beta}_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \sup_{\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}} \frac{(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}},$ (I.30)

• For every $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, there exists $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and there exists $h_{0} > 0$ such that $\forall h = \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \leq h_{0}$, there exists a constant C depending only on $\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}, \Omega, \operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}), h_{0}$:

$$div^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = p^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le C \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$
 (I.31)

As for the case of (I.10), property (I.30) is a direct consequence of (I.24). For (I.31), the proof is the discrete analog of Lemma I.6.3, that we detail here.

Lemma I.6.5 Let \mathfrak{T} be a mesh that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition; we denote $h = size(\mathfrak{T})$. Then, for every $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, there exists $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = p^{\mathfrak{D}}$$

and there exists $h_0 > 0$ such that $\forall h \leq h_0$, there exists a constant C depending only on $\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}, \Omega, \operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}), h_0$ such that:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$

Proof To prove this result, we adapt the proof of Lemma I.6.3 to the discrete case; in this proof, by means of a particular function, we reduce to the case of homogeneous Dirichlet in order to apply the result of Prop. I.6.2.

Let $\mathbf{v} \in H^1_{\Gamma_D}(\Omega)$ with $\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) = 1$. Let $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{v}$.

By definition of the projection (see Sec. I.2), we have $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$. Moreover, by [ABH07, Corollary 3.1], given a sequence of meshes $(\mathfrak{T}_n)_n$ such that $\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ and $\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}_n)$ is bounded,

we have:

$$\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{I}_n} \to \mathbf{v} \quad \text{in } (L^2(\Omega))^2 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

 $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} \to \nabla \mathbf{v} \quad \text{in } (L^2(\Omega))^{2 \times 2} \text{ as } n \to \infty.$

Remark that $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ can be seen as the L^2 function $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} = \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}}$; as a matter of fact, it implies $\forall \varphi \in (L^2(\Omega))^{2 \times 2}$

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} : \varphi \right) \to \int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla \mathbf{v} : \varphi \right).$$

Thanks to the relation between the gradient and the divergence operator (see (I.5)-(I.6)) and by choosing $\varphi = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{\Omega} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\varphi = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{1}_{\Omega} \end{pmatrix}$, we obtain:

$$\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}_n})) \to \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v})) = 1 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$
(I.32)

Define now $\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{1}{\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}$, where $\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}} := \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}))$; it satisfies $\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{1}{\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}}} \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}$. Moreover, by definition of $\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}}$,

$$m(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})) = \frac{1}{\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}}} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = |\Omega|.$$
(I.33)

Its gradient is bounded by:

$$\|
abla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\leq rac{1}{\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}}}\|
abla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}$$

and by [ABH07, Lemma 3.4], there exists C that depends only on $\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})$ such that

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{C}{\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}}}\|\nabla\mathbf{v}\|_{2}.$$

By (I.32), there exists $h_0 > 0$ such that $\forall h \leq h_0$ (where $h = \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})$), $\widetilde{m}^{\mathfrak{T}} > \frac{1}{2}$, so:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le 2C\|\nabla\mathbf{v}\|_{2}.$$
(I.34)

We can then decompose any $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ into:

$$p^{\mathfrak{D}} = \underbrace{p^{\mathfrak{D}} - \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})}_{:=\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})$$
$$= \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$

Remark that $\tilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ with $m(\tilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = 0$ by (I.33). By Prop. I.6.2, there exists $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$ such that

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}}$$
$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \|\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$
(I.35)

If we set $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \widetilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}$, we can observe that $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and that

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\widetilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$

Using (I.35) and the decomposition of $p^{\mathfrak{D}}$ we get:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},$$

that is the first property of Lemma I.6.5 that we wanted to prove. We now look at $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2$. By Minkowski inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} &= \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|}m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \\ &\leq \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \frac{|m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})|}{|\Omega|}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}. \end{aligned}$$

By (I.35) and applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to $m(p^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}}p^{\mathsf{D}}$, by recalling that $|\Omega| = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}}$, we obtain:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \|\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$
 (I.36)

We now need to estimate $\|\tilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_2$. By definition of $\tilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ and Minkowsky inequality, we can write:

$$\|\tilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \leq \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} + \frac{1}{|\Omega|} |m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})| \|\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{2}.$$

By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, the fact that $\|\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{2} \leq \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}$ and the bound of $|m(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})|$ we deduce:

$$\|\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \leq \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\right) \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$

Injecting this estimate in (I.36), we obtain:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \left[\frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}}\left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\right]\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$$

and by (I.34) it becomes:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \left[\frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}}\left(1 + \frac{2C}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}}\|\nabla\mathbf{v}\|_{2}\right) + \frac{2C}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}}\|\nabla\mathbf{v}\|_{2}\right]\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$$

that, if we define $\tilde{C} = \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^2} \left(1 + \frac{2C}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_2 \right) + \frac{2C}{\sqrt{|\Omega|}} \|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_2$, gives:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \widetilde{C}\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$

This concludes the proof of Lemma I.6.5.

I.7 Stabilization of Brezzi-Pitkaranta

This stabilization term is inspired by the Brezzi-Pitkäranta method [BP84] in the finite element framework. This strategy has been previously used in the finite volume framework by [EHL06, EHL07]; in particular, in the DDFV framework, it was proposed by the author of [Kre11a] to add this term in the mass conservation equation, in order to deal with the lack of a uniform discrete Inf-sup condition for general meshes. Later, in [BKN15], Inf-sup condition was studied (as

presented in Sec. I.6); it has been proven to hold for a large class of meshes but not for general meshes, thus sometimes it will be preferable to stabilize the equation of conservation of mass in order to avoid the Inf-sup hypothesis on the mesh.

To define this Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization term in Stokes and Navier-Stokes problem we need a second order discrete operator, denoted by $\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} : p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mapsto \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, defined as follows:

$$\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathtt{D}}} \sum_{\mathtt{s} = \mathtt{D} | \mathtt{D}' \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathtt{D}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}_{\mathtt{D}}^2 + \mathrm{d}_{\mathtt{D}'}^2}{\mathrm{d}_{\mathtt{D}}^2} (\mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}'} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}), \quad \forall \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}.$$

Remark I.7.1 We recall that \mathcal{E}_{D} contains just the interior edges of the diamonds. Actually, we never consider $\mathfrak{s} \in \partial \Omega$. This means that we imposed automatically an homogeneous Neumann condition on the boundary $\partial \Omega$ inside the operator $\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}$.

It resembles an approximation of the Laplace's operator, however it is consistent only under orthogonality condition (as in the case of *admissible* meshes, see [EGH00, Dro14]); that is not true in general for diamond meshes obtained from \mathfrak{M} .

In relation with this operator we define a semi-norm $|\cdot|_h$ on $\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ that depends on the mesh:

$$|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} = \sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathfrak{G}} (\mathbf{d}_{\mathsf{D}}^{2} + \mathbf{d}_{\mathsf{D}'}^{2}) (\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}'} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}})^{2}, \quad \forall \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}.$$
(I.37)

Remark I.7.2 By reorganizing the sum on the diamond edges $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{G}$, we have that for all $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$:

$$-(d_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}p^{\mathfrak{D}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} p^{\mathsf{D}} \sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2} + d_{\mathsf{D}'}^{2})(p^{\mathsf{D}} - p^{\mathsf{D}'})$$
$$= \sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathfrak{G}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2} + d_{\mathsf{D}'}^{2})(p^{\mathsf{D}'} - p^{\mathsf{D}})$$
$$= |p^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2}.$$

The following lemma is an inverse Sobolev lemma, i.e. the seminorm $|\cdot|_h$ is bounded by the L^2 norm $\|\cdot\|_2$.

Lemma I.7.3 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.13) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that $\forall p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ we have:

$$|p^{\mathfrak{D}}|_h^2 \le C ||p^{\mathfrak{D}}||_2.$$

I.8 Results on the strain rate tensor

In this section, we compare the strain rate tensor to the gradient: this will be useful in the estimates, in order to pass from a Laplace form of Stokes (or Navier-Stokes) problem to a Divergence form, and viceversa. The most important result of this section is the Korn inequality.

I.8.1 Bound for the strain rate tensor

This estimate comes straightforward from the definition of the operators; the goal is to bound the norm of the strain rate tensor with the one of the gradient.

Proposition I.8.1 For all $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$, we have:

$$\|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$

Proof Thanks to Rem. I.4.1, we have:

$$\|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} = \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathtt{D}} \|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\mathcal{F}}^{2} \leq \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathtt{D}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\mathcal{F}}^{2} = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$

I.8.2 Korn inequality

The proof of the discrete Korn inequality is inspired by the continuous version in [BS07]. In DDFV setting in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions, i.e. if $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$, the theorem was proved in [Kre10]. In this case the proof relies on the definition of the operators and the constant of the estimate can be explicitly computed. By adding a part of the boundary with non-zero data, we introduce some difficulties and we are able to prove the result only by contradiction, just as in the continuous setting.

Theorem I.8.2 (Korn's inequality) Let \mathfrak{T} be a mesh that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Then there exists C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T}), \beta_{\mathfrak{T}}$, such that :

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \qquad \forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}.$$

In order to prove this result, it is necessary to first consider the case in which $\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ has zero mean.

Lemma I.8.3 Let \mathfrak{T} be a mesh that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Then $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ that satisfies $m(rot^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathfrak{D}}rot^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ it holds:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}}\|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}$$

where $\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}$ is the Inf-sup constant defined in (I.9).

Proof (of Lemma I.8.3) Let $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that $m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0$. If we consider the function

$$\mathrm{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{rot}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathtt{D}},$$

this is an L^2 function with zero mean, by hypothesis. This means that, by infsup stability condition (I.11), $\exists \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{r}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$ such that:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{V}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{V}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$$
$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$
(I.38)

Moreover, if we define the matrix $\chi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, we have the following property:

$$D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\chi \quad \forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

Let us compute by replacing the value of $D^{\mathfrak{D}}$ and by developing:

$$\begin{split} (\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathrm{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &= (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\chi:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathrm{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &= \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} - (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}:\mathrm{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathrm{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\chi:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathrm{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}. \end{split}$$

Since

$$(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}:\operatorname{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}=0,$$

and

$$(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\chi:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = (\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, -\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}, (\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\chi:\operatorname{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = (\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, -\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

(pay attention that the product between matrices becomes a product between scalars), we then obtain:

$$(D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\operatorname{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}$$

= $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + 0 + \frac{1}{2}(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \underbrace{-\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}}_{=0 \text{ by infsup}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$ (I.39)
= $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2}.$

This means that, if we apply the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and triangle inequality to (I.39), we deduce:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq \|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathrm{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \\ &\leq \|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} (\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathrm{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}). \end{split}$$

By applying the definition of $\operatorname{curl}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ and (I.38) we get:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} \leq & \|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}) \\ \leq & \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}}\|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}. \end{split}$$

We conclude that:

$$\|
abla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq rac{1}{eta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}}\|\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$

Thanks to this result, we give the proof of Korn's inequality in the general case. **Proof** (of Theorem I.8.2) Let $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$. We define $\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}$ as:

$$\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{1}{2}m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{x}^{\mathfrak{T}},$$

where $\mathbf{x}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ -x \end{pmatrix}$ is a vector that satisfies for all $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}$: $\nabla^{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{x}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \chi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $\mathbf{D}^{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{x}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\operatorname{rot}^{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{x}^{\mathfrak{T}} = -2$.

As a consequence, we have that $m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0$ and $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}$. By Lemma I.8.3 to $\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}$:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\beta_{\mathfrak{T}}^{2}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$
 (I.40)

If we compute $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$, using the fact that $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{x}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \chi$ we obtain:

$$\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2}m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\chi,$$

from which we deduce

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + |m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|),$$

where C depends on the size of the domain Ω . By (I.40)

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \bar{C}(\|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + |m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|),$$

that by the definition of $\mathbf{z}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ becomes:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq \bar{C}(\|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + |m(\mathrm{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|).$$
(I.41)

It remains to prove that $\exists \widetilde{C} > 0$ such that:

$$|m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| \leq \widetilde{C} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \quad \forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}.$$
 (I.42)

We prove this result by contradiction.

Let $(h_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence such that $h_n \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$, and let $(\mathfrak{T}_n)_n$ be a sequence of meshes such that $\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}_n) = h_n$ while $\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}_n)$ is bounded. For every *n*, there exists a constant C_n such that:

$$|m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n})| \le C_n \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} \|_2 \quad \forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D},$$
(I.43)

with $C_n := \sup_{\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}} \frac{|m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n})|}{\|D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n}\|_2}$. Inequality (I.43) holds because of Thm. I.8.4 (proved below in

Sec. I.8.3), that ensures that $\|D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_n}\|_2$ is actually a norm.

Proving (I.42), it is equivalent to show that the bound (I.43) is a uniform bound. Thus we argue by contradiction, and we suppose that:

 $\forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \exists n_k \text{ with } n_k \geq k \text{ such that } C_{n_k} \geq k,$

that is

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \exists \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} \text{ such that } |m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}} \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}})| \ge k \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} \|_2 \quad \forall \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}_n} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}.$$

Let $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} = \frac{\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}}{m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}})}$, so that:

$$m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}) = 1, \quad \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}\|_2 \le \frac{1}{k}.$$
 (I.44)

From (I.41), we can deduce that $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}$ is bounded as $k \to +\infty$, since:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}\|_2 \le C\left(\frac{1}{k}+1\right).$$

We can thus apply the compactness result of [ABH07, Lemma 3.6], which implies the existence of $\mathbf{u} \in (H^1_D(\Omega))^2$ such that, up to a subsequence:

$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} \to \mathbf{u} \quad \text{in } (L^2(\Omega))^2 \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$
$$\nabla^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} \to \nabla \mathbf{u} \quad \text{in } (L^2(\Omega))^{2 \times 2} \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

The weak convergence of $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}$, that can be seen as the L^2 function $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} = \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathsf{D}}$, implies that $\forall \varphi \in (L^2(\Omega))^{2 \times 2}$

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}} : \varphi \right) \to \int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla \mathbf{u} : \varphi \right).$$

Thanks to the relation between the gradient and the rotational operator (see (I.5)-(I.6)) and by choosing $\varphi = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\varphi = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, we obtain:

$$m(\operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}) \to m(\operatorname{rot}\mathbf{u})$$

From (I.44), we deduce $m(\text{rot } \mathbf{u}) = 1$.

Moreover, the weak convergence of the gradient implies the weak convergence of the strain rate tensor $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{n_k}}$, by definition of the operators; this, with (I.44), implies $D\mathbf{u} = 0$, i.e. \mathbf{u} is a rigid motion. The only rigid motion that satisfies $\mathbf{u}|_{\Gamma_D} = 0$ is $\mathbf{u} = 0$ since meas $(\Gamma_D) > 0$ (see [BS07]). We have therefore a contradiction, so we proved (I.42) and Thm. I.8.2.

I.8.3 Study of the kernel of $D^{\mathfrak{D}}$

The following result is necessary in order to prove Korn's inequality. It will be useful even to show the wellposedness of the DDFV scheme in Sec. II.5.

Theorem I.8.4 Let Ω be an open connected bounded polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^2 and Γ_D be a part of the boundary such that $m(\Gamma_D) > 0$.

Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Then $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ such that $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ we have $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ in Ω .

Proof Since we are not able to give a general proof of this theorem for all meshes, we focus on all the ones that are unconditionally *Inf-sup* stable (see [BKN15]), since to prove Lemma I.8.3 we need this last hypothesis.

When studying those meshes, we observe a propagation phenomenon of the zero boundary data on Γ_D to the entire mesh.

In fact, it is important to remark that in DDFV meshes all boundary diamonds are triangles (see Fig. I.3). If we focus on one of those diamonds, the condition on Γ_D implies that the velocity is zero on the three vertices L, K^* and L^* :

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}} &= \begin{pmatrix} u_{\mathrm{L}}^{x} \\ u_{\mathrm{L}}^{y} \end{pmatrix} = 0, \\ \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}^{*}} &= \begin{pmatrix} u_{\mathrm{K}^{*}}^{x} \\ u_{\mathrm{K}^{*}}^{y} \end{pmatrix} = 0, \\ \\ \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}^{*}} &= \begin{pmatrix} u_{\mathrm{L}^{*}}^{x} \\ u_{\mathrm{L}^{*}}^{y} \end{pmatrix} = 0. \end{split}$$

Since we are supposing $D^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ for all $\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}$, this is true in particular for the boundary diamonds (the white ones in Fig. I.6). By the definition of the discrete strain rate tensor (I.3) we are led to



Fig. I.6 Possible configurations of diamonds adjacent to the boundary ones in Inf-sup stable meshes.

the following system:

$$\begin{cases} m_{\sigma} \, u_{\kappa}^{x} \, n_{\sigma,\kappa}^{y} = 0 \\ m_{\sigma} \, u_{\kappa}^{y} \, n_{\sigma,\kappa}^{y} = 0 \\ m_{\sigma} \, (u_{\kappa}^{x} \, n_{\sigma,\kappa}^{y} + u_{\kappa}^{y} \, n_{\sigma,\kappa}^{x}) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(I.45)
that implies $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{\kappa}^{x} \\ u_{\kappa}^{y} \end{pmatrix} = 0$, since the outer normal $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} = \begin{pmatrix} n_{\sigma,\kappa}^{x} \\ n_{\sigma,\kappa}^{y} \end{pmatrix}$ cannot be zero.

This means that for all diamonds in $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_D$ the four components of the velocity, $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa}, \mathbf{u}_{L}, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*}, \mathbf{u}_{L^*}$, are zero.

We now look at the diamonds that are adjacent to ones on the boundary: for the meshes under consideration, we can distinguish two possible situations that we illustrate in Fig. I.6.

The first one is the case of the shaded diamond, for which the situation is equivalent to the one of boundary diamonds. In fact, we know that the velocity is zero on three of its vertices. So we can conclude, by solving a system similar to (I.45) deduced by $D^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, that even the last component of the velocity is zero on that diamond.

The second structure is described by the hatched diamonds. This is the case of two neighbors, that we will denote with p^1, p^2 which share a common vertex. Remark that on that vertex the velocity is zero and both diamonds have one more vertex with zero velocity. Thus we are considering a structure composed by 6 vertices, where the values of the velocity are zero on 3 among them.

In this case, we denote the normal vectors of $\mathtt{p}^1,\mathtt{p}^2$ with

$$\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}^{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{x,i} \\ \\ \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{y,i} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{n}_{\sigma^{*}}^{x,i} \\ \\ \mathbf{n}_{\sigma^{*}}^{y,i} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2,$$



Fig. I.7 Degenerate case

and we write the system of equations equivalent to the conditions $D^{D^i} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ for i = 1, 2. The 6×6 matrix of that system has determinant

$$det = (\mathbf{n}_{\sigma^*}^{x,2} \, \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{y,2} - \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{x,2} \, \mathbf{n}_{\sigma^*}^{y,2}) (\mathbf{n}_{\sigma^*}^{x,1} \, \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{y,1} - \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{x,1} \, \mathbf{n}_{\sigma^*}^{y,1}) (\mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{x,1} \, \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{y,2} - \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{x,2} \, \mathbf{n}_{\sigma}^{y,1}) \neq 0,$$

that is always different from zero, except in a degenerate case that we treat in the following section where the normals of the two diamonds are parallel. Thus the matrix is invertible, that implies that all the six components of the velocity on those two diamonds are zero: $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa}^{i} = \mathbf{u}_{L}^{i} = \mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}}^{i} = \mathbf{u}_{L^{*}}^{i} = 0$ for i = 1, 2.

Degenerate case: checkerboard mesh

This is a particular case of the second structure, in which the normal vectors of the two hatched diamonds are parallel. In order to have an invertible system to solve, it is necessary to consider a third diamond.

In particular, if we call $\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2$ the hatched diamonds and \mathbf{p}_3 the white one, we have for instance: $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa}^i = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$ for i = 1, 2 and $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa}^3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}$.

If, as we did in the previous cases, we write the system of equations equivalent to $D^{\mathbb{D}^{i}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, but this time for i = 1, 2, 3, we get again an invertible system, this time of size 8×8 . As before, we find that all the components of the velocity are zero on the three diamonds.

By proceeding step by step, we can prove that the velocity $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is zero on the entire domain Ω .

Remark I.8.5 Since the study of the kernel of $D^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is related to the mesh geometry, there is no general proof for all meshes. We only focused on meshes that satisfy Inf-sup condition because in the study of Navier-Stokes problem we are already in this setting, due to Thm. I.8.3. The technique, though, can be potentially extended to all mesh geometries considering one mesh at a time; for instance, it is valid also on Cartesian meshes, which are Inf-sup stable up to a single pressure mode.

I.9 Trace inequalities

Given a vector $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = ((\mathbf{u}_{\kappa})_{\kappa \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}}, (\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*})_{\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*})$ defined on a DDFV mesh \mathfrak{T} , we associate the approximate solution on the boundary in two different ways:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\phi}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{1}_{\overline{\mathsf{K}} \cap \partial \Omega} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*} \mathbf{1}_{\overline{\mathsf{K}}^* \cap \partial \Omega}, \\ \phi^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{L} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*} \mathbf{1}_{\overline{\mathsf{K}}^* \cap \partial \Omega}. \end{split}$$

With this definition, we use simultaneously the values on the primal mesh and the values on the dual mesh. The difference between the two traces can be explained if we look at a diamond \mathfrak{p} on the boundary, illustrated in Fig. I.8: $\tilde{\phi}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ averages values at the interior and on the boundary of the mesh, i.e. $\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}^*}, \mathbf{while} \phi^{\mathfrak{T}}$ takes values just on the boundary, i.e. $\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^*}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}^*}$.



Fig. I.8 A boundary diamond, $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}$.

We can also consider two different reconstructions based either on the primal values or the dual values:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= \sum_{K\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{K} \mathbf{1}_{\bar{K}\cap\partial\Omega} \quad \text{or} \quad \phi^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{L\in\partial\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{L} \mathbf{1}_{L} \\ \widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= \phi^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{K^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{K^{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\bar{K}^{*}\cap\partial\Omega}(\mathbf{x}). \end{split}$$

With respect to the traces defined in Sec.I.4, they satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} &\leq \|\widetilde{\phi}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} \\ \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} &\leq \|\widetilde{\phi}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega}. \end{aligned}$$

We point out that, if we consider the object we want to estimate, we have for both cases (by Minkowski's inequality):

$$\begin{split} \|\widetilde{\phi}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} &\leq \|\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} + \|\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega}, \\ \|\phi^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} &\leq \|\phi^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega} + \|\phi^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{q,\partial\Omega}. \end{split}$$

Before proving the trace theorem, we introduce a discrete Poincaré inequality, proved in [ABH07] for scalar fields and L^2 norm; here we need the one proved in [BCCHF15] for vector fields.

Theorem I.9.1 (Discrete Poincaré inequality, [BCCHF15], Thm. 11) Let Ω be an open connected bounded polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^2 and Γ_D be a part of the boundary such that $m(\Gamma_D) > 0$. Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω .

• If $1 \le p < 2$, let $1 \le q \le p^*$

• If $p \ge 2$, let $1 \le q < \infty$.

There exists a constant C > 0, depending only on p,q, Γ_D and Ω such that $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$:

$$\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{q} \leq \frac{C}{\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})^{\frac{1}{p}} \operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})^{\frac{p-1}{p}}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p}.$$

Theorem I.9.2 (Trace inequality) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . For all p > 1 there exists a constant C > 0, depending only on p, $\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})$, $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ and Ω such that $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and $\forall s \geq 1$:

$$\|\widetilde{\phi}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{s,\partial\Omega}^{s} \leq C \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{p(s-1)}{p-1}}^{s-1}.$$
 (I.46)

The computations of the proof are similar to those present in [EGH00] and [CHKM15]. In [EGH00], the proof is given for finite volume methods; in [CHKM15], the proof is given for DDFV method but in the case of L^1 norm. Our proof has been adapted to the vectorial case and to general L^s , L^p norms.

Proof

Boundary properties: By compactness of $\partial\Omega$, there exists a finite number of open hyperrectangles $\{R_i, i = 1...N\}$, and normalized vectors of $\mathbb{R}^2, \{\eta_i, i = 1, ..., N\}$, such that:



Fig. I.9 Properties of the boundary $\partial \Omega$.

$$\begin{cases} \partial \Omega \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} R_{i} \\ (\eta_{i}, \overrightarrow{\nu}(x)) \geq \lambda > 0 \quad \forall x \in R_{i} \cap \partial \Omega, i \in \{1 \dots N\} \\ \{x + t\eta_{i}, x \in R_{i} \cap \partial \Omega, t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}\} \cap R_{i} \subset \Omega, \end{cases}$$

where λ is a strictly positive number and $\overrightarrow{\nu}(x)$ is the normal vector to $\partial\Omega$ at x, inward to Ω (see Figure 1). Let $\{\lambda_i, i = 1 \dots N\}$ be a family of functions such that $\sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_i(x) = 1$, for all $x \in \partial\Omega$, $\lambda_i \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $\lambda_i = 0$ outside of R_i , for all $i = 1 \dots N$. Let $\partial\Omega_i = R_i \cap \partial\Omega$; we shall prove that there exists $C_i > 0$ depending only on λ , reg (\mathfrak{T}) and λ_i such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \lambda_i(x) |\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})(x)|^s \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial\Omega_i} \lambda_i(x) |\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})(x)|^s \mathrm{d}x \le C_i \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{p(s-1)}{p-1}}^{s-1}.$$

Then it will be sufficient to define $C := \sum_{i=1}^{N} C_i$ to get (I.46). We study separately the two terms.

On the primal mesh: We introduce the functions to determine the successive neighbours of a cell $\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}}$. Consider $x, y \in \Omega$, then:

for
$$\sigma \in \mathcal{E}$$
 $\Psi_{\sigma}(x, y) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } [x, y] \cap \sigma \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$
for $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ $\Psi_{\kappa}(x, y) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } [x, y] \cap \kappa \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$



Fig. I.10 (Left) $[x, y(x)] \cap \sigma_0$ is reduced to a point $z_{\sigma_0}(x)$. (Right) $[x, y(x)] \cap \sigma_0$ is the segment [x, y(x)].

Now, we fix $i \in \{1 \dots N\}$ and $x \in \partial \Omega_i$. Then there exists a unique t > 0 such that $x + t\eta_i = y(x) \in \partial R_i$. Then, for $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}$, if $[x, y(x)] \cap \sigma \neq \emptyset$, then it is:

- either a point: $z_{\sigma}(x) := [x, y(x)] \cap \sigma$
- either a segment: $[a(x), b(x)] := [x, y(x)] \cap \sigma$ and let $z_{\sigma}(x) := b(x)$.

For $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, if $[x, y(x)] \cap \kappa \neq \emptyset$ we have:

$$[\xi_{\mathsf{K}}(x),\eta_{\mathsf{K}}(x)] := [x,y(x)] \cap \mathsf{K}.$$

Let us fix $x \in \kappa_0$, with $\kappa_0 \in \mathfrak{M}$ such that $y(x) \in \iota_0$, $\sigma_0 = \kappa_0 | \iota_0$. We distinguish the following two cases:

1. For the left case (see Fig. I.10):

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{i}(x) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{0}}|^{s} &= \left(\lambda_{i}(\xi_{\mathsf{K}_{0}}(x)) - \lambda_{i}(\eta_{\mathsf{K}_{0}}(x))\right) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{0}}|^{s} \\ &+ \left(\lambda_{i}(\xi_{\mathsf{L}_{0}}(x)) - \lambda_{i}(\eta_{\mathsf{L}_{0}}(x))\right) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}_{0}}|^{s} \\ &+ \lambda_{i}(z_{\sigma_{0}}(x)) \left(|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{0}}|^{s} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}_{0}}|^{s}\right), \end{split}$$

2. for the right case (see Fig. I.10):

$$\lambda_i(x)|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s = (\lambda_i(\xi_{\mathsf{K}_0}(x)) - \lambda_i(\eta_{\mathsf{K}_0}(x)))|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s.$$

In both cases:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_i(x) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}_0}|^s &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} \Psi_{\sigma}(x, y(x)) \lambda_i(z_{\sigma}(x)) \big| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}|^s \big| \\ &+ \sum_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \Psi_{\mathbf{K}}(x, y(x)) |\lambda_i(\xi_{\mathbf{K}}(x)) - \lambda_i(\eta_{\mathbf{K}}(x))| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^s, \end{split}$$

that we can write as

$$\lambda_i(x)|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s \le A(x) + B(x),$$

by defining

$$\begin{split} A(x) &:= \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \Psi_{\sigma}(x, y(x)) \lambda_{i}(z_{\sigma}(x)) ||\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s}| \\ B(x) &:= \sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} \Psi_{\mathsf{K}}(x, y(x)) |\lambda_{i}(\xi_{\mathsf{K}}(x)) - \lambda_{i}(\eta_{\mathsf{K}}(x))| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s}. \end{split}$$

We proceed by estimating separately the two terms.

Estimate of A: Since λ_i is bounded, we get:

$$A(x) \le \|\lambda_i\|_{\infty} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} \Psi_{\sigma}(x, y(x)) \bigg| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s \bigg|;$$

We now use the following estimate (with $c_{\sigma} = |(\eta_i, \overrightarrow{\nu}_{\sigma}(x))|)$

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \Psi_{\sigma}(x, y(x)) \mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{c_{\sigma}}{\lambda} m_{\sigma},$$

that is proved in [EGH00], to conclude:

$$\begin{split} A &= \int_{\partial\Omega_i} A(x) \mathrm{d}x \leq \|\lambda_i\|_{\infty} \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} \left(\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \Psi_{\sigma}(x, y(x)) \mathrm{d}x \right) \Big| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s \Big| \\ &\leq C_i \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} \Big| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s \Big|, \end{split}$$

where in the 3rd inequality we used [Kre10, Lemma I.19]. Now, as in [BCCHF15], we use the inequality:

$$\left| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s} \right| \leq s(|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s-1} + |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s-1})|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|,$$

that leads to:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} \bigg| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s} \bigg| &\leq s \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} (|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s-1} + |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s-1}) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}| \\ &\leq C \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} (|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s-1} + |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s-1}) \bigg| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}} \bigg|, \end{split}$$

that by integration by parts and Hölder gives:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} \Big| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{s} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{s} \Big| \leq C \Big(\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}} \Big)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \Big(\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} \Big| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}} \Big|^{p} \Big)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

By regularity hypothesis on the mesh and the definition of the discrete gradient we can write:

$$A \leq \frac{C}{\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})^{\frac{1}{p}} \operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})^{\frac{p-1}{p}}} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}}^{s-1} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p}.$$

Estimate of B:

Since λ_i is C^{∞} , we have, by Taylor's formula:

$$B(x) \leq \|\nabla \lambda_i\|_{\infty} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{M}} \Psi_{\mathsf{K}}(x, y(x)) |\xi_{\mathsf{K}}(x) - \eta_{\mathsf{K}}(x)| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^s,$$

and thanks to the inequality that can be found in [EGH00, Lemma 3.10]

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \Psi_{\mathsf{K}}(x, y(x)) |\xi_{\mathsf{K}}(x) - \eta_{\mathsf{K}}(x)| \mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{m_{\mathsf{K}}}{\lambda},$$

we can conclude:

$$\begin{split} B &= \int_{\partial \Omega_i} B(x) \leq \|\nabla \lambda_i\|_{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} \Big(\int_{\partial \Omega_i} \Psi_{\mathbf{K}}(x, y(x)) |\xi_{\mathbf{K}}(x) - \eta_{\mathbf{K}}(x)| \Big) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^s \\ &\leq C_i \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathbf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^s. \end{split}$$

Thus

$$B \le C \| \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_s^s.$$

Putting together the terms, we find:

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \lambda_i(x) |\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^s \leq C_i \left(\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}}^{s-1} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_p + \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_s^s \right).$$

By proceeding as in the proof of [BCCHF15, Lemma 1], we use interpolation between L^p spaces and we write:

$$\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{s}^{s} \leq \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}}^{s-1} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p}$$

that leads to

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \lambda_i(x) |\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^s \le C_i \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}}^{s-1} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p},$$

that proves our theorem.

On the dual mesh: the computations are exactly the same, exchanging κ with κ^* and σ in σ^* .

Corollary I.9.3 (Second trace inequality) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, depending only on p,q, $\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})$, $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ and Ω such that $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and for all $s \geq 1$, p > 1:

$$\|\phi^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{s,\partial\Omega}^{s} \leq C \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{p(s-1)}{p-1}}^{s-1}.$$

Proof The proof is almost the same as Thm. I.9.2.

What changes is just that we now fix $x \in L$, $L \in \partial \mathfrak{M}$ and $\kappa_0 \in \mathfrak{M}$ such that $L \subset \kappa_0$, $y(x) \in \kappa_0$, $\sigma_0 = \kappa_0 | L$ (see Fig. I.11).



Fig. I.11 L on the boundary $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ and $\kappa_0 \in \mathfrak{M}$ such that $L \subset \kappa_0, y(x) \in \kappa_0, \sigma_0 = \kappa_0 | L$.

The term that we want to study now is $\lambda_i(x)|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s$, since we are focusing on the boundary. It can be written as:

$$\lambda_i(x)|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s = \lambda_i(x)(|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s) + \lambda_i(x)|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s, \tag{I.47}$$

that can be estimated by:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_i(x) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s &\leq \lambda_i(x) \bigg| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s \bigg| \mathbf{1}_{\mathsf{L}}(x) + \lambda_i(x) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s \\ &:= A_b(x) + \lambda_i(x) |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_0}|^s. \end{split}$$

Estimate of A_b : Since λ is bounded, we have:

$$A_b = \int_{\partial \Omega_i} A_b(x) \le \|\lambda_i\|_{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} \left| |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}|^s - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^s \right|.$$

We can proceed exactly as in the proof of Thm I.9.2 for A, so we get:

$$A_b \le \frac{C}{\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{T}})^{\frac{1}{p}} \operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})^{\frac{p-1}{p}}} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}}^{s-1} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{p}.$$

Putting together all the terms, we find:

$$\left(\int_{\partial\Omega_i}\lambda_i(x)|\phi^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^s\right) \leq A_b + \left(\int_{\partial\Omega_i}\lambda_i(x)|\widetilde{\phi}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^s\right).$$

Thanks to the previous theorem, we conclude:

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_i} \lambda_i(x) |\phi^{\partial\mathfrak{M}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^s \le C_i \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\frac{(s-1)p}{p-1}}^{s-1} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{1,p}$$

that proofs our statement.

On the dual mesh: the computations are the same as the previous theorem.

Corollary I.9.4 (L^2 **norm)** Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0 that depends only on Ω and reg(\mathfrak{T}) such that $\forall \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$:

$$\|\phi^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{2,\partial\Omega} \leq C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$

Proof It is a direct consequence of Corollary I.9.3 with s = p = 2 and Poincaré inequality (Thm. I.9.1).

I.10 Properties of discrete operators

We give now some results on discrete operators and projections, that will be useful in the error estimate proof of Chapter II. All the proofs can be found in [Kre10].

Lemma I.10.1 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.14) For d = 2, 3. Let K be an open non empty polygonal convex set of \mathbb{R}^d such that, for some $\alpha > 0$, there exists a ball of radius $\alpha \operatorname{diam}(K)$ contained in K. Let E be an affine hyperplan of \mathbb{R}^d and σ an open non empty set of E contained in $\partial K \cap E$. Then there exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on α , such that for all $v \in (H^1(K))^d$:

$$\left|\frac{1}{m_{\sigma}}\int_{\sigma}\boldsymbol{v}(s)ds\right|^{2} \leq \frac{Cdiam(\mathbf{k})}{m_{\sigma}}\int_{K}|||\nabla\boldsymbol{v}(s)|||_{\mathcal{F}}^{2}ds + \frac{C}{diam(\Omega)m_{\sigma}}\int_{K}|\boldsymbol{v}(s)|^{2}ds.$$

Properties of the projection $\mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}}$

Lemma I.10.2 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.16) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all functions $\mathbf{v} \in (H^2(\Omega))^2$, we have:

$$\|\nabla \boldsymbol{v} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \boldsymbol{v}\|_{2} \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T}) \|\nabla \boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}}.$$

Corollary I.10.3 ([Kre10], Coro IV.17) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all functions $\mathbf{v} \in (H^2(\Omega))^2$, we have:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\boldsymbol{v}\|_{2} \leq C\|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}}$$

Corollary I.10.4 ([Kre10], Coro IV.18) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all functions $\mathbf{v} \in (H^2(\Omega))^2$ that verifies $\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) = 0$, we have:

$$\|\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\boldsymbol{v}\|_{2} \leq C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}}.$$

Properties of the projection $\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{T}}$

Lemma I.10.5 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.19) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on reg (\mathfrak{T}) , such that for all functions $v \in (H^1(\Omega))^2$, we have:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{T}}\boldsymbol{v}\|_2 \leq C \|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}\|_2 \quad and \quad \|\boldsymbol{v} - \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{T}}\boldsymbol{v}\|_2 \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}\|_2.$$

Error between the projections $\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\mathfrak{P}_{m,q}^{\Gamma_{D}}\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}$:

Lemma I.10.6 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.20) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all functions $\mathbf{v} \in (H^1(\Omega))^2$, we have:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\boldsymbol{v}-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\Gamma_{D}}\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\boldsymbol{u}\|_{2}\leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{2}}$$

Lemma I.10.7 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.22) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on reg (\mathfrak{T}) , such that for all functions $\mathbf{v} \in (H^2(\Omega))^2$, we have:

$$\|oldsymbol{v} - \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}oldsymbol{v}\|_{2} \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|
abla oldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}} \quad and \quad \|oldsymbol{v} - \mathfrak{P}^{D}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}oldsymbol{v}\|_{2} \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|
abla oldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}}$$

Properties of the projection on diamonds $\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{D}}$

Lemma I.10.8 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.23) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all functions $p \in H^1(\Omega)$, we have:

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathfrak{G}}(\mathbb{P}^{\mathsf{D}'}_mp-\mathbb{P}^{\mathsf{D}}_mp)^2\leq C\|\nabla p\|_2^2$$

Lemma I.10.9 ([Kre10], Lemma IV.24) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on reg (\mathfrak{T}) , such that for all functions $p \in H^1(\Omega)$, we have:

$$\|\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{D}}p - p\|_2 \le Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|\nabla p\|_2.$$

I.11 Basic inequalities

Here we recall some basic inequalities that we will need in the following chapters.

Lemma I.11.1 (Young's inequality) Let a, b, c be three non negative numbers. Let p_1, p_2 and p_3 be positive real numbers such that $\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{p_3} = 1$. Then, we have:

$$abc \leq \frac{C_1}{p_1} a^{p_1} + \frac{C_2}{p_2} b^{p_2} + \frac{1}{p_3 C_1 C_2} c^{p_3},$$

for some positive constants C_1, C_2 ,

We adapted the proof of Grönwall's lemma, Lemma 16.I.6 in [Sch01], to obtain the following:

Lemma I.11.2 (Discrete Grönwall's lemma) If a sequence $(a_n)_n$, $n = 0 \dots N$, satisfies

$$a_0 \le A, \qquad a_n \le A + B\delta t \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} a_i \quad \forall n \in 1, \dots, N, \delta t = \frac{T}{N}$$

where A and B are two positive constants independent of δt , then

$$\max_{n=1\dots N} a_n \le A e^{BT}.$$

Lemma I.11.3 (Hölder's inequality) Let $p, q, r \in (1, +\infty)$ with 1/p+1/q+1/r = 1. For every $(x_1, \ldots x_n), (y_1, \ldots y_n), (z_1, \ldots z_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ it holds

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i y_i z_i| \le \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i|^p\right)^{1/p} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |y_i|^q\right)^{1/q} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |z_i|^r\right)^{1/r}.$$

Chapter II

Stokes problem with mixed Dirichlet-Neumann boundary conditions

Contents

II.1 DDFV scheme	
II.2 Wellposedness of the scheme	
II.3 Error estimates for the DDFV scheme	
II.3.1 Rough error estimate $\ldots \ldots 59$	
II.3.2 Stability of the DDFV scheme	
II.3.3 Optimal error estimate	
II.4 Numerical results	
II.5 Extension to the Divergence form	
II.5.1 Well-posedness of the scheme	
II.5.2 Numerical results	
II.6 Unstabilized scheme: weak boundary conditions	
II.6.1 Well-posedness of the scheme	
II.6.2 Numerical results	

A condensed version of this chapter has been published in [GKL17]; further details are given here, such as the proofs the error estimate for the DDFV scheme, the extension to the Divergence form and the study of the unstabilized scheme.

The goal of this chapter is to approximate with DDFV method the solution of the following Stokes problem:

$$\begin{cases}
-\Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{f} & \text{in } \Omega, \\
\text{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\
\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g} & \text{on } \Gamma_D, \\
(\nabla \mathbf{u} - \text{pId}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}} = \Phi & \text{on } \Gamma_N,
\end{cases}$$
(II.1)

where the unknowns are the velocity $\mathbf{u} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^2$ and the pressure $\mathbf{p} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$. The data are $\mathbf{f} \in (L^2(\Omega))^2$, $\Phi, \mathbf{g} \in (H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\partial \Omega))^2$ and $\mathbf{\vec{n}}$ is the unitary outer normal. Ω is an open bounded polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^2 , with $\partial \Omega = \Gamma_D \cup \Gamma_N$, where $|\Gamma_D| > 0$ is the fraction of the boundary with Dirichlet boundary conditions and $\Gamma_N \neq \emptyset$ the one with Neumann boundary conditions.

In the previous works of [Del07], [Kre11a] and [BKN15], DDFV method was studied for Stokes problem in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. In the case of [Del07], wellposedness of the scheme was proved only for conformal triangle meshes, conformal and non conformal square meshes, in the case of unstabilized mass equation. This result was then improved in [Kre11a] by adding a stabilization term to the equation of conservation of mass that led to prove existence and uniqueness of the solution on general meshes. Successively, since it was observed that very accurate approximations could be computed even without stabilization on general meshes, in [BKN15] Boyer, Krell and Nabet worked on the Inf-sup stability condition (Def. I.6.1) for the unstabilized scheme. This condition relies on the wellposedness of the scheme; it holds unconditionally for certain meshes (e.g. conforming acute triangle meshes) or, with some restrictions, for specific mesh geometries (see Sec. I.6 for more details).

The work of this chapter aims at extending the theory known for the Stokes problem to the case of Neumann boundary conditions on a fraction of the boundary, namely the 4^{th} equation in (II.1).

Outline. This chapter is organized as follows. In Sec. II.1 we define a DDFV discretization of the Stokes problem (II.1); we choose to stabilize the mass conservation equation through two parameters, $\mu, \beta \ge 0$. We prove the wellposedness of this scheme under the hypothesis $\beta + \mu > 0$ in Sec. II.2. In Sec. II.3 we prove some error estimates, by showing a first rough error estimate only for the velocity (when $\mu > 0$) followed by a stability result (true under the hypothesis $\beta > 0$) that leads to an optimal error estimate for the velocity and the pressure. This result is tested numerically in Sec. II.4, by also showing the influence of the parameters in the convergence. In Sec. II.5 we extend the obtained results to the Divergence form of Stokes problem (II.28), thanks to the results of Sec. I.8. In Sec. II.6, we consider the case of a DDFV scheme for the Stokes problem (II.1) without stabilization on the mass conservation equation, with "weak" boundary conditions.

II.1 DDFV scheme

We recall that DDFV scheme uses staggered unknowns. We approximate the velocity on the centers and vertices of the primal mesh (i.e. on $\mathfrak{T} = \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$) and the pressure on the diamond mesh (i.e. \mathfrak{D}).

As introduced in Sec. I.2 and as illustrated in Fig. II.1, the boundary meshes will be denoted by:

$$\begin{split} \partial \mathfrak{M}_D &= \{ \mathbf{k} \in \partial \mathfrak{M} : x_{\mathbf{k}} \in \Gamma_D \}, \\ \partial \mathfrak{M}_N &= \{ \mathbf{k} \in \partial \mathfrak{M} : x_{\mathbf{k}} \in \Gamma_N \}, \\ \partial \mathfrak{M}_D^* &= \{ \mathbf{k}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^* : x_{\mathbf{k}^*} \in \Gamma_D \}, \\ \partial \mathfrak{M}_N^* &= \{ \mathbf{k}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^* : x_{\mathbf{k}^*} \in \Gamma_N \setminus \Gamma_D \}. \end{split}$$

To obtain our scheme, we integrate the momentum equation over all $\mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_N$. We impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_D$ and Neumann boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N$. The equation of conservation of mass is directly approximated on the diamond mesh equation over \mathfrak{D} , and it is stabilized through two parameters $\beta \geq 0$, associated to a stabilization of Brezzi-Pitkäranta (see Sec. I.7) and $\mu \geq 0$, associated to a linear stabilization.



Fig. II.1 Domain with mixed boundary conditions

The scheme is the following:

Find
$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_{D}}$$
 and $p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + p^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{K}} & \forall \mathfrak{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\
\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{K}^{*}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + p^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathfrak{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\
\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu \mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})p^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta \mathrm{d}_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\
(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - p^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathfrak{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} \quad \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N},
\end{cases}$$

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$$

where we denote by $\mathbf{f}_{\kappa}, \mathbf{g}_{\kappa}$ (resp. $\mathbf{f}_{\kappa^*}, \mathbf{g}_{\kappa^*}$) the mean-value of the source term \mathbf{f} and of the Dirichlet data \mathbf{g} on $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ (resp. on $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$) and Φ_{σ} the mean-value of the Neumann data on $\sigma \in \Gamma_N$:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}}} \int_{\mathbf{K}} \mathbf{f}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \\ \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{K}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}}} \int_{\mathbf{K}} \mathbf{g}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{g}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \\ \Phi_{\sigma} &= \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} \Phi(x) \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Moreover, we denote by $\mathbf{g}_{\sigma} = \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{g}^{\mathfrak{T}})$, $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}$. Remark that, as the mesh becomes finer, the stabilization terms vanish (we recall that $d_{\mathfrak{D}}^2$ is the diameter of a diamond, thus it depends on $size(\mathfrak{T})$).

We define now the bilinear form associated to the scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$.

Definition II.1.1 (Bilinear form) For all $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}), (\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{m,g}^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, the bilinear form associated to $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$ is:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) := [[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}), \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + (\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}. \quad (\mathrm{II.2})$$

II.2 Wellposedness of the scheme

Before showing that there exists a unique solution to $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$, we prove the following a priori estimate:

Proposition II.2.1 (A priori estimate) Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{m,g}^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ be a solution of $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$. Then:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu size(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ \leq \left| [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \right| + \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{g}_{\sigma}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} |\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}Id|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ + \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\Phi_{\sigma}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \quad (\text{II.3}) \end{split}$$

Proof We consider the bilinear form (II.2) associated to the scheme:

$$\begin{split} B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) &= [[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}),\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &+ (\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})+\mu\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}-\beta\mathrm{d}_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}. \end{split}$$

On one hand, if we apply Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) to the first term, by taking into account the boundary terms, we get:

$$\begin{split} B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) &= \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} - (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &+ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot (-\nabla^{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}}\mathrm{Id})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \\ &+ (\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta\mathrm{d}_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}. \end{split}$$

The terms $(p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}$ simplify and we apply Remark I.7.2 to the term $-\beta(\mathrm{d}_{\mathfrak{D}}^2\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}p^{\mathfrak{D}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$. The boundary diamonds \mathfrak{D}_{ext} can be split between $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_D$ and $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N$, so by applying Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions we obtain:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{g}_{\sigma} \cdot (-\nabla^{\mathtt{p}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{p}}\text{Id}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} - \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \Phi_{\sigma}. \quad (\text{II.4})$$

On the other hand, since $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ is a solution to $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$, we have:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}.$$
 (II.5)

By putting together (II.4) and (II.5):

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ & \leq [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \left|\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma}\mathbf{g}_{\sigma} \cdot (\nabla^{\mathtt{p}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{p}}\text{Id}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\right| + \left|\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \Phi_{\sigma}\right|. \end{split}$$

We then apply Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to get our result (II.3).

We can now prove the well-posedness of the scheme, that is a direct consequence to the *a priori* estimate of Prop. II.2.1.

Theorem II.2.2 (Well-posedness of the scheme) Let \mathfrak{T} a DDFV mesh associated to Ω and $\beta + \mu > 0$. Then the stabilized scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$ has a unique solution $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{m,\boldsymbol{g}}^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$.

Proof By linearity, it is sufficient to prove that if $\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, $\mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = 0$, $\mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^*} = 0$ and $\Phi_{\sigma} = 0$, then $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$. Directly from (II.3), we deduce:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \leq 0.$$

This implies $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} = 0$: from Remark I.3.3 and since $\mathbf{g}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}} = 0$, $\mathbf{g}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}} = 0$, we obtain $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$. Moreover, if $\mu > 0$, then $\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} = 0$ that implies $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$; otherwise, we have $\beta > 0$, from which we can deduce $|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} = 0$ that leads to $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ constant. Thanks to Neumann boundary condition (the 4th equation in $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$), since $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, and $\Phi_{\sigma} = 0$ we get that $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$.

Remark II.2.3 Without the stabilization term, we can still prove the wellposedness of the scheme. In fact, if the velocity $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, the momentum equation and the Neumann boundary condition become:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}\left(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0 & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}}\left(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0 & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\ (\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = 0 & \forall \mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}. \end{cases}$$
(II.6)

Our goal is to show that $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$. For every $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$, thanks to Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1), we can write:

$$\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}), p^{\mathfrak{D}}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} = -\left[\left[\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \operatorname{\mathbf{div}}^{\mathfrak{T}}(p^{\mathfrak{D}}\operatorname{Id})\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot (p^{\mathfrak{D}}\operatorname{Id}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}.$$
(II.7)

By definition of the scalar products (see Sec. I.4), by (II.6) and by the fact that $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$, we get that $\left[\left[\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{p}}\mathrm{Id}) \mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}} = 0$. Thus (II.7) becomes:

$$\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} = 0.$$
 (II.8)

Assuming that the mesh \mathfrak{T} satisfies Inf-sup stability condition (see Sec. I.6), inequality (I.30) is verified; since (II.8) holds for any $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$, the supremum in the right hand side of (I.30) vanishes so we can deduce that the pressure $p^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is constant. We can then conclude thanks to Neumann boundary conditions as in the previous proof.

II.3 Error estimates for the DDFV scheme

In this section, we prove error estimates for the scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$.

First, we show an error estimate of order 0.5 just for the velocity and its gradient, under the hypothesis $\mu > 0$. We then improve this result if $\beta > 0$, by showing an estimate of order 1 for the velocity, its gradient and the pressure, thanks to a stability study of the scheme.

II.3.1 Rough error estimate

Since we are working with mixed boundary conditions of the type Dirichlet/ Neumann, i.e. $\Gamma_N \neq \emptyset$, we need to suppose more regularity for the exact solution **u** in order to get a better error estimate with respect to the homogeneous Dirichlet case of [Kre11a].

Thus, we define the space of regularity of the solution as follows:

$$(W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2 = \left\{ \mathbf{u} \in (W^{1,\infty}(\Omega))^2 \ s.t. \ \mathbf{u}|_{\mathsf{D}} \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathsf{D}))^2, \quad \forall_{\mathsf{D}} \in \mathfrak{D} \right\}.$$
$$W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}) = \left\{ \mathbf{p} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \ s.t. \ \mathbf{p}|_{\mathsf{D}} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathsf{D}), \quad \forall_{\mathsf{D}} \in \mathfrak{D} \right\}.$$

We will now prove an error estimate for the error of order 0.5 in the L^2 norm of the velocity field and of its gradient.

Theorem II.3.1 Let $(\mathbf{u}, p) \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2 \times W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$ be the solution of (II.1) and $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{m,g}^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ be the solution of the problem $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$. Suppose that $\mu > 0$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 that depends on $\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}), \mu, \|\mathbf{u}\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$ and $\|p\|_{W^{1,\infty}}$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le Csize(\mathfrak{T})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Proof Let $\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} = (\mathfrak{P}^{D}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}$ be the error for the velocity field and $\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ the error for the pressure field.

The proof is divided into four parts. In Step 1, we start by defining the problem satisfied by the errors. Then, in Step 2, we give a first estimate of the bilinear form associated to the scheme, followed by estimates of the consistency errors in Step 3. We will conclude in Step 4 by gathering all the estimates together.

II.3.1.1 Step 1 : Error scheme

We look for the equations satisfied by $(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$.

Thanks to (II.1) and $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$, we can write $\forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}Id) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}}, \\ -\frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}}\int_{\mathsf{K}}\mathrm{div}(\nabla\mathbf{u}(x))\mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}}\int_{\mathsf{K}}\nabla\mathbf{p}(x)\mathrm{d}x = \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}}. \end{cases}$$

Thus, we deduce:

$$m_{\mathsf{K}}\mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathrm{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = m_{\mathsf{K}}\mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathtt{p}}\mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{D}\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u} + \mathbb{P}_{m}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{p}\,\mathrm{Id}) + \int_{\mathsf{K}}\mathrm{div}(\nabla\mathbf{u}(x))\mathrm{d}x - \int_{\mathsf{K}}\nabla\mathrm{p}(x)\mathrm{d}x.$$

By Def. I.3.5 of the discrete divergence and Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1), we obtain for all $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$:

•
$$m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathrm{Id}) = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \int_{\sigma} (\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathfrak{P}^D_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s$$

 $+ \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbb{P}^D_m \mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}(s)) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s.$

We define the *consistency errors*

$$\begin{split} R^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(z) &= \nabla \mathbf{u}(z) - \nabla^{\mathtt{D}} \mathfrak{P}^{\mathtt{D}}_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}, \qquad \text{ for } z \in \mathtt{D} \,, \, \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}, \\ R^{p}_{\mathfrak{D}}(z) &= \mathbb{P}^{D}_{m} \mathtt{p} - \mathtt{p}(z), \qquad \text{ for } z \in \mathtt{D} \,, \, \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}. \end{split}$$

so that

$$\bullet m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathrm{Id}) = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \int_{\sigma} R^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \int_{\sigma} R^{p}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \mathrm{d}s$$

In the same way, for all $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$:

$$\bullet m_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{K}^*}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathrm{Id}) = \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} \int_{\sigma^*} R^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} \int_{\sigma^*} R^{p}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} \mathrm{d}s.$$

For the boundary primal and dual cells, we consider only $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N^*$ and $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N$ since we impose strong Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D^*$ and $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D$, i.e. $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} = 0 \ \forall \kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_D^*$, $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} = 0 \ \forall \kappa \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_D$.

For all $\kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_N^*$:

•
$$m_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{K}^*}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathrm{Id}) = \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\sigma^*} R^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\sigma^*} R^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \cap \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}^{x_{\sigma}} R^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \cap \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}^{x_{\sigma}} R^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \cap \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}^{x_{\sigma}} R^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s.$$

Finally, for all $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_N$:

$$\bullet (\nabla^{\mathtt{p}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{e}^{\mathtt{p}} \mathrm{Id}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = -\frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} \mathrm{d}s - \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{p}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} \mathrm{d}s$$

We can finally write in a compact way the system satisfied by the error:

Find
$$\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$$
 and $\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{R}^{\mathtt{K}} & \forall \mathtt{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{R}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\ \mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu \mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta d_{\mathtt{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ (\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = -(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathtt{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathtt{p}}) \quad \forall \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N} \end{cases}$$

where $\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \left((\mathbf{R}^{K})_{K \in \mathfrak{M}}, (\mathbf{R}^{K^{*}})_{K^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*}} \right)$ and $\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \left(\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{D}} \right)_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}}$ with:

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{K}} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} + \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}, \qquad \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M},$$

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} + \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}, \qquad \forall \mathbf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*,$$

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} (\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}) + \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}^{ext}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} (\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}^*\mathsf{L}} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\mathsf{K}^*\mathsf{L}}), \quad \forall \mathsf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_N,$$
$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{D}} = \operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathfrak{M}^{\mathsf{D}} - \mathfrak{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u}) + u \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \mathbb{P}^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{n} - \beta d^2 \Delta^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{n} \qquad \forall \mathsf{n} \in \mathfrak{D},$$

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{D}} = \operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{p}}(\mathfrak{P}^{\mathsf{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u}) + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbb{P}^{\mathsf{D}}_{m}\mathbf{p} - \beta d_{\mathsf{p}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}\mathbf{p}, \qquad \forall \mathsf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}.$$

We define for $i \in {\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}}$:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} &= -\mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{L}}} = \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} R^{i}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s, \\ \mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} &= -\mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{L}^{*}} = \frac{1}{m_{\sigma^{*}}} \int_{\sigma^{*}} R^{i}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} \mathrm{d}s, \\ \mathbf{R}^{i}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}\mathbf{L}} &= \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}}^{x_{\mathsf{D}}} R^{i}_{\mathfrak{D}}(s) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} \mathrm{d}s, \\ \mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma} &= |\mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}| = |\mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{L}}}|, \\ \mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{*}} &= |\mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}| = |\mathbf{R}^{i}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{L}^{*}}|. \end{split}$$

We denote the L^2 norms of consistency error as follows:

$$\|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{i}\|_{2}^{2} = \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathtt{D}} |\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{i}|^{2} \quad \text{and} \quad \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{i}\|_{2}^{2} = \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathtt{D}} |\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{i}|^{2}, \quad \text{for } i \in \{\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}\}.$$

We also remark that for $\sigma = [x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}] \subset \partial \Omega$:

$$\mathbf{R}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}^{i} = \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{{}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\mathsf{L}}}^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{{}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}}^{i}, \text{ for } i \in \{\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}\}.$$

II.3.1.2 Step 2 : Estimate of $B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})$

We can now start with the estimate. Thanks to the Def. (II.2) of B, we have:

$$B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = [[\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + (\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

We note $I := [[\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $T := (\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$.

 $\frac{\text{Estimate of } I = [[\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}:}{\text{By definition, } I \text{ is:}}$

$$\begin{split} I = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} (\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} (\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \\ + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} \left(\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}} \right) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}^*}. \end{split}$$

If we reorganize the sum on diamonds, we get:

$$\begin{split} I &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot (\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}} - \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}}) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma^*} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot (\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}^*}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} m_{\sigma} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} (\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} (\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^*\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^*\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}^*} \\ &:= I_1 + I_2 + I_3 + I_4 + I_5. \end{split}$$

Remark that the boundary terms depend only on the values on Γ_N ; in fact, since we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions, if $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_D$ we have $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}} = \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}^*} = \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}^*} = 0$. We estimate separately the terms.

► Firstly from Def. (I.3.1) of the discrete gradient and secondly by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have:

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma}^{*} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot (\mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}}) \\ &= - \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}} \frac{m_{\mathsf{D}}}{\sin(\alpha_{D})} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot ((\nabla^{\mathsf{p}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathsf{KL}}) \\ &\leq C(\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})) \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2} \left(\| \mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathsf{p}} \|_{2} + \| \mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathbf{u}} \|_{2} \right). \end{split}$$

 \blacktriangleright As the previous term, from Def. (I.3.1) of the discrete gradient and then by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have:

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot (\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}) \\ &= - \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}} \frac{m_{\mathbf{D}}}{\sin(\alpha_{D})} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot ((\nabla^{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}\mathbf{L}^{*}}) \\ &\leq C(\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})) \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2} \left(\| \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathbf{p}} \|_{2} + \| \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathbf{u}} \|_{2} \right). \end{split}$$

▶ By applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and by the definitions of traces (and their norms) of Sec. I.4, we have:

$$\begin{split} I_{3} &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathrm{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathrm{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathrm{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \gamma^{\sigma} (\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \|_{2,\partial\Omega}. \end{split}$$

By applying Thm. I.9.4, we can write:

$$I_3 \leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_2.$$

▶ In the same way, by applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and by the definitions of traces (and their norms) of Sec. I.4, we have:

$$\begin{split} I_{4} &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} (\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K^{*}}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K^{*}}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \|_{2,\partial\Omega}. \end{split}$$
By applying Thm. I.9.4, we can write:

$$I_4 \leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}}|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2.$$

▶ Finally, as the previous two estimates, we have:

$$\begin{split} I_{5} &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} (\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \|_{2,\partial\Omega}. \end{split}$$

By applying Thm. I.9.4, we can write:

$$I_5 \leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^*L}}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L^*L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2.$$

Putting all together, we get the following estimate for I:

$$\begin{split} |I| &\leq C(\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})) \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left(\|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2} \right) \\ &+ C(\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})) \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \left(\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \\ &+ C(\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T})) \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \left(\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right]. \end{split}$$

Estimate of $T = (\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$:

We remark that $T = (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u}), e^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} + (\mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}\mathbf{p}, e^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} - (\beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}\mathbf{p}, e^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$, so by adding and subtracting $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u})$ and by Minkowski inequality we have:

$$\|\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u})\|_{2} \leq \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u} - \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u})\|_{2} + \|\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u})\|_{2}$$

From Corollary I.10.4 and Lemma I.10.6 we get:

$$\|\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}}\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u})\|_{2} \leq C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}}$$

Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the previous estimate gives:

$$(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}}\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u}), \mathrm{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \leq C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}}\|\mathrm{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$

By reorganizing the sum on $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{G}$ in the term $T_1 := -(\beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_m \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$ we have, as in Rem. I.7.2:

$$T_1 = -\beta \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p} = \beta \sum_{\mathfrak{s} = \mathsf{D} | \mathsf{D}' \in \mathfrak{G}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 + d_{\mathsf{D}'}^2) (\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathsf{D}'} \mathbf{p} - \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{p}) (\mathbf{e}^{\mathsf{D}'} - \mathbf{e}^{\mathsf{D}}).$$

Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the definition of the semi-norm $|\cdot|_h$ (see (I.37)) give:

$$\begin{split} |T_1| &\leq \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathfrak{G}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 + d_{\mathsf{D}'}^2) (\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathsf{D}'}\mathsf{p} - \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathsf{D}}\mathsf{p})^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathfrak{G}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 + d_{\mathsf{D}'}^2) (\mathbf{e}^{\mathsf{D}'} - \mathbf{e}^{\mathsf{D}})^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq 2\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\beta |\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_h \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathfrak{G}} (\mathbb{P}_m^{\mathsf{D}'}\mathsf{p} - \mathbb{P}_m^{\mathsf{D}}\mathsf{p})^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Lemma I.7.3 and Lemma I.10.8 lead to:

$$|T_1| \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \| \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2 \| \nabla \mathbf{p} \|_2.$$

Then, Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and Lemma I.10.9 give:

$$(\mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m} \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \leq C \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \| \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_{2} \| \mathbf{p} \|_{H^{1}}.$$

We recall that $T = (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u}), \mathrm{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} + (\mu\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}\mathrm{p}, \mathrm{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} + T_{1}$, so we can write:

$$|T| \leq C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \| e^{\mathfrak{D}} \|_2 (\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^2} + \|\mathbf{p}\|_{H^1})$$

Estimate of $B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})$:

By gathering all the estimates on I and T we get:

$$\begin{aligned} |B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})| &\leq |I| + |T| \\ &\leq C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left(\|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2} \right) \\ &+ C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \left(\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{K^{*}L}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \\ &+ C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} \left(\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L^{*}L}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \\ &+ C \mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} (\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}} + \|\mathbf{p}\|_{H^{1}}). \end{aligned} \tag{II.9}$$

As in Prop. II.2.1, equivalently to (II.4) the following equality holds:

$$B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} - \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot (\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}^{\mathrm{p}}),$$

from which we deduce:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ \leq |B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})| + \left|\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}})\cdot(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{\mathfrak{K}}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{\mathfrak{K}}}^{\mathbf{p}})\right|. \end{split}$$

By applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ \leq |B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})| + \left(\sum_{D_{\sigma,\sigma*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathbf{p}})^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{D_{\sigma,\sigma*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}(\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Thm. I.9.4 and Minkowsky inequality, we can write:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ \leq |B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}})| + C \bigg[\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathsf{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathsf{p}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg] \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}. \end{aligned}$$

By replacing the estimates obtained in (II.9), we get:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ &\leq C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left(\|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2}\right) \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \bigg[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{k}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{k}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \bigg[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg] \\ &+ C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} (\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}} + \|\mathbf{p}\|_{H^{1}}) \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \bigg[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg]. \end{split}$$

It remains to show the estimates for the consistency errors.

II.3.1.3 Step 3 : Consistency errors

First, we remark that the consistency error for the velocity can be decomposed into three contributions $R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}$, $R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}$ and $R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},bd}$ that come from, respectively, the error due to the flux approximation, to the gradient approximation and the boundary data approximation:

$$R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u}}(z) = R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(z) + R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}} + R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},bd},$$

where, for $z \in D$,

$$\begin{split} R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(z) &= \nabla \mathbf{u}(z) - \frac{1}{m_{\mathfrak{p}}} \int_{\mathfrak{D}} \nabla \mathbf{u}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \\ R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathfrak{p}}} \int_{\mathfrak{D}} (\nabla \mathbf{u}(x) - \nabla^{\mathfrak{p}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{r}} \mathbf{u}) \mathrm{d}x, \\ R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},bd} &= \nabla^{\mathfrak{p}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{r}} \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{r}} \mathbf{u}. \end{split}$$

We now estimate all the consistency errors, by stating every result in the form of a lemma. For the first two lemmas, we just give the statement, since they have been proven in [Kre10]; we detail only the proofs of the new results.

Lemma II.3.2 ([Kre10], Lemma V.8) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all $\mathbf{u} \in (H^2(\Omega))^2$

$$\|\boldsymbol{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma}\|_{2} + \|\boldsymbol{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma^{*}}\|_{2} \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|\nabla \mathbf{u}\|_{H^{1}}.$$

Lemma II.3.3 ([Kre10], Lemma V.10) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all $\mathbf{u} \in H^1(\Omega)$:

$$\|\boldsymbol{R}_{\sigma}^{p}\|_{2} + \|\boldsymbol{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{p}\|_{2} \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})\|\nabla p\|_{2}$$

The following result estimates boundary terms on Γ_N .

Lemma II.3.4 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω .

There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ and $m(\Gamma_N)$, such that for all $\mathbf{u} \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2$:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{K^*L}}|^2 + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{L^*L}}|^2 \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})^2\|\mathbf{u}\|^2_{W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}$$

Proof By definition, we can write:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{u}} &= \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{x_{\mathbf{k}^{*}}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}} R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u}}(s) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{x_{\mathbf{k}^{*}}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}} (R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s) + R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{u,Du} + R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},bd}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Now, it's important to notice that $R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},bd} = 0 \quad \forall \mathfrak{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int} \cup (\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N)$. So we are left only with the terms depending on $R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s), R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}$.

By applying Jensen's inequality and convexity we get:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{x}^{*_{\mathsf{L}}}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^2 &= \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} \left| \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{x_{\mathsf{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathsf{L}}} (R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s) + R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \mathrm{d}s \right|^2 \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \int_{x_{\mathsf{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathsf{L}}} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s) + R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}|^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq 2 \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \int_{x_{\mathsf{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathsf{L}}} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}|^2 \Big). \end{split}$$

We estimate separately the terms.

► By Jensen's inequality:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}}|R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s)|^2\mathrm{d}s = \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}}\left|\frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{D}}}\int_{\mathbf{D}}(\nabla\mathbf{u}(s)-\nabla\mathbf{u}(z))\mathrm{d}z\right|^2\mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}\frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{D}}}\int_{\mathbf{D}}|\nabla\mathbf{u}(s)-\nabla\mathbf{u}(z)|^2\mathrm{d}z\,\mathrm{d}s.$$

By [Kre10, Lemma I.12] and the fact that $\operatorname{diam}(\mathfrak{b} \cup \widehat{[x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\tt L}]}) \leq C d_{\tt D}$

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \int_{x_{\mathbf{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{C d_{\mathbf{D}}^3}{m_{\mathbf{D}}} \int_{\widehat{\mathbf{D}}} |\nabla^2 \mathbf{u}(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s,$$

and since we are on the boundary, D is a triangle (see Fig. I.3): so $\hat{D} = D$. This implies:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{x_{\mathbf{k}^*}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}}|R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s)|^2\mathrm{d}s \leq C\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{\mathbf{D}}|\nabla^2\mathbf{u}(s)|^2\mathrm{d}s.$$

By the regularity of ${\bf u}$ and the fact that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} m_{\mathsf{D}} \le \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) m(\Gamma_N), \tag{II.10}$$

we conclude:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{x_{\mathtt{K}^*}}^{x_{\mathtt{L}}}|R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},\eta}(s)|^2\mathrm{d}s\leq C\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})^2m(\Gamma_N)\|\mathbf{u}\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}^2$$

▶ By Jensen's inequality:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}|^2 &= \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} \Big| \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\mathsf{D}} (\nabla \mathbf{u}(z) - \nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}) \mathrm{d}z \Big|^2 \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2 m_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\mathsf{D}} |\nabla \mathbf{u}(z) - \nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}|^2 \mathrm{d}z. \end{split}$$

By [Kre10, Lemma I.13]:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}|^2 \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{C d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 m_{\sigma}}{m_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\widehat{\mathsf{D}}} |\nabla^2 \mathbf{u}(z)|^2 \mathrm{d}z$$

and since we are on the boundary, D is a triangle: so $\widehat{D}=D.$ This implies:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}|^2 \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \int_{\mathbf{D}} |\nabla^2 \mathbf{u}(z)|^2 \mathrm{d}z.$$
(II.11)

By the regularity of \mathbf{u} and (II.10) : we conclude:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{u},D\mathbf{u}}|^2 \leq C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})^2 m(\Gamma_N) \|\mathbf{u}\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}^2.$$

We can conclude by putting all the terms together.

We proceed in the same way to estimate the term $\sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_\sigma}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathtt{L}^{*}\mathtt{L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^2~.$

Remark II.3.5 Remark that we obtained an estimate of order
$$size(\mathfrak{T})^2$$
 thanks to the regularity $\mathbf{u} \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2$; otherwise, from (II.11), we would have obtained an estimate of order $size(\mathfrak{T})$ if $\mathbf{u} \in (H^2(\mathfrak{D}))^2$.

The following result is obtained by replacing in the previous proof $[x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\scriptscriptstyle L}]$ by σ .

Lemma II.3.6 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all $\mathbf{u} \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2$:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma\mathbf{x}}|^2 \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})^2\|\mathbf{u}\|^2_{W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}.$$

Lemma II.3.7 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all $p \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$:

$$\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\boldsymbol{R}^p_{{}_{\mathsf{K}^*\mathsf{L}}}|^2+\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\boldsymbol{R}^p_{{}_{\mathsf{L}^*\mathsf{L}}}|^2\right)\leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})^2\|p\|^2_{W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}$$

Proof By definition, we can write:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{p}}_{\mathbf{K^*L}}|^2 = \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}\left|\frac{2}{m_{\sigma}}\int_{x_{\mathbf{K^*}}}^{x_{\mathbf{L}}}R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathrm{p}}(s)\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}\mathrm{d}s\right|^2.$$

By Lemma I.10.1:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^2 &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} C h_{\mathbf{D}} \int_{\mathbf{D}} |||\nabla (R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{p}}(z) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}|||_{\mathcal{F}}^2 \mathrm{d}z \\ &+ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{C}{h_{\mathbf{D}}} \int_{\mathbf{D}} |R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{p}}(z) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}|^2 \mathrm{d}z. \end{split}$$

We apply now the definition of $R_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\mathbf{p}}(z)$ to get:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{K}^*\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^2 \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} C h_{\mathbf{D}} \int_{\mathbf{D}} |\nabla \mathbf{p}(z)|^2 dz + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \frac{C}{h_{\mathbf{D}}} \int_{\mathbf{D}} |\mathbb{P}_m^D \mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}(z)|^2 dz.$$

We estimate separately the terms.

 \blacktriangleright By regularity of p and (II.10) we have:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} C\,h_{\mathbf{D}}\int_{\mathbf{D}}|\nabla\mathbf{p}(z)|^2\mathrm{d} z &\leq C\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\int_{\mathbf{D}}|\nabla\mathbf{p}(z)|^2\mathrm{d} z\\ &\leq C\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})^2m(\Gamma_N)\|\mathbf{p}\|^2_{W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}. \end{split}$$

▶ By Lemma I.10.9 and the regularity of p:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{C}{h_{\mathsf{D}}}\int_{\mathsf{D}}|\mathbb{P}_m^D\mathbf{p}-\mathbf{p}(z)|^2\mathrm{d} z\leq\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{C}{h_{\mathsf{D}}}\mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})^2\int_{\mathsf{D}}|\nabla\mathbf{p}(z)|^2\mathrm{d} z$$

Again by regularity of p, we have:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{C}{h_{\mathbf{D}}} \int_{\mathbf{D}} |\mathbb{P}_m^D \mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}(z)|^2 \mathrm{d}z \le C \mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})^2 \|\mathbf{p}\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}^2 \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{m_{\mathbf{D}}}{h_{\mathbf{D}}}.$$

Finally, since $\frac{m_{\rm D}}{h_{\rm D}} \leq \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}$, we conclude:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} \frac{C}{h_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\mathsf{D}} |\mathbb{P}_m^D \mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}(z)|^2 \mathrm{d}z \le C \operatorname{m}(\Gamma_N) \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})^2 ||\mathbf{p}||_{W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}^2$$

We can conclude by putting all the terms together.

We proceed in the same way to estimate the term $\sum_{\mathbb{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{p}}_{\mathtt{L^*L}}|^2 \ .$

The following result is obtained by replacing in the previous proof $[x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\scriptscriptstyle L}]$ by σ .

Lemma II.3.8 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on $reg(\mathfrak{T})$, such that for all $p \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{R}^p_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}|^2 \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T})^2 ||p||^2_{W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})}.$$

II.3.1.4 Step 4 : Conclusion

We recall that $\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} = (\mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in ((\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}} \text{ and } e^{\mathfrak{D}} = \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ and that we obtained the following inequality:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \\ &\leq C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\left(\|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{p}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{u}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{p}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{u}\|_{2}\right) \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{k}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{u}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{k}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{p}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{u}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}\mathsf{L}}^{p}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}(\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}} + \|\mathbf{p}\|_{H^{1}}) \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\left[\left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{u}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{p}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right]. \end{split}$$

Lemmas II.3.2, II.3.3, II.3.4, II.3.6, II.3.7, II.3.8 and the fact that $\beta |e^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \geq 0$ imply:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + C\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$$

We apply Young's inequality to obtain:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \quad \text{and} \quad \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \le C. \tag{II.12}$$

Estimate of $\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2$:

By using discrete Poincaré inequality, we find:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} &\leq \|\mathbf{u} - \mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \\ &\leq \|\mathbf{u} - \mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}. \end{aligned}$$

By [Kre10, Lemma I.18], we have:

$$\|\mathbf{u} - \mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{r}} \mathbf{u}\|_{2}^{2} \leq \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\tau} \mathbf{u}\|_{2}^{2} + \|u - \mathbb{P}_{m}^{\tau} \mathbf{u}\|_{2}^{2}$$

and if we apply Lemma I.10.7, it gives:

$$\|\mathbf{u} - \mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathrm{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}).$$

So we have:

$$\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le C(\operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}).$$
(II.13)

Thus, if we apply estimate (II.12) we finally obtain:

$$\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

 $\frac{\text{Estimate of } \|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}}{\text{We can decompose it in:}}$

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} &\leq \|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{D}}_{c} \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{T}}_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathfrak{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathfrak{P}^{\mathrm{T}}_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}. \end{split}$$

By Lemma I.10.2 and Lemma I.10.6, we have:

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathfrak{P}_{m,g}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}\|_{2} \leq Csize(\mathfrak{T}),$$

so that :

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T}) + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}.$$
(II.14)

By estimate II.12, we conclude:

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

II.3.2 Stability of the DDFV scheme

In order to improve the error estimate, we prove the stability result for the scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$. This result has been proven in the case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions in [Kre10], here the difficulty relies in taking into account the boundary Γ_N .

Theorem II.3.9 Suppose that $\beta > 0$. There exist two constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$, depending only on Ω, β and $reg(\tau)$, such that for every couple $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{r}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ with

$$(-\nabla^{\mathtt{d}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{d}}Id)\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{k}} = \Phi_{\sigma} \quad \forall \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}$$

there exist $\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and $\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \le C_{1}(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2}),$$
(II.15)

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C_{2} \left(B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) + \left| \sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \Phi_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\widetilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\tau}) \right| + \|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2}^{2} \right). \quad (\text{II.16})$$

 $\mathbf{Proof} \ \ \mathrm{Let} \ (\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \ \mathrm{with}$

$$(-\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathtt{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} \quad \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N.$$

The proof consists into building explicitly $(\tilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\tau}, \tilde{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that relations (II.15)-(II.16) are true.

Step 1: As in the proof of Prop. II.2.1, we apply discrete Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) to the bilinear form B, defined in (II.2). We obtain:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \mu \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} - \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \Phi_{\sigma} \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$
(II.17)

▶ Step 2: We apply Lemma I.6.3 to the function $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathbb{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} p^{\mathbb{D}} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{D}} \in L^2(\Omega)$. So there exists C > 0 depending only on Ω , $\mathbf{v} \in (H^1_{\Gamma_D}(\Omega))^2$ such that (mind the sign):

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) = -p^{\mathfrak{D}}$$
$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^{1}} \leq C \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$
(II.18)

We set $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbb{P}_m^{\tau} \mathbf{v}$. In particular, $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$. We apply Lemma I.10.5 to obtain:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le C \|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^{1}} \le C \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$
 (II.19)

▶ Step 3: Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) implies:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, 0) = (\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} : \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} - (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} - \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \Phi_{\sigma} \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$

We pass the boundary term on the left hand side. Then, by applying Cauchy-Scwharz inequality and adding and subtracting the term $\sum_{D \in \mathfrak{D}} \int_{D} p^{D}(\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}(z)) dz)$, we end up with:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{B}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},0) &+ \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\Phi_{\sigma}\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \geq -\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \\ &- \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathrm{div}(\mathbf{v}(z))\mathrm{d}z - \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathrm{div}(\mathbf{v}(z)))\mathrm{d}z. \end{split}$$

Thanks to (II.18), we get:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},0) + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma}*\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\cdot\Phi_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \geq -C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \\ &+ \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} - \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}}(\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}(z)))\mathrm{d}z. \end{split}$$

We need the following estimate:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{\mathsf{D}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})-\mathrm{div}(\mathbf{v}(z)))\mathrm{d} z \leq C(|\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}+\|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2}+\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2})\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^{1}}$$

Let us assume temporary that this statement holds (it will be proven in Lemma II.3.10 below), then we can write:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},0) + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma}^{*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\Phi_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \geq -C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \\ + \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} - C(|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h} + \|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2} + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2})\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^{1}}. \end{split}$$

Using (II.18), we get:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},0) &+ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\Phi_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \geq -C \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \\ &+ \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} - C(|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h} + \|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2} + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Young's inequality (Lemma I.11.1), we get the existence of four constants $C_1, C_2, C_3, C_4 > 0$ that depend only on Ω and reg (\mathfrak{T}) , such that:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, 0) + \sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma}^{*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \Phi_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \geq C_{1} \|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} - C_{2} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} - C_{3} |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} - C_{4} \|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2}^{2}.$$
(II.20)

Step 3: The bilinearity of *B*, inequality (II.20) and (II.17) give, for all $\xi > 0$:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}};\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\xi\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) + \left|\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\Phi_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\xi\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})\right| + \xi C_{4}\|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2} \geq \\ (1-\xi C_{2})\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \xi C_{1}\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} + (\beta-\xi C_{3})\|\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{h}^{2}. \end{split}$$

We choose the value of $\xi > 0$ sufficiently small (that depends only on C_2 , β and C_3) such that all the constants in front of the norms are strictly positive. In this way we find (II.16). To recover inequality (II.15), it's sufficient to consider $\tilde{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \xi \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\tilde{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = p^{\mathfrak{D}}$; since $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2 \leq C \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_2$, we can conclude.

The following lemma is an extension of the result proved in [[Kre10], Lemma IV.25]. The difference is in the space in which the function \mathbf{v} belongs: we consider the case in which $\mathbf{v} \in H^1_{\Gamma_D}(\Omega)$ instead of $\mathbf{v} \in H^1_0(\Omega)$.

Lemma II.3.10 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . There exists a constant C > 0, that depends only on reg(\mathfrak{T}), such that for all $\boldsymbol{v} \in (H^1_{\Gamma_D}(\Omega))^2$ and for every couple $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$

with

$$(-\nabla^{\mathtt{p}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{p}}Id)\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} \quad \forall \mathtt{p}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}, \tag{II.21}$$

we have:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{\mathsf{D}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathsf{p}}(\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})-\operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v}(z)))dz \leq C(|\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}+\|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2}+\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2})\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}},$$

with $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbb{P}_m^{\tau} \boldsymbol{v}$ is the average projection of \mathbf{v} on the mesh \mathfrak{T} , defined in Sec. I.2.

Proof The set \mathfrak{D} can be split into interior and exterior diamonds: $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{D}_{int} \cup \mathfrak{D}_{ext}$. From [[Kre10], Lemma IV.25] we have:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{int}}\int_{\mathsf{D}}\mathrm{p}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathtt{T}})-\mathrm{div}(\mathbf{v}(z)))\mathrm{d} z \leq C|\mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}\|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^{1}}.$$

So, we focus on diamonds $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}$. In particular, the only terms that are non zero are on $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N$, since $\mathbf{v} \in (H^1_{\Gamma_D}(\Omega))^2$. Thanks to the divergence formula (I.3.5) we can write:

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}} (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}(z))) \mathrm{d}z = \sum_{\mathfrak{s}=[x_{\mathbb{K}}, x_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}] \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}} \frac{1}{m_{\mathfrak{s}}} \int_{\mathfrak{s}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathbb{K}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}{2} - \mathbf{v}(z) \right) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathbb{D}} \mathrm{d}z + \int_{x_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}^{x_{\mathbb{L}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathbb{L}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbb{K}^{*}}}{2} - \mathbf{v}(z) \right) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbb{K}} \mathrm{d}z + \int_{x_{\mathbb{L}}}^{x_{\mathbb{L}^{*}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathbb{L}^{*}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbb{L}}}{2} - \mathbf{v}(z) \right) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbb{K}} \mathrm{d}z.$$
(II.22)

We define:

$$\begin{split} R_{\rm div}^{\mathfrak{s}}(\mathbf{v}) &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathfrak{s}}} \int_{\mathfrak{s}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{K}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{K}^{\ast}}}{2} - \mathbf{v}(z) \right) \mathrm{d}z \\ R_{\rm div}^{\mathrm{K}^{\ast}}(\mathbf{v}) &= \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{x_{\mathrm{K}^{\ast}}}^{x_{\mathrm{L}}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{L}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{K}^{\ast}}}{2} - \mathbf{v}(z) \right) \mathrm{d}z \\ R_{\rm div}^{\mathrm{L}^{\ast}}(\mathbf{v}) &= \frac{2}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{x_{\mathrm{L}}}^{x_{\mathrm{L}^{\ast}}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{L}^{\ast}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{L}}}{2} - \mathbf{v}(z) \right) \mathrm{d}z. \end{split}$$

So, if in (II.22) we multiply by p^{D} and we sum over $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}$:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \int_{\mathbf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}}(\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}(z))) \mathrm{d}z &= \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}} \sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}} R_{\operatorname{div}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathbf{D}} \\ &+ \sum_{D\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} R_{\operatorname{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^*}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} \\ &+ \sum_{D\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} R_{\operatorname{div}}^{\mathbf{L}^*}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}. \end{split}$$

The first term $\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} p^{\mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}} R^{\mathfrak{s}}_{\operatorname{div}}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{d}}$ contains only interior edges \mathfrak{s} of the diamonds, so we refer to the proof [[Kre10], Lemma IV.25].

We consider then the other two terms. In particular, we prove the result just for $R_{\text{div}}^{K^*}(\mathbf{v})$, since it is equivalent for $R_{\text{div}}^{L^*}(\mathbf{v})$. We recall that $m_{\text{D}} = \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma^*}\sin(\alpha)$. We apply Neumann boundary conditions (II.21) and CauchySchwarz inequality to obtain:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{v}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} &\leq C \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\mathbf{D}} |\Phi_{\sigma}|^{2} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} |R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{v})|^{2} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\mathbf{D}} |\nabla^{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}|^{2} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} |R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{v})|^{2} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq C (\|\Phi_{\sigma}\|_{2}) \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} |R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{v})|^{2} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C (\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}) \Big(\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} |R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{v})|^{2} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

To conclude, we need to prove that $\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N} |R_{\operatorname{div}}^{\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{v})|^2 \leq C \|\mathbf{v}\|_{H^1}$. Notice that, if we call the segment $[x_{\mathsf{K}^*}, x_{\mathsf{L}}] = \sigma_1$ and if we define

$$\mathbf{v}_{\sigma_1} := \frac{1}{m_{\sigma_1}} \int_{\sigma_1} \mathbf{v}(y) \mathrm{d}y,$$

we can write by the definition of $R_{\text{div}}^{K^*}(\mathbf{v})$:

$$|R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{v})|^2 \le 2\left(|\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}^*} - \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_1}|^2 + 2|\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}} - \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_1}|^2\right).$$

If we denote $\mathbf{v} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{v}^1 \\ \mathbf{v}^2 \end{pmatrix}$, we can work componentwise. For i = 1, 2, each term on the right hand side can be controlled by:

$$|\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^i - \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_1}^i|^2 \le 2 \left| \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^i - \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{v}^i(x) \mathrm{d}x \right|^2 + \left| \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{v}^i(x) \mathrm{d}x - \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_1}^i \right|^2.$$

By definition, both $v_{K^*}^i$ and $v_{\sigma_1}^i$ are averages of v^i on a segment and $\frac{1}{m_{K^*}} \int_{K^*} v^i(x) dx$ is an average over a bounded polygonal domain. We can thus apply [[ABH07], Lemma 3.4] and deduce:

$$|\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^i - \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_1}^i|^2 \le C \int_{\widehat{\mathbf{K}^*}} |\nabla \mathbf{v}^i(z)|^2 \mathrm{d}z$$

We obtain for i = 1, 2:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_N}|R_{\mathrm{div}}^{\mathbf{K}^*}(\mathbf{v}^i)|^2\leq C\int_{\Omega}|\nabla\mathbf{v}^i(z)|^2\mathrm{d}z.$$

that by summing over i, gives us the desired result.

II.3.3 Optimal error estimate

We improve the result of Thm. II.3.1 by applying the stability result of Thm. II.3.9; remark that to apply this result it is necessary to suppose $\beta > 0$.

Theorem II.3.11 We suppose that the solution of (II.1) satisfies $(\mathbf{u}, p) \in (W^{2,\infty}(\mathfrak{D}))^2 \times W^{1,\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$. Let $\beta > 0$ and $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ be the solution of $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 that depends on $\operatorname{reg}(\mathfrak{T}), \mu, \beta, \|\mathbf{u}\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$ and $\|p\|_{W^{1,\infty}}$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} &\leq Csize(\mathfrak{T}), \\ \|p - p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} &\leq Csize(\mathfrak{T}). \end{aligned}$$

Proof We proceed exactly as in Thm. II.3.1 by defining the errors $\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} = (\mathfrak{P}^{\mathbb{D}}_{m,g}\mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c}\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}$, the error for the velocity field, and $e^{\mathfrak{D}} = \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m}p - p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, the error for the pressure field. We recall that they satisfy the following system:

$$\begin{split} & \text{Find } \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}} \text{ and } \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \text{ such that:} \\ & \mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{R}^{\mathtt{K}} \qquad \forall \mathtt{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ & \mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{R}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}} \qquad \forall \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\ & \mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \mu \mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} - \beta d_{\mathtt{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ & (-\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id}) \mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathtt{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathtt{p}} \quad \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N} \end{split}$$

where $\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \left((\mathbf{R}^{K})_{K \in \mathfrak{M}}, (\mathbf{R}^{K^{*}})_{K^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*}} \right)$ and $\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \left(\mathbf{R}^{D} \right)_{D \in \mathfrak{D}}$ with:

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{K}} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} + \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}, \qquad \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M},$$

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{K}^{*}} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} + \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}, \qquad \forall \mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*},$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{K}^*} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} (\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}) + \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}^{ext}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} \left(\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}^*\mathsf{L}} + \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\mathsf{K}^*\mathsf{L}} \right), \quad \forall \mathsf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_N, \\ \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{D}} &= \operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathfrak{P}^{\mathsf{D}}_{m,g} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{T}}_{c} \mathbf{u}) + \mu \operatorname{size}(\mathfrak{T}) \mathbb{P}^{\mathsf{D}}_{m} \mathrm{p} - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbb{P}^{\mathfrak{D}}_{m} \mathrm{p}, \qquad \forall \mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}. \end{split}$$

Thm. II.3.9 implies that there exist $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \le C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2}), \tag{II.23}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq C\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}};\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}},\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \\ &+ C \bigg| \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma}^{*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \bigg| + C \|(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}})\|_{2,\Gamma_{N}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Thus, by applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and trace theorem (Thm. I.9.4), we can write:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq CB(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}};\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}},\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \\ &+ C\left(\sum_{\mathbb{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathbf{p}})^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbb{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}(\gamma^{\sigma}(\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C\sum_{\mathbb{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} + C\sum_{\mathbb{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^{2} \end{split}$$

$$\leq CB(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}}) + C\left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}(\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}})^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}$$
$$+ C\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} + C\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^{2}.$$

Thanks to the definition of B we have $B(\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \tilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \tilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = [[\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \tilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\tau} + (\mathbf{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \tilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}} =: \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{T}$ and by proceeding as in the proof of Thm. II.3.1 we get:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \left(\|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{p}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathrm{u}}\|_{2}\right) \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \bigg[\bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \bigg[\bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} \frac{m_{\sigma}}{2} |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg] \\ &+ C \mathrm{size}(\mathfrak{T})\|\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} (\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}} + \|\mathbf{p}\|_{H^{1}}) \\ &+ C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \bigg[\bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bigg] \\ &+ C\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{u}}|^{2} + C\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{p}}|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Now we use relation (II.23) to get:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2})\left[\left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}|}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathbf{u}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma^{*}}^{\mathbf{u}}\|_{2}\right) \\ &+ C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2})\left[\left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2})\left[\left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2})\left[\left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] \\ &+ C(\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2})\left[\left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] \\ &+ C\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{u}}|^{2} + C\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}}m_{\sigma}|\mathbf{R}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{\mathbf{p}}|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Lemmas II.3.2, II.3.3, II.3.4, II.3.6, II.3.7, II.3.8 imply:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{e}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}^{2} \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})^{2}.$$
 (II.24)

Estimate of $\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2$ and $\|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2$:

If we apply the estimate (II.24) (different from (II.12) in Thm. II.3.1) to (II.13) and (II.14), we obtain:

$$\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T}).$$
$$\|\nabla \mathbf{u} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \le C \text{size}(\mathfrak{T})$$

 $\frac{\text{Estimate of } \|\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}}{\text{We have:}}$

$$\|\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2} \le \|\mathbf{p} - \mathbb{P}_{m}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p}\|_{2} + \|\mathbb{P}_{m}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}.$$

We conclude thanks to Lemma I.10.9 and the estimate (II.24).

II.4 Numerical results

We validate the scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$ by showing some numerical experiments. The computational domain is $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$. The configuration of the boundaries is illustrated in Fig. II.2.



Fig. II.2 $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$, Dirichlet boundary conditions on Γ_D , Neumann boundary conditions on Γ_N .

We study the error in the case of unstabilized and stabilized mass equation (i.e. with a linear stabilization, $\mu > 0$, or Brezzi-Pitkaranta type stabilization, $\beta > 0$). In the following discussion, we show how we obtain the expected convergence rates and how the stabilization terms do not influence the result.

For those tests we give the expression of the exact solution (\mathbf{u}, p) , from which we deduce the source term **f**, the Dirichlet boundary condition **g** and the Neumann boundary condition Φ for which (\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) is solution of (II.1). We will compare the L^2 -norm of the error for the velocity (denoted Ervel), the velocity gradient (Ergradvel) and the pressure (Erpre). In particular we denote:

$$\operatorname{Ergradvel} = \frac{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u}) - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}}{\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u})\|_{2}}, \quad \operatorname{Erpre} = \frac{\|\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{D}}p - p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}}{\|\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{D}}p\|_{2}}, \quad \operatorname{Ervel} = \frac{\|\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}}{\|\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u}\|_{2}}, \quad (\operatorname{II}.25)$$

where $\mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}$ and $\mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}$ are the centered projections of \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{p} .

On Tables III.1 -II.6 we give the number of primal cells (NbCell) and the convergence rates (Ratio). We remark that, to discuss the error estimates, a family of meshes (Fig. II.3) is obtained by refining successively and uniformly the original mesh.

Fig. II.3 Family of meshes. On the *left*: non conformal square mesh. On the *right*: quadrangle-triangle mesh.





Green-Taylor vortices: In this test case, the exact solution is given by:

$$\mathbf{u}(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}\sin(2\pi x)\cos(2\pi y), \\ -\frac{1}{2}\cos(2\pi x)\sin(2\pi y) \end{pmatrix} \quad \mathbf{p}(x,y) = \frac{1}{8}\cos(2\pi x)\sin(2\pi y).$$
(II.26)

In this example, we show the results obtained using the non conformal square mesh of Fig. II.3; many other meshes were tested and the geometry of the mesh did not influence the accuracy of the approximation. As we can see in Tables II.1, II.2, II.3, we observe super convergence in L^2 norm of the velocity; instead, for the H^1 norm of the velocity and for the L^2 norm of the pressure we get exactly what was expected from Thm. II.3.11. As we mentioned before, an important remark is that the order of convergence does not change whether or not a stabilization is present and this has been observed in all the tests; it is sufficient to compare Tables II.1, II.2, II.3. This underlines the fact that the stabilization term is just a useful tool for the proofs of Theorems II.2.2 and II.3.11, but in practice it does not affect the results. Moreover, we tested the unstabilized scheme on other meshes for which we are not able to prove well-posedness because of their geometry and we numerically observed good behaviour. Remark also that the mesh in this example is non conformal.

Table II.1 Green-Taylor vortices on the non conformal square mesh of Fig. III.3, with $\mu = 0, \beta = 0$.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	6.693E-02	-	9.762 E- 02	-	1.179E + 00	-
208	1.665E-02	2.00	4.485 E-02	1.12	5.621E-01	1.07
736	4.173E-03	1.99	2.167 E-02	1.05	2.770E-01	1.02
2752	1.045E-03	1.99	1.068E-02	1.02	1.380E-01	1.00
10624	2.615E-04	1.99	5.304 E-03	1.01	6.895E-02	1.00

Table II.2 Green-Taylor vortices on the non conformal square mesh of Fig. III.3, with $\mu = 10^{-2}$, $\beta = 0$.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	6.695E-02	-	9.769E-02	-	1.175E + 00	-
208	1.665E-02	2.00	4.487 E-02	1.12	5.612E-01	1.06
736	4.173E-03	1.99	2.167 E-02	1.05	2.767 E-01	1.02
2752	1.045E-03	1.99	1.068E-02	1.02	1.379E-01	1.00
10624	2.614E-04	1.99	5.305E-03	1.00	6.894 E-02	1.00

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	6.970E-02	-	1.080E-01	-	6.979E-01	-
208	1.719E-02	2.01	5.031E-02	1.10	3.189E-01	1.13
736	4.305E-03	1.99	2.447 E-02	1.04	1.528E-01	1.06
2752	1.079E-03	1.99	1.210E-02	1.01	7.498E-02	1.02
10624	2.700 E-04	1.99	6.021 E-03	1.00	3.717E-02	1.01

Table II.3 Green-Taylor vortices on the non conformal square mesh of Fig. III.3, with $\mu = 0, \beta = 10^{-2}$.

Polynomial solutions: The exact solution is given by

$$\mathbf{u}(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} 2000(x^4 - 2x^3 + x^2)(2y^2 - 3y^2 + y), \\ -2000(y^4 - 2y^3 + y^2)(2x^3 - 3x^2 + x) \end{pmatrix} \quad \mathbf{p}(x,y) = x^2 + y^2 - 1.$$
(II.27)

In this example we use the quadrangle mesh on the right of Fig. II.3. Remark that, for this mesh, the well-posedness of the unstabilized scheme has not been proven. However, we numerically observe that the scheme is invertible and, in Tables II.4, II.5, II.6, we observe (as in the previous test case) super convergence in L^2 norm of the velocity and the expected rate for the gradient of the velocity and for the pressure. The order of convergence does not change if we work with or without stabilization. As in the previous case, we tested our schemes on different general meshes, and every time we got good results.

Table II.4 Polynomial solutions on the quadrangle-triangle mesh of Fig. III.3, with $\mu = 0, \beta = 0$.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
400	5.081E-02	-	6.309E-02	-	5.450E + 00	-
1536	1.284 E-02	1.98	2.796E-02	1.17	2.643E + 00	1.04
6016	3.225E-03	1.99	1.346E-02	1.05	1.307E + 00	1.01
23808	8.078E-04	1.99	6.660 E-03	1.01	6.517 E-01	1.00
94720	2.022E-04	1.99	3.320E-03	1.00	3.256E-01	1.00

Table II.5 Polynomial solutions on the quadrangle-triangle mesh of Fig. III.3, with $\mu = 10^{-2}, \beta = 0$.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
400	$5.080 \text{E}{-}02$	-	6.312E-02	-	5.443E + 00	-
1536	1.284E-02	1.98	2.797 E-02	1.17	2.641E + 00	1.04
6016	3.224E-03	1.99	1.346E-02	1.05	1.307E + 00	1.01
23808	8.079 E-04	1.99	6.660 E- 03	1.01	6.516E-01	1.00
94720	2.022E-04	1.99	3.320E-03	1.00	3.256E-01	1.00

II.5 Extension to the Divergence form

In this section, we would like to discuss the extension of the work done for the Laplace form of the Stokes problem (II.1) to the Divergence form:

$$\begin{cases}
-\operatorname{div}(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})) = \mathbf{f} & \text{in} & \Omega, \\
\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in} & \Omega, \\
\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g} & \text{on} & \Gamma_D, \\
\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})\mathbf{\vec{n}} = \Phi & \text{on} & \Gamma_N,
\end{cases}$$
(II.28)

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
400	4.580 E-02	-	7.500E-02	-	3.045E + 00	-
1536	1.152 E-02	1.99	3.436E-02	1.12	1.434E + 00	1.08
6016	2.887 E-03	1.99	1.673E-02	1.03	7.051E-01	1.02
23808	7.230E-04	1.99	8.302E-03	1.01	3.510E-01	1.00
94720	1.809E-04	1.99	4.142 E-03	1.00	1.753E-01	1.00

Table II.6 Polynomial solutions on the quadrangle-triangle mesh of Fig. III.3, with $\mu = 0, \beta = 10^{-2}$.

where the unknowns are the velocity $\mathbf{u} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^2$ and the pressure $\mathbf{p} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$. The data are $\mathbf{f} \in (L^2(\Omega))^2$, $\Phi, \mathbf{g} \in (H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\partial \Omega))^2$ and $\mathbf{\vec{n}}$ is the unitary outer normal. The stress tensor is $\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) = \frac{2}{\text{Re}} \mathbf{D}\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{p}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{d}$, with Re > 0. In particular, the strain rate tensor is defined by the symmetric part of the velocity gradient $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{u} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \mathbf{u} + t \nabla \mathbf{u})$.

We will consider an open bounded polygonal domain Ω of \mathbb{R}^2 with $\partial \Omega = \Gamma_D \cup \Gamma_N$, where $\Gamma_D \neq \emptyset$ is the fraction of domain with Dirichlet boundary conditions, $\Gamma_N \neq \emptyset$ is the fraction is the one with Neumann boundary conditions.

The DDFV discretization of (II.28) and the properties of the resulting scheme come as a natural extension of the results for $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$. This is due to the results proved in Sec. I.8, that relate the discrete strain rate tensor with the discrete gradient.

To obtain our scheme, we integrate the momentum equation over all $\mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_N$. We impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_D$ and Neumann boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_N$ (see Fig. II.1). The incompressibility constraint is directly approximated on the diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} . We remark that, since Korn's inequality (Thm. I.8.2) is proved under the assumption that the mesh satisfies inf-sup stability (see Sec. I.6), it is not interesting to stabilize this equation (as we did for $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$).

The scheme reads:

Find
$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{m,\mathbf{g}}^{\Gamma_{D}}$$
 and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases}
-\mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}} \left(\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \right) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathtt{K}} & \forall \mathtt{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\
-\mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}} \left(\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \right) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\
\quad \mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0 \\
\sigma^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}.
\end{cases}$$

$$(\mathcal{D})$$

with the discrete stress tensor defined by $\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \frac{2}{\text{Re}} D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \text{Id}$ and where we denote as before by $\mathbf{f}_{\kappa}, \mathbf{g}_{\kappa}$ (resp. $\mathbf{f}_{\kappa^*}, \mathbf{g}_{\kappa^*}$) the mean-value of the source term \mathbf{f} and of the Dirichlet data \mathbf{g} on $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ (resp. on $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{\Gamma}$) and Φ_{σ} the mean-value of the Neumann data on $\sigma \in \Gamma_N$:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}}} \int_{\mathbf{K}} \mathbf{f}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \\ \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{K}} &= \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}}} \int_{\mathbf{K}} \mathbf{g}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{g}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \\ \Phi_{\sigma} &= \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} \Phi(x) \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Moreover, we denote by $\mathbf{g}_{\sigma} = \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{g}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$

II.5.1 Well-posedness of the scheme

In the following proposition, we show an a priori estimate to the solution of (\mathcal{D}) before proving that the problem is well-posed:

Proposition II.5.1 (A priori estimate) Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{m,g}^{\Gamma_D} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ be a solution of (\mathcal{D}) . Then:

$$\frac{2}{Re} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} \leq \left| [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \right| \\
+ \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} | \mathbf{g}_{\sigma} |^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} \left| \frac{2}{Re} \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} I d \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\
+ \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} | \Phi_{\sigma} |^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} | \gamma^{\sigma} (\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) |^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \quad (\text{II.29})$$

Proof We define the bilinear form associated to the scheme:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}} \left(\left(-\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathrm{Id} \right), \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \right] \right]_{\mathfrak{T}} + (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

If we apply Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1), with the remark that, since $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is symmetric and $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0$, we have $[[D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} = [[D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$, we get:

$$\begin{split} B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) &= \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} - (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &+ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \left(-\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathbf{D}^{\mathtt{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}} \operatorname{Id} \right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathtt{K}}} + (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}. \end{split}$$

The terms $(p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}$ simplify. The boundary diamonds \mathfrak{D}_{ext} can be split between $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_D$ and $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N$; by applying Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions, we obtain:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{g}_{\sigma} \cdot \left(-\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathbf{D}^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} \operatorname{Id} \right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} - \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \Phi_{\sigma}. \quad (\text{II.30})$$

On the other hand, since $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})$ is a solution to (\mathcal{D}) , we have:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}.$$
 (II.31)

By putting together (II.30) and (II.31):

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} &\leq [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{g}_{\sigma} \cdot \left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathbf{D}^{\mathtt{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}} \operatorname{Id} \right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathtt{K}}} \right| + \left| \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma} (\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \Phi_{\sigma} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

We then apply Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to get our result (II.29).

In the following result, we prove that there exists a unique solution to (\mathcal{D}) .

Theorem II.5.2 (Well-posedness of the scheme) Let \mathfrak{T} a DDFV mesh associated to Ω that satisfies Inf-sup stability (Def. I.6.1). Then the scheme (\mathcal{D}) has a unique solution $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{m,\boldsymbol{q}}^{\Gamma_{D}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$.

Proof By linearity, it is sufficient to prove that if $\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, $\mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = 0$, $\mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^*} = 0$ and $\Phi_{\sigma} = 0$, then $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$. Directly from (II.29), we deduce:

$$\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_2^2 \le 0.$$

that implies $\|D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} = 0$. Thanks to Thm. I.8.4, we deduce $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$. Thus, the momentum equation and the Neumann boundary condition become:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}\left(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0 & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}}\left(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0 & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{N}^{*} \\ (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = 0 & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}. \end{cases}$$
(II.32)

Our goal is now to show that $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$. For every $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$, thanks to Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1), we can write:

$$\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} = -\left[\left[\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \operatorname{\mathbf{div}}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\operatorname{Id})\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \left(\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}\operatorname{Id}\right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}.$$
 (II.33)

By definition of the scalar products (see Sec. I.4), by (II.32) and by the fact that $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$, we get that $\left[\left[\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\sum_{\mathfrak{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{p}}\mathrm{Id}) \mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} = 0$. Thus (II.33) becomes:

$$\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} = 0.$$
 (II.34)

We now go back to inequality (I.30) ensured by Inf-sup stability: since (II.34) holds for any $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$, the supremum in the right hand side of (I.30) vanishes and we can deduce that $p^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is constant. Thanks to Neumann boundary condition, i.e. $\left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}}D^{\mathfrak{p}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - p^{\mathfrak{p}}\mathrm{Id}\right)\mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}} = 0$, and $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, we get that $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$.

Remark II.5.3 (Error estimates) For what concerns the error estimates for the scheme (\mathcal{D}) , we will not detail the computations here. The proof of an optimal error estimate of order 1 for the velocity, its gradient and the pressure comes straightforwardly from the one in Sec. II.3, Thm. II.3.11.

First, remark that it is sufficient to apply the results of Sec. I.8 in order to pass from $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}$ to $\|D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}$ and viceversa when necessary.

Moreover, the hypothesis $\beta > 0$ in the optimal error estimate of Thm. II.3.11 can be eliminated if we suppose Inf-Sup stability condition. It is necessary to suppose $\beta > 0$ in order to apply the stability result of Thm. II.3.9; under Inf-Sup stability condition and with $\beta = 0 = \mu$, the proof remains valid. In fact, if we look at Step 1 with $\beta = 0 = \mu$, instead of (II.17) we get:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}; \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} - \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} \Phi_{\sigma} \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$

Step 2 is replaced by Lemma I.6.5, which directly ensures $\forall p^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ the existence of $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$ such that $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = -p^{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \leq C \|p^{\mathfrak{D}}\|_{2}$; Step 3 is then obtained straightforwardly.

II.5.2 Numerical results

We validate the scheme (\mathcal{D}) by showing a few numerical experiments. The setting of the simulations is the same as the one introduced in Sec. II.4.

The computational domain is $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$. The configuration of the boundaries is illustrated in Fig. II.4.



Fig. II.4 $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$, Dirichlet boundary conditions on Γ_D , Neumann boundary conditions on Γ_N .

For those tests we give the expression of the exact solution (\mathbf{u},\mathbf{p}) , from which we deduce the source term **f**, the Dirichlet boundary condition **g** and the Neumann boundary condition Φ for which (\mathbf{u},\mathbf{p}) is solution of (II.1). We will compare the L^2 -norm of the error obtained with the DDFV scheme for the velocity (denoted Ervel), the velocity gradient (Ergradvel) and the pressure (Erpre); see (II.25) for the definition of the norms. On the Tables II.7, II.14 we give the number of primal cells (NbCell) and the convergence rates (Ratio).

The difference with respect to Sec. II.4 is that now the scheme is not stabilized; so, instead of studying the influence of the parameters, we present tests on different mesh geometries to show how this does not affect the accuracy of the scheme. With respect to the previous section, we add the meshes of Fig. II.6. Moreover, for some of the meshes that we tested, Inf-sup inequality (Def. I.6.1) has not been proven, but we observe numerically that it holds even in those cases.

The main difficulty with respect to the implementation of the scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$ is that here we deal with the discretization of the term $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$.



We remark that, to discuss the error estimates, a family of meshes is obtained by refining successively and uniformly the original mesh.

In Tables II.7, II.8, II.9, II.10 we show the results for the solution of Green-Taylor vortices (II.26); in Tables II.11, II.12, II.13, II.14 we show the results for the polynomial solutions (II.27). In all the



Fig. II.6 Two family of triangular meshes.

cases, we observe super convergence in L^2 norm of the velocity and the expected order 1 for the H^1 norm of the velocity and for the L^2 norm of the pressure (as proved in Thm. II.3.11); we also remark that the mesh geometry does not influence the results, even for meshes that do not satisfy Inf-sup stability (Def. I.6.1), like the quadrangular mesh of Fig. II.5.

Table II.7 Green-Taylor vortices on the *left* triangular mesh of Fig. II.6.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
72	1.122E-02	-	3.669E-02	-	5.226E-01	-
256	2.729E-03	2.04	1.572 E-02	1.22	2.179E-01	1.26
960	7.113E-04	1.94	7.355E-03	1.09	1.150E-01	0.92
3712	1.860E-04	1.93	3.534E-03	1.05	5.915E-02	0.96
14592	4.772 E-05	1.96	1.728E-03	1.03	2.992 E- 02	0.98

Table II.8 Green-Taylor vortices on the *right* triangular mesh of Fig. II.6.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
48	4.048E-02	-	6.850E-02	-	1.394E + 00	-
160	1.001E-02	2.01	2.270 E-02	1.59	3.486E-01	2.00
576	2.489E-03	2.00	7.783 E-03	1.54	8.732E-02	1.99
2176	6.207 E-04	2.00	2.712E-03	1.52	2.184E-02	1.99
8448	1.550E-04	2.00	9.519E-04	1.51	5.459E-03	2.00

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	3.292 E- 02	-	9.172E-02	-	1.878E + 00	-
208	7.827 E-03	2.07	4.423 E-02	1.05	6.809E-01	1.46
736	1.932E-03	2.01	2.163 E-02	1.03	3.002E-01	1.18
2752	4.801E-04	2.00	1.069E-02	1.01	1.432E-01	1.06
10624	1.197 E-04	2.00	5.308E-03	1.00	7.021E-02	1.03

Table II.9 Green-Taylor vortices on the *left* quadrangular mesh of Fig. II.5.

Table II.10 Green-Taylor vortices on the right quadrangular mesh of Fig. II.5.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
400	3.658E-03	-	2.591E-02	-	6.480E-01	-
1536	9.242 E-04	1.98	1.280 E-02	1.01	3.206E-01	1.01
6016	2.326E-04	1.99	6.376E-03	1.00	1.595E-01	1.00
23808	5.833E-05	1.99	3.184 E-03	1.00	7.957 E-02	1.00
94720	1.460E-05	1.99	1.591E-03	1.00	3.974E-02	1.00

Table II.11 Polynomial solutions on the *left* triangular mesh of Fig. II.6.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
72	7.574E-02	-	1.266E-01	-	7.616E + 00	-
256	1.507E-02	2.32	4.247 E-02	1.57	2.494E + 00	1.61
960	4.019E-03	1.90	1.757 E-02	1.27	1.048E + 00	1.25
3712	1.085E-03	1.89	7.782 E-03	1.17	4.984E-01	1.07
14592	2.836E-04	1.93	3.626E-03	1.10	2.471E-01	1.01

Table II.12 Polynomial solutions on the *right* triangular mesh of Fig. II.6.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
48	1.381E-01	-	2.041E-01	-	1.991E + 01	-
160	3.697 E-02	1.90	6.771 E-02	1.59	5.614E + 00	1.82
576	9.553E-03	1.95	2.333E-02	1.53	1.465E + 00	1.93
2176	2.417E-03	1.98	8.172 E-03	1.51	3.709E-01	1.98
8448	6.072 E-04	1.99	2.879E-03	1.50	9.305E-02	1.99

Table II.13 Polynomial solutions on the *left* quandrangular mesh of Fig. II.5.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	1.669E-01	-	2.739E-01	-	3.525E + 01	-
208	4.027 E-02	2.05	1.138E-01	1.26	1.017E + 01	1.79
736	8.839E-02	2.01	4.964 E-02	1.19	3.528E + 00	1.52
2752	4.419E-02	2.00	2.273 E-02	1.12	1.428E + 00	1.30
10624	2.210E-02	2.00	1.080E-02	1.07	6.372 E-01	1.16

Table II.14 Polynomial solutions on the *right* quandrangular mesh of Fig. II.5

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
400	2.468 E-02	-	5.906E-02	-	5.974E + 00	-
1536	6.451E-03	1.93	2.741 E-02	1.10	2.726E + 00	1.13
6016	1.639E-03	1.97	1.339E-02	1.03	$1.319E{+}00$	1.04
23808	4.117E-04	1.99	6.651E-03	1.01	6.534E-01	1.01
94720	1.031E-04	1.99	3.319E-03	1.00	3.259E-01	1.00

II.6 Unstabilized scheme: weak boundary conditions

Here we discuss another extension to the results proved for the scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$. If we do not stabilize the incompressibility constraint, the problem remains well-posed under the hypothesis that the mesh satifies Inf-sup inequality (see Sec. I.6). We recall that this inequality has been proven for a large class of meshes, but in the simplest case of conformal square meshes it is valid up to an unstable mode for the pressure.

We want to show that there is a way of avoiding this inconvenient on simple mesh geometries: it is to impose boundary conditions in a "weak sense". This means that, instead of imposing the conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_D^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_N$, they will only be imposed on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_D \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_N$.

The scheme is thus obtained by integrating the momentum equation over $\mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ and the incompressibility constraint over \mathfrak{D} . It reads:

Find
$$\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \left(\mathbb{R}^2\right)^{\mathfrak{T}}$$
 and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathtt{K}} & \forall \mathtt{K} \in \mathfrak{M}, \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathtt{K}*}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \mathbf{f}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}, \\ \mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0, \\ (\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = \Phi_{\sigma} & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}, \\ (\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \mathbf{g}_{\sigma} & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D} \\ \sum_{\mathtt{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathtt{K}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}} - \sum_{\mathtt{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(Particular)

where we denote as before by \mathbf{f}_{κ} (resp. \mathbf{f}_{κ^*}) the mean-value of the source term \mathbf{f} on $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ (resp. on $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{\Gamma}$), $\mathbf{g}_{\sigma}, \Phi_{\sigma}$ the mean-value of the Dirichlet and Neumann data respectively for $\sigma \in \Gamma_D, \sigma \in \Gamma_N$:

$$\mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}} \int_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{f}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}^*} = \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}^*}} \int_{\mathsf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}(x) \mathrm{d}x,$$
$$\mathbf{g}_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{g}(x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \Phi_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}} \int_{\sigma} \Phi(x) \mathrm{d}x.$$

Linear dependence of the equations.

By imposing weak boundary conditions, the equations are no more linearly independent. This is why we add the relation:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}m_{\mathbf{K}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}-\sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}=0.$$

To show the linear dependence, set firstly $\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\mathsf{K}} &= \vec{\mathbf{e}_1} := (1,0)^t, \quad \forall_{\mathsf{K}} \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}, \\ \psi_{\mathsf{K}^*} &= \vec{\mathbf{0}}, \qquad \qquad \forall_{\mathsf{K}^*} \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*, \end{split}$$

that implies $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\psi) = (\frac{1}{2}, 0)^t$. We have:

• on one hand, thanks to the scheme (\mathcal{P}_w) :

$$2\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}),\psi^{\mathfrak{T}}\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}}=\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathfrak{M}}m_{\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{e}_{1}},$$

that thanks to the definition of the source term leads to

$$2\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}), \psi^{\mathfrak{T}}\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(x) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{e}_{1}}\mathrm{d}x.$$

• on the other hand, Green's formula (I.5.1) gives:

$$\begin{split} 2\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}),\psi^{\mathfrak{T}}\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} = \\ & 2\left(\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}:\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\psi^{\mathfrak{T}}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} - 2\left(\gamma^{\mathfrak{D}}\left((\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}\right),\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\psi^{\mathfrak{T}})\right)_{\partial\Omega}, \end{split}$$

that since $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\psi) = (\frac{1}{2}, 0)^t$ is equivalent to:

$$2\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}),\psi^{\mathfrak{T}}\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}}=\sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}}m_{\sigma}\left((-\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}+\mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}\right)\cdot\vec{\mathbf{e}}_{1}$$

Putting all together, we get:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \left(\left(-\nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{Id} \right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \right) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{e}}_{1} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(x) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{e}}_{1} \mathrm{d}x.$$
(II.35)

We can repeat the same computation by choosing $\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\mathsf{K}} &= \vec{\mathbf{e}_2} := (0,1)^t, \quad \forall_{\mathsf{K}} \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}, \\ \psi_{\mathsf{K}^*} &= \vec{\mathbf{0}}, \qquad \qquad \forall_{\mathsf{K}^*} \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*, \end{split}$$

that implies $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\gamma^{\tau}(\psi) = (0, \frac{1}{2})^t$. Now we obtain:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \left(\left(-\nabla^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathrm{p}^{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{Id} \right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \right) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{e}}_{2} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(x) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{e}}_{2} \mathrm{d}x.$$
(II.36)

Relations (II.35)-(II.36) imply then:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}(-\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{p}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(x)\mathrm{d}x.$$
(II.37)

By proceeding in the same way, we choose first $\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\mathsf{K}} &= \vec{\mathbf{0}} := (1,0)^t, \quad \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}, \\ \psi_{\mathsf{K}^*} &= \vec{\mathbf{e}_1}, \qquad \quad \forall \mathsf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*, \end{split}$$

that implies $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\psi) = (\frac{1}{2}, 0)^t$, and next $\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\mathbf{K}} &= \mathbf{0} := (1,0)^t, \quad \forall \mathbf{k} \in \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}, \\ \psi_{\mathbf{K}^*} &= \mathbf{e}_2^*, \qquad \quad \forall \mathbf{k}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*, \end{split}$$

that implies $\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\psi) = (0, \frac{1}{2})^t$. Those choices lead to:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}(-\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(x)\mathrm{d}x.$$
 (II.38)

We observe that (II.37) and (II.38) give the same result; this shows that the equations on \mathfrak{T} are not linearly independent.

II.6.1 Well-posedness of the scheme

Equivalently to Sec. II.2, we start by proving an a priori estimate:

Proposition II.6.1 (A priori estimate) Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ be a solution of (\mathcal{P}_w) . Then:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq \left| [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \right| \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{g}_{\sigma}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma} |\nabla^{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}Id|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\Phi_{\sigma}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(II.39)

Proof We can associate the following bilinear form to the scheme:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = [[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(-\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}), \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + (\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$$

If we apply Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1), by taking into account the boundary terms, we get:

$$\begin{split} B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) &= \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} - (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}},\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &+ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot (-\nabla^{\mathtt{p}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{p}}\mathrm{Id})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} + (\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}. \end{split}$$

The terms $(p^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}))_{\mathfrak{D}}$ simplify. The boundary diamonds \mathfrak{D}_{ext} can be split between $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_D$ and $\mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_N$; by applying Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions, we obtain:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}g^{\sigma} \cdot (-\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} + \mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} - \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \Phi_{\sigma}.$$
(II.40)

On the other hand, since $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ is a solution to (\mathcal{P}_w) , we have:

$$B(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}.$$
 (II.41)

By putting together (II.40) and (II.41) :

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} \leq [[\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \left|\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{D}} m_{\sigma}\mathbf{g}_{\sigma}\cdot(\nabla^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}-\mathbf{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}\right| + \left|\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{N}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\cdot\Phi_{\sigma}\right|.$$

We then apply Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to get our result (II.39).

We can now prove the well-posed character of our scheme.

Theorem II.6.2 (Well-posedness of the scheme) The scheme DDFV (\mathcal{P}_w) has a unique solution $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ on conformal triangle meshes, conformal and non-conformal square meshes. **Proof** By linearity, it is sufficient to prove that if $\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$, $\mathbf{g}_{\sigma} = 0$ and $\Phi_{\sigma} = 0$, then $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$. Directly from (II.39), we deduce:

$$\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} \leq 0.$$

This implies $\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} = 0$: from Remark I.3.3 and since $\mathbf{g}_{\sigma} = 0$, we obtain $\mathbf{c}_{0} + \mathbf{c}_{1} = 0$. Since we impose $\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}m_{\mathsf{K}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} = 0$ and by hypothesis $\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}}m_{\mathsf{K}} = \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}$, we deduce $\mathbf{c}_{0} = \mathbf{c}_{1}$ so we can conclude $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$.

The momentum equation becomes:

$$\operatorname{\mathbf{div}}^{\mathfrak{T}}(p^{\mathfrak{D}}\operatorname{Id}) = 0.$$

Here is the point where the structure of the mesh is crucial. In fact, we can prove that $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$ if we are on a conformal triangle mesh, conformal or non conformal square mesh.

Here, we illustrate the case of conformal triangle mesh: this is an adaptation of the proof that can be found in [Del07], done in the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions. We also refer to [Del07] for the case of conformal/non-conformal squares.

If we consider a volume κ of the primal mesh and we enumerate its edges with $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$, by using the definition of discrete divergence we can write:

$$0 = \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}) = \frac{1}{m_{\mathsf{K}}}(|\sigma_1|\mathbf{p}_1\mathrm{Id}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_1\mathsf{K}} + |\sigma_2|\mathbf{p}_2\mathrm{Id}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_2,\mathsf{K}} + |\sigma_3|\mathbf{p}_3\mathrm{Id}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_3\mathsf{K}}),$$

with $|\sigma_1|\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_1\mathsf{K}} + |\sigma_2|\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_2\mathsf{K}} + |\sigma_3|\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_3\mathsf{K}} = 0$, so:

$$(p_1 Id - p_3 Id) |\sigma_1| \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_1 \kappa} + (p_2 Id - p_3 Id) |\sigma_2| \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_2 \kappa} = 0,$$

and since $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_1\kappa}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_2\kappa}$ are not co-linear, it implies $p_1 = p_2 = p_3$.

If we proceed in the same way for an element κ' neighbour of κ , we obtain $p'_1 = p'_2 = p'_3$ and since $p_1 = p'_1$ we deduce $p_1 = p_2 = p_3 = p'_2 = p'_3$.

If we make the same reasoning for all the others triangles, we get that all the p_j are equal to the same constant. Thanks to Neumann boundary conditions, we deduce that this constant is equal to 0, i.e. $p^{D} = 0 \forall D \in \mathfrak{D}$.

II.6.2 Numerical results

We validate the scheme (\mathcal{P}_w) through some numerical experiments. We recall that the goal of designing this scheme is to show that, since Inf-sup inequality (Def. I.6.1) in the simplest case of conformal square meshes has been proven to be valid up to an unstable mode for the pressure, we can avoid this inconvenient by imposing boundary conditions in a "weak sense", instead of stabilizing the equation of conservation of mass.

The computational domain is $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$. The configuration of the boundaries is illustrated in Fig. II.7.

As in Sections II.4, II.5.2, we give the expression of the exact solution (\mathbf{u},\mathbf{p}) , from which we deduce the source term \mathbf{f} , the Dirichlet boundary condition \mathbf{g} and the Neumann boundary condition Φ for which (\mathbf{u},\mathbf{p}) is solution of (II.1). We will compare the L^2 -norm of the error obtained with the DDFV scheme for the velocity (denoted Ervel), the velocity gradient (Ergradvel) and the pressure (Erpre). On the two Tables III.1, II.4 we give the number of primal cells (NbCell) and



Fig. II.7 $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$, Dirichlet boundary conditions on Γ_D , Neumann boundary conditions on Γ_N .

the convergence rates (Ratio).

We remark that, to discuss the error estimates, a family of meshes is obtained by refining successively and uniformly the original mesh.

In Tables II.15, II.17 we show the results for the solution of Green-Taylor vortices (II.26); in Tables II.16, II.18 we show the results for the polynomial solutions (II.27).

In Tables II.15,II.16 we show how on a cartesian mesh we obtain super convergence in L^2 norm of the velocity and the expected order 1 for the H^1 norm of the velocity and for the L^2 norm of the pressure.

Table II.15 Green-Taylor vortices on a cartesian mesh with weak boundary conditions.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
12	2.980E-01	-	4.242E-01	-	3.429E + 00	-
32	9.168E-02	1.70	1.361E-01	1.640	1.789E + 00	0.93
96	2.567 E-02	1.83	5.273 E-02	1.36	7.571E-01	1.24
320	7.050E-03	1.86	2.320 E-02	1.18	3.546E-01	1.09
1152	1.915E-03	1.88	1.094E-02	1.08	1.733E-01	1.03

Table II.16 Polynomial solutions on a cartesian mesh with weak boundary conditions.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
12	1.122E + 00	-	1.456E + 00	-	3.771E + 01	-
32	2.396E-01	2.22	3.632E-01	2.00	$1.243E{+}01$	1.60
96	6.708E-02	1.83	1.320E-01	1.46	5.541E + 00	1.16
320	1.899E-02	1.82	5.312E-02	1.31	2.578E + 00	1.10
1152	5.265 E-03	1.85	2.283E-02	1.22	$1.262E{+}00$	1.03

In Tables II.17, II.18, we numerically tested the scheme on the non conformal square mesh of Fig. II.5 and we obtained the same results as for the cartesian case.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	5.851E-02	-	1.211E-01	-	1.746E + 00	-
208	1.680E-02	1.80	5.576E-02	1.11	8.070E-01	1.11
736	4.707 E-03	1.83	2.704E-02	1.04	3.901E-01	1.05
2752	1.300E-03	1.85	1.336E-02	1.01	1.925E-01	1.02
10624	3.548E-04	1.87	6.651 E-03	1.00	9.572 E-02	1.00

Table II.17 Green-Taylor vortices on the *left* quadrangular mesh of Fig. II.5 with weak boundary conditions.

Table II.18 Polynomial solutions on the left quadrangular mesh of Fig. II.5 with weak boundary conditions.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	1.851E-01	-	2.829E-01	-	1.234E + 01	-
208	5.208E-02	1.82	1.227 E-01	1.20	6.087E + 00	1.01
736	1.430E-02	1.86	5.592 E-02	1.13	3.006E + 00	1.01
2752	3.907 E-03	1.87	2.645 E-02	1.08	1.496E + 00	1.00
10624	1.061E-03	1.88	1.282E-02	1.04	7.473E-01	1.00

Conclusions

In this chapter, we first presented a stabilized DDFV scheme $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$ for the Stokes problem with mixed Dirichlet/Neumann boundary conditions and we proved its wellposedness on general meshes. We obtained an error estimate in the L^2 norm of order 1 for the velocity, its gradient and the pressure. Numerically, we observed a super convergence in the L^2 norm of the velocity and the expected convergences for the gradient of the velocity and for the pressure; moreover, we remarked that the order of convergence is not influenced by the presence of the parameters of stabilization. Second, we extended the results to the divergence form of Stokes problem, by obtaining the scheme (\mathcal{D}) ; we proved that the same results proven for $(\mathcal{P}_{\beta\mu})$ are valid for (\mathcal{D}) , thanks to the results of Sec. I.8 (such as Korn inequality) and we numerically tested the scheme. At last, we wrote a non-stabilized DDFV scheme for for the Stokes problem, with "weak" boundary conditions. We proved its well-posedness in the case of conformal triangle meshes, conformal and non-conformal square meshes and we tested numerically the convergence, that turns out to have the same rates as the previous cases.

Chapter III

Navier Stokes problem with outflow boundary conditions

Contents

III.1 Approximation of the nonlinear convection term
III.2 DDFV scheme
III.3 Well-posedness 100
III.3.1 Existence and uniqueness
III.4 Property of the convection term
III.5 Discrete energy estimate 105
III.6 Numerical results
III.6.1 Convergence results
III.6.2 Simulations of a flow in a pipe

Most of the content of this chapter appeared in [GKL19].

The problem we are interested in is the computation of a flow whose velocity is prescribed at one part of the boundary and it flows freely on the other one. In this framework, we are often required to truncate the physical domain to obtain a reduced computational domain, either because we want to save computational ressources or because the physical domain is unbounded. We illustrate this setting in Fig. III.1.



Fig. III.1 Domain and notations.

The aim of this chapter is to design and analyze a finite volume approximation of the 2D unsteady incompressible Navier-Stokes problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} - \operatorname{div}(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})) = 0; & \text{in} \quad \Omega_T = \Omega \times [0, T] \\ \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in} \quad \Omega_T, \\ \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g}_1 & \text{on} \quad \Gamma_1 \times (0, T), \\ \sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}})^- (\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_{ref}) = \sigma_{ref} \, \vec{\mathbf{n}} \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_2 \times (0, T), \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_{init} & \text{in} \quad \Omega \end{cases}$$
(III.1)

with $0 < T < \infty$, Ω an open connected bounded polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^2 , whose boundary is $\partial \Omega = \Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_2$ and whose outward unit normal is $\vec{\mathbf{n}}$, $\mathbf{u}_{init} \in (L^{\infty}(\Omega))^2$, $\mathbf{g}_1 \in (H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\Gamma_{1,T}))^2$ and where $\mathbf{u} : \Omega_T \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is the velocity, $\mathbf{p} : \Omega_T \to \mathbb{R}$ is the pressure and $\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) = \frac{2}{\text{Re}} \mathrm{D}\mathbf{u} - \mathrm{pId}$ is the stress tensor, with $\mathrm{Re} > 0$. In particular, the strain rate tensor is defined by the symmetric part of the velocity gradient $\mathrm{D}\mathbf{u} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \mathbf{u} + {}^t\nabla \mathbf{u})$.

On the physical part of the boundary Γ_1 we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions. On the "non-physical" part, Γ_2 , we impose the artificial boundary condition

$$\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}})^{-}(\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_{ref}) = \sigma_{ref}\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}$$
(III.2)

that was first introduced in [BF94] and then further studied in [BF96] and [BF12]. We use the notation $(a)^- = -\min(a, 0)$. In order to build it, we need to choose some reference flow \mathbf{u}_{ref} , which is any $\mathbf{u}_{ref} \in (H^1(\Omega))^2$ such that $\mathbf{u}_{ref} = \mathbf{g}_1$ on Γ_1 , chosen so as to be a reasonable approximation of the expected flow near Γ_2 , and a reference stress tensor σ_{ref} such that $\sigma_{ref} \mathbf{\vec{n}} \in (H^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\Omega))^2$. This nonlinear condition is physically meaningful: if the flow is outward, we impose the constraint coming from the selected reference flow; if it is inward, we need to control the increase of energy, so we add a term that is quadratic with respect to velocity. Other techniques to model artificial boundaries have been studied during the years. For instance, in [HS89] an artificial boundary condition is designed for the Navier-Stokes equations under the hypothesis of small viscosity. The method consists into the approximation of the transparent boundary conditions, since they are non-local. The technique was then generalized to parabolic perturbations of hyperbolic systems in [Hal91] and to compressible flows in [Tou97]. We choose to work with the condition (III.2) of [BF94] since it is defined locally and it does not add hypothesis on the viscosity. It has been derived by a particular weak formulation of Navier-Stokes equation that ensures an energy estimate: we would like to reproduce the same property at a discrete level with the DDFV formalism.

The analysis of problem (III.1) is done in [BF96] and [BF07] from the continuous point of view and simulations are performed in [BF94] by the use of Finite Differences schemes in the case of Cartesian meshes. Within the framework of DDFV methods, we are able to reproduce those simulations by extending to the case of general meshes and we also offer a complete analysis of the discrete problem, perspective that was never addressed in the literature.

Outline. This chapter is organized as follows. In Section III.1 we show how approximate the nonlinear convection term. In Section III.2, we introduce the DDFV scheme for the Navier-Stokes problem (III.1) and we prove its well-posedness in Section III.3 (see Theorem (III.3.1)). In Section

III.4 we show an estimate of the convection term. In Section III.5, we prove a discrete energy estimate. Finally, in Section III.6, theoretical results are illustrated with numerical simulations.

III.1 Approximation of the nonlinear convection term

As in [Kre10, Kre11b], we construct a bilinear form $\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ as an approximation of $\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v}$. The form introduced in [Kre10, Kre11b] is built in order to take into account homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions, so we need to modify it in order to handle the outflow condition (III.2).

To obtain the approximation of the convection term, we need to integrate the equation over the primal and dual mesh; we approximate $\int_{K} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v}$ when $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ with $m_{\kappa} \mathbf{b}^{\kappa}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})$. We remark that for \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} smooth functions:

$$\int_{K} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{K}} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{K}}) \mathbf{v}, \quad \forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}.$$

Such as for the Dirichlet case [Kre11b], we look for an approximation of the fluxes: $\int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \kappa}) \rightsquigarrow F_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$. For the interior edges $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{int}$, we obtain them by calculating the fluxes on the sides \mathfrak{s} of diamonds (see Fig. III.2). In fact, we remark that by integrating the solenoidal constraint on the semi-diamond D_{K} of vertices $x_{\mathsf{K}}, x_{\mathsf{K}^*}, x_{\mathsf{L}^*}$ we have:

$$0 = \int_{\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} + \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}} \cap \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\mathfrak{s}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}_{\mathsf{D}}} \mathrm{d}s.$$

The integral $\int_{\mathfrak{s}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s} \mathsf{D}} ds$ is approximated by $G_{\mathfrak{s}, \mathsf{D}} = m_{\mathfrak{s}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{2} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s} \mathsf{D}}$, for $\mathfrak{s} = [x_{\mathsf{K}}, x_{\mathsf{K}^*}] = \mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}', \mathfrak{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}$. Remark that those fluxes on the sides \mathfrak{s} of diamonds are the same that we obtain by integrating the solenoidal constraint on each diamond $\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}$:

$$\int_{\mathsf{D}} \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \partial \mathsf{D}} \int_{\mathfrak{s}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s} \mathsf{D}} \mathrm{d}s,$$

that at a discrete level is written as:

$$m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathsf{D}|\mathsf{D}'\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathsf{D}}.$$
 (III.3)

Remark III.1.1 If $D \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}$ (see Fig. III.2), $m_D \operatorname{div}^{D}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ can be rewritten as:

$$m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{s} = \mathsf{D} \mid \mathsf{D}' \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathsf{D}} + m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}.$$

For what concerns the boundary edges $\sigma \in \partial \Omega$, we replace **u** by its trace $\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$. So we impose:

and with an equivalent argument, we define for the dual edges:

$$F_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \begin{cases} -\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{K^{*}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{D}} G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{d}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) & \text{if } \kappa^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}, \ \sigma^{*}\cap\partial\Omega=\emptyset, \\ \\ -G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{d}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) & \text{if } \kappa^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}, \ \sigma^{*}\cap\partial\Omega\neq\emptyset, \text{i.e. } \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\kappa^{*}}^{ext}. \end{cases}$$
(III.5)

As illustrated in the *right* of Fig. III.2, for $\kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$ such that $\sigma^* \cap \partial \Omega \neq \emptyset$, σ corresponds to the boundary edge $[x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}]$ in the diamond $\mathfrak{d}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$.



Fig. III.2 Left: A diamond $D = D_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$ with $\sigma \subset \mathcal{E}_{int}$. Right: A diamond $D = D_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$ with $\sigma \in \partial \Omega$.

Remark that thanks to the solenoidal constraint $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0$ we have conservativity of the fluxes $F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}$ and $F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}$:

$$F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = -F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{L}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \quad \forall \sigma = \mathsf{K}|\mathsf{L}$$

$$F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = -F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{L}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \quad \forall \sigma^{*} = \mathsf{K}^{*}|\mathsf{L}^{*}.$$
 (III.6)

Unlike in [Kre10, Kre11b], we do not stabilize the solenoidal constraint thus we do not need to add a stabilization term in the flux $G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathfrak{d}}$; in fact, you can remark the link between the solenoidal constraint and $G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathfrak{d}}$ in (III.3).

We define the bilinear form on the primal mesh as:

$$\left| m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{int}} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{v}_{\sigma}^{+} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{ext}} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \qquad \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \right|$$

where

$$\mathbf{v}_{\sigma}^{+} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{v}_{\kappa} & \text{if } F_{\sigma\kappa} \geq 0 \\ \mathbf{v}_{L} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \forall \sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{int},$$

and on the dual mesh as:

$$\begin{split} m_{\mathbf{k}^*} \mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{k}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*}} F_{\sigma^* \mathbf{k}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_*}^+ \\ m_{\mathbf{k}^*} \mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{k}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*}} F_{\sigma^* \mathbf{k}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{v}_{\sigma_*}^+ + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma, \sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*}} F_{\sigma \mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \quad \forall \mathbf{k}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^* \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathbf{v}_{\sigma_*}^+ = \begin{cases} \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{k}^*} & \text{if } F_{\sigma^*\mathsf{k}^*} \ge 0 \\ \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}^*} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \forall \sigma^* \in \mathcal{E}^*.$$

We choose to do upwinding on the interior diamonds because we started from the analysis done in [Kre10] and [Kre11b]. In the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions in [Kre10, Kre11b], it is necessary to upwind in order to get well-posedness of the scheme and an energy estimate, since it is the key to prove an inequality of the type $[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \geq 0$. In our case, in the weak formulation the convection term is skew-symmetrized, and we will see that upwind and centered discretizations lead to the same scheme, see Remark III.2.2.

Proposition III.1.2 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . For all $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, we have:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= 0 & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} F_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= 0 & \forall \mathsf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \\ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} F_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &= -\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{w}^{*}}^{ext}} \frac{1}{2} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} & \forall \mathsf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^* \end{split}$$

Proof For $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, we distinguish two cases, depending on Def. (III.4).

• If $\kappa \cap \partial \Omega = \emptyset$, that means that $\forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa} \ \sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{int}$, by reorganizing the sum on the sides $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{G}_{\kappa}$ belonging to the primal cell κ , we obtain:

$$-\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{2}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}}=-\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{2}\cdot(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}}+\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}'})=0$$
(III.7)

since $\vec{n}_{\mathfrak{s}D} = -\vec{n}_{\mathfrak{s}D'}$, where D and D' denote the two neighbor diamonds which share the edge \mathfrak{s} , of vertices x_{κ}, x_{κ^*} .

•If $\kappa \cap \partial \Omega \neq \emptyset$, we remark that, thanks to Rem. III.1.1 and since $\operatorname{div}^{\mathtt{p}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0$, for $\mathtt{p}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}^{ext}$ we have:

$$m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} = \sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{d}}$$

So we get:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = -\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{2}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}} = 0$$

where we applied (III.7). We deduce that $\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})=0$ for all $\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}$. The proof is similar for $\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}F_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})=0$ if $\mathsf{K}^*\in\mathfrak{M}^*$.

We now focus on the case in which $\kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$; by Def. (III.5) of $F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$:

$$-\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{K}^*}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{D}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}{2}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathbf{D}}-\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^{ext}}\frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})=0-\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^{ext}}\frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$

where the first sum is zero thanks to a similar argument to (III.7).

We deduce that
$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}F_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = -\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}^{ext}}\frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \text{ for all } \mathsf{K}^* \in \partial\mathfrak{M}^*.$$

III.2 **DDFV** scheme

Let $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We note $\delta t = \frac{T}{N}$ and $t_n = n\delta t$ for $n \in \{0, \dots, N\}$. To obtain the DDFV scheme, we choose to use an implicit Euler time discretization, except for the nonlinear term, which is

linearized by using a semi-implicit approximation.

We look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = (\mathbf{u}^n)_{n \in \{0,\dots,N\}} \in (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_1}^{\Gamma_1})^{N+1}$ and $p^{\mathfrak{D},[0,T]} = (p^n)_{n \in \{0,\dots,N\}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}})^{N+1}$, that we initialize with:

$$\mathbf{u}^0 = \mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u}_0 \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_1}^{\Gamma_1} \tag{III.8}$$

where $\mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is the centered projection defined in (I.2). We would like to write the system (III.1) in our setting.

For what concerns the **momentum equation**, we start by finding the discrete equivalent of the variational formulation of the problem. For the continuous problem, as presented in [BF12], the velocity **u** satisfies:

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_t \mathbf{u} \cdot \Psi + \frac{2}{\text{Re}} \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{u}) : \mathcal{D}(\Psi) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \Psi - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \Psi \cdot \mathbf{u}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}})^+ (\mathbf{u} \cdot \Psi) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}})^- (\mathbf{u}_{ref} \cdot \Psi) + \int_{\Gamma_2} (\sigma_{ref} \vec{\mathbf{n}}) \cdot \Psi, \quad \text{(III.9)}$$

where Ψ is a test function in the space

$$V = \{ \Psi \in (H^1(\Omega))^2, \, \Psi|_{\Gamma_1} = 0, \, \operatorname{div}(\Psi) = 0 \}.$$

This weak formulation (III.9) can be rewritten in the DDFV framework (with the operators introduced in section I.1) as:

$$\begin{split} [[\frac{\mathbf{u}^{n+1}-\mathbf{u}^{n}}{\delta t},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} &+ \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}}(\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{n+1}:\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{n},\mathbf{u}^{n+1}),\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{n},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{u}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathsf{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{2}}(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}))^{+}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathsf{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{2}}(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}))^{-}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathsf{D}_{ext}\cap\Gamma_{2}}m_{\sigma}(\sigma_{\mathrm{ref}}^{\mathsf{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}), \quad (\mathrm{III.10}) \end{split}$$

where $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is a test function in the discrete space that satisfies similar properties compared to the continuous test function Ψ :

$$\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}, \quad \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0.$$
 (III.11)

To simplify the computations, even though it is not necessary, as in the continuous case (see [BF12]), the reference flow $(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_1}^{\Gamma_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is supposed to be a solution of the under-determined steady Stokes problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{M}}\left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}}\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathrm{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0, \\ -\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*}}\left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}}\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathrm{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0, \\ \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(III.12)

We also need to define a reference stress tensor σ_{ref}^{D} on the outflow part of the boundary; we choose:

$$\sigma_{\text{ref}}^{\mathsf{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} = \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} \quad \forall \sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_2$$
(III.13)

where the discrete stress tensor is defined by $\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}) = \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} D^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathbf{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}} \operatorname{Id}.$

From this formulation, we design our DDFV scheme. We project (III.10) on the mesh. For instance, to obtain the equation on the primal mesh, that is $\forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, we consider a primal cell $\kappa_0 \in \mathfrak{M}$ and we build $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that $\Psi_{K_0} = 1$, $\Psi_{K'} = 0$ for all $\kappa' \in \mathfrak{M}, \kappa' \neq \kappa_0$ and $\Psi_{\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*} = 0$; we then replace $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}$ in (III.10). We proceed in the same way for the dual mesh $\mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_2^*$ and the boundary mesh $\partial \mathfrak{M}_2$. The solenoidal constraint is projected on the diamond mesh \mathfrak{D} .

Remark III.2.1 When projecting (III.10) on the boundary dual mesh, i.e. when considering $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that for a $\kappa_{0}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*}, \Psi_{\mathsf{K}_{0}^{*}} = 1, \Psi_{\mathsf{K}^{*'}} = 0$ for all $\kappa^{*'} \in \mathfrak{M}, \kappa^{*'} \neq \kappa_{0}^{*}$ and $\Psi_{\mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}} = 0$, remark that the term $-\frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{u}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} = -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{n+1}$

has also contributions that comes from the trace term $\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})$ in $\mathbf{b}^{\kappa}(\mathbf{u}^{n},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})$, which then cancel by replacing terms coming from (\mathcal{N}_{3}) . This is why the equations for $\kappa^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*}$ and $\kappa^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*}$ can be written in the compact form (\mathcal{N}_{2}) .

The resulting DDFV is the following:

• For all $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$:

$$m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n}}{\delta t} - m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{p}^{n+1})) + \frac{1}{2} m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \mathbf{u}^{n+1}) \\ - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{int}} \left(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{+}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} - F_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}^{-}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}^{n+1} \right) = 0; \quad (\mathcal{N}_{1})$$

• For all $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_2^*$:

$$m_{\mathbf{x}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{n}}{\delta t} - m_{\mathbf{x}^{*}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{x}^{*}} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{p}^{n+1})) + \frac{1}{2} m_{\mathbf{x}^{*}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{x}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \mathbf{u}^{n+1}) \\ - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{x}^{*}}} \left(F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{+}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{n+1} - F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{L}^{*}}^{-}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}^{n+1} \right) = 0; \quad (\mathcal{N}_{2})$$

• For all $D_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_2$:

$$m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1},\mathbf{p}^{n+1}))\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{L}} - \frac{1}{4}F_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}(\mathbf{u}^{n})\left(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}^{n+1}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}(F_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}))^{-}\left(\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) - \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref})\right) + m_{\sigma}(\sigma_{\mathrm{ref}}^{\mathsf{D}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}); \quad (\mathcal{N}_{3})$$

• For all $D \in \mathfrak{D}$:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) = 0. \tag{N_4}$$
Remark III.2.2 If we consider the definition of $\mathbf{b}^{\kappa}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ on the interior diamonds $\mathfrak{D}^{int}_{\kappa}$, we remark that it can be written as a centered discretization plus a diffusion term:

$$m_{\mathsf{K}}\mathbf{b}^{\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma}^{*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{int}} \left(F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}}}{2}\right) + B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}}-\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}}) \right) + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{ext}} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}),$$

where $B_{\sigma\kappa}$ is defined by a function B of $F_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$. In particular, this formulation allows to generalize the results: if $B_{\sigma\kappa} = 0$ we get a centered approximation, if $B_{\sigma\kappa} = \frac{1}{2}|F_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|$ it is an upwind scheme (this kind of generalization will be useful in Chap. IV).

If we consider (III.10) and we project it on $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ with this new definition of convection, we get:

$$\begin{split} m_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}}{\delta t} &- m_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathbf{k}} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, p^{n+1})) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}}^{int}} F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}^{n+1}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}}^{int}} (B_{\sigma\mathbf{L}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) - B_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{u}^{n})) \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}^{n+1} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}}^{ext}} F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \left(\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) \right) = 0. \end{split}$$

Since $\forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, $\sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} F_{\sigma\kappa} = 0$ by Prop. III.1.2, we can add the term $\frac{1}{4} \mathbf{u}_{\kappa}^{n+1} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} F_{\sigma\kappa}$ to the last expression and find:

$$m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n}}{\delta t} - m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}} (\sigma^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, p^{n+1})) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{int}} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}^{n+1}}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{int}} (B_{\sigma\mathsf{L}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) - B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n})) \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}^{n+1} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{ext}} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}) \underbrace{\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}^{n+1} + \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1})\right)}_{=trace \ term \ on \ \mathsf{D}} = 0. \quad (\text{III.14})$$

We observe that for both the centered and the upwind schemes, we have $B_{\sigma L} = B_{\sigma K}$, and the schemes are thus equivalent to a centered discretization on the interior cells. This property is due to the skew-symmetrization of the convection term.

For a dual cell $\kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_2^*$, the equation is similar to (III.14), except for the "trace term on \mathfrak{p} ", that becomes $\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*}^{n+1} + \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1})$. For an interior dual cell $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$, this trace term is zero.

III.3 Well-posedness

We now prove the existence and uniqueness of the solution of our DDFV scheme.

The well-posedness result relies on a uniform discrete *Inf-sup condition*. We could have add a stabilization term to the equation of conservation of mass to generalize the result to general meshes, as done in [Kre11a, GKL17] for Stokes and in [Kre11b] for Navier-Stokes, but since our proof for Korn's inequality (that is crucial to prove the energy estimate) requires the hypothesis of Inf-sup stability, we decided not to stabilize the equation. This hypothesis does not add a lot of restriction on the choice of the mesh; see Sec. I.6 for more details.

III.3.1 Existence and uniqueness

Theorem III.3.1 (Well-posedness) Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω that satisfies the Inf-sup stability condition. The scheme (III.8), (\mathcal{N}_1) - (\mathcal{N}_4) has a unique solution $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}, p^{\mathfrak{D},[0,T]}) \in (\mathbb{E}_{q_1}^{\Gamma_1})^{N+1} \times (\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}})^{N+1}$.

Proof The scheme issued from the equations (\mathcal{N}_1) - (\mathcal{N}_4) is a linear system Av = b with A square matrix at each time step. We want to show that A is injective, thus we study the kernel of the matrix. Let $v = (\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{p}^{n+1}) \in \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{g}_1}^{\Gamma_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ be in ker(A): we then obtain the system Av = 0. If we multiply this relation by a test function $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}$ that satisfies (III.18), this is equivalent to consider the discrete variational formulation (III.10) in the form:

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\delta t} [[\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} &+ \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}} (\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \mathbf{u}^{n+1}), \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{u}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathbf{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{2}} (F_{\mathrm{sg}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}))^{+} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}). \end{split}$$

The choice $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = \mathbf{u}^{n+1}$ leads to:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} ||\mathbf{u}^{n+1}||_2^2 + \frac{2}{\text{Re}} ||\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{n+1}||_2^2 + \underbrace{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathbf{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^n))^+ |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1})|^2}_{\geq 0} = 0$$

that implies

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} ||\mathbf{u}^{n+1}||_2^2 + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} ||\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{n+1}||_2^2 \le 0,$$

from which we deduce that $\mathbf{u}^{n+1} = 0$.

To conclude the proof, we need to show that p^{n+1} is equal to zero too. Since $\mathbf{u}^{n+1} = 0$, the momentum equation and the outflow boundary condition become:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}}\left(\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0 & \forall \mathsf{k} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \mathbf{div}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}}\left(\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\mathrm{Id}\right) = 0 & \forall \mathsf{k}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2}^{*} \\ (\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\mathrm{Id})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = 0 & \forall \mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{2}. \end{cases}$$
(III.15)

For every $\mathbf{v}^{n+1} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$, thanks to Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1), we can write:

$$\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}), \mathbf{p}^{n+1}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} = -\left[\left[\mathbf{v}^{n+1}, \operatorname{\mathbf{div}}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\operatorname{Id})\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) \cdot \left(\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\operatorname{Id}\right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}.$$
(III.16)

(III.16) By definition of the scalar products (see Sec. I.4), by (III.15) and by the fact that $\mathbf{v}^{n+1} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}$, we get that $\left[\left[\mathbf{v}^{n+1}, \mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\mathrm{Id})\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\sum_{\mathsf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) \cdot \left(\mathbf{p}^{n+1}\mathrm{Id}\right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = 0$. Thus (III.16)

becomes:

$$\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}), \mathbf{p}^{n+1}\right)_{\mathfrak{D}} = 0.$$
 (III.17)

We now go back to inequality (I.30) ensured by Inf-sup stability: since (III.17) holds for any $\mathbf{v}^{n+1} \in \mathbb{E}_0^{\Gamma_D}$, the supremum in the right hand side of (I.30) vanishes and we can deduce that \mathbf{p}^{n+1} is constant. Then, the condition (\mathcal{N}_3) on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_O$ implies that $\mathbf{p}^{n+1} = 0$ on the boundary, since we recall that $m_\sigma \sigma^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{p}^{n+1}))\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathbb{L}} = m_\sigma \left(\frac{2}{\text{Re}}\mathbb{D}^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) - \mathbf{p}^{n+1}\text{Id}\right)\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathbb{L}}$, that $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}} = \sigma_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$ because we are studying ker(A) and that $\mathbf{u}^{n+1} = 0$.

Thus, by putting together the fact that p^{n+1} is constant and it is zero on the boundary, we have $p^{n+1} = 0$ in all the domain.

Remark III.3.2 Supposing Inf-sup condition is not that restrictive; just in the case of Cartesian meshes the stability is proved up to a checkerboard mode for the pressure, but thanks to the boundary conditions that we impose even in this case we can deduce that $p^{n+1} = 0$. Moreover, lots of numerical tests have been done and it still has not been found another mesh that does not satisfy the condition, see [BKN15].

III.4 Property of the convection term

We need to prove the following estimate in order to establish a discrete energy estimate:

Proposition III.4.1 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . For all $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \in \mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1} \times \mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1} \times \mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1} \times \mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1} \times \mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1}$, there exists a constant C > 0 that depends only on Ω and $reg(\mathfrak{T})$ such that:

$$\begin{split} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \leq & C\left(\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{3}+\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{3,\partial\Omega}\right)\|\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{6}\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \\ & + C\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{2},\partial\Omega}\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{2},\partial\Omega}\|\widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{4,\partial\Omega} \end{split}$$

Proof By the definition of the scalar product $[[\cdot, \cdot]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$ and of the convection term:

$$\begin{split} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathtt{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathtt{K}}\mathbf{w}_{\mathtt{K}} \cdot \mathbf{b}^{\mathtt{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \sum_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}} m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}\mathbf{w}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{b}^{\mathtt{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathtt{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{w}_{\mathtt{K}} \cdot \left(\sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}^{int}} F_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{v}_{\sigma}^{+} + \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}^{ext}} F_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \right) \\ &+ \sum_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{w}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} \cdot \left(\sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathtt{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{v}_{\sigma^{*}}^{+} + \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}} F_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\frac{\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})}{2} \right) \right). \end{split}$$

If we reorganize the sum over diamonds, since the fluxes are conservative (see (IV.6)), we get:

$$\begin{split} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{int}} F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{v}_{\sigma}^{+} \cdot (\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}}) \right. \\ &+ 2 \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \widetilde{\gamma}^{\sigma}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) + \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}} F_{\sigma^{*}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\mathbf{v}_{\sigma_{*}}^{+} \cdot (\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}) \right) \\ &:= \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{T}_{1} + 2\mathbf{T}_{2} + \mathbf{T}_{3}) \mathbf{v}_{\sigma}^{-1} \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{T}}^{-1} \mathbf$$

Estimate of T_1 :

By the definition of \mathbf{v}_{σ}^+ , we have:

$$\begin{split} |\mathbf{T}_{1}| &= \left| \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathbf{v}_{\sigma}^{+} \cdot (\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}}) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} \left(F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}^{+}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \, \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}} - F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}^{-}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \, \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}} \right) \cdot (\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}}) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} \left| F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \right| |\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}}| |\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}}|. \end{split}$$

If we look at the flux $F_{\sigma K}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$, we remark that $\forall \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}^{int}$:

$$|F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| = \bigg| - \sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{2} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}_{\mathsf{D}}} \bigg| \leq Cm_{\sigma} \sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} \bigg| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{2} \bigg|,$$

where C depends on reg(\mathfrak{T}) (see (I.1)). We use this result in the estimate of T₁ to obtain:

$$|\mathbf{T}_{1}| \leq C \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} |\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}}| \left| \frac{\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}} \right| \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{K}} \cap \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} \left| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{2} \right|$$

We apply Hölder's inequality with p = 6, q = 2, r = 3:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{T}_{1}| &\leq C \bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} |\mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{6} \bigg)^{1/6} \bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} \bigg| \frac{\mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathsf{L}}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}} \bigg|^{2} \bigg)^{1/2} \\ & \bigg(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} m_{\sigma} m_{\sigma^{*}} \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{K}} \cap \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} \bigg| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{2} \bigg|^{3} \bigg)^{1/3}, \end{aligned}$$

and thanks to the definition (I.3.1) of the gradient operator and (I.1), we can write:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{T}_{1}| &\leq C \bigg(\sum_{\mathtt{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathtt{K}} |\mathbf{v}_{\mathtt{K}}|^{6} \bigg)^{1/6} \bigg(\sum_{\mathtt{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathtt{D}} |\nabla^{\mathtt{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}|^{2} \bigg)^{1/2} \\ & \cdot \bigg(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathtt{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathtt{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}}|^{3} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathtt{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} m_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}|^{3} \bigg)^{1/3} \\ & \leq C \|\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{6} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{3}. \end{aligned}$$

Estimate of T_2 :

For what concerns boundary terms, the definition of fluxes changes (see (III.4)). Thus T_2 can be estimated by:

$$|\mathbf{T}_2| = \bigg| \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \widetilde{\gamma}^{\sigma}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \bigg| \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})| |\widetilde{\gamma}^{\sigma}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})|.$$

By applying Hölder's inequality with $p=\frac{8}{3},\,q=\frac{8}{3},\,r=4$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{T}_{2}| &\leq \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}|\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^{8/3}\right)^{3/8} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}|\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^{8/3}\right)^{3/8} \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}|\widetilde{\gamma}^{\sigma}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^{4}\right)^{1/4} \\ &\leq \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega} \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega} \|\widetilde{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{4,\partial\Omega}. \end{aligned}$$

Estimate of T_3 :

As we did for T_1 , by the definition of $\mathbf{v}_{\sigma^*}^+$, we have:

$$|\mathbf{T}_3| \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}} |F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^*}| |\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^*}|.$$

By the definition of the flux (see (III.5)), this term can be split into two contributions:

$$\begin{split} |\mathbf{T}_{3}| &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{int}} \left| F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \right| |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}| |\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}| \\ &+ \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \left| F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \right| |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}| |\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}| = \mathbf{T}_{3}^{1} + \mathbf{T}_{3}^{2}. \end{split}$$

For what concerns the estimate of T_3^1 , the definition of the flux $F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ is the same as the one of $F_{\sigma\kappa}$ when $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{int}$.

Thus we can proceed as for the estimate of T_1 and we get:

$$\mathbf{T}_3^1 \le C \, \| \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_6 \, \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_2 \, \| \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_3$$

For the term T_3^2 , the definition of the flux changes and we can estimate it by:

$$\begin{split} |F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{k}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| &= \Big| -\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathbb{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^*}}{2} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{D}}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}} \Big| \\ &\leq Cm_{\sigma} \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathbb{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{D}}} \left|\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^*}}{2}\right| + |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| \right). \end{split}$$

In this case, we can write:

$$|\mathbf{T}_3^2| \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}^2 |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^*}| \left| \frac{\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^*}}{m_{\sigma}} \right| \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}_{\mathbf{K}} \cap \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{D}}} \left| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}{2} \right| + |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| \right).$$

We split the right hand side into two terms. The first one is estimated exactly as T_1 :

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}^2 |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^*}| \left| \frac{\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^*}}{m_{\sigma}} \right| \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{S}_{\mathbf{K}} \cap \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{D}}} \left| \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}{2} \right| \le C \|\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{6} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{3}.$$

For the second one, we apply Hölder's inequality with p = 6, q = 2, r = 3 and we obtain:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}^2 |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^*}| \left| \frac{\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^*}}{m_{\sigma}} \right| |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})| \\ &\leq C \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}^2 |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{L}^*}|^6 \right)^{\frac{1}{6}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma}^2 \left| \frac{\mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{L}^*}}{m_{\sigma}} \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^3 \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \\ &\leq C \left(\sum_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}^*} m_{\mathbf{K}^*} |\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{K}^*}|^6 \right)^{\frac{1}{6}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathbf{D}} |\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})|^3 \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \\ &\leq C \|\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_6 \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2 \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{3,\partial\Omega}. \end{split}$$

By collecting the estimates we find the announced result:

$$\mathbf{T}_3 = \mathbf{T}_3^1 + \mathbf{T}_3^2 \le C \|\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_6 \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{w}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_2 (\|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_3 + \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{3,\partial\Omega}).$$

III.5 Discrete energy estimate

The open boundary condition (III.2) that we study is derived from a weak formulation of the Navier-Stokes equation that ensures an energy estimate, presented in [BF96]. In this section we prove a discrete version of the energy estimate.

In order to do so, we will need to consider the variational formulation (III.10) and select the solution as a test function. Since the solution $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}$ is not zero on the Dirichlet boundary Γ_1 , it does not satisfy the hypothesis (III.18). We decompose it as $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and, thanks to the definition of $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ (see (III.12)), $\mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}$ will be a good candidate to be our test function.

Theorem III.5.1 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω that satisfies Inf-sup stability condition. Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]}, p^{\mathfrak{D},[0,T]}) \in (\mathbb{E}_{g_1}^{\Gamma_1})^{N+1} \times (\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}})^{N+1}$ be the solution of the DDFV scheme (III.8), (\mathcal{N}_1) - (\mathcal{N}_4) , where $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = \mathbf{v}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$.

For N > 1, there exists a constant C > 0, depending on $\Omega, reg(\mathfrak{T}), \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}_0$, Re and T such that:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \|\mathbf{v}^{j+1} - \mathbf{v}^{j}\|_{2}^{2} &\leq C, \quad \|\mathbf{v}^{N}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C, \\ \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \delta t \frac{1}{Re} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{j+1}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C, \quad \delta t \frac{1}{Re} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{N}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C, \\ \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \delta t \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^{j} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+} \left| \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{j+1}) \right|^{2} \leq C. \end{split}$$

Proof The first step to obtain the energy inequality consists in rewriting the variational formulation (III.10) for the unknown $\mathbf{v}^{n+1} = \mathbf{u}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$. Let $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}}$ be a test function such that

$$\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_{0}^{\Gamma_{D}}, \quad \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) = 0.$$
 (III.18)

We recall that $(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ is a solution of the steady Stokes problem (III.12), so in particular

$$0 = -\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}}\left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}}\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathrm{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathrm{Id}\right), \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}}$$

by Green formula (Thm. I.5.1) we have:

$$\begin{split} 0 &= -\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}} \left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathrm{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathrm{Id} \right), \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} \right] \right]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &= \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} (\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} - \sum_{\mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_{2}} m_{\sigma}(\sigma^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathrm{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathtt{K}}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}). \end{split}$$

Then, since $\sigma_{\text{ref}}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is given by (III.13), the following holds:

$$0 = \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} (D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, D^{\mathfrak{D}} \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} - \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_2} m_{\sigma} (\sigma_{\operatorname{ref}}^{\mathsf{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma} (\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}).$$

This implies that (III.10), for the unknown $\mathbf{v}^{n+1} = \mathbf{u}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$, becomes:

$$\begin{split} [[\frac{\mathbf{v}^{n+1}-\mathbf{v}^{n}}{\delta t},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} &+ \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}}(\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1},\mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{v}^{n+1}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}),\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2}[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}},\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}),\mathbf{v}^{n+1}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}}(F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^{n}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}}F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^{n}+\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})^{-}\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\cdot\gamma^{\sigma}(\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}). \end{split}$$

The second step consists in selecting $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}} = (\mathbf{v}^{n+1} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ as a test function. If we define:

$$E := \left[\left[\frac{\mathbf{v}^{n+1} - \mathbf{v}^n}{\delta t}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\right]\right]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} \left(F_{\sigma^{\mathfrak{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^n + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\right)^+ \left|\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})\right|^2,$$

it follows that:

$$\begin{split} E &\leq \bigg| \frac{1}{2} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}), \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{v}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \bigg| \\ &+ \bigg| \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})^{-} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) \bigg|. \end{split}$$

We apply Proposition III.4.1 to the convection terms $[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}), \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $[[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{v}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}}$; for what concerns the boundary term, thanks to the definition of $F_{\sigma \kappa}$ for $\sigma \in \partial \Omega$, we have:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} F_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) \bigg| \leq \sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^n + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})| |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})| |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})|$$

and by applying Hölder's inequality with $p = \frac{8}{3}, q = \frac{8}{3}, r = 4$ we get:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} F_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) \bigg| \leq C \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^n + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega} \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega} \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{4,\partial\Omega}$$

Thus we are led to:

$$E \leq C \left(\|\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{3} + \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{3,\partial\Omega} \right) \\ \cdot \left(\|\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{6} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{6} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2} \right) \\ + C \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega} \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega} \|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})\|_{4,\partial\Omega}.$$

By Sobolev inequalities of [BCCHF15, Theorem 9], we bound $\|\mathbf{v}^n\|_3$ from above by $C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^n\|_2^{\frac{1}{3}}\|\mathbf{v}^n\|_2^{\frac{2}{3}}$ and $\|\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_6$ by $C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_2^{\frac{2}{3}}\|\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_2^{\frac{1}{3}}$. Moreover, thanks to the trace theorem (Thm. I.9.2) and to [BCCHF15, Theorem 9], we dominate $\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})\|_{\frac{8}{3},\partial\Omega}$ and $\|\gamma^{\mathfrak{T}}(\mathbf{v}^n)\|_{3,\partial\Omega}$ by $C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_2^{\frac{5}{8}}\|\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_2^{\frac{3}{8}}$ and $C\|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^n\|_2^{\frac{2}{3}}\|\mathbf{v}^n\|_2^{\frac{1}{3}}$.

We then apply the discrete Poincaré inequality, Theorem I.9.1, to get rid of the norms of \mathbf{v}^{n+1} . Finally we recall that $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ is a fixed reference steady flow. Hence there exists a constant C > 0 that depends only on Ω , reg (\mathfrak{T}) and $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ such that:

$$E \leq C \bigg(2 \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{\frac{1}{3}} \|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{\frac{2}{3}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2} + 2 \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{\frac{2}{3}} \|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{\frac{1}{3}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2} + 5 \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2} + \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{\frac{5}{8}} \|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{\frac{3}{8}} \|\nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2} \bigg).$$

We control the norm of the gradients with the norms of $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1}$ and $D^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n}$ thanks to Korn's inequality, Theorem I.8.2:

$$E \leq C \bigg(2 \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n} \|_{2}^{\frac{1}{3}} \| \mathbf{v}^{n} \|_{2}^{\frac{2}{3}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1} \|_{2} + 2 \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n} \|_{2}^{\frac{2}{3}} \| \mathbf{v}^{n} \|_{2}^{\frac{1}{3}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1} \|_{2} + 5 \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1} \|_{2} + \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n} \|_{2}^{\frac{5}{8}} \| \mathbf{v}^{n} \|_{2}^{\frac{3}{8}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1} \|_{2} \bigg).$$

Hence, by suitable use of Young's inequality (Lemma I.11.1) we end up with:

$$\begin{split} [[\frac{\mathbf{v}^{n+1} - \mathbf{v}^{n}}{\delta t}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+} \left| \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) \right|^{2} \\ \leq 16 \mathrm{Re}^{2} C^{3} \|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\mathrm{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{\mathrm{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{25}{2} \mathrm{Re} C^{2} \end{split}$$

We combine $\frac{1}{\text{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1} \|_2^2$ with the left hand side, we multiply this relation by δt and we apply

$$2[[\mathbf{v}^{n+1} - \mathbf{v}^n, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} = \|\mathbf{v}^{n+1} - \mathbf{v}^n\|_2^2 + \|\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_2^2 - \|\mathbf{v}^n\|_2^2$$

We obtain:

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{v}^{n+1} - \mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2}^{2} + \delta t \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2}^{2} + \delta t \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+} \left|\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})\right|^{2} \\ \leq \|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + 32\operatorname{Re}^{2}C^{3}\delta t\|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}}\delta t\|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + 25\operatorname{Re}C^{2}\delta t. \end{split}$$

We sum over $n = 0 \dots m - 1$ with $m \in \{1 \dots N\}$ to obtain:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \|\mathbf{v}^{n+1} - \mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{v}^{m}\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \delta t \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \|D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{n+1}\|_{2}^{2} + \delta t \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \|D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{m}\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \delta t \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{v}^{n} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^{+} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1})|^{2} \leq \|\mathbf{v}^{0}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \delta t \|D^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{0}\|_{2}^{2} + 25 \operatorname{Re}C^{2}T + 32 \operatorname{Re}^{2}C^{3} \delta t \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \|\mathbf{v}^{n}\|_{2}^{2}. \quad (\text{III.19})$$

We can now apply Grönwall's lemma (Lemma I.11.2), with:

$$a_0 := \|\mathbf{v}^0\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \delta t \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^0\|_2^2$$

$$\begin{split} a_m &:= \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \|\mathbf{v}^{j+1} - \mathbf{v}^j\|_2^2 + \|\mathbf{v}^m\|_2^2 + \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \delta t \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{j+1}\|_2^2 \\ &+ \delta t \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^m\|_2^2 + \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \delta t \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^j + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}))^+ |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{j+1})|^2 \end{split}$$

for $m = \{1 \dots N\}$. In fact, we deduce from (III.19) that

$$a_m \leq \underbrace{a_0 + 25 \operatorname{Re} C^2 T}_{:=A} + \underbrace{32 \operatorname{Re}^2 C^3}_{:=B} \delta t \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} a_i,$$

that implies:

$$\max_{m=1\dots N} a_m \le A e^{BT}.$$

This proves our initial statement, since we can choose m = N and write:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \|\mathbf{v}^{j+1} - \mathbf{v}^{j}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\mathbf{v}^{N}\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \delta t \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{j+1}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &+ \delta t \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{v}^{N}\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \delta t \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} (F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{v}^{j} + \mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}})^{+} |\gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{v}^{j+1})|^{2} \leq C(T). \end{split}$$

III.6 Numerical results

We validate the scheme through a series of numerical experiments. First, we study numerically the consistency properties of the scheme. Second, we reproduce the simulations of a flow in a channel presented in [BF94] and [Joh04].

III.6.1 Convergence results

Test case 1. The computational domain is $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$, whose boundary is divided into $\partial \Omega = \Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_2$. We impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on Γ_1 , composed by the two horizontal boundaries and the left vertical one. The open boundary condition (III.2) is imposed on Γ_2 , the right vertical boundary. We set the viscosity to 1.

For the tests we give the expression of the exact solution (\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) , from which we deduce a source term **f** for the momentum equation and the Dirichlet boundary condition g_1 . As a reference flow $(\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{D}})$, we consider the projection of the exact solution on Γ_2 . We will compare the $L^{\infty}(L^2)$ -norm of the error (difference between a centered projection of the exact solution and the approximated solution obtained with DDFV scheme) for the velocity (denoted Ervel), the $L^2(L^2)$ -norm of the error for the velocity gradient (Ergradvel) and the pressure (Erpre). In particular we denote:

$$\operatorname{Ergradvel} = \frac{\left(\sum_{n=0}^{N} \delta t \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} (\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u})^{n} - \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{n} \|_{2}^{2}\right)^{1/2}}{\left(\sum_{n=0}^{N} \delta t \| \nabla^{\mathfrak{D}} (\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u})^{n} \|_{2}^{2}\right)^{1/2}}$$

$$\operatorname{Erpre} = \frac{\left(\sum_{n=0}^{N} \delta t \| (\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p})^{n} - \mathbf{p}^{n} \|_{2}^{2}\right)^{1/2}}{\left(\sum_{n=0}^{N} \delta t \| (\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p})^{n} \|_{2}^{2}\right)^{1/2}}, \quad \operatorname{Ervel} = \frac{\max_{n=0...N} \| (\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u})^{n} - \mathbf{u}^{n} \|_{2}}{\max_{n=1...N} \| (\mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{T}} \mathbf{u})^{n} \|_{2}},$$

where $(\mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{T}}\mathbf{u})^n$ and $(\mathbb{P}_c^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p})^n$ are the centered projections of \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{p} at the time step $t_n = n\delta t$. On Table III.1 we give the number of primal cells (NbCell) and the convergence rates (Ratio). We remark that, to discuss the error estimates, a family of meshes (Fig. III.3) is obtained by refining successively and uniformly the original mesh. The exact solution is:

$$\mathbf{u}(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} -2\pi\cos(\pi x)\sin(2\pi y)\exp(-5\eta t\pi^2), \\ \pi\sin(\pi x)\cos(2\pi y)\exp(-5\eta t\pi^2) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathbf{p}(x,y) = -\frac{\pi^2}{4}(4\cos(2\pi x) + \cos(4\pi y))\exp(-10t\eta\pi^2).$$



Fig. III.3 Non conformal square mesh.

The final time is T = 0.03 and we set $\delta t = 3 \times 10^{-5}$. As we can see in Table III.1, we observe super convergence in $L^{\infty}(L^2)$ norm of the velocity, that is a classical result for Finite Volume methods. For what concerns the gradient of the velocity and the pressure, we remark that the non-conformity of the mesh does not influence the good convergence of the method. We get a first order accuracy on the velocity gradient, and an order of 1.5 for the pressure, that is better than what we expected.

Table III.1 Test case 1 on the non conformal square mesh Fig. III.3.

NbCell	Ervel	Ratio	Ergradvel	Ratio	Erpre	Ratio
64	1.424E-01	-	1.612E-01	-	6.127E+00	-
208	4.095 E-02	1.80	7.316E-02	1.14	1.725E + 00	1.83
736	1.019E-02	2.00	3.489E-02	1.07	5.836E-01	1.56
2752	2.559E-03	1.99	1.710E-02	1.03	1.947E-01	1.58
10624	6.493 E-04	1.98	8.474E-03	1.01	6.189E-02	1.65

We tested many other meshes and the results do not change. The geometry of the mesh does not influence the accuracy of the approximation.

III.6.2 Simulations of a flow in a pipe

Figure III.4 describes the situation we are dealing with: we consider Ω , a connected bounded polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^2 , whose boundary $\partial\Omega$ is split into Γ_0 , Γ_1 and Γ_2 and whose outer normal is denoted by $\vec{\mathbf{n}}$. We add a cylindrical obstacle inside Ω . The Dirichlet part of the boundary is composed by Γ_0 and Γ_1 : on the physical boundary Γ_0 we impose no slip boundary conditions (i.e. the velocity is set to zero) and on the inflow boundary Γ_1 the velocity is prescribed. On the *artificial* boundary Γ_2 , that we wish to set as close as possible to the obstacle, we impose the nonlinear boundary condition (III.2).



Fig. III.4 Domain and notations.

We reproduce two different test cases, proposed in [BF94] and in [Joh04]. In both cases, the simulations are performed on a triangular mesh, generated by GMSH, that is locally refined around the cylinder.

Test case 2. We show that by adding an artificial boundary, thanks to condition (III.2), we do not introduce any perturbation to the flow. For this purpose, we consider an original domain that we cut into two smaller domains and we draw the streamlines of the respective solution. We consider the symmetric domain $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$ with a cylindrical obstacle of diameter L = 0.4. The smaller domains are obtained by cutting at the horizontal axis first in x = 3, then in x = 1.5. The mesh for Ω is composed by 12118 cells, and we pass to $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$ with 8636 cells and to $\Omega'' = [0, 1.5] \times [0, 1]$ with 6534 cells. The time step is $\delta t = 0.035$. The inflow on Γ_1 is:

$$\mathbf{g}_1 = (6y(1-y), 0).$$

Since our first simulations are performed with Re = 250, it makes sense to set as reference flow a Poiseuille flow. Therefore we choose $\mathbf{u}_{ref} = \mathbf{g}_1$, $\mathbf{p}_{ref} = 0$ and $\sigma_{ref}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) \mathbf{\vec{n}} = (0, \frac{6}{\text{Re}}(1-2y))$. As initial condition, we impose $\mathbf{u}_{init} = \mathbf{g}_1$ and the final time is T = 3.5. If $\mathbf{u} = (\mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}_2)$, the stream



Fig. III.5 Domains $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$, $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$ and $\Omega'' = [0, 1.5] \times [0, 1]$ for the test case 2.

function Ψ is defined in the continuous setting as the solution of

$$\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial y} = \mathbf{u}_1, \quad \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial x} = -\mathbf{u}_2,$$

in particular it has to satisfy the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \Psi = \operatorname{rot}(\mathbf{u}) & \text{in } \Omega \\ \nabla \Psi \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\tau} & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

where $\operatorname{rot}(\mathbf{u}) = -\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y}$, $\vec{\mathbf{n}}$ is the outward unit normal to the domain and $\vec{\tau}$ is the unitary tangent to the boundary. In the DDFV setting, given the discrete solution $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$, we look for $\Psi^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ solution of:

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\mathfrak{T}} \Psi^{\mathfrak{D}} = \operatorname{rot}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ \nabla^{\mathsf{K}} \Psi^{\mathsf{D}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} = \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{{}^{\mathsf{K}^{*}\mathsf{L}^{*}}} \quad \forall \mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^{*}} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}. \end{cases}$$

We observe by the streamlines in Fig. III.6 (at T=1.5) and Fig. III.7 (at T=3.5), for which we point out that the scale is the same in all the sub-figures, that we can cut close to the obstacle without adding any perturbation to the whole flow. The recirculations are well located and there is no spurious vortices. Clearly, the closer we cut, the more we loose in precision in the cells right before the artificial boundary. This is due to the artificiality of the conditions and to the choice of the reference flow. But in any case, the boundary can cut the recirculation right in the middle without affecting the whole flow.

The choice of the reference flow is crucial. In [BF94], it is proposed to use a Poiseuille flow as we reproduce in our numerical tests of Fig. III.6 and Fig. III.7. In [Bru00], since to write down the variational formulation (III.9) the reference flow is assumed to be the solution of a steady Stokes problem with $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g}_1$ on Γ_1 , the author chooses the flow at infinity: $\mathbf{u}_{ref} = \mathbf{u}_{\infty}$, $\sigma_{ref} = \sigma_{\infty}$. Nevertheless, when the flow is chaotic or turbulent such a reference flow does not give a good equivalent of the traction. Thus for higher Reynold's numbers, such as Re = 1000 as in Fig. III.8 (T = 1.5) Fig. III.9 (T = 3.5), other techniques can be envisaged for the choice of the reference flow; for example, it looks reasonable to choose a reference flow that changes with time.

We might think that a good approximation of the solution at the boundary Γ_2 is the solution computed at the previous time step (or even just before the boundary at the same time step), but actually we numerically observed that these techniques lead to strong instabilities. Remark that by replacing $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ with \mathbf{u}^n , the energy stability is no longer guaranteed. Therefore, in



Fig. III.6 Streamline of Test case 2 at T = 1.5, Re = 250, $\delta t = 0.035$. On the top: $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell= 12118. In the middle: $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=8636. On the bottom: $\Omega'' = [0, 1.5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=6534.

order to avoid numerical instabilities, for the simulations of Fig. III.8, Fig. III.9 we do not update the value of $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ at each time step, but each 400 iterations. This choice is arbitrary and we cannot provide a generalization to all the values of Reynold's number. A way to overcome this difficulty could be to compute the flow on a strictly larger domain (with respect to the smaller one) with a less refined mesh, and then take as reference flow the trace of the solution on Γ_2 . Anyway, those results lead us to observe that even for higher Reynold's number and with a consistent choice of $\mathbf{u}_{ref}^{\mathfrak{T}}$, the conditions behave well: the recirculations are still well located and there are no spurious vortices.

Test case 3. This test is inspired from the benchmark of [ST96] and we precisely use the detailed results in [Joh04]. In both [ST96], [Joh04] the drag and lift coefficients of the flow past an obstacle are computed from simulations on a long domain, by imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions. Our idea is to measure the quality of the DDFV solution we obtain on the shorter domain with outflow boundary conditions.

The benchmark is defined with dimensional equations, so we adopt the same framework. References [ST96] and [Joh04] consider a long channel $\Omega = [0, 2.2\text{m}] \times [0, 0.41\text{m}]$, that we cut at x = 0.6m, with a cylindrical obstacle S whose center is in (0.2m, 0.2m). We perform the computation of the drag and lift coefficients by working on the smaller domain $\Omega' = [0, 0.6\text{m}] \times [0, 0.41\text{m}]$, with the outflow boundary condition (III.2) on Γ_2 (at x = 0.6m) and Dirichlet on the other boundaries. The triangular mesh that we considered on Ω' , obtained with GMSH, has 8020 cells and it is locally refined around the cylinder.

The viscosity of the fluid is set to $\eta = 10^{-3} \text{m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ and the final time is T = 8s. The time-dependent







Fig. III.7 Streamline of Test case 2 at T = 3.5, Re = 250, $\delta t = 0.035$. On the top: $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=12118. In the middle: $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=8636. On the bottom: $\Omega'' = [0, 1.5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=6534.



Fig. III.8 Streamline of Test case 2 at T = 1.5, Re = 1000, $\delta t = 0.035$. On the top: $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell= 12118. On the bottom: $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=8636.

inflow on Γ_1 is:

$$\mathbf{g}_1 = 0.41^{-2} \sin(\pi t/8) (6y(0.41 - y), 0),$$

and as a reference flow on Γ_2 we choose $\mathbf{u}_{ref} = \mathbf{g}_1$, $\mathbf{p}_{ref} = 0$ and $\sigma_{ref} \mathbf{\vec{n}} = \sigma(\mathbf{u}_{ref}, 0) \mathbf{\vec{n}}$, where $\mathbf{\vec{n}}$ is the outer normal to Ω . The initial condition is $\mathbf{u}_{init} = (0, 0)$. The density of the fluid is given by $\rho = 1 \text{kgm}^{-3}$, and the reference velocity is $\overline{U} = 1 \text{ms}^{-1}$ (note that the maximum velocity is $\frac{3}{2}\overline{U}$).



Fig. III.9 Streamline of Test case 2 at T = 3.5, Re = 1000, $\delta t = 0.035$. On the top: $\Omega = [0, 5] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell= 12118. On the bottom: $\Omega' = [0, 3] \times [0, 1]$, NbCell=8636.



Fig. III.10 Domains $\Omega = [0, 2.2] \times [0, 0.41]$ and $\Omega' = [0, 0.6] \times [0, 0.41]$ for the test case 3.

The diameter of the cylinder is L = 0.1m, so that the Reynold's number is $0 \le \text{Re}(t) \le 100$. We define the drag coefficient $c_d(t)$ and the lift coefficient $c_l(t)$ as:

$$c_d(t) = \frac{2}{\rho L \bar{U}^2} \int_S \left(\rho \eta \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}_{t_S}(t)}{\partial n} n_y - p(t) n_x \right),$$

$$c_l(t) = -\frac{2}{\rho L \bar{U}^2} \int_S \left(\rho \eta \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}_{t_S}(t)}{\partial n} n_x + p(t) n_y \right),$$

where here $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_S = (n_x, n_y)$ is the normal vector on S directing into Ω , $\mathbf{t}_S = (n_y, -n_x)$ the tangential vector and \mathbf{u}_{t_S} the tangential velocity.

The corresponding formula in the DDFV setting is:

$$c_d^n = \frac{2}{\rho L \bar{U}^2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap S} m_\sigma \left(\rho \eta \nabla^{\mathbf{D}} (\mathbf{u}^n \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathbf{K}^* \mathbf{L}^*}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}} \; n_y - \mathbf{p}^n n_x \right),$$

$$c_l^n = -\frac{2}{\rho L \bar{U}^2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext} \cap S} m_\sigma \left(\rho \eta \nabla^{\mathbf{D}} (\mathbf{u}^n \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathbf{K}^* \mathbf{L}^*}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}} \; n_x + \mathbf{p}^n n_y \right),$$

where:

$$\nabla^{\mathrm{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{n}\cdot\vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathrm{K}^{*}\mathrm{L}^{*}})\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathrm{K}}=\frac{m_{\sigma}}{2m_{\mathrm{D}}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{n}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}}^{n})\cdot\vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathrm{K}^{*}\mathrm{L}^{*}}+\frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}}{2m_{\mathrm{D}}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}^{*}}^{n}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}^{*}}^{n})\cdot\vec{\boldsymbol{\tau}}_{\mathrm{K}^{*}\mathrm{L}^{*}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathrm{K}^{*}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathrm{K}}.$$

We study the evolution of the coefficients in Fig. III.11 and their maximum value in Table III.2, defined as:

$$c_{d,max} = \max_{n \in \{0...N\}} c_d^n, \qquad c_{l,max} = \max_{n \in \{0...N\}} c_l^n.$$

The results shown in Table III.2 and in Fig. III.11 prove that the boundary conditions are robust and the solution we find is quantitatively correct. The small difference in the coefficients, with respect to the reference values, is due to the different kind of condition on the boundary and to the level of refinement of the mesh. We work with approximately 24000 unknowns, for all velocity components and pressure, with respect to the approximately 500 000 unknowns used to compute the reference coefficients. Even if our grid is coarser, we still obtain a good approximation.

In Figure III.11 we can also observe how the time step and the choice of the scheme influences the result for the lift coefficient: for the reference values, [Joh04] considers a time step $\delta t = 0.00125s$ with a second order scheme in time. Our scheme is first order in time: firstly, we test this scheme with a decreasing time step, starting with $\delta t = 0.0016667$. Secondly, we implement a second order backward difference formula in time to see if the approximation improves. The first iteration of the scheme remains unchanged, and for $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ the variational formulation (III.10) becomes:

$$\begin{split} & [[\frac{1}{\delta t} \left(\frac{3}{2} \mathbf{u}^{n+1} - 2\mathbf{u}^n + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{u}^{n-1} \right), \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} + \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}} (\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{2} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}} (2\mathbf{u}^n - \mathbf{u}^{n-1}, \mathbf{u}^{n+1}), \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} - \frac{1}{2} [[\mathbf{b}^{\mathfrak{T}} (2\mathbf{u}^n - \mathbf{u}^{n-1}, \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}), \mathbf{u}^{n+1}]]_{\mathfrak{T}} \\ & = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathsf{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_2} (F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} (2\mathbf{u}^n - \mathbf{u}^{n-1}))^+ \gamma^{\sigma} (\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma} (\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathsf{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_2} (F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} (2\mathbf{u}^n - \mathbf{u}^{n-1}))^- \gamma^{\sigma} (\mathbf{u}_{ref}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma} (\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}) \\ & \quad + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathsf{D}_{ext} \cap \Gamma_2} m_{\sigma} (\sigma_{\mathrm{ref}}^{\mathfrak{D}} \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}) \cdot \gamma^{\sigma} (\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}}). \end{split}$$

We observe in Fig. III.11 that this technique actually improves the quality of the approximation of the lift coefficient.

	DDFV	Reference
$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{c}_{d,\max} \\ \mathbf{c}_{l,\max} \end{array}$	2.9 754 0.4 4902	2.9 509 0.4 7795

Table III.2 Comparison between the values of $c_{d,max}$, $c_{l,max}$ obtained with DDFV scheme (left) and the reference values of [Joh04] (right).





Fig. III.11 Comparison between the evolution of c_d^n, c_l^n on the time interval [0, 8] obtained with DDFV scheme (left) and the reference values of [Joh04] (right). We plot the results for the scheme of order 1 in time, with respect to different time steps, and for the scheme of order 2.

Conclusions and perspectives

In this chapter, we proposed a DDFV scheme for the Navier–Stokes problem with outflow boundary conditions. The DDFV scheme is proved to be well-posed and it satisfies a discrete energy estimate. We numerically showed the good convergence of the scheme and we performed numerical tests that establish the accuracy of this condition. In particular, we remarked the influence in the simulations of the *reference flow* that appears in the outflow boundary condition: it is supposed to be a steady flow, but when the Reynold's number increases and the flow it is no more laminar, this choice is not the optimal one. We would like to investigate this point in order to find the best technique to choose it. Moreover, these results are proved in the case of a constant viscosity, but they could be extended to the case of variable viscosity, by starting from the works of [BF07, Kre11b].

Chapter IV

Non-overlapping DDFV Schwarz algorithm for Navier-Stokes problem

Contents

IV.1 DDFV scheme for the Navier-Stokes problem on Ω	121
IV.1.1 The scheme \mathcal{P}	121
IV.1.2 Wellposedness of problem (\mathcal{P})	125
IV.2 DDFV scheme for the subdomain problem on Ω_j	127
IV.2.1 DDFV on composite meshes	127
IV.2.2 DDFV Schwarz algorithm	130
IV.3 Convergence analysis of the DDFV Schwarz algorithm	135
IV.3.1 The limit problem $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$	135
IV 4 Second DDFV Schwarz algorithm	151
IV.5 Numerical results	154
IV.5 Numerical results IV.5.1 Error on the interface	154 156

The aim of this chapter is to develop a DDFV version of a non-overlapping iterative Schwarz algorithm for the incompressible Navier-Stokes problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} - \operatorname{div}(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p})) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \times [0, T], \\ \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \times [0, T], \\ \mathbf{u} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times [0, T], \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_{init} & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(IV.1)

where Ω is an open connected bounded polygonal domain of \mathbb{R}^2 , $\mathbf{u}_{init} \in (L^{\infty}(\Omega))^2$, and where $\mathbf{u} : \Omega \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is the velocity, $\mathbf{p} : \Omega \times [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$ is the pressure and $\sigma(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{p}) = \frac{2}{\text{Re}} \mathrm{D}\mathbf{u} - \mathrm{pId}$ is the stress tensor, with $\mathrm{Re} > 0$. In particular, the strain rate tensor is defined by the symmetric part of the velocity gradient $\mathrm{D}\mathbf{u} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla \mathbf{u} + {}^t\nabla \mathbf{u})$.

Non-overlapping Schwarz algorithm enters the class of domain decomposition methods, in which a domain is decomposed into smaller subdomains. The main advantage is that the problems on the subdomains are independent, which makes these methods suitable for parallel computing and thus interesting for high performance computing perspectives. The classical Schwarz algorithm, proposed in 1870 by H.A. Schwarz for the Laplace's problem, is an iterative method that consists in transmitting the solution, or its normal derivative, from a subdomain to the other, in order to deal with complex domains. This method converges only if the subdomains overlap. Moreover, this convergence becomes slower as the overlap between the subdomains is smaller.

In non-overlapping Schwarz algorithms, the subdomains intersect only on their interface and in order to obtain convergence, different transmission conditions on the interfaces have been investigated. It was shown in 1990 by P.L.Lions [Lio90] that, with Fourier (i.e. Robin) transmission conditions, Schwarz algorithm for the Laplace operator converges even without overlap. This method has been adapted to the discrete case for many problems of isotropic diffusion, [AJNM02, CHH04, GJMN05], for advection-diffusion-reaction problems, [GH07, HH14] and for anisotropic diffusion in a DDFV discretization, [BHK10b, GHHK18].

Our goal is thus to decompose the domain Ω of problem (IV.1) into smaller subdomains, solve the Navier-Stokes problem on those subdomains by imposing some transmission conditions on the interfaces, and recover by an iterative Schwarz algorithm the discrete solution of (IV.1) on Ω . We work with an unsteady problem; we decide to apply this iterative algorithm at each time iteration.

We refer as a starting point of this study to the works of [GHHK18] and [HH14]: they both build a non-overlapping Schwarz algorithm in a finite volume framework with Fourier-like transmission conditions between subdomains; the first considers the case of anisotropic diffusion with a DDFV discretization, the latter considers a problem of advection-diffusion-reaction in a TPFA discretization. In our case, when switching to the Navier-Stokes equations (IV.1) in a DDFV framework, the difficulty mainly consists into designing the same type of transmission conditions, by taking into account both the non-linear convection terms and the incompressibility constraint.

This is why we choose to impose the following: when we decompose the domain Ω into two (or more) smaller subdomains $\Omega = \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$, the Schwarz algorithm defines a sequence of solutions \mathbf{u}_j^l of the Navier-Stokes problem in Ω_j , where the transmission conditions on the interface between the subdomains (denoted by Γ) for (j, i) = (1, 2) or (2, 1), are defined by:

$$\sigma(\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l}, \mathbf{p}_{j}^{l}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{j} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{j}) (\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l}) + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{j}^{l} = \sigma(\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}, \mathbf{p}_{i}^{l-1}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{i} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{i}) (\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}) + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1},$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}_{j}^{l}) + \alpha \mathbf{p}_{j}^{l} = -\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{u}_{i}^{l-1}) + \alpha \mathbf{p}_{i}^{l-1},$$
(IV.2)

where $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_j$ is the outer normal to Ω_j and l is the iteration of the Schwarz algorithm. The first condition, which depends on λ , is inspired by the classical Fourier condition, which linearly combines of the values of a the unknown and the values of its derivative; here, also the convection is included. The second, which depends on α , combines the divergence of the velocity with the pressure; it will be useful to conserve the incompressibility constraint at the convergence of the algorithm. This is the first time, to our knowledge, that this kind of condition appears.

Another key point of our study is the discretization of the convection terms, inspired by [HH14]: we decide to approximate this terms by a centered discretization plus a diffusive perturbation, which depends on a general function B; this function will play an important role in the convergence of the algorithm. We refer to the so called "B-schemes", which first appeared in [CHD11] when designing finite volume schemes for non-coercive elliptic problems with Neumann boundary conditions.

Outline. This chapter is organized as follows. In Sec. IV.1, we define a discretization of the Navier-Stokes problem on the entire domain Ω by using B-schemes for the discretization of the

nonlinear convection terms; we prove that the scheme, to which we will refer as (\mathcal{P}) , is well-posed. In particular, (\mathcal{P}) is the limit scheme towards which the solution of the iterative Schwarz algorithm should converge. In Sec.IV.2, we introduce the composite meshes, i.e. the meshes on the subdomains, and we build a scheme for the subdomain problem with transmission boundary conditions, that are the discrete version of (IV.2). In the same section, we introduce then the DDFV Schwarz algorithm. The convergence of that algorithm is proven in Sec. IV.3, and we show that it actually converges to a modified version of (\mathcal{P}) , that we name $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$. The difference between (\mathcal{P}) and $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$ is the choice of the function B that defines the convection terms on the interface. In Sec. IV.4, we prove how to recover the convergence towards (\mathcal{P}) , by proposing an alternative Schwarz algorithm. Finally, in Sec. IV.5 we illustrate the theoretical results by means of some numerical simulations; in particular, we show and compare the convergence of the Schwarz algorithms built, by underlying the influence of the parameters λ, α of (IV.2).

IV.1 DDFV scheme for the Navier-Stokes problem on Ω

In this section, we propose a DDFV discretization for the Navier-Stokes problem with Dirichlet boundary conditions on the entire domain Ω . Such a scheme for this problem was already studied in [Kre10], with the choice of an upwind discretization to treat the convection term. Our aim is to generalize this result to B-schemes; in those schemes, the convection term is approximated by a centered discretization plus a diffusive perturbation, which depends on a general function B. This is inspired from the work of [HH14], which handles scalar advection-diffusion-reaction equation with a classic finite volume discretization.

Just a remark, all along this chapter D_{σ,σ^*} will be denoted by D, to simplify the notations.

IV.1.1 The scheme \mathcal{P}

Let $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $0 < T < \infty$. We note $\delta t = \frac{T}{N}$ and $t_n = n\delta t$ for $n \in \{0, \dots, N\}$. To design the DDFV scheme, we choose to use an implicit Euler time discretization, except for the nonlinear term, which is linearized by using a semi-implicit approximation. This is why we need $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^n) - \beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^n = 0$ at each time step $n \in \{0, \dots, N\}$, even at the initial time step. Remark that the parameter β is relied to a Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization for the mass conservation equation; see Sec. I.7.

We look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T},[0,T]} = (\mathbf{u}^n)_{n \in \{0,\dots N\}} \in (\mathbb{E}_0)^{N+1}$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D},[0,T]} = (\mathbf{p}^n)_{n \in \{0,\dots N\}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}})^{N+1}$, that we initialize with:

$$\mathbf{u}^{0} = \mathbb{P}_{c}^{\mathfrak{L}} \mathbf{u}_{0} \in \mathbb{E}_{0},$$

$$\mathbf{p}^{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}} \text{such that } \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^{0} = \frac{1}{\beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{0}) \text{ with } \sum_{\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{p}}^{0} = 0.$$

The vector \mathbf{p}^0 is well defined since it is solution of a square system, whose matrix is invertible. With those choices of $(\mathbf{u}^0, \mathbf{p}^0)$ we guarantee the property $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^n) - \beta d_{\mathfrak{p}} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^n = 0$ at the initial time step.

From now on, to simplify the notations we will denote $(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{p}^{n+1})$ with $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ and $(\mathbf{u}^{n}, \mathbf{p}^{n})$ with $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ that at each time step are known.

To obtain our scheme, we integrate the momentum equation over all $\mathfrak{M} \cup \mathfrak{M}^*$ and we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$. The equation of conservation of mass is directly approximated on the diamond mesh equation over \mathfrak{D} , and it is stabilized through a parameter $\beta > 0$ with a Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization (see Sec. I.7).

Given $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$, satisfying div $^{\mathfrak{D}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{p}^{2} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$, we look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} m_{\kappa} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa} = m_{\kappa} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa} + m_{\kappa} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa}}{\delta t} & \forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \\ m_{\kappa^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}} = m_{\kappa^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa^{*}} + m_{\kappa^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa^{*}}}{\delta t} & \forall \kappa^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \\ \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} = 0 \\ \\ \mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{p}^{2} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\ \\ \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{p} \mathbf{p}^{p} = 0, \end{cases}$$

with $\beta > 0$.

The fluxes are defined as a sum of a "diffusion" term and a "convection" term:

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa} = m_{\sigma}(\mathcal{F}^{d}_{\sigma\kappa} + \mathcal{F}^{c}_{\sigma\kappa}), \qquad (\text{IV.3})$$

$$m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^* \kappa^*} = m_{\sigma^*} (\mathcal{F}^d_{\sigma^* \kappa^*} + \mathcal{F}^c_{\sigma^* \kappa^*}).$$
(IV.4)

The diffusion fluxes are defined, as in Chapter III, as:

$$egin{aligned} &m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}^{d}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} = - \; m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \: ec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} \ &= - \; m_{\sigma}\left(rac{2}{\mathrm{Re}}\mathrm{D}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{Id}
ight) \: ec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}^d_{\sigma^* \kappa^*} &= - m_{\sigma^*} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^* \kappa^*} \\ &= - msige\left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathrm{D}^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{Id}\right) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^* \kappa^*}, \end{split}$$

where the stress tensor is approximated through the operators defined in Sec. I.3.

The **convection fluxes** are defined as:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}^{c} = & m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}B\left(\frac{2m_{\mathrm{D}}\mathrm{Re}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}\right)\left(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}\right),\\ m_{\sigma^{*}}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}^{c} = & m_{\sigma^{*}}F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}B\left(\frac{2m_{\mathrm{D}}\mathrm{Re}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}}F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}\right)\left(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}\right). \end{split}$$

They are the sum of a centered discretization and a diffusive perturbation, which depends on the function B. This function B embeds the different schemes that we want to work with: for instance, if we want a centered scheme, we choose B(s) = 0 and for an upwind scheme, we set $B(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$. We denote $B\left(\frac{2m_{\rm D}{\rm Re}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma{\rm K}}\right)$ with $B_{\sigma{\rm K}}$ and $B\left(\frac{2m_{\rm D}{\rm Re}}{m_{\sigma^{*}}}F_{\sigma^{*}{\rm K}^{*}}\right)$ with $B_{\sigma{\rm K}}$. In the particular case of the upwind discretization, $B_{\sigma{\rm K}}, B_{\sigma^{*}{\rm K}^{*}}$ are scalars, but we will see that those coefficients can be generalized to matrices and to more general expressions. The total fluxes then become:

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} + \mathbf{u}_{L}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}B_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa} - \mathbf{u}_{L})$$

$$m_{\sigma^{*}}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}} = -m_{\sigma^{*}}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}} + m_{\sigma^{*}}F_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{L^{*}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}B_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{L^{*}})$$
(IV.5)

The definition of $F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}$, $F_{\sigma^*{\mathsf{K}}^*}$ comes straightforward by Sec. III.1 and [Kre10, Kre11b]. They are an approximation of the fluxes: $\int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}) \rightsquigarrow F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ and $\int_{\sigma^*} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*}) \rightsquigarrow F_{\sigma^*{\mathsf{K}}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$. We obtain them by calculating the fluxes on the sides \mathfrak{s} of diamonds for the interior edges (see

Fig. IV.1). In fact, we remark that by integrating the solenoidal constraint on the semi-diamond D_{K} of vertices x_{K}, x_{K^*}, x_{L^*} we have:

$$0 = \int_{\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \operatorname{div}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\sigma} \bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} + \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}} \cap \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} \int_{\mathfrak{s}} \bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}_{\mathsf{D}}} \mathrm{d}s.$$

Those fluxes on the sides \mathfrak{s} of diamonds are the ones that we obtain by integrating the solenoidal constraint on each diamond $\mathfrak{p} \in \mathfrak{D}$:

$$\int_{\mathsf{D}} \operatorname{div}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{\mathfrak{s} \in \partial \mathsf{D}} \int_{\mathfrak{s}} \bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s} \mathsf{D}} \mathrm{d}s,$$

that at a discrete level is written, by adding a stabilization, as:

$$m_{\mathtt{D}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathtt{D}}d_{\mathtt{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathtt{D}}\bar{\mathtt{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathfrak{s}=\mathtt{D}|\mathtt{D}'\in\mathcal{E}_{\mathtt{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}}G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{D}}$$

so that $\int_{\mathfrak{s}} \bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s} \mathsf{D}} ds$ is approximated by $m_{\mathfrak{s}} G_{\mathfrak{s}, \mathsf{D}} = m_{\mathfrak{s}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}} + \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{2} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s} \mathsf{D}} - \beta (d_{\mathsf{D}} + d_{\mathsf{D}'}) (\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} - \mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}'})$ for $\mathfrak{s} = [x_{\mathsf{K}}, x_{\mathsf{K}^*}] = \mathsf{D}|\mathsf{p}', \ \mathfrak{s} \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}.$

Remark IV.1.1 If $D \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}$ (see Fig. IV.1), $m_D \operatorname{div}^{D}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})$ can be rewritten as:

$$m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathtt{D}} d_{\mathtt{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}} \bar{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = \sum_{\mathfrak{s} = \mathtt{D} | \mathtt{D}' \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathtt{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}} G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{D}} + m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathtt{K}}}.$$

We thus impose:

 \blacktriangleright For the primal edges:

$$m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = -\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{d}}.$$

▶ For the dual edges:

$$m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} = \begin{cases} -\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{S}_{\mathbf{K}^*}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{D}}} m_{\mathfrak{s}}G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathbf{D}} & \text{if } \mathbf{K}^*\in\mathfrak{M}^*\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^*, \ \sigma^*\cap\partial\Omega = \emptyset \\\\ -m_{\mathfrak{s}}G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathbf{D}} - \frac{1}{2}m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{K}^*}H_{\mathbf{K}^*} & \text{if } \mathbf{K}^*\in\partial\mathfrak{M}^*, \ \sigma^*\cap\partial\Omega \neq \emptyset, \text{i.e. } \mathbf{D}_{\sigma,\sigma^*}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^{ext} \end{cases}$$

where $m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathsf{K}^*}$ indicates the measure of the intersection between $\partial\mathsf{K}^*\cap\partial\Omega$ and:

$$\begin{split} m_{\mathfrak{s}}G_{\mathfrak{s},\mathtt{d}} &= m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathtt{K}} + \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}}{2} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathtt{d}} - \beta(d_{\mathtt{d}} + d_{\mathtt{d}'})(\mathtt{p}^{\mathtt{d}} - \mathtt{p}^{\mathtt{d}'}), \quad \forall \mathfrak{s} = [x_{\mathtt{K}}, x_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}] = \mathtt{d}|\mathtt{d}' \\ m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial \mathtt{K}^{*}}H_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} &= \sum_{\mathtt{d} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}^{ext}} m_{\sigma \cap \partial \mathtt{K}^{*}} \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}, \qquad \forall \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}. \end{split}$$

The difference with respect to the fluxes of Sec. III.1 is their definition on the boundary edges; this is due to type of boundary conditions that we consider. Remark that at this stage, since we are imposing (for simplicity) homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial\Omega$, those contributions will not be taken into account.

Remark that if $m_{\rm p} {\rm div}^{\rm p}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\rm p} d_{\rm p}^2 \Delta^{\rm p} \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$ we have conservativity of the fluxes $F_{\sigma \kappa}$ and



Fig. IV.1 Left: A diamond $D = D_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$ with $\sigma \subset \mathcal{E}_{int}$. Right: A diamond $D = D_{\sigma,\sigma^*}$ with $\sigma \in \partial \Omega$.

 $F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$, that is:

$$F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} = -F_{\sigma\mathbf{L}}, \quad \forall \sigma = \mathbf{K} | \mathbf{L} \quad \text{and} \quad F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} = -F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{L}^*}, \quad \forall \sigma^* = \mathbf{K}^* | \mathbf{L}^*. \tag{IV.6}$$

Proposition IV.1.2 Let \mathfrak{T} be a DDFV mesh associated to Ω . For all $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in \mathbb{E}_0 \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^*$ we have:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}=0 & \forall \mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M} \\ &\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}=0 & \forall \mathbf{K}^*\in\mathfrak{M}^* \\ &\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*}=-m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{K}^*}H_{\mathbf{K}^*} & \forall \mathbf{K}^*\in\partial\mathfrak{M}^* \end{split}$$

Proof For the interior mesh, we proceed as in [Kre10].

If $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, by reorganizing the sum on the sides $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{G}_K$ belonging to the primal cell κ , we obtain:

$$-\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{2}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}}=-\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}}m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{2}\cdot(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}}+\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}'})=0$$
(IV.7)

since $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{D}} = -\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{D}'}$, where \mathfrak{p} and \mathfrak{p}' denote the two neighbor diamonds which share the edge \mathfrak{s} , of vertices x_{κ}, x_{κ^*} . In the same way,

$$-\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}}\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2}+d_{\mathsf{D}'}^{2})(\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}'}-\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}) = -\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}}} (d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2}+d_{\mathsf{D}'}^{2})(\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}'}-\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}+\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}-\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}'}) = 0.$$
(IV.8)

We deduce that $\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = 0$. The proof is similar for $\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*} = 0$ if $\mathsf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$.

We now focus on the case in which $\kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*$; by definition of $m_{\sigma^*} F_{\sigma^* \kappa^*}$:

$$-\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}\sum_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathfrak{G}_{\mathsf{K}^*}\cap\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{D}}}\left\{m_{\mathfrak{s}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}{2}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathsf{D}}+(d_{\mathsf{D}}^2+d_{\mathsf{D}'}^2)(\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}'}-\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}})\right\}-\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}\cap\partial\Omega}\frac{1}{2}m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathsf{K}^*}H_{\mathsf{K}^*}$$
$$=0-m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathsf{K}^*}H_{\mathsf{K}^*}.$$

where the first sum is zero thanks to (IV.7),(IV.8), and for the second term we use the fact that each vertex κ^* is shared by two boundary diamonds.

IV.1.2 Wellposedness of problem (\mathcal{P})

The following theorem states the wellposedness of the scheme (\mathcal{P}). This is quite a classical result for a discretization of Navier-Stokes problem with Dirichlet boundary conditions, if we consider a centered or an upwind scheme (see for instance [Kre10] for the DDFV setting); what is crucial is to understand the properties that need to be satisfied by $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ in order to have wellposedness, with the aim to extend later to more general coefficients.

Theorem IV.1.3 Under the hypothesis

$$B_{\sigma\kappa} = B_{\sigma L}, \qquad B_{\sigma\kappa} \ge 0$$

$$B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = B_{\sigma^*L^*}, \qquad B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} \ge 0$$

$$(\mathcal{H}p)$$

problem (\mathcal{P}) is well-posed.

Remark IV.1.4 In the more general case in which $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ are matrices, instead of $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} \geq 0$, we ask $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ to be semi-definite positive; the proof does not change, except for the notations.

Proof The scheme (\mathcal{P}) is a linear system in $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \in (\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$. Let us denote by N the dimension of $(\mathbb{R}^2)^{\mathfrak{T}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$. Then (\mathcal{P}) can be written, with $\mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = \mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^*} = q^{\mathfrak{D}} = \phi = 0$, as

$$\begin{cases} m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}} + m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ \\ m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} = m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \\ \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = \mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} = \mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} \\ \mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = q^{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \\ \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} = \phi \end{cases}$$

This is a linear system Av = b with a rectangular matrix $A \in \mathcal{M}_{N+1,N}(\mathbb{R})$, $v \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$. Let X be the following set:

$$X = \left\{ (\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{M}}, \mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{M}^*}, \mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}}, \mathbf{g}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^*}, q^{\mathfrak{D}}, \phi) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{ext}} m_{\sigma} \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{g}^{\mathfrak{T}}) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} = \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathbf{D}} q^{\mathfrak{D}} \right\},$$

then dim(X) = N. We have that ${}^{t}(\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{M}}, \mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{M}^{*}}, 0, 0, 0)$ belongs to X and that $\operatorname{Im}(A) \subset X$ since we have a relation between the solenoidal constraint and the Dirichlet boundary conditions thanks to Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1). If we show that the matrix is injective, we conclude that $dim(\operatorname{Im}(A)) = N$ and that $\operatorname{Im}(A) = X$. So we study the kernel of the matrix A, that is equivalent to show that if $\mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{M}} = \mathbf{f}^{\mathfrak{M}^{*}} = 0$, then $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$.

We multiply the equations on the primal and dual mesh of (\mathcal{P}) by $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and we sum over all the control volumes:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{\delta t} \left(\sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^2 + \sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}^*} m_{\mathsf{K}^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*}|^2 \right) + \sum_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} + \sum_{\mathsf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^*} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*} \right] = 0.$$

By definition of the scalar products we have $\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{\delta t} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}} m_{\mathbf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^2 + \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}^*} m_{\mathbf{K}^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}|^2 \right) \right] = \frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|^2$ and, by replacing the definition of the fluxes, we have:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{2} \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}) = 0. \quad (\mathrm{IV.9})$$

We can consider separately the terms. By replacing the definition of the divergence operator (Def. (I.3.5)) and then by appying Green's formula (Thm. I.5.1) for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$, we have:

$$\bullet -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} \\ = -\left[\left[\left[\mathbf{div}^{\mathfrak{T}} \left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathsf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} - \mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \right), \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \right] \right]_{\mathfrak{T}} = \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathsf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} - (\mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}} = \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathsf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2},$$

where for the last equality we use that $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} p^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$ and we apply Remark I.7.2 to the term $-\beta (d_{\mathfrak{D}}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} p^{\mathfrak{D}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})_{\mathfrak{D}}$.

For all the convection terms, we pass to a sum over diamonds recalling that $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in \mathbb{E}_0$, so we do not have boundary terms.

For the centered part, we apply Prop. IV.1.2, to conclude that:

•
$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}}{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} (|\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^{2} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}|^{2}) + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\sigma^{*}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} (|\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}|^{2} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}|^{2})$$
$$= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^{2} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}} \\ =0}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}|^{2} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}} \\ =0}} m_{\sigma^{*}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} = 0.$$

For the terms that depend on $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$, we apply hypothesis $(\mathcal{H}p)$ to conclude that:

•
$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}^{*}}) \\ = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}})^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{2}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}^{*}})^{2} \ge 0.$$

Putting all together, (IV.9) becomes:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} ||\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}||_{2}^{2} + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} ||\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}||_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2} \le 0,$$

from which we deduce that $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} = 0$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is a constant (we recall that $\beta > 0$). Since $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ verifies $\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathsf{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}} = 0$, we have $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$.

IV.2 DDFV scheme for the subdomain problem on Ω_i

In this section, we define a discretization for the subdomain problem on Ω_j , for j = 1, 2. We present the study for two subdomains for simplicity, but it could be extended to a generic number of adjacent subdomains. As in Sec. IV.1, the nonlinear convection term will be approximated through B-schemes; we will see that the coefficients $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ play an important role in the convergence of the Schwarz algorithm.

We start by defining the scheme, denoted by (\mathcal{P}_j) , and the related Schwarz algorithm for the domain decomposition; then we prove some a priori estimates in order to show the wellposedness of (\mathcal{P}_j) at the end of the section.

IV.2.1 DDFV on composite meshes

On each subdomain Ω_j of Ω , j = 1, 2, we want to solve a Navier-Stokes system with mixed boundary conditions. On a fraction of the boundary (the one that intersects $\partial\Omega$) we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions; on the remaining part (the interface Γ between the two subdomains) we impose the discretized version of the transmission conditions (IV.2), that depend on the two parameters λ, α .



Fig. IV.2 DDFV meshes.

Description of the meshes

For each subdomain Ω_j of Ω , j = 1, 2, we consider a DDFV mesh $\mathfrak{T}_j = (\mathfrak{M}_j \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_j, \mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_j^*)$ and the associated diamond mesh \mathfrak{D}_j . We remark that, thanks to DDFV scheme, we can work with non conformal meshes, and in particular the two subdomains can be meshed differently. Letting Γ be the interface between the two subdomains, we denote by:

 $\begin{aligned} &\diamond \text{ the diamond cells intersecting } \Gamma : & \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma} := \{ \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}, \mathtt{D} \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset \}; \\ &\diamond \text{ the boundary primal cells intersecting } \Gamma : & \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} := \{ \mathtt{K} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}, \mathtt{K} \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset \}; \\ &\diamond \text{ the boundary dual cells intersecting } \Gamma : & \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} := \{ \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}, \mathtt{K}^{*} \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset \}; \\ &\diamond \text{ the boundary primal cells intersecting } \partial \Omega : & \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D} := \{ \mathtt{K} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}, \mathtt{K} \cap \Omega \neq \emptyset \}; \\ &\diamond \text{ the boundary dual cells intersecting } \partial \Omega : & \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}^{*} := \{ \mathtt{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}, \mathtt{K}^{*} \cap \partial \Omega \neq \emptyset \}; \end{aligned}$

see Fig. IV.2 for an example.

Definition IV.2.1 (Composite mesh) We say that \mathfrak{T}_1 and \mathfrak{T}_2 are compatible, if the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. the two meshes share the same vertices on Γ . This, in particular, implies that the two meshes have the same degenerate volumes on Γ , i.e. $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{1,\Gamma} = \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2,\Gamma}$.
- 2. The center x_{L} of the degenerate volumes of the interface $L = [x_{K^*}, x_{L^*}] \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{1,\Gamma} = \partial \mathfrak{M}_{2,\Gamma}$ is the intersection between (x_{K^*}, x_{L^*}) and (x_{K_1}, x_{K_2}) , where $\kappa_1 \in \mathfrak{M}_1$ and $\kappa_2 \in \mathfrak{M}_2$ are the two primal cells such that $L \in \partial \kappa_1$ and $L \in \partial \kappa_2$ (see Fig. IV.2).

Consider the composite mesh of Fig. IV.2; remark that:

- a diamond \mathfrak{p} , of vertices $x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}, x_{\kappa_2}$ that intersects Γ in the domain Ω can be written as the union of diamonds \mathfrak{p}_1 , of vertices $x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}, x_{\iota}$, and \mathfrak{p}_2 , of vertices $x_{\kappa_2}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}, x_{\iota}$, respectively in Ω_1, Ω_2 . Moreover, on the subdomain meshes we have the additional unknowns on x_{ι} on Γ with respect to the mesh on Ω ;
- equivalently, a volume κ^* that intersects Γ in Ω is the union of κ_1^*, κ_2^* in Ω_1, Ω_2 . In particular, an edge $\sigma^* = [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa_2}]$ can be split into $\sigma^* = \sigma_1^* \cup \sigma_2^* = [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa_1}] \cup [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa_2}];$
- an edge $\sigma = [x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}]$ on the interface Γ is shared by all the meshes.

We add some fluxes unknowns $\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}$ on each dual cell that intersect Γ , i.e. $\forall \kappa_j^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$. Those unknowns approximate the dual fluxes $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ on the interface; in particular, for a diamond $\mathfrak{d} \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$, the unknowns are illustrated in Fig. IV.3.



Fig. IV.3 The unknowns on a diamond on the interface for the subdomain Ω_i .

To obtain our scheme, we integrate the momentum equation over $\mathfrak{M}_j \cup \mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$, we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}^*$ and transmission conditions on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$ (depending on λ). The equation of conservation of mass is directly approximated on the diamond mesh equation over \mathfrak{D}_j , and it is stabilized through a parameter $\beta > 0$ with a Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization (see Sec. I.7); for the diamonds in \mathfrak{D}_j^{Γ} a transmission term is added, controlled by the parameter α .

We then define the DDFV discretization for the transmission conditions the following system:

Find
$$(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \times \partial \mathfrak{M}_{i,\Gamma}^{*}$$
 such that

$$\begin{split} m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = m_{\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}} + m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j} \\ m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} = m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \\ m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Psi_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} = m_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\mathsf{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \\ -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathsf{L}} & \forall \sigma \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \\ -\Psi_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} & \forall \mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ \mathsf{M}_{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathsf{D}} d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\ M_{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathsf{D}} d_{\mathsf{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\ \forall \mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma} \\ \forall \mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}, \end{split}$$

with $\lambda, \beta, \alpha > 0$ and $\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}$ the solution computed at the previous time step $t_{n-1} = (n-1)\delta t$ for $n \in \{1, \ldots, N-1\}$.

We will refer to the system (\mathcal{P}_i) in the more compact form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_j,\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_j,\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_j},\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}},\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_j},\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_j},g_{\mathfrak{D}_j})=0.$$
 (IV.10)

Remark IV.2.2 When we impose transmission conditions in Schwarz algorithm, the term on the boundary that we want to approximate is $\int_{\sigma} \left(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, p) \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}) \mathbf{u} \right)$; this comes from the anti-symmetrization of the convection term.

Formally, at the continuous level, if φ is a test function in $V = \{\varphi \in (H^1(\Omega))^2, \Psi|_{\Gamma_D} = 0, div(\varphi) = 0\}$, the variational formulation of (IV.1) reads:

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_t \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi - \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, p)) \varphi = 0.$$
 (IV.11)

The convection term can be written as

$$\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \varphi \cdot \mathbf{u} + \int_{\partial \Omega} \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}) \mathbf{u},$$

by integration by parts. If we inject this result in (IV.11) and we integrate by parts also the diffusion terms, we end up with:

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_t \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \cdot \varphi - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \varphi \cdot \mathbf{u} + \int_{\Omega} \sigma(\mathbf{u}, p) : \nabla \varphi - \int_{\partial \Omega} \left(\sigma(\mathbf{u}, p) \vec{\mathbf{n}} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}) \mathbf{u} \right) \cdot \varphi = 0.$$

This is the reason why, when working with transmission conditions, we want to impose a condition on $\sigma(\mathbf{u}, p)\mathbf{\vec{n}} - \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{\vec{n}})\mathbf{u}$, that contains just half of the convection. Remark then that the numerical flux $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa}$ is constructed to approximate the term

$$\mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}} \approx \int_{\sigma} \left(-\sigma(\mathbf{u}, p) \vec{\mathbf{n}} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}) \mathbf{u} \right)$$

This is why in the approximation it gives:

$$\sigma(\mathbf{u},p)\vec{\mathbf{n}} - \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}})\mathbf{u} = \sigma(\mathbf{u},p)\vec{\mathbf{n}} - (\mathbf{u}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}})\mathbf{u} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}})\mathbf{u} \approx -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}} + \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}.$$

IV.2.2 DDFV Schwarz algorithm

Let $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We note $\delta t = \frac{T}{N}$ and $t_n = n\delta t$ for $n \in \{0, \dots, N\}$.

At each time step t_n we apply the following parallel DDFV Schwarz algorithm: for arbitrary initial guesses $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}^0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*}$ and $g_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$, at each iteration $l = 1, 2, \ldots$ and $i, j, \in \{1, 2\}, j \neq i$ the algorithm performs two steps:

1. Compute $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}}$ solution to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l},\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l-1},g_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l-1})=0.$$
(S1)

2. Compute the new values of $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_{J}}^{l}$ and of $g_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}^{l}$ by:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} &= \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathbf{K}_{i}}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma_{\mathbf{K}_{i}}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}_{i}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}_{i}}^{l}, & \forall \mathbf{L}_{j} = \mathbf{L}_{i} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \\ \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l} &= \Psi_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l}, & \forall \mathbf{K}_{j}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \text{ such that } x_{\mathbf{K}_{j}^{*}} = x_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}} \\ g_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l} &= -\left(m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} d_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}^{l}\right) + \alpha m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{l}, & \forall \mathbf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma} \text{ such that } x_{\mathbf{D}_{j}} = x_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \\ (\mathcal{S}_{2}) \end{aligned}$$

To prove that the algorithm is well-posed, we need the following result:

Theorem IV.2.3 (A priori estimate on (\mathcal{P}_j)) The scheme (\mathcal{P}_j) satisfies the following:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{2}{Re} \|D^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|_{2}^{2} - (p^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}})_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} (\Psi_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \frac{1}{2}H_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}) \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2Rem_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2Rem_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2} = [[\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}. \quad (IV.12)$$

Proof We multiply the equations on the primal and dual mesh of (\mathcal{P}_j) by $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}$ and we sum over all the control volumes:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{\delta t} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}} m_{\mathbf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^{2} + \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}|^{2} \right) + \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^{*}} \Psi_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} + \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}} + \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*} \mathbf{K}^{*}} \right] = [[\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}. \quad (IV.13)$$

By definition of the scalar products we have $\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{\delta t} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_j} m_{\mathbf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^2 + \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_j^*} m_{\mathbf{K}^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}|^2 \right) \right] = 1$

 $\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}\|^2$ and, by rewriting the fluxes as a sum of the diffusive and convective contribution we have:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^{*}} \Psi_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} + \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{d} + \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{d} \right] \\ + \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{c} + \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{c} \right] = [[\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}.$$

We consider separately the two contributions. For the **diffusion terms**, we have, by the definition of the divergence operator (Def. I.3.5):

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} + \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{d} \right] \\ &= - \left[\left[\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \left(\frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \mathrm{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} - \mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathrm{Id} \right), \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \right] \right]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{ext}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d}. \end{split}$$

We can now apply Green's formula to the RHS, and remark that $\sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^{ext}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^d = \sum_{\mathbf{M}^* \in \mathcal{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*} \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{M}^*}^d \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{M}^*} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{M}^*})$ We thus find:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}^{d}\cdot(\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^{*}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}^{*}}).$$
 We thus find:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} + \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{d} \right] \\
= \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} - (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} \cdot \gamma^{\sigma}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} \cdot \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{4}.$$

By the definition of the trace operator, we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{\mathsf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} + \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{d} \right] \\
= \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathsf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \|_{2}^{2} - (\mathsf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}})_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}. \quad (\mathrm{IV}.14)$$

For the **convection terms**:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_j} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}^c_{\sigma \mathbf{K}} + \sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*_j \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_j} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}^c_{\sigma^* \mathbf{K}^*} \right] := \frac{1}{2} (T_1 + T_2)$$

We estimate the term T_1 ; we first integrate by parts:

$$\begin{split} T_1 &= \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_j} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}}^c \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}}^c \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}) + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathbf{K}}^c \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}} \end{split}$$

We replace the definition of $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_K}^c$ for all $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j$:

$$\begin{split} T_{1} &= \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}}{2} \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{c} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} (|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}|^{2} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2}) + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{c} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}. \end{split}$$

Passing to the sum over primal cells κ for the first term and applying Prop. IV.1.2 we get:

$$T_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}|^{2} \underbrace{\sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}}_{=0} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}|^{2} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2 \operatorname{Re} m_{\mathbf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}|^{2} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}^{c} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}}.$$

It can be rewritten as:

$$T_{1} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{c} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2}$$
(IV.15)

We estimate the term T_2 ; we first integrate by parts:

$$T_{2} = \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \cdot \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{c}$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{c} \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}).$$

We replace the definition of $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_K}^c$ for all $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j$:

$$T_{2} = \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} m_{\sigma^{*}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{2} \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}) + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} m_{\sigma^{*}} F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} (|\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}|^{2} - |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2}) + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2}.$$

Passing to the sum over dual cells κ^* for the first term we get:

$$T_2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_j^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}|^2 \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} F_{\sigma^* \mathbf{K}^*} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j} \frac{m_{\sigma^*}^2}{2 \operatorname{Re} m_{\mathbf{D}}} B_{\sigma^* \mathbf{K}^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^*}|^2.$$
(IV.16)

From the definition of $F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ and by Prop. IV.1.2 we have that $\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = 0$ for all $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}_j^*$ and $\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = -m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\kappa^*}H_{\mathsf{K}^*}$ for all $\kappa^* \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$, that gives:

$$T_2 = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{j,\Gamma}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^*} H_{\mathbf{K}^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}|^2 + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j} \frac{m_{\sigma^*}^2}{2 \mathrm{Re} m_{\mathbf{D}}} B_{\sigma^* \mathbf{K}^*} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^*}|^2.$$

If we put the estimates (IV.14),(IV.15) and (IV.16) together, we find:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|^{2} &+ \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbb{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|_{2}^{2} - (\mathbb{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}})_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{d} + \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^{c} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Psi_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} H_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}|^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2} = [[\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \end{aligned}$$

that, since $\mathcal{F}^{d}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} + \mathcal{F}^{c}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} = \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}$, leads to our result:

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|_{2}^{2} &+ \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|_{2}^{2} - (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}})_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}) \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathsf{K}^{*}} (\Psi_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}) \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma^{*}}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2} = [[\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Thm. IV.2.3, we are able to deduce the following:

Theorem IV.2.4 (Wellposedness of the DDFV subdomain problem) Under the hypothesis $(\mathcal{H}p)$ and $\lambda, \beta, \alpha > 0$, the problem (\mathcal{P}_j) is well-posed.

Proof By linearity we can prove that if $\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0 = \mathbf{h}^{\mathfrak{T}_j} = g^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$, then $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0 = \Psi^{\mathfrak{T}_j}$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_j} = 0$. Starting from the estimate (IV.12) of Thm. IV.2.3, we apply:

• the transmission conditions on the sums over $\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}$ and $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}$:

$$\begin{split} & -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathtt{K}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathtt{L}} \quad \forall \sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}, \\ & -\Psi_{\mathtt{K}^*} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathtt{K}^*} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^*} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{K}^*} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathtt{K}^*} \quad \forall \mathtt{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*, \end{split}$$

• the conditions on the equation of conservation of mass:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{div}^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &- \beta m_{\mathtt{D}} d_{\mathtt{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}} \mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \quad \forall \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}, \\ \operatorname{div}^{\mathtt{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) &- \beta m_{\mathtt{D}} d_{\mathtt{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}} \mathrm{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} + \alpha m_{\mathtt{D}} \mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}} = g_{\mathtt{D}} \quad \forall \mathtt{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma} \end{split}$$

This implies:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} \| \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \|_{2}^{2} + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} \|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2}
+ \alpha \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}} |\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}|^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}|^{2}
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2}
= [[\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}]]_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}} + (\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}, g^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}})_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathbf{h}_{\mathsf{L}} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{h}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}. \quad (\mathrm{IV}.17)$$

If now we impose $\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0 = \mathbf{h}^{\mathfrak{T}_j} = g^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$ in (IV.17), we have:

$$\frac{\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{h}^{2}}{\underbrace{+\alpha \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}} |\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}|^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}|^{2}}{\underbrace{\geq 0}} + \underbrace{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}|^{2} = 0,} \\ \xrightarrow{>0} \\ \end{array}$$

that leads to:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} ||\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}||_2^2 + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} ||\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_j} \mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}||_2^2 + \beta |\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}|_h^2 \le 0,$$

from which we deduce that $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0$ and $p^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$ is a constant (we recall that $\beta > 0$). Thanks to the transmission conditions on \mathfrak{D}_j^{Γ} , since $\alpha > 0$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0$, we obtain $p^{\mathfrak{D}_j} = 0$. Finally, thanks to the transmission condition on $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0$, we also have $\Psi^{\mathfrak{T}_j} = 0$.

IV.3 Convergence analysis of the DDFV Schwarz algorithm

Before studying the convergence of the DDFV Schwarz algorithm towards the solution of the Navier-Stokes problem defined on Ω , we recall some remarks that may be useful to understand the analysis. Consider the composite mesh of Fig. IV.2; remark that:

- a diamond p that intersects Γ in the domain Ω can be written as the union of diamonds p₁, p₂ respectively in Ω₁, Ω₂. Moreover, on the subdomain meshes we have the additional unknowns u_L on Γ with respect to the mesh on Ω;
- equivalently, a volume κ^* that intersects Γ in Ω is the union of κ_1^*, κ_2^* in Ω_1, Ω_2 . In particular, an edge $\sigma^* = [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa_2}]$ can be split into $\sigma^* = \sigma_1^* \cup \sigma_2^* = [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa_1}] \cup [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa_2}];$
- an edge $\sigma = [x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}]$ on the interface Γ is shared by all the meshes.

Those characterizations of the meshes imply that, at the limit, the fluxes need to satisfy the following:

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{1}} = -m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{2}}, \quad \forall \mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}^{\Gamma}$$
(IV.18)

$$m_{\sigma^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{k}^*} = m_{\sigma_1^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_1^*\mathbf{k}^*} + m_{\sigma_2^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_2^*\mathbf{k}^*}, \quad \forall \sigma^* = \sigma_1^* \cup \sigma_2^*, \, \mathbf{k}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{\Gamma}^*. \tag{IV.19}$$

In order to obtain this properties, it will become necessary to modify the fluxes on the interface, either for the limit or for the subdomain problem. For this reason, the convergence will be studied in two steps.

The first step will be to identify the limit of Schwarz algorithm defined in Sec. IV.2.2. We will show that this limit is still a DDFV scheme for the problem (IV.1), but with modified fluxes on Γ . We will then prove convergence to this limit scheme, to which we will refer as $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$.

Secondly, in Sec. IV.4, we will show that it is possible to modify the fluxes of the Schwarz algorithm (S_1) in order to converge exactly to (\mathcal{P}) .

IV.3.1 The limit problem $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$

The following scheme is another DDFV approximation of (IV.1), on the domain Ω ; what changes with respect to (\mathcal{P}) are the fluxes on the interface Γ .

To obtain our scheme, we will not detail the steps here since we proceed as in Sec. IV.1. Given $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}})$, satisfying $\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta d_{\mathfrak{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}} \bar{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0$, we look for $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{2})^{\mathfrak{T}}$ and $\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} m_{\mathbf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} = m_{\mathbf{K}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}} + m_{\mathbf{K}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{K}}}{\delta t} \quad \forall \mathbf{K} \in \mathfrak{M} \\ m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} = m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} + m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}}{\delta t} \quad \forall \mathbf{K}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}^{*} \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{u}^{\partial \mathfrak{M}^{*}} = 0 \\ m_{\mathbf{D}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{D}} d_{\mathbf{D}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} = 0 \\ \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}} m_{\mathbf{D}} \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}} = 0, \end{cases} \quad \forall \mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D} \end{cases}$$
with $\beta > 0$. At the interior of the domain, the fluxes coincide with the fluxes in (\mathcal{P}), see (IV.5). On the interface, they are defined as:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} &= -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}),\\ m_{\sigma^{*}}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} &= -m_{\sigma^{*}}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\sigma^{*}}F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}+\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$ and $\tilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ are defined in the next section in Prop. IV.3.4 and Prop. IV.3.5.

IV.3.1.1 Definition of $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma \kappa}$ and $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^* \kappa^*}$

We first give the following definition of some matrices that will be useful in the following; the index i, j relating to the subdomain will be specified if the matrix is not symmetric with respect to the subdomains.

Definition IV.3.1 We define for $i = 1, 2, \sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{i,\Gamma}$ and $P = Id + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \kappa} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \kappa}$ the matrix:

$$A_i = \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2Rem_{\mathsf{D}_i}}(P + B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_i}Id)$$

where we recall that $B_{\sigma \kappa_i} = B\left(\frac{2m_{D_i}Re}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma \kappa_i}\right)$ and we define:

$$A = A_1 + A_2.$$

Remark IV.3.2 The matrix $A = A_1 + A_2$ is symmetric and definite positive, thus invertible, since it is the sum of two symmetric and definite positive matrices.

In fact, thanks to the definition of P, if $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma K} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}$, we have:

$$A_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + B_{\sigma\kappa_i} + x^2 & xy \\ xy & 1 + B_{\sigma\kappa_i} + y^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

which is symmetric and for any $v = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix}$ it holds:

$$\langle A_i v, v \rangle = (1 + B_{\sigma_{\kappa_i}})(v_1^2 + v_2^2) + (xv_1 + yv_2)^2 \ge 0 \quad and \quad \langle A_i v, v \rangle = 0 \iff v = 0,$$

thanks to Hypothesis $(\mathcal{H}p)$, which implies $B_{\sigma\kappa_i} \geq 0$. For $i, j = 1, 2, i \neq j$, since A_i and A_j are polynomial in P, the following properties hold:

$$A_i A_j = A_j A_i,$$
$$A_j A^{-1} = A^{-1} A_j$$

since from Hyp. $(\mathcal{H}p)$ we have $B_{\sigma \kappa_i} = B_{\sigma \kappa_i}$ for $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{i,\Gamma}$.

The fluxes $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^{\kappa}}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^{*\kappa^{*}}}$ are constructed in order to satisfy the properties (IV.18)-(IV.19) defined in the introduction of Sec. IV.3.

It is important to recall that $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$ is a scheme defined on the mesh \mathfrak{T} on Ω ; in particular, this means that there are no additional unknowns \mathbf{u}_{L} on the interface Γ , see Fig. IV.2. The following results apply for a general diamond:

Proposition IV.3.3 Let $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\Gamma}$ be a diamond and let $\mathbf{D}_1, \mathbf{D}_2$ be the two semi-diamonds such that $\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{D}_1 \cup \mathbf{D}_2$, see Fig. IV.4. We denote by $(x_{\mathbf{K}}, x_{\mathbf{K}^*}, x_{\mathbf{L}^*}, x_{\mathbf{L}})$ its vertices and by $(x_{\mathbf{K}_1}, x_{\mathbf{K}^*}, x_{\mathbf{L}^*}, x_{\sigma})$, $(x_{\mathbf{K}_2}, x_{\mathbf{K}^*}, x_{\mathbf{L}^*}, x_{\sigma})$ the vertices of \mathbf{D}_1 and \mathbf{D}_2 . Then, there exists a unique \mathbf{u}_{σ} that, for $\sigma = \mathbf{K}_1 | \mathbf{K}_2$, verifies

$$\mathcal{F}_{\sigma \kappa_1} = -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma \kappa_2} \tag{IV.20}$$

given by:

$$\mathbf{u}_{\sigma} = A^{-1} \left[A_1 \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_1} + A_2 \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_2} + \frac{1}{2} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma \kappa_1} (\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_1} - \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_2}) \right].$$
(IV.21)

where A, A_1 and A_2 are given in Def. IV.3.1.



Fig. IV.4 A diamond D, of vertices $x_{\kappa}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}, x_{\iota}$ as a union of two semi-diamonds: D₁ of vertices $x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\sigma}, x_{\iota^*}$ and D₂ of vertices $x_{\kappa_2}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\sigma}, x_{\iota^*}$. In particular, $\sigma_1^* = [x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\iota}]$ and $\sigma_2^* = [x_{\iota}, x_{\kappa_2}]$.

Proof The condition (IV.20) is a linear equation in \mathbf{u}_{σ} . In fact, $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_1}$ is a flux on \mathtt{p}_1 , of vertices $x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\mathsf{L}^*}, x_{\sigma}$, and $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_2}$ is a flux on \mathtt{p}_2 , of vertices $x_{\kappa_2}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\mathsf{L}^*}, x_{\sigma}$. If we insert the definitions of the fluxes, (IV.20) becomes:

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}_{1}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} + \mathbf{u}_{\sigma}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathfrak{D}_{1}}}B_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\sigma})$$
$$= -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{2}} = m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}_{2}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{2}} - m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_{2}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}} + \mathbf{u}_{\sigma}}{2}\right) - \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathfrak{D}_{2}}}B_{\sigma\kappa_{2}}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}} - \mathbf{u}_{\sigma}) \quad (\mathrm{IV.22})$$

The strain rate tensors can be written by using the matrix P as:

$$-m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}_{1}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}$$

$$=\frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathbb{D}_{1}}}P(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}-\mathbf{u}_{\sigma})+\frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathbb{D}_{1}}}(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}\operatorname{Id}+\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}\otimes\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}})(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}})+m_{\sigma}\operatorname{p}^{\mathbb{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}},\quad(\operatorname{IV.23})$$

$$m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}_{2}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}},\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{2}}$$

$$=-\frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathbb{D}_{2}}}P(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbb{K}_{2}}-\mathbf{u}_{\sigma})-\frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{2}^{*}}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathbb{D}_{2}}}(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{2}}\cdot\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}\operatorname{Id}+\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}\otimes\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{2}})(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}-\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}})-m_{\sigma}\mathbf{p}^{\mathbb{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{2}}.$$
(IV 24)

If we replace (IV.23), (IV.24) into (IV.22), since $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_1} = -\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_2}$ and $\frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_1^*}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathfrak{p}_1}} = \frac{1}{\sin(\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}})} = \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_2^*}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathfrak{p}_2}}$, the contributions of the pressure $p^{\mathfrak{p}}$ and of the velocity $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{l}^*}$ on the vertices cancel.

So (IV.22) becomes:

$$\begin{split} \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathfrak{d}_1}}P(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{k}_1}-\mathbf{u}_{\sigma})+m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathfrak{k}_1}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{k}_1}+\mathbf{u}_{\sigma}}{2}\right)+\frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathfrak{d}_1}}B_{\sigma\mathfrak{k}_1}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{k}_1}-\mathbf{u}_{\sigma})=\\ &-\frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathfrak{d}_2}}P(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{k}_2}-\mathbf{u}_{\sigma})-m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathfrak{k}_2}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{k}_2}+\mathbf{u}_{\sigma}}{2}\right)-\frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathfrak{d}_2}}B_{\sigma\mathfrak{k}_2}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{k}_2}-\mathbf{u}_{\sigma}). \end{split}$$

We group the terms in \mathbf{u}_{σ} thanks to $F_{\sigma\kappa_1} = -F_{\sigma\kappa_2}$, to obtain:

$$\frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{p_{1}}}\left(P+B_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}\operatorname{Id}\right)\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}}+\frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{p_{2}}}\left(P+B_{\sigma\kappa_{2}}\operatorname{Id}\right)\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}+\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}}-\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}})=\left(\frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{p_{1}}}\left(P+B_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}\operatorname{Id}\right)+\frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{p_{2}}}\left(P+B_{\sigma\kappa_{2}}\operatorname{Id}\right)\right)\mathbf{u}_{\sigma}.$$
 (IV.25)

By Def. IV.3.1, (IV.25) becomes:

$$A_1 \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_1} + A_2 \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_2} + \frac{1}{2} m_\sigma F_{\sigma \mathbf{k}_1} (\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_2}) = A \mathbf{u}_{\sigma}.$$
 (IV.26)

It is sufficient to show that this expression is injective; if $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})$ are equal to zero, we need to deduce that \mathbf{u}_{σ} is zero. This is true because, if $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})$ are zero, this means in particular $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_1} = \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_2} = 0$; so condition (IV.26) becomes:

$$A\mathbf{u}_{\sigma} = 0.$$

Since the matrix A is definite positive, by Rem. IV.3.2, we deduce $\mathbf{u}_{L} = 0$.

The following proposition is a way to obtain property (IV.18), by modifying the fluxes on the interface:

Proposition IV.3.4 Let D be a diamond and let D_1, D_2 be the two semi-diamonds such that $D = D_1 \cup D_2$, see Fig. IV.4. Then there exists a unique flux $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma K}$ on $\sigma = \kappa_1 | \kappa_2$ such that

$$m_{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma \mathsf{K}} = m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathsf{K}_1} = -m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma \mathsf{K}_2}, \qquad (\text{IV.27})$$

given by

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa} = \frac{2Rem_{\rm D}}{m_{\sigma}^2} \left(A_1 A_2 + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\right)^2 Id \right) A^{-1} - P, \qquad (\text{IV.28})$$

$$m_{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\kappa} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} + \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2Rem_{\mathsf{D}}}\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}). \tag{IV.29}$$

Proof We consider $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma K_1}$ and we refer to Fig. IV.4: we recall that it is a flux on the semi-diamond p_1 of vertices $x_{\kappa_1}, x_{\kappa^*}, x_{\iota^*}, x_{\sigma}$. Thanks to (IV.23), it can be written as:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{1}} &= A_{1}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\sigma}) + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{1}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}_{1}} + \mathbf{u}_{\sigma}}{2}\right) \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathbf{D}_{1}}}(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{1}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}\mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{1}})(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}) + m_{\sigma}\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{1}}. \end{split}$$

By grouping the terms in \mathbf{u}_{κ_1} and \mathbf{u}_{σ} in $m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_1}$ and injecting the definition (IV.21) of \mathbf{u}_{σ} , that ensures (IV.20), i.e. $m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_1} = -m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_2}$

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}} &= \left(A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}}\mathrm{Id}\right)\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} + \left(-A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}}\mathrm{Id}\right)A^{-1}\left[A_{1}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} + A_{2}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{2}})\right] \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathbf{b}_{1}}}(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}\mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}})(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{L}^{*}}) + m_{\sigma}\mathbf{p}^{\mathrm{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{1}}. \end{split}$$

By regrouping the terms in \mathbf{u}_{κ_1} and \mathbf{u}_{κ_2} we have:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}} &= \left[\left(A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}\mathrm{Id} \right) + \left(-A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}\mathrm{Id} \right) A^{-1} \left(A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}\mathrm{Id} \right) \right] \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{1}} \\ &+ \left(-A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}\mathrm{Id} \right) A^{-1} \left(A_{2} - \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}} \right) \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{2}} \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}_{1}}} (\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}\mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}) (\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}) + m_{\sigma}\mathsf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{1}}}. \end{split}$$

As by Rem. IV.3.2, the matrices A and A_i commute, for i = 1, 2, we can write:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}} &= \left(A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\mathrm{Id}\right) \left[\overbrace{A-A_{1}}^{=A_{2}} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\mathrm{Id}\right] A^{-1}\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{K}_{1}} \\ &+ \left(-A_{1} + \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\mathrm{Id}\right) \left(A_{2} - \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}}\mathrm{Id}\right) A^{-1}\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{K}_{2}} \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathfrak{D}_{1}}}(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathfrak{K}^{*}}\mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathfrak{K}^{*}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}})(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{L}^{*}}) + m_{\sigma}\mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}_{1}}. \end{split}$$

We develop the computations and we find:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} &= \left[\left(A_{1}A_{2} + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\right)^{2}\mathrm{Id} \right)A^{-1} \right] \left(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}\right) \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathfrak{d}_{1}}} \left(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}\mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}\right) \left(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\iota^{*}}\right) + m_{\sigma}\mathrm{p}^{\mathtt{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_{1}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} + \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}}{2}\right). \end{split}$$

If we define:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \frac{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^2} \left(A_1 A_2 + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\right)^2 \mathrm{Id} \right) A^{-1} - P,$$

we get:

$$\frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\rm D}}(P+\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\rm K}) = \left(A_1A_2 + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\rm K}\right)^2\operatorname{Id}\right)A^{-1},$$

and since $m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa} = m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_1} = -m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_2}$, $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} = \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_1}$ and $\frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\mathsf{D}_1}} = \frac{m_{\sigma^*}}{m_{\mathsf{D}}}$ (see Fig. IV.4), we end up with:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} &= \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}\left(P + \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}\right)\left(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}\right) \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma}m_{\sigma^{*}}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}\left(\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}\mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}\otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa}\right)\left(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}^{*}}\right) + m_{\sigma}\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{D}}\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} + \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}}{2}\right). \end{split}$$

We remark that now the expression of $m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma K_1}$ depends only on the unknowns $\mathbf{u}_{K_1}, \mathbf{u}_{K_2}, \mathbf{u}_{K^*}, \mathbf{u}_{L^*}$; so it is a flux defined on the entire diamond \mathfrak{p} (see Fig. IV.4). It can be rewritten as:

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{1}} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} + \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathtt{D}}}\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{1}} - \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{2}}) := m_{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\kappa}.$$

so that we find (IV.29).

The following proposition is a way to obtain property IV.19:

Proposition IV.3.5 Let \mathtt{D} be a diamond and let $\mathtt{D}_1, \mathtt{D}_2$ be the two semi-diamonds such that $\mathtt{D} = \mathtt{D}_1 \cup \mathtt{D}_2$, see Fig. IV.4. Then, for $\mathtt{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{\Gamma}$, there exists a unique flux $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^*\mathtt{K}^*}$ on $\sigma^* = \sigma_1^* \cup \sigma_2^* = [x_{\mathtt{K}_1}, x_{\mathtt{L}}] \cup [x_{\mathtt{L}}, x_{\mathtt{K}_2}]$ such that

$$m_{\sigma^*} \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^* \mathsf{K}^*} = m_{\sigma_1^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_1^* \mathsf{K}^*} + m_{\sigma_2^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_2^* \mathsf{K}^*}, \qquad (\text{IV.30})$$

given by

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = \frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_1^*\kappa^*} + \frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_2^*\kappa^*}.$$
(IV.31)

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = -m_{\sigma^*}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} + m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^*}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma^*}^2}{2Rem_{\mathsf{D}}}\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^*}) \qquad (\text{IV.32})$$

Proof This is a direct consequence of the computation of (IV.30). By definition,

$$m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{1}^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} = -m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}_{1}^{*}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma_{1}^{*}}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}_{1}}}B_{\sigma_{1}^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}),$$
$$m_{\sigma_{2}^{*}}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{2}^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} = -m_{\sigma_{2}^{*}}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} + m_{\sigma_{2}^{*}}F_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}_{2}^{*}}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma_{2}^{*}}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}_{2}}}B_{\sigma_{2}^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}}).$$

Since $\sigma^* = \sigma_1^* \cup \sigma_2^*$, we have $m_{\sigma^*} = m_{\sigma_1^*} + m_{\sigma_2^*}$ and $\frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{D_2}} = \frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{D_1}}$; by definition, it holds $m_{\sigma^*} F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = m_{\sigma_1^*} F_{\sigma^*\kappa_1^*} + m_{\sigma_2^*} F_{\sigma^*\kappa_2^*}$. So if we take the sum of the two fluxes, we get:

$$\begin{split} m_{\sigma_1^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_1^* \kappa^*} + m_{\sigma_2^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_2^* \kappa^*} &= -m_{\sigma^*} \sigma^{\mathbb{D}} (\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^* \kappa^*} + m_{\sigma^*} F_{\sigma^* \kappa^*} \left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^*}}{2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{m_{\sigma^*}^2}{2 \operatorname{Re} m_{\mathbb{D}_1}} \left[\frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_1^* \kappa^*} + \frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_2^* \kappa^*} \right] (\mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}^*}). \end{split}$$

By defining $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} := \frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_1^*\kappa^*} + \frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_2^*\kappa^*}$, we obtain (IV.32).

Remark IV.3.6 Remark that, by construction, $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$ is the limit of the Schwarz algorithm defined in Sec. IV.2.2 if and only if (IV.28) and (IV.31) hold. This is equivalent to say that $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$ is defined as a function F of $(B_{\sigma\kappa_1}, B_{\sigma\kappa_2})$ and $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ defined as a function G of $(B_{\sigma_1^*\kappa^*}, B_{\sigma_2^*\kappa^*})$:

$$B_{\sigma\kappa} = F(B_{\sigma\kappa_1}, B_{\sigma\kappa_2}),$$

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = G(B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}).$$
(IV.33)

IV.3.1.2 Wellposedness of the limit problem $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$

In the following theorem, we prove that the solution of the limit problem (\mathcal{P}) exists and it is unique. This will rely just on the expression of the new fluxes $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\kappa}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$.

Theorem IV.3.7 Under the hypothesis $(\mathcal{H}p)$ for $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$, problem $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$ is well-posed.

Proof By Thm. IV.1.3, we need to verify that hypothesis $(\mathcal{H}p)$ holds; since we are supposing it for $B_{\sigma\kappa}, B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$, we just need to verify it for $\tilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}, \tilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ (the modified fluxes on the interface). As a direct consequence of (IV.28) and (IV.31), we have:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}} &= \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathbf{l}}, \\ \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{k}^*} &= \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{l}^*} \end{split}$$

In fact, if we consider a diamond on the interface between the two subdomains Ω_1, Ω_2 , it can be seen as the one in Fig. IV.4.

For $\kappa = \kappa_1$ and $\iota = \kappa_2$, we have:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{1}} = \frac{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^{2}} \left(A_{1}A_{2} + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{1}}\right)^{2}\operatorname{Id} \right) A^{-1} - P,$$
$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{L}} = \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{2}} = \frac{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^{2}} \left(A_{2}A_{1} + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{2}}\right)^{2}\operatorname{Id} \right) A^{-1} - P,$$

We remark that A, P do not depend on the index of the subdomain; moreover, $m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_1} = -m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_2}$, so that $(m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_1})^2 = (m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa_2})^2$ and $A_1A_2 = A_2A_1$ from Rem. IV.3.2. So we can conclude $\tilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa} = \tilde{B}_{\sigma\iota}$.

For the dual flux, we have:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{k}^*} &= \frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_1^*\mathbf{k}^*} + \frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_2^*\mathbf{k}^*}, \\ \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{L}^*} &= \frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_1^*\mathbf{L}^*} + \frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_2^*\mathbf{L}^*}. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Hp. $(\mathcal{H}p)$, we have $B_{\sigma_1^*\kappa^*} = B_{\sigma_1^*L^*}$ and $B_{\sigma_2^*\kappa^*} = B_{\sigma_2^*L^*}$. So we get $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*L^*}$.

We now have to prove that $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}, \widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ are semi-definite positive.

If $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}$, then $P = \mathrm{Id} + \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} \otimes \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + x^2 & xy \\ xy & 1 + y^2 \end{pmatrix}$; if we insert the definition (IV.28) of $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}$, by defining two constants:

$$\mathrm{den} = 4m_{\sigma}^2(2 + 3B_{\sigma\mathrm{K}} + B_{\sigma\mathrm{K}}^2),$$

and

$$a = (m_{\mathsf{D}} \mathrm{Re} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}})^2 (1 + B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}) + 8m_{\sigma}^2 B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} + 12m_{\sigma}^2 B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^2 + 4m_{\sigma}^2 B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}^3,$$

we have

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} = \frac{1}{\mathrm{den}} \begin{bmatrix} a \mathrm{Id} + (m_{\mathrm{D}} \mathrm{Re} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}})^2 \begin{pmatrix} y^2 & -xy \\ -xy & x^2 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Let
$$v = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
; then:
 $\langle \widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa} v, v \rangle = \frac{1}{\mathrm{den}} a \langle v, v \rangle + \frac{(m_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{D}} \mathrm{Re} F_{\sigma\kappa})^2}{\mathrm{den}} \left(y^2 v_1^2 - 2xy v_1 v_2 + x^2 v_2^2 \right)$

$$= \frac{1}{\mathrm{den}} a \|v\|^2 + \frac{(m_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathsf{D}} \mathrm{Re} F_{\sigma\kappa})^2}{\mathrm{den}} \left(y v_1 - x v_2 \right)^2 \ge 0,$$

and

$$\langle B_{\sigma \kappa} v, v \rangle = 0 \iff v = 0$$

thanks to hypothesis $(\mathcal{H}p)$ on $B_{\sigma\kappa}$, that ensures $a \ge 0$ and den ≥ 0 . So $\tilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$ is semi-definite positive.

For what concerns the dual flux, by (IV.31) we obtain directly that $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ is semi-definite positive since it is the sum of two semi-definite positive matrices $B_{\sigma_1^*\kappa^*}$ and $B_{\sigma_2^*\kappa^*}$ (by $(\mathcal{H}p)$).

IV.3.1.3 Identification of the limit

In order to prove the convergence of the Schwarz algorithm towards the solution of $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$, it is necessary to project this solution, that is defined on Ω , on the subdomains Ω_j , j = 1, 2.

Theorem IV.3.8 Let \mathfrak{T} be the composite mesh $\mathfrak{T} = \mathfrak{T}_1 \cup \mathfrak{T}_2$ and $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ be the solution of the DDFV scheme $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$ on the domain Ω . For $j \in \{1, 2\}$, there exists a projection $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, h_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, g_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{T}_j} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_j} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_j} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$, $\mathfrak{R}^{\mathfrak{T}_j} \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathfrak{D}_j}$ of $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$, such that:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_j,\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_j,\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, g_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}) = 0.$$

$$(\mathcal{P}^{\infty})$$

Proof On the primal cells $\mathfrak{M}_j \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}$ and on the dual cells $\mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$ we can simply define the values of $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}$ as the values of $\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}$:

- for all $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}_j$ and $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$, we set $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_j}^{\infty} = \mathbf{u}_{\kappa}$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_i^*}^{\infty} = \mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*}$,
- for all $\kappa \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,D}$ and $\kappa^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{j,D}$, we set $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_j}^{\infty} = 0$ and $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_i^*}^{\infty} = 0$.
- for all $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j$ such that $x_{\mathbf{D}} \notin \Gamma$, we set $\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{D}_j}^{\infty} = \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}}$.
- for all $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j$ such that $x_{\mathbf{D}} \in \Gamma$, $\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ and $\mathbf{D}_i \in \mathfrak{D}_i^{\Gamma}$, we set $\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{D}_j}^{\infty} = \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{D}_i}^{\infty} = \mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{D}}$.

We then need to introduce new unknowns near the boundary Γ :

• for all $L \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{i,\Gamma}$, we impose (see Prop. IV.3.3):

$$\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}}^{\infty} = \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{\infty} = \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{L}_{i}}^{\infty} = A^{-1} \left[A_{j} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}} + A_{i} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{i}} + \frac{1}{2} m_{\sigma} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{1}} (\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{i}}) \right].$$
(IV.34)

• for all $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$ such that $x_{\kappa^*} \in \Gamma$, $\kappa^* = \kappa_i^* \cup \kappa_i^*$ with $\kappa_i^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{i,\Gamma}^*$, we impose:

$$\Psi_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty} = -\Psi_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty} = -\frac{m_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} - \frac{1}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{j}^{*}\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{\infty} + \frac{m_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}} + \frac{m_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}} \frac{\mathbf{\bar{u}}_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}}{\delta t}.$$
(IV.35)

• for all $L = L_j \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$ and for all $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$ such that $x_{\kappa^*} \in \Gamma$, $\kappa^* = \kappa_j^* \cup \kappa_i^*$ with $\kappa_j^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$, $\kappa_i^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{i,\Gamma}^*$ we impose:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{L}_{j}}^{\infty} &= \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathrm{K}_{i}}^{\infty} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathrm{K}_{i}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty}, \\ \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{K}_{j}^{\ast}}^{\infty} &= \Psi_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{\ast}}^{\infty} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{\ast}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{\ast}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{K}_{i}^{\ast}}^{\infty}. \end{split}$$

• for all $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}$ such that $x_{\mathbf{D}} \in \Gamma$, $\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ and $\mathbf{D}_i \in \mathfrak{D}_i^{\Gamma}$, we set

$$g_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{\infty} = -\left(m_{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{\infty}) - \beta m_{\mathtt{D}_{i}} d_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \mathrm{p}_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{\infty}\right) + \alpha m_{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \mathrm{p}_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{\infty}.$$

Consequence on the equations.

We now show that from a solution $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})$ of the DDFV scheme $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$ we built a solution to (\mathcal{P}^{∞}) .

• $\forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})$ satisfies:

$$m_{\mathtt{k}} rac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{k}}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}\setminus\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{k}}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathtt{k}} + \sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{k}}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\mathtt{k}} = m_{\mathtt{k}}\mathbf{f}_{\mathtt{k}} + m_{\mathtt{k}} rac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{k}}}{\delta t}.$$

If we look at the composite mesh (see Fig. IV.2), we can remark that the primal cells $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$ correspond to $\kappa_{j} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}$ (or to $\kappa_{i} \in \mathfrak{M}_{i}$). This implies that $m_{\kappa} = m_{\kappa_{j}}$, $m_{\kappa}\mathbf{f}_{\kappa} = \int_{K} \mathbf{f}(x) dx = m_{\kappa_{j}} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa_{j}}$ and $m_{\kappa} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa}}{\delta t} = m_{\kappa_{j}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa_{j}}}{\delta t}$.

Moreover, for a diamond $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}}^{\Gamma}$, remark that the limit unknowns $\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{\infty}$ on \mathfrak{T}_{j} for j = 1, 2 coincide with $\mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{K}^{*}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ on \mathfrak{T} ; so if

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}_{j}}^{\infty}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathtt{D}}}B_{\sigma\kappa}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}_{j}}^{\infty}),$$

we have:

$$\sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}\backslash\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}}=\sum_{\mathtt{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}_{j}}\backslash\mathfrak{D}_{\mathtt{K}_{j}}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathtt{K}_{j}}^{\infty}$$

For a diamond $D\in\mathfrak{D}_K^\Gamma,$ if

$$m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} = -m_{\sigma}\sigma^{\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}} + m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} + \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}}^{\infty}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathtt{D}}}B_{\sigma\kappa_{j}}(\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}}^{\infty}),$$

thanks to the choice (IV.34) of $\mathbf{u}_{\scriptscriptstyle L}^{\infty}$ for all $\boldsymbol{\iota} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$ and thanks to Prop. IV.3.4, we have

$$m_{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}=m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{\infty},$$

that implies:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}^{\Gamma}_{\mathsf{K}}}m_{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}=\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}^{\Gamma}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}}m_{\sigma}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{\infty}.$$

So in the end $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty})$ satisfies:

$$m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}_{j}}^{\infty} = m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}}{\delta t}, \qquad \forall \mathbf{k}_{j} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}.$$
(IV.36)

• $\forall \kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*, \, (\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}}) \text{ satisfies:}$

$$m_{\mathbf{k}^*} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^*}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^* \mathbf{k}^*} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma^*} \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^* \mathbf{k}^*} = m_{\mathbf{k}^*} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}^*} + m_{\mathbf{k}^*} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}^*}}{\delta t}.$$
 (IV.37)

We need to distinguish two cases.

1. If $\partial \kappa^* \cap \Gamma = \emptyset$, equation (IV.37) reduces to:

$$m_{\mathbf{K}^*} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}} m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma^* \mathbf{K}^*} = m_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{K}^*} + m_{\mathbf{K}^*} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{K}^*}}{\delta t},$$

and the cells $\kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$ correspond to $\kappa_j^* \in \mathfrak{M}_j^*$ (or to $\kappa_i \in \mathfrak{M}_i^*$). This implies that $m_{\kappa^*} = m_{\kappa_j^*}, m_{\kappa^*} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa^*} = \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}(x) dx = m_{\kappa_j^*} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa_j^*}, m_{\kappa^*} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa^*}}{\delta t} = m_{\kappa_j^*} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa_j^*}}{\delta t}$ and $m_{\sigma^*} = m_{\sigma_j^*}$. Moreover, for a diamond $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa^*} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa^*}^{\Gamma}$, (that is the case here since we are supposing $\partial \kappa^* \cap \Gamma = \emptyset$) remark that the limit unknowns $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa_j^*}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathsf{D}_j}^{\infty}$ on \mathfrak{T}_j for j = 1, 2 coincide with $\mathbf{u}_{\kappa}, \mathbf{u}_{\kappa^*}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}$ on \mathfrak{T} . So if

$$m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}^{\infty}_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*} = -m_{\sigma_j^*} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}_j}(\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}, \mathbf{p}^{\infty}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^* \mathsf{K}^*} + m_{\sigma_j^*} F_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*} \left(\frac{\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{K}^*_j} + \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{L}^*_j}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2 \operatorname{Re} m_{\mathsf{D}_j}} B_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*} (\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{K}^*_j} - \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{L}^*_j}),$$

we have:

$$\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}m_{\sigma^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*{}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}=\sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathsf{K}^*_{\mathsf{j}}}}m_{\sigma^*}\mathcal{F}^\infty_{\sigma^*_{\mathsf{j}}{}_{\mathsf{K}^*}}.$$

So $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_i}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_i}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_i}^{\infty})$ satisfies on the interior dual mesh:

$$m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{j}^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}^{\infty} = m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}}{\delta t}, \qquad \forall \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}.$$
(IV.38)

2. If $\partial \kappa^* \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset$, the cell κ^* can be written as the union of $\kappa_j \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{j,\Gamma}$ and $\kappa_i \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{i,\Gamma}$. This implies that $m_{\kappa^*} = m_{\kappa^*_j} + m_{\kappa^*_1}$, $m_{\sigma^*} = m_{\sigma^*_j} + m_{\sigma^*_i}$, $m_{\kappa^*} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa^*} = \int_{\mathbf{K}^*} \mathbf{f}(x) dx = m_{\kappa^*_j} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa^*_j} + m_{\kappa^*_1} \mathbf{f}_{\kappa^*_1}$ and $m_{\kappa^*} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa^*}}{\delta t} = m_{\kappa^*_j} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa^*_j}}{\delta t} + m_{\kappa^*_1} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\kappa^*_1}}{\delta t}$. Moreover, for a diamond $\mathfrak{p} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa^*} \setminus \mathfrak{D}^{\Gamma}_{\kappa^*}$, remark that the limit unknowns $\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\kappa^*_j}, \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\kappa^*_j}, \mathbf{p}^{\infty}_{\mathbf{D}_j}$ on

Moreover, for a diamond $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}^*}^1$, remark that the limit unknowns $\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{D}_j}^{\infty}$ on \mathfrak{T}_j for j = 1, 2 coincide with $\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^*}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{D}}$ on \mathfrak{T} . So if

$$m_{\sigma^*} \mathcal{F}^{\infty}_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*} = -m_{\sigma^*} \sigma^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}, \mathbf{p}^{\infty}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}) \, \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^* \mathsf{K}^*} + m_{\sigma^*} F_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*} \left(\frac{\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{K}_j^*} + \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{L}_j^*}}{2} \right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2 \operatorname{Re} m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*} (\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{K}_j^*} - \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{L}_j^*}),$$

and

$$m_{\sigma^*}\mathcal{F}^{\infty}_{\sigma_i^*\mathsf{K}^*} = -m_{\sigma_i^*}\sigma^{\mathsf{D}_j}(\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathfrak{T}_i}, \mathbf{p}^{\infty}_{\mathfrak{D}_i})\,\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^*\mathsf{K}^*} + m_{\sigma_i^*}F_{\sigma_i^*\mathsf{K}^*}\left(\frac{\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{K}^*_1} + \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{L}^*_1}}{2}\right) + \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}_i}}B_{\sigma_i^*\mathsf{K}^*}(\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{K}^*_1} - \mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{L}^*_1}),$$

we have:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}\backslash\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} = \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}_j^*}\backslash\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}_j^*}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma_j^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_j^*\mathbf{K}^*}^{\infty} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}_i^*}\backslash\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}_i^*}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma_i^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_i^*\mathbf{K}^*}^{\infty}$$

For a diamond $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa^*}^{\Gamma}$, thanks to (IV.30), we have

$$m_{\sigma^*} \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma^* \mathsf{K}^*} = m_{\sigma_j^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_j^* \mathsf{K}^*}^{\infty} + m_{\sigma_i^*} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_i^* \mathsf{K}^*}^{\infty}$$

that implies:

$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^*}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{K}^*} = \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}_j^*}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma_j^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_j^*\mathbf{K}^*}^{\infty} + \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}_i^*}^{\Gamma}}m_{\sigma_i^*}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_i^*\mathbf{K}^*}^{\infty}.$$

We deduce from (IV.37):

$$\begin{split} m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}} m_{\sigma_{j}^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{j}^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{\infty} + \sum_{\mathsf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}}} m_{\sigma_{i}^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{i}^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}}^{\infty} \\ &= m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}}{\delta t} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}}}{\delta t} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}^{*}}}{\delta t} \end{split}$$

By definition, $\Psi^\infty_{{\ensuremath{\kappa_i^*}}}$ satisfies:

$$\Psi_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}^{\infty} = -\Psi_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty} = -\frac{m_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}}\frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} - \frac{1}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}}m_{\sigma_{i}^{*}}\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{i}^{*}\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{\infty} + \frac{m_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}}\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}} + \frac{m_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}}{m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{x}^{*}}}\frac{\mathbf{\bar{u}}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}}{\delta t},$$

so $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{\infty})$ satisfies on the boundary dual mesh:

$$\boxed{m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}} m_{\sigma_{j}^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{j}^{*}\mathbf{k}^{*}}^{\infty} + m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathbf{k}^{*}} \Psi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty} = m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} + m_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}}{\delta t}, \quad \forall \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}.}}$$

$$(IV.39)$$

• $\forall \kappa \in \mathfrak{M}$, with $\partial \kappa \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset$, if we look at the composite mesh, the diamond $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa}^{\Gamma}$ can be written as the union of $\mathbf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa_{j}}^{\Gamma}$ and $\mathbf{D}_{i} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\kappa_{i}}^{\Gamma}$. By definition, we have $F_{\sigma\kappa_{j}} = -F_{\sigma\kappa_{i}}$; moreover, thanks to the choice (IV.34) of \mathbf{u}_{L}^{∞} for all $\mathbf{L} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$ and thanks to Prop. IV.3.4, we have $m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} = -m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{i}}^{\infty}$.

From the definition of $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_i}^{\infty}$, we get the relation:

$$\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty} = \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{i}}^{\infty} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\kappa_{i}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty} = -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}}^{\infty} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\kappa_{j}} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}}^{\infty}.$$

So $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty})$ satisfies:

$$\mathcal{F}^{\infty}_{\sigma\kappa_{i}} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\kappa_{i}}\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\scriptscriptstyle L} + \lambda\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\scriptscriptstyle L} = -\mathcal{F}^{\infty}_{\sigma\kappa_{j}} + \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\kappa_{j}}\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\scriptscriptstyle L} + \lambda\mathbf{u}^{\infty}_{\scriptscriptstyle L}.$$
 (IV.40)

• $\forall \kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}^*$, with $\partial \kappa^* \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset$, the cell κ^* can be written as the union of $\kappa_j \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{j,\Gamma}$ and $\kappa_i \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{i,\Gamma}$. By definition, we have $H_{\kappa_j^*} = -H_{\kappa_i^*}$ and $\Psi_{\kappa_i^*}^{\infty} = -\Psi_{\kappa_j^*}^{\infty}$. This leads, from the definition of $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{X}_i}^{\infty}$, to the relation:

$$\mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{j}}^{\infty} = \Psi_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{1}}^{\infty} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{1}} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{1}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{1}}^{\infty} = -\Psi_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{j}}^{\infty} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{j}} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{j}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^{\star}_{j}}^{\infty}$$

So $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{I}_j}^{\infty})$ satisfies:

$$\Psi_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}^{\infty} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}}^{\infty} = -\Psi_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_{j}^{*}}^{\infty}.$$
(IV.41)

• for all $D \in \mathfrak{D}$, $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, p^{\mathfrak{D}})$ satisfies:

$$m_{\mathsf{p}}\operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathsf{p}} d_{\mathsf{p}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}} p^{\mathsf{p}} = 0, \qquad \forall \mathsf{p} \in \mathfrak{D}.$$
 (IV.42)

We need to distinguish two cases:

1. If $\mathbf{p} \cap \Gamma = \emptyset$, the diamond \mathbf{p} coincides with a diamond $\mathbf{p}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j$ (or with a diamond $\mathbf{p}_i \in \mathfrak{D}_i$). For a diamond $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D} \setminus \mathfrak{D}^{\Gamma}$, remark that the limit unknowns $\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}_j^*}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{p}_j}^{\infty}$ on \mathfrak{T}_j for j = 1, 2 coincide with $\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{x}^*}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{d}}$ on \mathfrak{T} . Thus we can directly deduce that $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty})$ satisfies $\forall \mathbf{p}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j \setminus \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$:

$$m_{\mathtt{D}_j} \mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}_j}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}^{\infty}) - \beta m_{\mathtt{D}_j} d_{\mathtt{D}_j}^2 \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_j} \mathbf{p}_{\mathtt{D}_j}^{\infty} = 0.$$
(IV.43)

2. If $\mathbf{p} \cap \Gamma \neq \emptyset$, the diamond \mathbf{p} can be written as the union of $\mathbf{p}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ and $\mathbf{p}_i \in \mathfrak{D}_i^{\Gamma}$. This implies that the divergence can be split as : $m_{\mathbf{p}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) = m_{\mathbf{p}_j} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{p}_j}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}) + m_{\mathbf{p}_i} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{p}_i}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_i}^{\infty})$. From (IV.42), the choice of unknowns $\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\infty}$ and from the definition of $g_{\mathbf{p}_j}^{\infty}$ we obtain:

$$\begin{split} g_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{\infty} &= -\left(m_{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{\infty}) - \beta m_{\mathtt{D}_{i}} d_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \mathrm{p}_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{\infty}\right) + \alpha m_{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \mathrm{p}_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{\infty} \\ &= \left(m_{\mathtt{D}_{j}} \mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty}) - \beta m_{\mathtt{D}_{j}} d_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_{j}} \mathrm{p}_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{\infty}\right) + \alpha m_{\mathtt{D}_{j}} \mathrm{p}_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{\infty}, \end{split}$$

that implies for $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{\infty})$ that $\forall \mathtt{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}$:

$$-(m_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathbf{p}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{\infty}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}d_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{p}_{i}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}^{\infty}) + \alpha m_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{p}_{i}}^{\infty} = (m_{\mathbf{p}_{j}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathbf{p}_{j}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{p}_{j}}d_{\mathbf{p}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{p}_{j}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{p}_{j}}^{\infty}) + \alpha m_{\mathbf{p}_{j}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{p}_{j}}^{\infty}$$
(IV.44)

To recapitulate, (IV.36), (IV.38), (IV.39), (IV.40), (IV.41), (IV.43), (IV.44) show that $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_j}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{I}_j}^{\infty})$ is a solution to (\mathcal{P}^{∞}) .

IV.3.1.4 Convergence of the DDFV Schwarz algorithm towards (\mathcal{P})

Theorem IV.3.9 (Convergence of the discrete Schwarz algorithm) Under the hypothesis that $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_i^*} = 2m_{\sigma_j^*}$ for $i, j = 1, 2, i \neq j$, the iterates of the Schwarz algorithm (S_1) - (S_2) converge as l tends to infinity to the solution of the DDFV scheme $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$ (up to a constant for the pressure).

Proof The iterates of (\mathcal{S}_1) - (\mathcal{S}_2) satisfy:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l},\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}},\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l-1},g_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l-1})=0,$$

and $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_{i}}^{\infty}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{I}_{i}}^{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}}^{\infty})$, constructed from the solution of $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$ is solution to:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{I}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{\infty},\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty},\Psi_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{\infty},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}},\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}},\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{\infty},g_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty})=0.$$

We define the errors

$$\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} = \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty},
 \Phi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} = \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} - \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{\infty},
 \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l} = \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l} - \mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{\infty}.$$
(IV.45)

By linearity, they satisfy:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l},\Phi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l},0,0,\mathbf{H}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l-1},\mathbf{G}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l-1})=0,$$
(IV.46)

with

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l-1} &= \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{i}}^{l-1} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{i}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{i}}^{l-1} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{i}}^{l-1}, & \forall \mathbf{L}_{j} = \mathbf{L}_{i} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \\ \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l-1} &= \Phi_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l-1} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l-1} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{K}_{i}^{*}}^{l-1}, & \forall \mathbf{K}_{j}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \text{ such that } x_{\mathbf{K}_{j}^{*}} = x_{\mathbf{K}_{j}^{*}} \\ \mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l-1} &= -(m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l-1}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} d_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{l-1}) + \alpha m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{l-1} & \forall \mathbf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma} \text{ such that } x_{\mathbf{D}_{j}} = x_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}. \end{aligned}$$

To prove the convergence of the iterates of Schwarz algorithm, it is sufficient to prove the convergence to 0 of the solution of (IV.46). In the expanded form, (IV.46) is written as:

$$\begin{cases} m_{\mathbf{K}} \frac{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}^{l}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} = 0 & \forall \mathbf{k}_{j} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j} \\ m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{j}^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{l} = 0 & \forall \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*} \\ m_{\mathbf{K}^{*}} \frac{\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}}{\delta t} + \sum_{\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{j}^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}}^{l} + m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathbf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} = 0 & \forall \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*} \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \\ -\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l-1} & \forall \sigma \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma} \\ -\Phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{t-1}}^{l-1} & \forall \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*} \in \partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*} \\ \mathbf{e}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{e}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ \mathbf{e}^{\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j,D}} = 0 \\ m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{\tilde{\chi}}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}} d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l} = 0 & \forall \mathbf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{*} \\ m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}} \operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{\tilde{\chi}}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}} d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l} = \mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l-1} & \forall \mathbf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}. \end{cases}$$

Thanks to the hypothesis $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_i^*} = 2m_{\sigma_j^*}$, we have $m_{D_i} = m_{D_j}$; so, in the equation on $D_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$, we can simplify the measures and it becomes:

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta d_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{l} + \alpha \Pi_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{l} = -\left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l-1}) - \beta d_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_{i}} \Pi_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{l-1}\right) + \alpha \Pi_{\mathtt{D}_{i}}^{l-1}.$$

We multiply the equations by $\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l$ and we sum over all the control volumes, as in the proof of Thm. IV.2.3. We obtain, analogously to (IV.12), the following:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{2}{\operatorname{Re}} \|\mathbb{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}\|_{2}^{2} - (\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}))_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathsf{K}^{*}} (\Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l} \\
+ \underbrace{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} |\mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}} B_{\sigma^{*}\mathsf{K}^{*}} |\mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}^{*}_{j}}^{l}|^{2} = 0. \quad (\mathrm{IV}.47) \\
\ge 0$$

By the equations on \mathfrak{D}_j^{Γ} , we can split the scalar product into interior diamonds $\mathfrak{D} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ and boundary diamonds \mathfrak{D}_j^{Γ} :

$$-(\Pi^{l}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}},\mathrm{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}^{l}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}))_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} = -\sum_{\mathtt{D}_{j}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}\setminus\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}\Pi^{l}_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}^{l}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}) - \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{j}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}\Pi^{l}_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}^{l}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}});$$

for the diamonds $\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j \setminus \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ we apply the equation of conservation of mass, for the diamonds $\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ we add and subtract the term $\sum_{\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j} m_{\mathbf{D}_j} \beta d_{\mathbf{D}_j}^2 \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_j} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}}^l \cdot \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}}^l$:

$$- (\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}, \operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}))_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} = -\beta \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}} d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l} \cdot \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l} - \beta \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}} d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l} \cdot \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l} \\ - \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{l} \left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l} \right).$$

We apply Rem. I.7.2 to the term $-\beta \sum_{\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j} m_{\mathbf{D}_j} d_{\mathbf{D}_j}^2 \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_j} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}}^l \cdot \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}}^l = -\beta \left(d_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}_j} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l, \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l \right)$; we then multiply and divide $\sum_{\mathbf{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathbf{D}_j} \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_j}^l \left(\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_j}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l) - \beta d_{\mathbf{D}_j}^2 \Delta^{\mathbf{D}_j} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l \right)$ by α to finally obtain:

$$-(\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l},\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}))_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} = \beta |\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}|_{h}^{2} - \frac{1}{\alpha} \sum_{\mathtt{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathtt{D}_{j}} \alpha \Pi_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{l}(\operatorname{div}^{\mathtt{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta d_{\mathtt{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathtt{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}).$$

So (IV.47) becomes:

$$\frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}} \|\mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}\|_{2}^{2} + \beta \|\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}\|_{h}^{2} - \frac{1}{\alpha} \sum_{\mathsf{D}_{j} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \alpha \Pi_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{l} (\operatorname{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}) \\
+ \frac{1}{2\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l}) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \frac{1}{2\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} (\Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l}) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l} \leq 0, \quad (\mathrm{IV}.48)$$

where we multiplied and divided by $\lambda > 0$ the terms on the second line. We start by considering $\frac{1}{2\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}(\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_j}}^l - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_j}^l) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_j}^l$. By applying now the equality $-ab = \frac{1}{4}((-a+b)^2 - (a+b)^2)$ we can write:

•
$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}(\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l}) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}|\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l}|^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}|\underbrace{-\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} + \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l}}_{=\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l-1}}|^{2},$$

So thanks to transmission conditions it becomes:

•
$$\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}(\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l}) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}|\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{j}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{j}}^{l}|^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma}|\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{i}}^{l-1} - \frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma\mathbf{K}_{i}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{i}}^{l-1} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{L}_{i}}^{l-1}|^{2},$$

Equivalently for $\frac{1}{2\lambda} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{j,\Gamma}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^*} (\Phi^l_{\mathbf{K}^*_j} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{K}^*_j} \mathbf{e}^l_{\mathbf{K}^*_j}) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}^l_{\mathbf{K}^*_j}$, we obtain:

•
$$\sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^{*}} (\Phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}) \cdot \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^{*}} |\Phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}|^{2} \\ - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mathbf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial \Omega \cap \partial \mathbf{K}^{*}} |\Phi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l-1} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l-1} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l-1}|^{2}.$$

If now we consider $m_{\mathfrak{D}_j} \alpha \prod_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l (\operatorname{div}^{\mathfrak{D}_j}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l) - \beta d_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^2 \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}_j} \prod_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l)$, thanks to the equality $-ab = \frac{1}{4}((-a + b)^2 - (a + b)^2)$ we can write:

•
$$-\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{j}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\alpha \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l}(\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l})-\beta d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}) = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}|\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l})-\beta d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}-\alpha \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l}|^{2} \\ -\frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}|\underbrace{\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l})-\beta d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}+\alpha \Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l}|^{2}, \\ =\frac{m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}}{m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}}\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l-1}$$

that under the hypothesis $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma^*_i} = 2m_{\sigma^*_j}$ which implies $m_{\mathfrak{D}_i} = m_{\mathfrak{D}_j}$ becomes:

•
$$-\sum_{\mathbf{D}_{j}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\alpha\,\Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l}(\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l})-\beta d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}) = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}|\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l})-\beta d_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l}-\alpha\,\Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}^{l}|^{2} \\ -\frac{1}{4}\sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}m_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}|\operatorname{div}^{\mathbf{D}_{j}}(\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l})-\beta d_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathbf{D}_{i}}\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}^{l-1}-\alpha\,\Pi_{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{l-1}|^{2}.$$

Replacing those results into (IV.48), we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\delta t} \| \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} \|_{2}^{2} &+ \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} \|_{2}^{2} + \beta \| \mathbf{\Pi}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l} \|_{h}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\alpha} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}} | \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \mathbf{\Pi}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l} - \alpha \, \mathbf{\Pi}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{l} |^{2} - \frac{1}{4\alpha} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\mathsf{D}} | \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l-1}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{i}} \mathbf{\Pi}_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}^{\Gamma}}^{l-1} - \alpha \, \mathbf{\Pi}_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}^{l-1} |^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} | \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l} |^{2} - \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}} m_{\sigma} | \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{i}}^{l-1} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}_{i}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{i}}^{l-1} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{i}}^{l-1} |^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} | \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{l} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l} |^{2} - \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{\mathsf{K}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}} m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} | \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{i}}^{l-1} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{i}}^{l-1} |^{2} \leq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Summing over $l = 0, ..., l_{max}$ and j = 1, 2 we obtain:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{l=0}^{l_{max}} \sum_{j=1,2} \frac{1}{\delta t} \| \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} \|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{l=0}^{l_{max}} \sum_{j=1,2} \frac{2}{\mathrm{Re}} \| \mathbf{D}^{\mathfrak{D}_{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l} \|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{l=0}^{l_{max}} \sum_{j=1,2} \beta \| \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l} \|_{h}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\alpha} \sum_{j=1,2} \| \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{l_{max}} - \alpha \Pi_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{l_{max}} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| \mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}}^{l_{max}} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l_{max}} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{l_{max}} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l_{max}} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l_{max}} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}}^{l_{max}} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{2},\Gamma}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{4\mu} \sum_{j=1,2} \| \mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{0}) - \beta d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2} \Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{0} - \alpha \Pi_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}^{\Gamma}}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| \mathcal{F}_{\partial\Omega_{j}} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{L}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \frac{1}{2} H_{\mathsf{K}_{j}^{*}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \lambda \mathbf{e}_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} \|_{\mathfrak{D}_{j,\Gamma}}^{2} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \frac{1}{8\lambda} \sum_{j=1,2} \| m_{\partial\Omega \cap \partial\mathsf{K}^{*}} \Phi_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}^{0} + \frac{$$

that shows how the total energy stays bounded as the iteration index l_{max} goes to infinity; the series $\sum_{l=0}^{l_{max}} \sum_{j=1,2} \frac{1}{\delta t} \|\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l\|_2^2$ and $\sum_{l=0}^{l_{max}} \sum_{j=1,2} \beta \|\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l\|_h^2$ converge, so their general term tends to zero, that implies the convergence to zero of the errors $\|\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l\|_2^2$, $\|\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l\|_h^2$, defined in (IV.45). Thus the algorithm converges.

The limit is the solution of problem $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$, that is problem (\mathcal{P}) with an appropriate choice of the flux on Γ ; in fact, we can deduce that, as l_{max} goes to infinity:

• $\|\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_i}^l\|_2^2$ tends to zero implies:

$$\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{l} \to \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{I}_{j}}^{\infty}$$
 for $j = 1, 2$

• $|\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_i}^l|_h^2$ tends to zero implies:

$$p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l \to p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^\infty + \operatorname{const}(\Omega_j) \quad \text{ for } j = 1, 2.$$

Thus the pressure converges up to a constant that depends on the subdomain; we show in the following remark (Rem. IV.3.10) that in some cases we are able to determine $cost(\Omega_i)$.

Remark IV.3.10 We can determine the constant $const(\Omega_j)$ if we suppose that the mesh satisfies Inf-sup inequality (Def. I.6.1). In fact, this implies that:

$$\|\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l - m(\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l)\|_2 \le \|\boldsymbol{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l\|_2^2 \to 0.$$

From which we deduce that:

$$p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l - m(p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l) \to p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^\infty - m(p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^\infty) \quad for \ j = 1, 2.$$

Remark IV.3.11 Numerically, we observed that $(p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l - const(\Omega_j)) \to p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^{\infty}$ and that $(\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l - const(\Omega_j)\mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}) \to \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^{\infty}$.

If $(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j})$ is solution to (\mathcal{P}_j)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_{j},\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_{j},\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},p_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}},\Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}},\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}},g_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}})=0,$$

then $(\mathbf{U}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \mathbf{P}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}, \Phi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}) := (\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, p_{\mathfrak{D}_j} - const(\Omega_j), \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j} - const(\Omega_j)\mathbf{\vec{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}})$ satisfies:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_j,\Gamma}^{\mathfrak{T}_j,\mu}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, p_{\mathfrak{D}_j}, \Psi_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \mathbf{f}_{\mathfrak{T}}, \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \widetilde{\mathbf{h}}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \widetilde{\mathbf{g}}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}) = 0,$$

with $\widetilde{\mathbf{h}}_{L_j} = \mathbf{h}_{L_j} - const(\Omega_j) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}$ for all $\mathbf{L}_j \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$, $\widetilde{\mathbf{h}}_{\mathsf{K}_j^*} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathsf{K}_j^*} - const(\Omega_j) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}$ for all $\mathbf{k}_j^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^*$ and $\widetilde{g}_{\mathsf{D}_j} = g_{\mathsf{D}_j} + \alpha m_{\mathsf{D}} const(\Omega_j)$. In fact:

• $(\mathbf{U}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \mathbf{P}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}, \Phi_{\mathfrak{T}_j})$ satisfies the same equations on $\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}_j, \kappa^* \in \mathfrak{M}_j^* \cup \partial \mathfrak{M}_j^*$ for the momentum. It is sufficient to remark that:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}}} m_{\sigma} \operatorname{const}(\Omega_{j}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} &= 0 & \forall \mathbf{K}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}, \\ \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \operatorname{const}(\Omega_{j}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} &= 0 & \forall \mathbf{K}^{*}\in\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}, \\ \sum_{\mathbf{D}\in\mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{K}^{*}}} m_{\sigma^{*}} \operatorname{const}(\Omega_{j}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{*}\mathbf{K}^{*}} &= -m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathbf{K}^{*}} \operatorname{const}(\Omega_{j}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathbf{K}}} & \forall \mathbf{K}^{*}\in\partial\mathfrak{M}_{j}^{*}; \end{split}$$

where we recall that $m_{\partial\Omega\cap\partial\mathsf{K}^*}$ is the intersection between $\partial\mathsf{K}^*\cap\partial\Omega$.

- $(\mathbf{U}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}, \mathbf{P}_{\mathfrak{D}_j}, \Phi_{\mathfrak{T}_j})$ the same equation on $\mathbf{p} \in \mathfrak{D} \setminus \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ since $\Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} const(\Omega_j)) = \Delta^{\mathfrak{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}}$ by definition of the operator (see Sec. I.7);
- on $\sigma \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$:

$$-\mathcal{F}_{\sigma\kappa} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\kappa} \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathrm{L}} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{L}} - \operatorname{const}(\Omega_{j}) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\kappa};$$

• on $\mathbf{K}^* \in \partial \mathfrak{M}^*_{i,\Gamma}$:

$$-\Psi_{\mathbf{k}^*} + \frac{1}{2}H_{\mathbf{k}^*} \, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^*} + \lambda \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}^*} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{k}^*} - \operatorname{const}(\Omega_j) \vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma\mathbf{k}};$$

• on $\mathbf{D} \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$:

$$m_{\mathrm{D}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathrm{D}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}) - \beta m_{\mathrm{D}}d_{\mathrm{D}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathrm{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}} + \alpha m_{\mathrm{D}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathrm{D}} = g_{\mathrm{D}} + \operatorname{const}(\Omega_{j})\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma^{\mathrm{K}}}$$

IV.4 Second DDFV Schwarz algorithm

We now investigate whether is it possible to construct a discrete Schwarz algorithm with modified fluxes that converges to the solution of (\mathcal{P}) .

We show that this is possible if we suppose an asymmetric discretization of our problem (IV.1), in the sense that we need to consider an upwind discretization of the convection term on the primal mesh and a centered scheme on the dual mesh, that corresponds to the choice $B_{\sigma\kappa}(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$ and $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(s) = 0$ in (\mathcal{P}) .

This comes from the fact that in the first DDFV approximation, we can prove convergence if and only if

• (IV.28) holds, i.e.:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \frac{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^2} \left(A_1 A_2 + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\right)^2 \mathrm{Id} \right) A^{-1} - P,$$

that, by Rem. IV.3.6, can be rewritten as $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa} = F(B_{\sigma\kappa_1}, B_{\sigma\kappa_2})$.

• (IV.31) holds, i.e.:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\mathbf{k}^*} = \frac{m_{\sigma_1^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_1^*\mathbf{k}^*} + \frac{m_{\sigma_2^*}}{m_{\sigma^*}} B_{\sigma_2^*\mathbf{k}^*},$$

that, by Rem. IV.3.6, can be rewritten as $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = G(B_{\sigma_1^*\kappa^*}, B_{\sigma_2^*\kappa^*}).$

In fact, those two relations lead to the fundamental properties (IV.29) and (IV.32).

The idea for the second Schwarz algorithm, since we would like it to converge to the solution of (\mathcal{P}) (whose fluxes depends only on $B_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}}}, B_{\sigma^*_{\mathsf{K}^*}}$), is to invert (IV.28) and (IV.31), that will lead to invert the functions F, G of Rem. IV.3.6.

The advantage of this second DDFV approximation, with respect to the convergence of (S_1) - (S_2) towards $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$ described in Sec. IV.3, is that here the limit solution does not have a different definition of the fluxes on the interface Γ .

Theorem IV.4.1 Let $(\mathbf{u}^{\mathfrak{T}}, \mathbf{p}^{\mathfrak{D}})$ be a solution of (\mathcal{P}) for convective fluxes defined by a constant upwind flux $B_{\sigma\mathfrak{K}}(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$ for all $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}$, and by the centered flux $B_{\sigma^*\mathfrak{K}}(s) = 0$ for all $\sigma^* \in \mathcal{E}^*$. Define (\overline{S}) the Schwarz algorithm where

• On the primal mesh, the new discrete convective fluxes are defined as:

$$\begin{cases} B_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s)Id & \text{ if } \sigma \notin \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma} \\ \bar{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s) & \text{ if } \sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma} \end{cases}$$

with:

$$\bar{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s) = \frac{1}{2}Q \begin{pmatrix} |s| - 2 + 2\sqrt{1+|s|} & 0\\ 0 & |s| - 1 + \sqrt{1+2|s|} \end{pmatrix} Q^{-1}, \quad (\text{IV.49})$$

and
$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ y & -x \end{pmatrix}$$
, where $\vec{\mathbf{n}}_{\sigma \kappa} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}$ is the outer normal to the interface Γ .

• On the dual mesh, $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(s) = 0$

Under the hypothesis that $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_j^*} = 2m_{\sigma_i^*}$, for $j, i = 1, 2, j \neq i$, (\mathcal{P}) is the limit of the Schwarz algorithm (\bar{S}) .

Proof Recall that $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$ is the limit of (\mathcal{S}_1) - (\mathcal{S}_2) if and only if (IV.28) and (IV.31) hold.

We start by considering (IV.28), that we recall here.:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa} = \frac{2\text{Re}m_{\text{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^2} \left(A_1 A_2 + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\right)^2 \text{Id} \right) A^{-1} - P, \qquad (\text{IV.50})$$

that is a condition on the fluxes on $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$.

The assumption $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_j^*} = 2m_{\sigma_i^*}$ implies that $m_{D_1} = m_{D_2} = 2m_D$ and $B_{\sigma K_1} = B_{\sigma K_2} = B_{\sigma K}$. This means that

$$A_1 = A_2 = \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{\text{Re}m_{\text{D}}}(P + B_{\sigma\text{K}}\text{Id})$$

and

$$A = A_1 + A_2 = \frac{2m_{\sigma}^2}{\text{Re}m_{D}}(P + B_{\sigma \kappa}\text{Id}) = 2A_1 = 2A_2.$$

Moreover, $A^{-1} = \frac{\text{Rem}_{D}}{2m_{\sigma}^{2}}(P + B_{\sigma\kappa}\text{Id})^{-1}$. By replacing these remarks in (IV.50), we obtain:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \frac{2\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^2} \left(\frac{1}{4}A^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\right)^2\mathrm{Id}\right)A^{-1} - P.$$

By developing the computation, we get:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}} = \left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{2m_{\sigma}^{2}}\right)A + \frac{2\operatorname{Re}m_{\mathsf{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^{2}}\left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}\right)^{2}A^{-1} - P.$$

By replacing the definition of A and A^{-1} , it leads to:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa} = P + B_{\sigma\kappa} \mathrm{Id} + \left(\frac{\mathrm{Re}m_{\mathrm{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^2}\right)^2 \left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\kappa}\right)^2 (P + B_{\sigma\kappa}\mathrm{Id})^{-1} - P.$$

Then, if $s = \frac{\operatorname{Re}m_{\text{D}}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma\text{K}}$, we have $\left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}m_{\text{D}}}{m_{\sigma}^{2}}\right)^{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}F_{\sigma\text{K}}\right)^{2} = \frac{1}{4}s^{2}$, so we end up with: $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\text{K}} = B_{\sigma\text{K}}\operatorname{Id} + \frac{1}{4}s^{2}(P + B_{\sigma\text{K}}\operatorname{Id})^{-1}.$

If we make explicit the dependences of $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$, $B_{\sigma\kappa}$ as a function of s, since $B_{\sigma\kappa}$ is a function of $B_{\sigma\kappa}(\frac{m_{\rm p}{\rm Re}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma\kappa})$ and $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$ a function of $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(\frac{2m_{\rm p}{\rm Re}}{m_{\sigma}}F_{\sigma\kappa})$, (IV.50) finally becomes:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(2s) = B_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(s)\mathrm{Id} + \frac{1}{4}s^2 \left(P + B_{\sigma^{\mathsf{K}}}(s)\mathrm{Id}\right)^{-1}, \text{ for } l = 1, 2.$$

We can rewrite this condition, like in Rem. IV.3.6, as:

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} = F(B_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}).$$

This relation implies that the Schwarz algorithm (\mathcal{S}_1) - (\mathcal{S}_2) , whose convection fluxes depend on $B_{\sigma\kappa}$, converges towards the solution of $(\widetilde{\mathcal{P}})$, whose convection fluxes depend on $\widetilde{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$ for $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$.

We want to build a new Schwarz algorithm (\bar{S}) that converges toward (\mathcal{P}) , whose fluxes are defined by $B_{\sigma\kappa}$; so we need to build $\bar{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$ such that:

$$B_{\sigma\mathbf{K}} = F(\bar{B}_{\sigma\mathbf{K}}),$$

where $B_{\sigma\kappa}$ can be a full matrix. In our case, since our goal is to converge towards the fluxes that define an upwind scheme, i.e. defined by $B(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$, $B_{\sigma\kappa}$ is actually a diagonal matrix, that will be denoted by $B_{\sigma\kappa}$ Id to distinguish it by a full matrix.

Thus we need to invert the function F defined above to find the new coefficients $\bar{B}_{\sigma\kappa}$. The inverse of F does not exist for every $B_{\sigma\kappa}$. Given s and $B_{\sigma\kappa}(2s)$, we have a second-degree equation for $\bar{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(s)$:

$$\bar{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(s)^2 + \bar{B}_{\sigma\kappa}(s)\underbrace{(P - B_{\sigma\kappa}(2s)\mathrm{Id})}_T + \underbrace{\frac{1}{4}s^2\mathrm{Id} - P B_{\sigma\kappa}(2s)\mathrm{Id}}_V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

that is:

$$\bar{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s)^2 + \bar{B}_{\sigma\mathsf{K}}(s)T + V = 0.$$

Since the matrices T, V are symmetric and they commute (because they are polynomials on P), they can be diagonalized using the same basis of eigenvectors. If $Q = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ y & -x \end{pmatrix}$, Q orthogonal

matrix, we can write:

$$T = Q \,\widetilde{T} \, Q^{-1}, \qquad V = Q \,\widetilde{V} \, Q^{-1},$$

with \widetilde{T} and \widetilde{V} diagonal matrices, whose expressions are:

$$\widetilde{T} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 - B_{\sigma \kappa} & 0\\ 0 & 1 - B_{\sigma \kappa} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \widetilde{V} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4}s^2 - 2B_{\sigma \kappa} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{4}s^2 - B_{\sigma \kappa} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We then look for $\bar{B}_{\sigma \kappa}(s)$ of the form $\bar{B}_{\sigma \kappa}(s) = Q \widetilde{M} Q^{-1}$, with \widetilde{M} diagonal matrix such that:

$$\widetilde{M}^2 + \widetilde{M}\,\widetilde{T} + \widetilde{V} = 0.$$

Since we are supposing $B_{\sigma\kappa}(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$, the solution is given by

$$\widetilde{M} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} |s| - 2 + 2\sqrt{1 + |s|} & 0\\ 0 & |s| - 1 + \sqrt{1 + 2|s|} \end{pmatrix}$$

that leads to our result (IV.49).

For what concerns property (IV.31), we would like to define a unique $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(s^*)$ for $\sigma^* \in \mathcal{E}^*$ in the limit scheme (\mathcal{P}) .

With the assumption $m_{\sigma^*} = 2m_{\sigma_1^*} = 2m_{\sigma_2^*}$, we can define $s^* = \frac{\text{Re}m_{\text{D}}}{m_{\sigma^*}}F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$ and $s_j^* = \frac{\text{Re}m_{\text{D}_j}}{m_{\sigma_j^*}}F_{\sigma_j^*\kappa^*}$ for j = 1, 2: remark that there is no relation between the s_j^* . The only property that is satisfied is $s^* = s_j^* + s_i^*$, since $m_{\sigma_j^*}F_{\sigma_j^*\kappa^*} + m_{\sigma_i^*}F_{\sigma_j^*\kappa^*} = m_{\sigma^*}F_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}$. This leads to the new expression for (IV.31):

$$\widetilde{B}_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}(s_{j}^{*}+s_{i}^{*})=\frac{1}{2}\left(B_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}(s_{j}^{*})+B_{\sigma^{*}\kappa^{*}}(s_{i}^{*})\right).$$

This is true only if $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = \tilde{B}_{\sigma^*\kappa^*} = 0$; in this way, even property (IV.32) is verified. So the dual flux for the algorithm (\bar{S}) and for the limit (\mathcal{P}) correspond to a centered discretization of the convection flux on the dual mesh.

The Schwarz algorithm (\bar{S}) is well posed, since $(\mathcal{H}p)$ is verified by his fluxes, and it converges towards (\mathcal{P}) with the choice of $B_{\sigma\kappa}(s) = \frac{1}{2}|s|$ for all $\sigma \in \mathcal{E}$ and $B_{\sigma^*\kappa^*}(s) = 0$ for all $\sigma^* \in \mathcal{E}$.

IV.5 Numerical results

In this section, the objectives are the following:

- showing and comparing the convergence properties of the Schwarz algorithms (S_1) - (S_2) (presented in Sec. IV.2.2)) and (\bar{S}) (presented in Sec. IV.4);
- studying the influence of the parameters λ, α, β of (IV.2) in the convergence.

We recall that the difference between the two algorithms relies in the definition of the fluxes at the interface; the first one converges towards the solution of $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$ (see Thm. IV.3.9), the second one towards the solution of (\mathcal{P}) (see Thm. IV.4.1).

We will refer to (S_1) - (S_2) as "first Schwarz algorithm", and to (\bar{S}) as "second Schwarz algorithm". For the first Schwarz algorithm, in all the following test cases, we will consider an

upwind discretization of the convection flux, i.e. we fix the function $B = \frac{1}{2}|s|$.

We recall that the domain decomposition algorithm is an iterative algorithm that is employed at each time step; this, in particular, implies that at each iteration of the Schwarz algorithm we solve a steady problem. In the tests we present, a time step is fixed and the iterative algorithm is applied; we choose to fix the first one, with $\delta t = 10^{-4}$, so every test presented in this section will be done in the time interval $[0, \delta t]$.

In all the test cases, the domain $\Omega = [-1, 1] \times [0, 1]$ will be divided into two subdomains $\Omega = \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$. The meshes we will consider are illustrated, in their first level of refinement, in Fig. IV.5.



Fig. IV.5 Coarse level of refinement of the composite meshes on Ω , Mesh₁^k.

The sub-index in the name of the mesh (see Fig. IV.5) denotes the level of refinement, i.e. $\operatorname{Mesh}_{1}^{k}$ represents the coarse mesh of a family of refined meshes $(\operatorname{Mesh}_{m}^{k})_{m}$. More precisely, $\operatorname{Mesh}_{m}^{k}$ is obtained by dividing by two all the edges of $\operatorname{Mesh}_{m-1}^{k}$.

We consider the following exact solutions to (IV.1):

Test 1:

$$\mathbf{u}(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} -2\pi \cos(\pi x) \sin(2\pi y) \exp(-5\eta t\pi^2), \\ \pi \sin(\pi x) \cos(2\pi y) \exp(-5\eta t\pi^2) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{p}(x,y) = -\frac{\pi^2}{4} (4\cos(2\pi x) + \cos(4\pi y)) \exp(-10t\eta\pi^2).$$
 (IV.51)

Test 2:

$$\mathbf{u}(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} \sin(2\pi x)\cos(2\pi y)\exp(-2\eta t), \\ -\cos(2\pi x)\sin(2\pi y)\exp(-2\eta t) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{p}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{4}(\cos(4\pi x) + \cos(4\pi y))\exp(-4\eta t).$$
 (IV.52)

The algorithms, in all the following simulations, are initialized with initial random guesses $\mathbf{h}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^0$ and $g_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^0$ for j = 1, 2.

As a stopping criterion, we impose:

$$\max\left(\|\mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{T}_j}^l\|_2, \|\Pi_{\mathfrak{D}_j}^l\|_2\right) < 10^{-6},$$

where the errors are defined in (IV.45).

IV.5.1 Error on the interface

In this first test case, we consider the first Schwarz algorithm; our goal is to point out that the error computed with respect to the solution of $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}})$, along the iterations of the algorithm, stays localized at the interface between the two subdomains.

The domain Ω is meshed with Mesh₅³, we fix the parameters $\lambda = 100, \alpha = 1, \beta = 10^{-2}$.

In Fig. IV.6 we represent the error of the velocity on the entire domain at the initialization on the primal and dual mesh; the initialization assigns random values, and the initial error is 100 for both primal and dual mesh.

As we pass to the 1^{st} iteration, we observe in Fig. IV.7 how it immediately locates on the interface between the subdomains; it decreases, passing from 100 to 1.9 on the primal mesh and to 6.9 on the dual mesh. Already at the 10^{th} iteration we see in Fig. IV.8 how it has diminished, staying localized on the interface, passing from 1.9 to 0.52 on the primal mesh and from to 6.9 to 0.05 on the dual mesh.



Fig. IV.6 Error $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}^0 - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}$ at the initialization: $\|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}^0 - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}\|_{\infty} = 100$. Left: Primal mesh. Right: Dual mesh.



Fig. IV.7 Error $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}^{0} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}$ at the 1st iteration. *Left:* Primal mesh, $\|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}}^{1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}}\|_{\infty} = 1.9$. *Right:* Dual mesh, $\|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}^{*}\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^{*}}^{1} - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}}\|_{\infty} = 6.9$.



Fig. IV.8 Error $\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}^0 - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}}$ at the 10th iteration. *Left:* Primal mesh, $\|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}}^2 - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}}\|_{\infty} = 0.52$. *Right:* Dual mesh, $\|\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}^*\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^*}^2 - \mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{M}^*\cup\partial\mathfrak{M}^*}\|_{\infty} = 0.05$.

IV.5.2 Study of the parameters

In this section our goal is to study the influence of the parameters λ, α, β on the convergence of the first and second Schwarz algorithms.

We recall that β is associated to the Brezzi-Pitkaranta stabilization (see Sec. I.7), present in the mass conservation equation, while the parameters λ and α are associated the transmission conditions between subdomains, that we recall here, for $j, i \in 1, 2, j \neq i$:

• for all $L_j = L_i \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}$:

$$-\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}}^{l}+\frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{j}}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}_{j}}^{l}+\lambda\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}_{j}}^{l}=\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{i}}}^{l-1}-\frac{1}{2}F_{\sigma_{\mathsf{K}_{i}}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}_{i}}^{l-1}+\lambda\mathbf{u}_{\mathtt{L}_{i}}^{l-1};$$

• for all $\kappa_{j}^{*} \in \partial \mathfrak{M}_{j,\Gamma}^{*}$ such that $x_{\kappa_{j}^{*}} = x_{\kappa_{j}^{*}}$:

$$-\Psi_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}+\frac{1}{2}H_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}+\lambda\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*}}^{l}=\Psi_{\mathbf{k}_{i}^{*}}^{l-1}-\frac{1}{2}H_{\mathbf{k}_{i}^{*}}\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{i}^{*}}^{l-1}+\lambda\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_{i}^{*}}^{l-1};$$

• for all $\mathtt{D}_j \in \mathfrak{D}_j^{\Gamma}$ such that $x_{\mathtt{D}_j} = x_{\mathtt{D}_i}$:

$$m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{j}}^{l}) - \beta m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}d_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{j}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{j}}^{l} + \alpha m_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}^{l} = -\left(m_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}\mathrm{div}^{\mathsf{D}_{i}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathfrak{T}_{i}}^{l-1}) - \beta m_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}d_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}^{2}\Delta^{\mathsf{D}_{i}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathfrak{D}_{i}}^{l-1}\right) + \alpha m_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}\mathbf{p}_{\mathsf{D}_{i}}^{l-1}.$$

Comparison between first and second Schwarz algorithm and parameters optimization. In those numerical tests, our goal is to compare the convergence between the first and the second Schwarz algorithm and to see the influence of λ and α ; to do so, in each test case we fix one of the two parameters and we let the remaining vary. Here, the value of β associated to the stabilization is set to 10^{-2} ; we will discuss its value in the next section. In Fig. IV.9-IV.11 we represent on the x-axis the number of iterations, on the y-axis the error.

We start by considering the first Schwarz algorithm; we can observe in Fig. IV.9 the convergence of the algorithm to the solution of Test 1 on Mesh_1^1 .

In particular, on the *left* of Fig. IV.9, α is fixed to 1, and we observe how, as λ increases, the number of iterations necessary to converge decreases until $\lambda = 200$; passed this critical value, the number of iterations starts to increase again. In fact, for $\lambda = 10$ we need 650 iterations to reach an error of 10^{-5} , for $\lambda = 200$, we need 98 iterations and for $\lambda = 600$ we need 232 iterations. This suggests that for $\alpha = 1$, $\lambda = 200$ is a good choice to have a better convergence. On the *right* of Fig. IV.9, we set $\lambda = 100$ and we let α vary: we observe the same kind of behavior as the one of λ . If α is small, i.e. $\alpha = 0.01$, the algorithm converges in more than 1000 iterations; when α increases to 0.25, the number of iterations decreases to 97. Then, when α becomes bigger, such as $\alpha = 10$,



Fig. IV.9 Test 1, Mesh¹₁, first Schwarz algorithm. *Left:* optimization of λ , with $\alpha = 1$. *Right:* optimization of α , with $\lambda = 100$.

we need around 600 iterations to converge.

We consider now the second Schwarz algorithm on same test case, i.e. Test 1 on Mesh¹₁. We show its convergence in Fig. IV.10. This indicates that for $\lambda = 100$, $\alpha = 0.25$ is a good choice to have a better convergence.



Fig. IV.10 Test 1, Mesh₁¹, second Schwarz algorithm. *Left:* optimization of λ , with $\alpha = 1$. *Right:* optimization of α , with $\lambda = 100$.

We remark that the second Schwarz algorithm behaves similarly to the first one, if we compare Fig. IV.10 and Fig. IV.9; thus, both algorithms converge and the speed of convergence is influenced by the choice of λ and α . The parameters have the same behavior and the number of iterations necessary to the convergence is almost identical between the two algorithms; this is why from now on we will focus just on the first one.

We consider now a different test case, i.e. Test 2 on Mesh_1^2 for the first Schwarz algorithm.

We observe in Fig. IV.11 that we still have the same kind of behavior for the parameters λ, α ; but we point out that the optimal value of the parameters depends on the mesh and on the test case. In fact, if we compare the optimal α in Fig. IV.10 and in Fig. IV.11, we remark that $\alpha = 0.25$ for the first case and $\alpha = 0.5$ for the second case.



Fig. IV.11 Test 2, Mesh₁², first Schwarz algorithm. *Left:* optimization of λ , with $\alpha = 1$. *Right:* optimization of α , with $\lambda = 100$.

Influence of the mesh and of the stabilization. In the first test case of Fig. IV.12, our goal is to show how the level of refinement of the mesh can influence the choice of the optimal parameter; we consider Test 1 on the family $(\text{Mesh}_m^1)_m$, m = 1, 2, 3, 4. As before, we fix one parameter at the time $(\lambda \text{ or } \alpha)$ and we let the other vary; we represent on the x-axis the value of the parameter that changes, on the y-axis the number of iterations required to obtain an error of order 10^{-5} .



Fig. IV.12 Test 1, $(\text{Mesh}_m^1)_m$, m = 1, 2, 3, 4. Left: optimization of λ to obtain an error of order 10^{-5} , with $\alpha = 1, \beta = 10^{-1}$. Right: optimization of α to obtain an error of order 10^{-5} , with $\lambda = 100, \beta = 10^{-1}$.

Table IV.1 Test 1 on $(\text{Mesh}_m^1)_m$, m = 1, 2, 3. First line: Optimal value of λ for $\alpha = 1, \beta = 10^{-1}$. Second line: Optimal value of α for $\lambda = 100, \beta = 10^{-1}$.

	\mathbf{Mesh}_1^1	\mathbf{Mesh}_2^1	\mathbf{Mesh}_3^1	\mathbf{Mesh}_4^1
λ	152.36	293.36	404.63	929.36
α	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6

As illustrated in Fig. IV.12 and summarized in Tab. IV.1, we observe different results for the two parameters; the mesh refinement has an impact on λ but not really on α . The mesh size h is divided by two at each level of refinement, and we see that it has an influence on the value of λ ; unfortunately, we can not conclude by defining a relation between the two.

In Fig. IV.13 (*left*) and Tab. IV.2 we want to confirm the results obtained for λ on Fig. IV.12 (*left*) and Tab. IV.1, by considering the same test case (Test 1) on a different family of meshes, $(\text{Mesh}_m^3)_m, m = 1, 2, 3, 4.$



Table IV.2 Test 1 on $(\operatorname{Mesh}_m^3)_m$, m = 1, 2, 3, 4. Optimal value of λ for $\alpha = 1, \beta = 10^{-1}$.

	\mathbf{Mesh}_1^3	\mathbf{Mesh}_2^3	\mathbf{Mesh}_3^3	\mathbf{Mesh}_4^3
λ	122	253.27	384.45	667.51

Fig. IV.13 Test 1, $(\operatorname{Mesh}_m^3)_m$, m = 1, 2, 3. Left: optimization of λ to obtain an error of order 10^{-5} , with $\alpha = 1, \beta = 10^{-1}$. Right: Summary table of the optimal values of λ .

As before, λ is influenced by the mesh discretization step but we can not conclude by defining a relation between the two; moreover, we remark that its optimal values change with respect to Tab. IV.1, due to the different meshes.

In Fig. IV.14 and in Tab. IV.3 we want to point out the influence of the parameter β , associated to the Brezzi-Pitkäranta stabilization. We see how the choice of this parameter affects the convergence of the algorithm and how it affects the optimal value of λ : we pass from 818 iterations with $\lambda = 436.81$ (for $\beta = 10^{-4}$) to 40 iterations with $\lambda = 122$ (for $\beta = 10^{-1}$). There is then an optimal choice even for this parameter.



Table IV.3 Test 1 on Mesh₁³. Optimal value of λ and the number of iterations for different values of β and for $\alpha = 1$.

β	10^{-4}	10^{-2}	10^{-1}	1
λ	436.81	122	122	25.2
#iter	818	53	40	246

Fig. IV.14 Test 1, Mesh₁³. Left: optimization of λ with different values of β on Mesh₁³; $\alpha = 1$. Right: Summary table of the optimal values of λ .

As last simulation, on Fig. IV.15 and Tab. IV.4 we compare the optimal values of λ for Test 1 on different meshes. We see that even the choice of the mesh influences the optimal choice of the parameter: for a cartesian mesh, $\lambda = 105.91$ while for Mesh₁² $\lambda = 154.3$.



Table IV.4 Test 1. Optimal value of λ for $\alpha = 1, \beta = 10^{-1}$ on different meshes.

	\mathbf{Mesh}_1^1	\mathbf{Mesh}_1^2	\mathbf{Mesh}_1^3	Cartesian
λ	146.2	154.3	130.1	105.91

Fig. IV.15 *Left:* Test1, optimization of λ for different meshes to obtain an error of order 10^{-6} , $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta = 10^{-1}$. *Right:* Summary table of the optimal values of λ .

Conclusions and perspectives

In this chapter, we proposed two non-overlapping DDFV Schwarz algorithm for Navier-Stokes problem. We started by defining a discretization (\mathcal{P}) of the Navier-Stokes problem on the entire domain Ω by means of B-schemes for the discretization of the nonlinear convection terms; we proved the well-posedness of this scheme, which is the limit scheme towards which the solution of the iterative Schwarz algorithm should converge. We then built a scheme for the subdomain problem with transmission boundary conditions and we introduced the DDFV Schwarz algorithm, to which we refer as "first Schwarz algorithm". We showed in Thm. IV.3.9 that it converges to a modified version of (\mathcal{P}), that we named ($\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}$). The difference between (\mathcal{P}) and ($\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}$) is the choice of the function B that defines the convection terms on the interface. We then built a "second Schwarz algorithm" and we recovered the convergence towards (\mathcal{P}) in Thm. IV.4.1.

We then numerically tested the two algorithms; in particular, we focused on the influence of the parameters λ, α of the transmission conditions, by observing the presence of an optimal value for both parameters in order to have a better convergence. Moreover, we remarked that the choice of the mesh, of the test case and of the parameter β linked to the stabilization of the mass conservation equation influences the optimal value of λ and α .

We are working on other numerical simulations; we would like to test the convergence on meshes that have non-conformal edges on the interface, to reproduce and compare the numerical results of Chapter III and also to investigate more fully the choice of the optimal parameters.

Chapter V

Curved interface reconstruction for 2D compressible multi-material flows

Contents

V.1 Intro	oduction
V.2 Inte	rface reconstruction with DPIR 165
V.2.1	First step: minimization of J with dynamic programming \hdots
V.2.2	Second step: local correction of volume fractions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 165$
V.3 DPI	R extension to curved interfaces reconstruction $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 166$
V.4 Rob	ustness improvement of DPIR 168
V.4.1	A new search direction for the control point
V.4.2	A new discretization of the cell edges
V.4.3	A new penalty term
V.4.4	Numerical results
V.5 DPI	R extension to triple point reconstruction $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 171$
V.5.1	Classification of triple cells
V.5.2	The new algorithm for interface reconstruction
V.5.3	A example of DPIR reconstruction on a triple point configuration \ldots . 172
V.5.4	Perspectives on the filament issue
V.6 Con	clusion and perspectives

This chapter presents an independent work issued from a CEMRACS project (in 2018); it is a joint work with Igor Chollet, Théo Corot, Laurent Dumas, Philippe Hoch and Thomas Leroy and it has been submitted to ESAIM: proceedings and surveys.

A curved interface reconstruction procedure is presented here in the case of a 2D compressible flow made of two or more materials. Built with a dynamic programming procedure already introduced in [DGJM17], the curve interface is continuous and volume preserving in each cell. It is applied here to general test cases with non cartesian grids as well as triple point configurations.

V.1 Introduction

Interface reconstruction (IR) methods are encountered in numerical simulation of multi-material or multi-fluid flows. In a Volume of Fluid (VOF) approach in a case of two materials, denote C the volume fraction of material 1 encountered in volume V:

$$C = \frac{1}{V} \int_{V} \chi(x, y, z) dx dy dz \tag{1}$$

where χ denotes the indicator function of material 1:

$$\chi(x,y,z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } (x,y,z) \in \text{ material } 1, \\ 0 & \text{if } (x,y,z) \in \text{ material } 2. \end{cases}$$

The objective of IR methods is to define a geometric interface separating material 1 and material 2 with the following properties:

- P1: volume fractions conservation,
- P2: continuity of the interface,
- P3: robustness,
- P4: low or moderate computational cost.

The first IR method for volume tracking that has been introduced in 1982 is due to D.L. Youngs [You82]. This method consists in assuming that the interface for each mixed cell (that is such 0 < C < 1) is made of a segment joining two of its edges. The normal of this segment is colinear to the gradient of the volume fraction ∇C and its position is obtained by assuming an exact conservation of partial volumes. With such construction, it is clear that the conservation property P1 is fulfilled by contrast with the continuity property P2. The two other desired properties, robustness and low cost, are also satisfied with this method.

There exists many variants to Youngs method, for instance an order 2 reconstruction ([RK98]) or an extension to more than two materials ([SGFL09]). Some correction terms for the normal computation have also been proposed to reduce undesirable effects and to smooth the interface ([GDSS05]). The two references [RK98] and [Rud97] give various examples of applications of Youngs IR method. Even though Young's method is still largely used up to now because of its simplicity and robustness, it suffers from the non continuity of the interface.

Recently, in [DGJM17], a new reconstruction method which ensures continuity of the interface and preserves volume fractions has been introduced. This new interface reconstruction method, called DPIR (*Dynamic Programming Interface Reconstruction*), is introduced in the next section and will be used as a starting point for the presented work. It consists of two main steps. First, minimize a suitable energy functional which gives a continuous linear interface. Secondly, add a control point in each cell to find the correct volume fractions. This last step is usually made by searching the point in the normal direction of the interface, in the line passing through the center of this one.

In this paper there are three main goals. First, the DPIR method is extended for curved interfaces (section V.3). It is of interest in particular in the case of curved meshes, where an exact reconstruction of the interface is expected. In order to be a real candidate for being used in multi-material hydrodynamic simulation using ALE remap methods, the DPIR method must be able to deal with distored meshes. Although the principle of the method remains unchanged (one minimization step, one correction step), several improvements are proposed (section V.4), in particular to deal with strongly distorded cells and small volume fraction issues. Finally, this work ends with a generalization of the method for three materials (section V.5). Interface reconstruction for multi-material simulations is a complicated issue, and a comparison of several existing methods can be found in [KGSS10]. The proposed method applies the DPIR method

for all the materials *without choosing any material ordering* and a suitable average is applied to obtain the final interfaces. The method is tested on two test cases with triple point configuration on cartesian meshes, giving encouraging results for futur unstructured meshes cases.

V.2 Interface reconstruction with DPIR

DPIR method deals with interface reconstruction as a minimization problem of the sum of volume fraction errors. It relies on the minimization of the functional

$$J(y) = \sum_{(i,j)\in\{1,\dots,N_x\}\times\{1,\dots,N_y\}} |vol_{y,i,j} - vol_{i,j}|^2$$
(2)

where $t \mapsto y(t)$ is the associated interface curve, $vol_{i,j}$ denotes the targeted volume fraction in cell (i, j) and $vol_{y,i,j}$ the volume fraction obtained with the curve y.

This method is splitted in two steps, first dynamic programming is used to minimize the cost function J. Then, a correction is made on the curve y obtained in each cell to recover the targeted volume fraction. DPIR algorithm is described below, for more information we invite the reader to consult [DGJM17].

V.2.1 First step: minimization of J with dynamic programming

During the first step, the interface curve $t \mapsto y(t)$ is assumed to be piecewise linear in each cell (see Fig. V.1). The minimization problem consists in finding a finite number of points $(M_i)_{0L^*iL^*N}$, located on the edges of mixed cells, such that $M_0 = M_N$. More precisely, the possible locations of points M_i are obtained after finding the so-called *internal* and *external curves* that will bound the interface curve (see Fig. V.1). The internal and external curves are also polygonal curves with nodes located at the mesh nodes and are obtained by a simple search algorithm among mixed cells. We denote by $vol(M_i, M_{i+1})$ the volume fraction in the cell computed bewteen the segment M_iM_{i+1} and the internal curve. Once these curves are found, a dynamic programming procedure is applied to find the piecewise closed linear curve that minimize the cost function J at a computational cost of $\mathcal{O}(NL^2)$ where L is the discretization number of each cell edges.

Note that a penalty term of the form $p(y) = \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \lambda ||M_{i+1} - M_i||$ can be added to the cost function J in order to reduce the interface length and to avoid wave effects.

Dynamic programming is a very efficient tool to minimize J in the meaning that it has a low cost (property P4) and is robust (property P3). This step gives a first approximation of the interface which is continuous (property P2). However, the interface obtained does not satisfy the volume conservation (property P1).

V.2.2 Second step: local correction of volume fractions

The goal of the second step is to correct volume fractions in order to recover Property P1. In the original DPIR algorithm described in [DGJM17], a control point is added in each mixed cell. This point is located on the perpendicular bisector of the interface segment and placed in order to have an exact volume conservation.

The complete method including the previous two steps, called DPIR (Dynamic Programming Interface Reconstruction) can then be summarized by:

DPIR Algorithm: for a given distribution of volume fractions on a 2D cartesian grid:

• Initialization: define the internal and external curves that will bound the interface.



Fig. V.1 The interface curve (dotted line) with the internal (points I_i) and external (points E_i) curves.

- Step 1 (global step): minimize the cost functional J (2) with dynamic programming.
- Step 2 (local step): add a control point in each cell to have an exact conservation of volume fractions.

In the next sections, we present some extensions of this method. We extend it to curved interfaces in Section V.3, describes tools to make it more robust in Section V.4 and extend it to three materials in Section V.5.

V.3 DPIR extension to curved interfaces reconstruction

In order to obtain a curved interface, more suited to some cases (circle reconstruction for instance), rational quadratic Bezier curves are introduced in the local correction phase of DPIR.

A second order rational Bezier curve is a parametric curve defined by three control points P_0 , P_1 and P_2 . Here, P_1 will play the role of the control point introduced in the correction step. A weight $\omega \in [0, +\infty]$ is associated to this point (Fig. V.2).

$$\mathbf{M}^{\omega}(q) = \begin{pmatrix} x(q) \\ y(q) \end{pmatrix} = \frac{P_0(1-q)^2 + 2\omega q(1-q)P_1 + q^2 P_2}{(1-q)^2 + 2\omega q(1-q) + q^2}, \qquad q \in [0,1].$$
(V.1)

The area $A(\mathbf{M}^{\omega}(q), P_0, P_1, P_2)$ under a Bezier curve (see Fig. V.2 on Left) can be computed with

$$A(\mathbf{M}^{\omega}(q), P_0, P_1, P_2) = f(\omega) \cdot A(P_0, P_1, P_2),$$



Fig. V.2 A second order rational Bezier curve (area under Bezier curve and straight segment $[P_0, P_2]$ and shape curve evolution with respect to weight parameter ω) of parameterization (V.1).

where $A(P_0, P_1, P_2)$ is the area of the triangle $\widehat{P_0P_1P_2}$ and

$$f(\omega) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \omega = 0\\ \frac{2\omega}{1-\omega^2} \left(\frac{1}{1-\omega^2} \arctan\left(\sqrt{\frac{1-\omega}{1+\omega}}\right) - \frac{\omega}{2}\right) & \text{if } \omega \in (0,1)\\ \frac{2}{3} & \text{if } \omega = 1\\ \frac{\omega}{\omega^2 - 1} \left(\omega + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-\omega^2}} \ln\left(\omega - \sqrt{\omega^2 - 1}\right)\right) & \text{if } \omega > 1 \end{cases}$$

In this paper, the value of ω will be fixed to 1 if no other specification is made.

Let M_i , i = 0, ..., N be the coordinates of the points obtained after the first step of DPIR. Let P_i be the control point associated with the piece of interface $[M_i, M_{i+1}]$. The position of P_i is defined in order to preserve the volume fraction defined by the associated rational quadratic Bezier curve (M_i, P_i, M_{i+1}) . We use a dichotomy to find the position of P_i . Let us apply this algorithm to the reconstruction of a circle. First we consider a circle of radius 2 on a coarse mesh. We compare the results obtained with Youngs method, the original DPIR and our extension with $\omega = 0.2$. Plots on Fig. V.3 show that the use of such curved parameterization can greatly improve results.



Fig. V.3 Circle reconstruction with Youngs method (left), DPIR (middle) and DPIR using curved interfaces (right).

Then we apply our method to a refined mesh (Fig. V.4). Here again, we can see improvements are made on results with curved interface.



Fig. V.4 Reconstruction of a circle with DPIR with and without bezier curves.

Even if these good results are encouraging, we want a method that can work on general meshes. This method has shown some lack of robustness and it is what we want to investigate in the following section.

V.4 Robustness improvement of DPIR

To illustrate this robustness problem let us consider the same test as above on an unstructured mesh (Fig. V.5). In some cases the points on the edges M_i and M_{i+1} obtained after the first step of DPIR can be to close to the same node leading to a spike when the algorithm tries to balance the volume fraction. It has been observed, on some cases, that the algorithm can not balance the volume since the interface ends up outside the cell.



Fig. V.5 On the left: Reconstruction of a circle with the initial DPIR algorithm. On the right: a zoom on the reconstruction; the interface (in red) degenerates near a corner.

In order to tackle this problem and improve the robustness we describe three improvements of the method.

V.4.1 A new search direction for the control point

A first way to reinforce DPIR robustness is to move the control point in the direction to the cell center (Fig. V.6) instead of the perpendicular bisector. This ensures to move in a direction where there is more space available to apply the correction. Consequently it makes the correction step more robust.



Fig. V.6 Search direction of the control point: perpendicular bisector vs center of the cell.

V.4.2 A new discretization of the cell edges

A second idea is to change, in the first step of DPIR, the discretization of the segments crossed by the interface: instead of considering uniform discretization, we use Chebyshev points in order to obtain a finer discretization around the corners than in the middle of those segments and avoid to end up with two points $M_i M_{i+1}$ too close to each other. It permits in particular to reduce the number of points on each edge without altering the reconstruction quality.

V.4.3 A new penalty term

It may happen for some cells that the cost function term $vol(M_i, M_{i+1})$ and the penalty term $||M_{i+1} - M_i||$ have very different scales. In order to remedy to this problem, a second penalization term is added to the cost functional in the first step of DPIR. It is defined as:

$$\widetilde{p} = \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \frac{|\operatorname{vol}_{\operatorname{target}} - \operatorname{vol}(M_i, M_{i+1})|}{\operatorname{vol}(M_i, M_{i+1})},$$

that leads to the following minimization problem:

$$\min_{M_0,\dots,M_N} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} |\operatorname{vol}(M_i, M_{i+1}) - \operatorname{vol}_{\operatorname{target}}|^2 + \lambda ||M_{i+1} - M_i|| + \widetilde{p}.$$

If the volume fraction between M_i and M_{i+1} is too small with respect to the correction, the second penalization \tilde{p} becomes big and those points are not chosen by the minimization.

V.4.4 Numerical results

First let us apply the corrections illustrated in Sec. V.4.2-,V.4.3 in to the reconstruction of the circle on an unstructured grid. Fig. V.7 shows that the problem visible on Fig. V.5 has been solved: by looking at the zoom on the right hand side, we see that the interface does not degenerate anymore. In fact, the corrections do not let the interface pass too close to the corners of the mesh.

We also applied this method with the three improvements to the reconstruction of a square (Fig. V.8) and to the reconstruction of a J (Fig. V.9) on unperturbed and perturbed cartesian meshes.



Fig. V.7 Reconstruction of a circle.



Fig. V.8 Reconstruction of a square on a distorted cartesian mesh



Fig. V.9 Reconstruction of a J on a distorted cartesian mesh

V.5 DPIR extension to triple point reconstruction

In this section, we describe an extension of DPIR to three or more materials. One of the main issues of this extension is the ability of the scheme to take into account triple points. First we describe different cases that can occur when considering more than two materials. Then we explain how to extend the algorithm and treat triple points. Then we apply it to three and four materials cases.

V.5.1 Classification of triple cells

A cell with exactly two strictly positive volume fractions is called a *double cell*. The treatment of double cells will the same as above. However the algorithm described above can not handle more than one interface point per edges. When an edge is crossed twice by the interface our method is not able to treat it. This means that DPIR can not handle filaments.

A *triple cell* contains exactly three materials. Two main cases can happen with this kind of cells: it contains a triple point or not. If the cell contains a triple point, you can quickly end up with the filament issue (see Fig. V.10b). Since we are not able to deal with this problem with two materials we will only give some perspectives on this matter at the end. If the cell does not contain a triple point, then materials are aligned in the cell (see Fig. V.10c).



Fig. V.10 Types of triple cells.

We extend DPIR to three materials with a one-against-all approach. First we reconstruct three interfaces which are then merged in order to recover the final interface.

V.5.2 The new algorithm for interface reconstruction

The method described below is only suited for the first case of Fig. V.10a. Indeed, as explained above, we do not treat the filaments.

The algorithm is still divided in two steps : a first step leading to an interface prediction by running three Dynamic Programming algorithms, and a second step for a local correction of all mixed cells.

V.5.2.1 First step: one-against-all approach

- 1. Consider each material against all the others. Run the dynamic programming step of DPIR on all those materials. This step results in three interfaces (see Fig. V.11).
- 2. Every double cell is composed of edges with exactly 2 or 0 interface points (from outer and inner materials). Average those two points and fix the new resulting point as the final interface point (see Fig. V.12).
3. Every triple cell containing a triple point has three edges crossed by two interfaces. Glue the interfaces as previously and compute the temporary triple point as the barycenter of the triangle induced by those three new points (see Fig. V.12).

V.5.2.2 Second step: mixed cells correction

Each mixed cell is divided in different sub-cells whose number depends on its type (two for double cells and three for triple cells). We use a different correction algorithm depending on the type of mixed cell. If the mixed cell is a double cell, we simply use the standard correction step of DPIR in order to correct the partial volumes.

In the case of a triple cell containing a triple point, the objective is to obtain an interface regardless of the order of materials in the correction step. We describe here an algorithm that realizes such a correction.

- Compute signs of correction (decide if a material needs to increase or decrease its volume by evaluating the sign of the difference between the current volume in the sub-cell and the targeted volume)
- Correct the material that has a correction sign different of the two others by moving the triple point (considered here as a control point) in the direction given by the leading direction (that is the mean between the two correction directions of sub-cells that have the same correction sign)
- Correct the partial interface between the two others materials using the standard DPIR correction step (adding a control point on the sub-segment). The result of this step is illustrated on Fig. V.13.

Let us point out that as soon as you can treat the filament issue, the case of a cell with three materials aligned can be treated the same way as the cell with two materials.

V.5.2.3 Complexity

The complexity of the algorithm is equal to M times the complexity of DPIR, where M is the number of materials. As all one-against-all DPIR executions are independent, they can be executed in parallel. The correction step only involves very local corrections, that are independent. There are two different options :

- from the edge point of view: average contributions of computed temporary interface on each edge (that can be done in parallel) and correct the volume into each cell (possibly in parallel);
- from the cell point of view: average all interface contributions on each edge of the cell crossed by an interface and correct the volume into each cell (possibly in parallel).

Each local correction involves a (small) dichotomy search optimization that is $\mathcal{O}(log_2(|C|/\epsilon))$, with ϵ the requested precision of this optimization and |C| the diameter of the largest mixed cell of the mesh. If we denote by T the number of mixed cells, the total complexity of the correction step is then $\mathcal{O}(Tlog_2(|C|/\epsilon))$ (triple cells only require 2 dichotomies).

V.5.3 A example of DPIR reconstruction on a triple point configuration

The new DPIR algorithm is applied to the interface reconstruction of a classical triple point test case where materials 1 and 2 are located inside a half sphere and material 3 outside this sphere. The results are displayed on figures V.11, V.12 and V.13.



Fig. V.11 A triple point configuration: three interfaces obtained after the Dynamic programming execution, introduced in section V.5.2.1, point A).



Fig. V.12 A triple point configuration: result after the first step, see section V.5.2.1, points B) and C).



Fig. V.13 A triple point configuration: final result after the second step, see section V.5.2.2.

This new algorithm has also been successfully applied to a case with four materials (see Fig. V.14).

V.5.4 Perspectives on the filament issue

A filament is a portion of the interface of a given material that crosses twice the same edge (Fig. V.15). When it appears, one has to detect it before applying the algorithm. Indeed, DPIR can not handle this problem because it looks for one unique interface point per edge.



Fig. V.14 Interface reconstruction in a case with 4 materials.



Fig. V.15 Example of filament. The numbers 1,2,3 indicate the three different materials.

To deal with this problem, we propose to first detect cells that contain filaments. The edges that should contain two interfaces points are then tagged and splitted into two sub-edges. At the stage methods described above can be applied since you are now looking for one unique interface point per edge (or sub-edge).

V.6 Conclusion and perspectives

A new and extended version of DPIR algorithm has been developed that preserves its major advantages, namely the continuity of the interface and the exact conservation of volumes. First, we have extended it to unstructured grids and curved interfaces using Bezier curves. We also described solutions to make it more robust at almost no additional cost.

In a second part, we extended DPIR to three or more materials. In this paper, we chose to use a one-against-all approach even if other methods could be considered in the future.

We are currently working on coupling this method to an ALE scheme in order to use the reconstructed interface with DPIR in anti-diffusive methods and curvature computation to deal with surface tension.

References

- [ABH07] B. Andreianov, F. Boyer, and F. Hubert. Discrete duality finite volume schemes for Leray-Lions type elliptic problems on general 2D-meshes. Num. Meth. for PDEs, 23(1):145–195, 2007.
- [ABHK12] B. Andreianov, M. Bendahmane, F. Hubert, and S. Krell. On 3D DDFV discretization of gradient and divergence operators. *IMAJNA*, 32(4):1574–1603, 2012.
 - [ABK08] B. Andreianov, M. Bendahmane, and K.-H. Karlsen. A gradient reconstruction formula for finite volume schemes and discrete duality. In *Finite volumes for complex* applications V, pages pp. 161–168, 2008.
- [AJNM02] Y. Achdou, C. Japhet, F. Nataf, and Y. Maday. A new cement to glue non-conforming grids with robin interface conditions: The finite volume case. *Numer. Math.*, 92(4):593– 620, 2002.
 - [BBF08] D. Boffi, F. Brezzi, and M. Fortin. *Finite Elements for the Stokes Problem*, pages 45–100. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008.
- [BCCHF15] M. Bessemoulin-Chatard, C. Chainais-Hillairet, and F. Filbet. On discrete functional inequalities for some finite volume scheme. IMA J. Numer. Anal., 35(3):1125–1149, 2015.
 - [BCH00] S. Boivin, F. Cayré, and J.-M. Hérard. A finite volume method to solve the navier-stokes equations for incompressible flows on unstructured meshes. *International Journal of Thermal Sciences*, 39(8):806 – 825, 2000.
 - [BCR16] E. Blayo, D. Cherel, and A. Rousseau. Towards optimized schwarz methods for the Navier-Stokes equations. J. Sci. Comput., 66(1):275–295, 2016.
 - [BEH05] P. Blanc, R. Eymard, and R. Herbin. A staggered finite volume scheme on general meshes for the generalized Stokes problem in two space dimensions. *International Journal on Finite Volumes*, 2(1):1–31, 2005.
 - [BF94] Ch.-H. Bruneau and P. Fabrie. Effective downstream boundary conditions for incompressible Navier Stokes equations. Int. J. Numer. Meth. Fluids, 19(8):693–705, 1994.
 - [BF96] C.-H. Bruneau and P. Fabrie. New efficient boundary conditions for incompressible Navier-Stokes equations : a wellposedness result. M2AN Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 30(7):815–840, 1996.
 - [BF07] F. Boyer and P. Fabrie. Outflow boundary conditions for the incompressible nonhomogeneous Navier Stokes equations. Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems-Series B, 7(2):219–250, 2007.
 - [BF12] F. Boyer and P. Fabrie. Mathematical tools for the study of the incompressible Navier Stokes equations and related models. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, 2012.
 - [BH08] F. Boyer and F. Hubert. Finite volume method for 2D linear and nonlinear elliptic problems with discontinuities. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 46:3032–3070, 2008.

- [BHK10a] F. Boyer, F. Hubert, and S. Krell. Non-overlapping Schwarz algorithm for solving 2D m-DDFV schemes. *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis*, 30(4):1062–1100, 2010.
- [BHK10b] F. Boyer, F. Hubert, and S. Krell. Non-overlapping Schwarz algorithm for solving 2d m-DDFV schemes. IMA J. N. A., 30(4):1062–1100, 2010.
- [BKN15] F. Boyer, S. Krell, and F. Nabet. Inf-Sup stability of the Discrete Duality Finite Volume method for the 2D Stokes problem. *Math. Comput.*, 84:2705–2742, 2015.
 - [BN17] F. Boyer and F. Nabet. A DDFV method for a Cahn-Hilliard/Stokes phase field model with dynamic boundary conditions. ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis, 51(5):1691–1731, 2017.
 - [BP84] F. Brezzi and J. Pitkäranta. On the stabilization of finite element approximations of the Stokes equations. In *Efficient solutions of elliptic systems*, volume 10, pages 11–19. 1984.
 - [Bru00] C.-H. Bruneau. Boundary conditions on artificial frontiers for incompressible and compressible Navier-Stokes equations. M2AN Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 34:303–314, 2000.
 - [BS07] S. Brenner and R. Scott. The mathematical theory of finite element methods. Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer, 2007.
- [CCML17] R. Costa, S. Clain, G. Machado, and R. Loubère. A Very High-Order Accurate Staggered Finite Volume Scheme for the Stationary Incompressible Navier-Stokes and Euler Equations on Unstructured Meshes. *Journal of Scientific Computing*, pages 1–34, 2017.
 - [CH11] Y. Coudière and F. Hubert. A 3D Discrete Duality Finite Volume method for nonlinear elliptic equations. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, 33(4):1739–1764, 2011.
 - [CHD11] C. Chainais-Hillariet and J. Droniou. Finite volume schemes for non-coercive elliptic problems with neumann boundary conditions. In *IMAJournal of Numerical Analysis*, volume 31, pages 61–85, 2011.
 - [CHH04] R. Cautrès, R. Herbin, and F. Hubert. The Lions domain decomposition algorithm on non-matching cell-centred finite volume meshes. IMA J. Numer. Anal., 24(3):465–490, 2004.
- [CHKM15] C. Chainais-Hillairet, S. Krell, and A. Mouton. Convergence analysis of a DDFV scheme for a system describing miscible fluid flows in porous media. *Numer. Meth.* for PDEs, 31(3):723–760, 2015.
 - [CM10] Y. Coudière and G. Manzini. The Discrete Duality Finite Volume method for convection diffusion problems. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 47(6):4163– 4192, 2010.
- [CPRT08] Y. Coudiere, C. Pierre, O. Rousseau, and R. Turpault. 2D/3D Discrete Duality Finite Volume (DDFV) scheme for anisotropic- heterogeneous elliptic equations, application to the electrocardiogram simulation. In Int. symposium on Finite Volumes for Complex Applications V, pages 313–320, 2008.
 - [CR73] M. Crouzeix and P. A. Raviart. Conforming and nonconforming finite element methods for solving the stationary stokes equations. In ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis, volume 7, pages 33–75, 1973.
- [CVV99] Y. Coudière, J.-P. Vila, and P. Villedieu. Convergence rate of a finite volume scheme for a two dimensional convection-diffusion problem. ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis, 33(3):493–516, 1999.

- [DDO07] S. Delcourte, K. Domelevo, and P. Omnes. A Discrete Duality Finite Volume Approach to Hodge Decomposition and Div-Curl Problems on Almost Arbitrary Two-Dimensional Meshes. *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, 45(3):1142–1174, 2007.
 - [DE08] J. Droniou and R. Eymard. Study of the mixed finite volume method for Stokes and Navier-Stokes equations. *Numerical Methods for Partial Differential Equations*, 2008.
 - [Del07] S. Delcourte. Développement de méthodes de volumes finis pour la mécanique des fluides. PhD thesis, Univ. Paul Sabatier, 2007.
- [DGJM17] L. Dumas, J.M. Ghidaglia, P. Jaisson, and R. Motte. A new volume-preserving and continuous interface reconstruction method for 2d multimaterial flow. Int. Journ. for Num. Met. in Fluids, 1(1):1–2, 2017.
 - [DO05] K. Domelevo and P. Omnes. A finite volume method for the Laplace equation on almost arbitrary two-dimensional grids. *M2AN Math. Model. Numer. Anal.*, 39(6):1203–1249, 2005.
 - [DO15] S. Delcourte and P. Omnes. A Discrete Duality Finite Volume discretization of the vorticity-velocity-pressure formulation of the 2D Stokes problem on almost arbitrary two-dimensional grids. Numerical Methods for Partial Differential Equations, pages 1–30, 2015.
 - [DPE12] D. Di Pietro and A. Ern. Mathematical Aspects of Discontinuous Galerkin Methods, volume 69 of Math. et Appl. Springer, 2012.
 - [Dro14] J. Droniou. Finite volume schemes for diffusion equations: Introduction to and review of modern methods. *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences*, 24, 2014.
 - [EGH00] R. Eymard, T. Gallouët, and R. Herbin. Finite volume methods. In Handbook of numerical analysis, volume VII, pages 715–1022. 2000.
 - [EH05] R. Eymard and R. Herbin. A staggered finite volume scheme on general meshes for the Navier-Stokes equations in two space dimensions. *International Journal on Finite Volumes*, 2(1):1–18, 2005.
 - [EHL06] R. Eymard, R. Herbin, and J.C. Latché. On a stabilized colocated finite volume scheme for the stokes problem. ESAIM: M2AN, 40(3):501–527, 2006.
 - [EHL07] R. Eymard, R. Herbin, and J. C. Latché. Convergence analysis of a colocated finite volume scheme for the incompressible navier-stokes equations on general 2D or 3D meshes. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 45(1):1–36, 2007.
- [GDSS05] R. Garimella, V. Dyadechko, B.K. Swartz, and M.J. Shashkov. Interface reconstruction in multi-fluid, multi-phase flow simulations. Proc. of International Meshing Roundtable, 2005.
 - [GH07] M. J. Gander and L. Halpern. Optimized Schwarz waveform relaxation methods for advection reaction diffusion problems. *SIAM J. Numer. Anal.*, 45(2):666–697, 2007.
- [GHHK18] M. J. Gander, L. Halpern, F. Hubert, and S. Krell. Optimized Schwarz Methods for Anisotropic Diffusion with Discrete Duality Finite Volume Discretizations. 2018.
 - [GHL10] T Gallouët, R Herbin, and J.-C Latché. Kinetic energy control in explicit Finite Volume discretizations of the incompressible and compressible Navier-Stokes equations. International Journal on Finite Volumes, 7(2):1–6, 2010.
- [GJMN05] M. J. Gander, C. Japhet, Y. Maday, and F. Nataf. A new cement to glue nonconforming grids with Robin interface conditions: the finite element case. *Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. Eng.*, 40:259–266, 2005.

- [GKL17] T. Goudon, S. Krell, and G. Lissoni. Numerical analysis of the DDFV method for the Stokes problem with mixed Neumann/Dirichlet boundary conditions. In Proceeding of the 8th international symposium on Finite Volumes for Complex Applications, pages 361–369, 2017.
- [GKL19] T. Goudon, S. Krell, and G. Lissoni. DDFV method for Navier-Stokes problem with outflow boundary conditions. *Numerische Mathematik*, 142(1):55–102, 2019.
- [GR86] V. Girault and P.A. Raviart. Finite element methods for Navier-Stokes equations, volume 5 of Springer Series in Computational Mathematics. 1986.
- [GR11] V. Girault and P.A. Raviart. *Finite Element Methods for Navier-Stokes Equations: Theory and Algorithms.* Springer, 2011.
- [GRW05] V. Girault, B. Rivière, and M. Wheeler. A discontinuous Galerkin method with nonoverlapping domain decomposition for the Stokes and Navier-Stokes problems. *Math. Comput.*, 74:53–84, 2005.
 - [Hal91] L. Halpern. Artificial boundary conditions for incompletely parabolic perturbations of hyperbolic systems. *SIAM J. Math. Anal*, 22(5):1256–1283, 1991.
 - [Her00] F. Hermeline. A finite volume method for the approximation of diffusion operators on distorted meshes. J. Comput. Phys., 160(2):481–499, 2000.
 - [Her03] F. Hermeline. Approximation of diffusion operators with discontinuous tensor coefficients on distorted meshes. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., 192(16-18):1939– 1959, 2003.
 - [Her07] F. Hermeline. Approximation of 2D and 3D diffusion operators with variable full tensor coefficients on arbitrary meshes. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, 2007.
 - [HH14] L. Halpern and F. Hubert. A finite volume Ventcell-Schwarz algorithm for advectiondiffusion equations. SIAM J. Numerical Analysis, 52(3):1269–1291, 2014.
- [HLO08] F. Hermeline, S. Layouni, and P. Omnes. A finite volume method for the approximation of Maxwell equations in two space dimensions on arbitrary meshes. *Journal of Computational Physics*, 227:9365–9388, 2008.
 - [HS89] L. Halpern and M. Schatzman. Artificial boundary conditions for incompressible flows. SIAM J. Math. Anal, 20:308–353, 1989.
- [HW65] F.H. Harlow and J.E. Welch. Numerical calculation of time-dependent viscous incompressible flow of fluid with free surface. *Physics of Fluids*, 8:2182, 1965.
- [Joh04] V. John. Reference values for drag and lift of a two-dimensional time-dependent flow around a cylinder. Int. J. Numer. Meth. Fluids, 44(7):777–788, 2004.
- [KG12] S. Krell and Manzini G. The discrete duality finite volume method for stokes equations on three-dimensional polyhedral meshes. *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, 50(2):808–837, 2012.
- [KGSS10] M. Kucharik, R.V.V Garimella, S.P. Schofield, and M. Shashkov. A comparative study of interface reconstruction methods for multi-material ale simulations. *Journal of Computational Physics*, 229:2432–2452, 2010.
 - [Kre10] S. Krell. Schémas Volumes Finis en mécanique des fluides complexes. PhD thesis, Univ. de Provence, 2010.
- [Kre11a] S. Krell. Stabilized DDFV schemes for Stokes problem with variable viscosity on general 2D meshes. *Numer. Meth. PDEs*, 27(6):1666–1706, 2011.
- [Kre11b] S. Krell. Stabilized DDFV schemes for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations. In Finite Volumes for Complex Applications VI, Problems & Perspectives, pages 605–612, 2011.

- [Lio90] P. L. Lions. On the Schwarz alternating method. III. A variant for nonoverlapping subdomains. In *Third International Symposium on Domain Decomposition Methods* for Partial Differential Equations, pages 202–223. 1990.
- [LMO01] G. Lube, L. Müller, and F.C. Otto. A nonoverlapping domain decomposition method for stabilized finite element approximations of the oseen equations. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, 132(2):211 – 236, 2001.
 - [LS17] J.-C. Latché and K. Saleh. A Convergent Staggered Scheme for the Variable Density Incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations. *Mathematics of Computation*, 2017.
 - [RK98] W.J. Rider and D.B. Kothey. Reconstructing volume tracking. Journal of Computational Physics, 141:112–152, 1998.
- [Rud97] M. Rudman. Volume tracking methods for interfacial flow calculations. *IJNMF*, 24:671–691, 1997.
- [Sch01] M. Schatzman. Analyse numérique. Dunod, 2001.
- [SGFL09] S.P. Schofield, R. Garimella, M. Francois, and R. Loubère. A second-order accurate material-order-independent interface reconstruction technique for multi-material flow simulations. *Journal of Computational Physics*, 228:731–745, 2009.
 - [ST96] M. Schäfer and S. Turek. Benchmark computations of laminar flow around a cylinder. In Flow Simulation with High-Performance Computers, volume 48 of Notes on Num. Fluid Mech. (NNFM), pages 547–566. 1996.
 - [Tou97] L. Tourrette. Artificial boundary conditions for the linearized compressible Navier-Stokes equations. J. Comput. Phys., 137(1):1–37, 1997.
 - [XCL05] X. Xu, C.O. Chow, and S.H. Lui. On nonoverlapping domain decomposition methods for the incompressible navier-stokes equations. *ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis*, 39(6):1251–1269, 2005.
 - [You82] D.L. Youngs. Time dependent multi-material flow with large fluid distorsio. Numerical Methods for Fluid dynamics, pages 273–285, 1982.

Résumé: L'objectif de cette thèse est d'étudier et développer des schémas numérique du type volume finis pour des problèmes provenant de la mécanique des fluides, notamment le problème de Stokes et Navier-Stokes. Les schémas choisis sont du type dualité discrète, dénotés DDFV; cette méthode travaille sur des grilles décalées, où les inconnus de vitesse sont placés aux centres des volumes de contrôle et aux sommets du maillage, et les inconnus de pression aux arêtes du maillage. Ce type de construction a deux avantages principaux: elle permet de considérer des maillages généraux (qui ne vérifient pas nécessairement la condition d'orthogonalité classique des maillages volumes finis) et de reconstruire à niveau discret les propriétés de dualité des opérateurs différentiels continus. On commence par l'étude de la discrétisation du problème de Stokes avec des conditions aux bords mixtes de type Dirichlet/Neumann; le caractère bien posé de ce problème est strictement lié à l'inégalité Inf-sup, qui doit être vérifiée. Dans le cadre DDFV, cette inégalité a été prouvée pour des maillages particuliers; on peut éviter cette hypothèse, en ajoutant des termes de stabilisation dans l'équation de conservation de masse. Dans un premier temps, on étudie un schéma stabilisé pour le problème de Stokes en forme de Laplace, en montrant son caractère bien posé, des estimations d'erreur et des tests numériques. On étudie ensuite le même problème en forme divergence, où le tenseur des contraintes remplace le gradient; ici, on suppose que l'inégalité Inf-sup est vérifiée, et on écrit un schéma bien posé suivi des tests numériques. On considère ensuite le problème de Navier-Stokes incompressible. Initialement, on étude ce problème couplé avec des conditions aux bords « ouvertes » en sortie; ce type de conditions apparaissent lors qu'on veut introduire une frontière artificielle, qui peut arriver pour des raisons de coût de calcul ou physiques. On écrit un schéma bien posé et des estimations d'énergie, validés par des simulations numériques. Deuxièmement, on s'intéresse à la méthode de décomposition de domaines sans recouvrement pour le problème de Navier-Stokes incompressible, en écrivant un algorithme de Schwarz discret. On discrétise le problème avec un schéma de type Euler semi-implicite en temps, et à chaque itération on applique l'algorithme de Schwarz au système linéaire résultant. Nous montrons également la convergence de cet algorithme et nous terminons par des expériences numériques. Cette thèse se termine par un cinquième chapitre issu d'une collaboration lors du CEMRACS 2019, où le but est d'étendre DPIR (une technique récente pour la reconstruction d'interfaces entre deux matériaux) au cas d'interfaces courbes et de trois matériaux. Des simulations numériques montrent les résultats.

Mots clefs : mécanique des fluides, volumes finis, DDFV, Stokes, Navier-Stokes, conditions aux bords mixtes, algorithmes de Schwarz, décomposition de domaine, reconstruction d'interfaces

Abstract: The goal of this thesis is to study and develop numerical schemes of finite volume type for problems arising in fluid mechanics, namely Stokes and Navier-Stokes problems. The schemes we choosed are of discrete duality type, denoted by DDFV; this method works on staggered grids, where the velocity unknowns are located at the centers of control volumes and at the vertices of the mesh, and the pressure unknowns are on the edges of the mesh. This kind of construction has two main advantages: it allows to consider general meshes (that do not necessarily verify the classical orthogonality condition required by finite volume meshes) and to reconstruct and mimic at the discrete level the dual properties of the continuous differential operators. We start by the study of the discretization of Stokes problem with mixed boundary conditions of Dirichlet/Neumann type; the well-posed character of this problem is strictly relied to Inf-sup inequality, that has to be verified. In the DDFV setting, this inequality has been proven for particular meshes; we can avoid this hypothesis, by adding some stabilization terms in the equation of conservation of mass. In the first place, we study a stabilized scheme for Stokes problem in Laplace form, by showing its well-posedness, some error estimates and numerical tests. We study the same problem in divergence form, where the strain rate tensor replaces the gradient; here, we suppose that the Inf-sup inequality is verified, and we design a well-posed scheme followed by some numerical tests. We consider then the incompressible Navier-Stokes problem. At first, we study this problem coupled with « open » boundary conditions on the outflow; this kind of conditions arises when an artificial boundary is introduced, to save computational ressources or for physical reasons. We write a well-posed scheme and some energy estimates, validated by numerical simulations. Secondly, we address the domain decomposition method without overlap for the incompressible Navier-Stokes problem, by writing a discrete Schwarz algorithm. We discretize the problem with a semi-implicit Euler scheme in time, and at each time iteration we apply Schwarz algorithm to the resulting linear system. We show the convergence of this algorithm and we end by some numerical experiments. This thesis ends with a last chapter concerning the work done during CEMRACS 2019, where the goal is to extend DPIR (a recent technique for interface reconstruction between two materials) to the case of curved interfaces and of three materials. Some numerical simulations show the results.

Key words : fluid mechanics, finite volumes, DDFV, Stokes, Navier-Stokes, mixed boundary conditions, Schwarz algorithm, domain decomposition, interface reconstruction